Taru Haapala

"That in the Opinion of this House"

The Parliamentary Culture of Debate in the Nineteenth-Century Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies



Taru Haapala

"That in the Opinion of this House"

The Parliamentary Culture of Debate in the Nineteenth-Century Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies

Esitetään Jyväskylän yliopiston yhteiskuntatieteellisen tiedekunnan suostumuksella julkisesti tarkastettavaksi yliopiston vanhassa juhlasalissa S212 joulukuun 8. päivänä 2012 kello 12.

Academic dissertation to be publicly discussed, by permission of the Faculty of Social Sciences of the University of Jyväskylä, in auditorium S212, on December 8, 2012 at 12 o'clock noon.



"That in the Opinion of this House"

The Parliamentary Culture of Debate in the Nineteenth-Century Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies

Taru Haapala

"That in the Opinion of this House"

The Parliamentary Culture of Debate in the Nineteenth-Century Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies



Editors Jussi Kotkavirta Department of Social Sciences and Philosophy, University of Jyväskylä Pekka Olsbo, Ville Korkiakangas Publishing Unit, University Library of Jyväskylä

URN:ISBN:978-951-39-4970-9 ISBN 978-951-39-4970-9 (PDF)

ISBN 978-951-39-4969-3 (nid.) ISSN 0075-4625

Copyright © 2012, by University of Jyväskylä

Jyväskylä University Printing House, Jyväskylä 2012

ABSTRACT

Haapala, Taru

"That in the opinion of this House": The parliamentary culture of debate in the nineteenth-century Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies Jyväskylä, University of Jyväskylä, 2012, 238 p. (Jyväskylä Studies in Education, Psychology and Social Research, ISSN 0075-4625; 456) ISBN 978-951-39-4969-3 (nid.) ISBN 978-951-39-4970-9 (PDF) Finnish summary Diss.

Emphasising the historical role of parliamentary procedure in the formation of the parliamentary culture of debate of nineteenth-century Britain, this study places the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies in the wider context of the British debating societies. Though the Union Societies have since the late 1800s been considered part of British parliamentary culture, the debating practices of the Unions have not been accorded comprehensive research that would explain why this was so, even though the role of debate in Parliament also grew at the time.

The starting point of the analysis is an idea introduced by Josef Redlich (1869-1936) that a parliamentary body is an assembly of which the primary aim is not to legislate, but to debate according to certain rules. He maintained also that parliamentary bills are reducible to a series of motions, which inspires one to think that the Unions can also be seen as independent sites of a parliamentary style of politics.

I chose to examine the Unions' political activity from two distinct angles: the politics of agenda and the politics of debate. A rhetorical reading of the minute books reveals how members of the societies used the rules of debate for their own political purposes. In the analysis, I identified repeated use of certain rhetorical *topoi*: 'vote of confidence', 'principle', 'character' and 'expediency'. In the Union Societies, these manifested as interrelated rhetorical categories that constituted the politics of the agenda. They also appeared in the politics of debate related to revising and interpreting the rules, which characteristically involved challenges to decisions made by Union Society presidents.

The procedure seems to have been the key element in guiding debates and in framing the rhetorical practices in use. It eventually linked the Union Societies to the parliamentary culture of debate. However, the societies did not just follow the House of Commons model passively, but adapted it to their own political activity. In this way the Union members trained themselves, in a very independent and creative manner, in the parliamentary way of doing politics.

Keywords: Cambridge Union Society, Oxford Union Society, nineteenth century, debate, House of Commons, parliamentary culture, procedure, rhetoric

Author's address Taru Haapala

Department of Social Sciences and Philosophy P.O. Box 35 (Y 33), University of Jyväskylä

taru.k.s.haapala@jyu.fi

Supervisor Professor Kari Palonen

Department of Social Sciences and Philosophy

University of Jyväskylä

Reviewers Professor Quentin Skinner

Queen Mary, University of London

Associate Professor Jussi Kurunmäki

Stockholm University

Opponent Professor Alan Finlayson

University of East Anglia

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

As I embarked on this project, I was struggling to find a research idea that would provide me with concrete primary sources to focus on in my doctoral thesis. As it turned out, I was still collecting research material in my last year as a PhD student. At least, I got what I wished for.

I would like to especially thank Professor Quentin Skinner. He was the person who initially encouraged me to visit the archives and start digging. Without his support I might not have pursued the topic of the Union Societies in the first place.

For tireless and enthusiastic assistance in the later process of my study, I want to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Kari Palonen. The funding for this study was provided by his Academy of Finland Professorship project *The Politics of Dissensus: Parliamentarism, Rhetoric and Conceptual History* (2008-2012). I also want to thank Professor José María Rosales, University of Málaga, for inviting me to take part in the two research projects of the Spanish National Research Plan directed by him, *The Rhetorics of Democracy* (FFI2008-00039) and *The Civic Constellation* (FFI2011-23388).

I would also like to offer my thanks to the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies for kindly giving me permission to visit their archives and get acquainted with their historical records. The assistance of the staff at the Manuscript Department of the Cambridge University Library as well as the staff at the Oxfordshire Record Office in Cowley was helpful and efficient.

In the background there are a number of people who deserve my warmest thanks for reading various drafts of the manuscript along the process: Professor Pasi Ihalainen, the reviewers of the manuscript, Professor Skinner and Associate Professor Jussi Kurunmäki, and Bill Hellberg who revised my English. Additionally, I have received invaluable help from Dr. Evgeny Roshchin, Dr. Anna Björk and Dr. Ere Nokkala, who kindly read and commented on various sections of the early manuscript. A warm thanks is also due to Dr. Paul Seaward, director of the History of Parliament project, for offering advice on literature regarding nineteenth-century House of Commons procedural changes.

It has been a pleasure to be a part of our group of PhD candidates at the Department of Social Sciences and Philosophy. For me it has provided a very unique opportunity to interact with other doctoral students who share similar interests. I especially wish to thank my fellow PhD candidates and dear friends, Anitta Kananen and Hanna-Mari Kivistö. Their wise words and support have kept me going.

Finally, I want to thank my family and friends. When I found myself tangled up in my research problems, you reminded me of the more important things in life.

Jyväskylä, 9 November 2012

Taru Haapala

TABLE

TABLE 1 Motions related to confidence presented in the Union Societies 8 APPENDICES	6
Appendix 1: Public business of the Cambridge Union Society	3

CONTENTS

ABSTRACT ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS APPENDICES CONTENTS

1	INT	RODUCTION	9
	1.1	The relevance of procedure in parliamentary politics	9
	1.2	The problematics and approach of the study	
	1.3	The sources and my interpretation	
	1.4	Parliamentary procedure and the practices of the Union	
		Societies	22
	1.5	The outline of the study	
2	THE	DEBATING PROCEDURES OF THE NINETEENTH-CENTURY	
_		JSE OF COMMONS	30
	2.1	'Parliamentary government' and the role of debate in the House	
		of Commons	30
	2.2	Revision of debating procedures from 1837 to 1861	
	2.3	Procedure at the core of parliamentary debating	
		Troccuare at the core of pariamentary accounting	10
3	THE	BRITISH CULTURE OF PARLIAMENTARY DEBATE	47
	3.1	The politicisation of debate	
	3.2	The Union Societies: their foundation and promotion of debate	
	3.3	Publicity, press and parliamentary journalism	
	3.4	Rhetoric and parliamentary eloquence	
	3.5	Nineteenth-century interpretations of parliamentary debate	
4	ТНЕ	POLITICS OF AGENDA IN THE UNION SOCIETY DEBATES	80
T	4.1	Agenda setting in the Union Societies	
	4.2	Formulation of motions	
	4.2	4.2.1 Reform, representation, and past references: 'votes of	04
		confidence'	95
		4.2.2 Personalisation and de-personalisation of politics:	
		'character' and 'principle'	98
		4.2.3 Questions of policy and political benefit: 'expediency'	104
	4.3	Formulating political resolutions in the Union Societies	107
5	THE	POLITICS OF DEBATE IN THE UNION SOCIETIES	109
	5.1	Parliamentary references in the Union Societies' politics	
		of debate	110
		5.1.1 Powers of the standing committees	110
		5.1.2 The president's role in the interpretation of rules	
	5.2	Rhetorical strategies in the Union Societies' politics of debate	
	5.3	Political interpretations of the rules in the Union Societies	

6	CONCLUSION	142
TIIV	ISTELMÄ	146
		110
REFI	ERENCES	148
		10

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 The relevance of procedure in parliamentary politics

A parliamentary bill takes shape through a series of motions. The motions are proposed and debated according to a certain procedure. Political activity in a parliamentary assembly, therefore, centres firstly on influencing what kinds of motions are put on the political agenda and, secondly, on taking part in debates on those motions that have reached the agenda. A parliamentary body is an assembly of which the primary function is not to legislate, but to debate according to certain rules (Redlich 1908b, 215).

Parliamentary bodies are commonly perceived as representative institutions in the context of a state. Here parliamentary politics is seen as an activity that essentially relates to the practice of debate. This also invites one to think that other debating assemblies may be considered 'parliamentary bodies' within a certain political culture. Redlich's definition encourages us to theorise on the idea of a deliberative assembly without the constraints and burdens of representation on a national scale. In fact, debating procedures — the backbone of British parliamentary politics — was already established at a time before democratic representation had even been conceptualised.¹

Challenging the view that the procedural formalisation of debate is only a tool for the political management of a state, this study focuses on examining the ways in which the Union Societies at Cambridge and Oxford adopted and used parliamentary procedure for political purposes of their own. It interprets the Union Societies as being part of the nineteenth-century parliamentary political culture. By the end of the nineteenth century the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies were considered 'training grounds' for statesmen. Indeed, a considerable number of their former members went on to enter Parliament.

However, in its conflict with the government of Charles I the Parliament claimed to 'virtually' represent the nation (see Skinner 2005).

For nineteenth-century British politics, Parliament represented a place where debates on matters of national consequence were conducted. Macaulay, for instance, described parliamentary government as 'government by speaking' (Macaulay 1859), and Bagehot (1872) equally spoke of 'government by discussion'. Debates and the skills needed to participate in them were highly regarded in Britain as contributing to the fair transaction of public business. Such high regard for speech and debate was unprecedented, and it had further political implications: it shaped the way politics itself was understood. It became important for parliamentarians to show that they participated in House of Commons' debates, and they took more opportunities to speak. However, this put the parliamentary forms and practices of proceedings under strain, leading to a situation where solutions were sought through revising the rules of debate. Since 1837 the British parliament had appointed numerous select committees to investigate possibilities to change the rules in order to make the proceedings more efficient. As will be shown in this study, this practice was adopted also in the Union Societies. By the end of the 1840s the Union Societies had set up their own 'select committees' to revise the rules as well.

The focus on debate made it increasingly important for parliamentarians to know the rules and traditions of parliamentary work. In the nineteenth century the general public also became informed about House of Commons procedures. The publication of parliamentary proceedings, which had occurred only unofficially in the eighteenth century, played a key role in spreading parliamentary ideas and terminology. The interchange of debate practices between Parliament and debating societies created a unique political culture. In the 1880s it even resulted in the emergence of parliamentary debating societies that emulated parliamentary proceedings. Even after World War II, British debating societies still had distinctly parliamentary qualities. An American debating team made a tour to Britain in 1948 and reported in the *Quarterly Journal of Speech* of the debating styles in British universities, the Union Societies in particular:

There is no doubt in our minds that the British student with political aspirations regards the University Union as the training ground for, and the springboard to, national politics [...]. (Temple & Dunn 1948, 50)

Comparing the American debating style to the British, the writers noted that the Union debates carefully followed parliamentary procedure. The Americans commented on the fact that the Union Societies had their own debating halls and the activities were not supervised by the university authorities. They also told of the high quality of debate, even though no Speech Departments or instructors of public speaking were to be found in the universities visited, unlike the case was in the United States (ibid. 52-53). This indicates that the Union Societies played a significant role in British debate instruction in the twentieth century as well.

In this study it will be shown that the Union Societies belong to the tradition of British debating societies. The British debating tradition fostered various practices that in the nineteenth century acquired more decidedly parliamentary features. The Union Societies were pioneers in this, which was realised, in particular, by their practice of proposing parliamentary-styled motions.

What would be the benefits of knowing parliamentary procedure today? In our times, it is seldom the case that voters in a parliamentary democracy actually know the procedural ways in which parliaments work. Social scientists and political research have not insisted on the importance of understanding the rules and traditions that guide parliamentary proceedings. Given that the procedure actually frames parliamentary debates would it not help democratic politics gain greater legitimacy and make research on parliamentary politics more meaningful if we were to extend our knowledge of procedure? Without examining the democratic developments of the British politics, this study offers an alternative way of seeing this historical building-block which still ultimately legitimises the politics in parliamentary democracies.

1.2 The problematics and approach of the study

The British parliament attained a paradigmatic status as a deliberative assembly during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. It also became the model for other assemblies and associations. Despite its relevance for understanding the kind of political action that takes place in a deliberative assembly, parliamentary debate has not been accorded much attention in the field of political science overall. Academic discussion on public deliberation has recently been dominated by the philosophical idea of 'deliberative democracy'. Jürgen Habermas, in particular, has been extremely influential in defining what public deliberation should be in the context of parliamentary politics. One of his main contributions has been to incorporate the concept of 'communicative power' in democratic theory (Flynn 2004, 434). He maintains that 'all political power derives from the communicative power of citizens' (Habermas 1996, 170). Promoting a political setting where state and society are two separate, competing spheres of action, he argues that the dynamics of publicity is a constituent element of politics.

In his *Strukturwandel der Öffentlichkeit: Untersuchungen zu einer Kategorie der bürgerlichen Gesellschaft* (1962), Habermas famously argues that the democratisation of Western European countries was achieved by the emergence of a bourgeois public sphere. In his narrative, what we call the 'public sphere', was constituted when private people, for the first time, claimed their right to engage in public debates on matters concerning themselves (Habermas 1989, 27). The British case is taken as the best model of an active public sphere that has formed inside the 'political realm'. The British public sphere is described as having emerged through 'forces' that tried to influence state authorities through appeals to the 'critical public' (ibid. 57).

There are at least two problems with Habermas's argument. He seems to assume that parliamentary politics is legitimately constituted only through the

public sphere. While he considers the influence of the public sphere as the origin of political activity, the underlying assumption seems to be that politics as an activity is only found in opposition to a political system. This view undermines the political activity in a parliament. Secondly, instead of treating political activity as a struggle between opposing views, he sees politics as constituting a realm where 'reason is put to use' (cf. Habermas 1989, 35). In his view the political realm is constituted by the articulation of common aims through popular sovereignty. For him, the public sphere is, essentially, a normative concept that legitimises political decisions.

Procedurally, Habermas's model of 'popular sovereignty' (Flynn 2004, 433) includes the idea that the non-institutionalised public sphere invents and provides issues for the agenda of the political system. The public sphere has the advantage of being able to deliberate on issues without the pressure to make decisions. At the same time, it tries to ensure that the laws legislated are for the benefit of the public (ibid. 440). The political struggles within a political institution, such as parliament, are seen as constituting a threat: the decisions made within that political system are likely to be affected by institutional political struggles that are foreign to the concerns of the public at large. This concern may be related to the contingency of politics itself: political activity is likely to produce unexpected consequences.

The normative aspect of Habermas's public sphere theory limits the approach of political research to 'what it ought to be' instead of 'what it is about'. The study of parliamentary procedure, in contrast, gives the chance to focus on the activity of politics itself (cf. Ihalainen & Palonen 2009, 21), directing attention to the formalised rhetorical struggles on which parliamentary politics is constituted instead of concentrating on the end products. Furthermore, the origin of Parliament is not found in a conflict involving publicity ('Öffentlichkeit'), but rather in the checks and controls on government finances (cf. Tomkins 2005, esp. ch. 3).

The British House of Commons is well known for its ancient traditions and rules which for centuries remained unwritten. John Hatsell's *Precedents of Proceedings in the House of Commons*, published in 1781, was the first attempt to provide a comprehensive account of parliamentary procedure. Previously there had been a few compilations² of established rules, but they did not attempt to cover the proceedings as a whole. Hatsell's (1733-1820) volume remained the authority on parliamentary procedure well into the 1800s. He was followed by Thomas Erskine May (1815-1886) with the first treatise on parliamentary procedure, *A Treatise upon the Law, Privileges, Proceedings and Usage of Parliament*, in 1844.³ May's work was reprinted eight times during his lifetime, and after his

Thomas Jefferson's *A Manual of Parliamentary Practice: for the Use of the Senate of the United States*, which covered a vast range of previous sources, was already published

For example, Sir Thomas Smith's Common-wealth of England and the Manner of Gouvernement Thereof (1612), Scobell's Memorials of the Method and Maner of Proceedings in Parliament ... (1656), and Hakewill's Modus tenendi Parliamentum: or, The Manner of Holding Parliaments in England ... (1659).

death it continued to be considered the most authoritative work on parliamentary procedure.

Jeremy Bentham (1748-1832) and Josef Redlich (1869-1936) also contributed to the genre of procedural tracts. Bentham's *Essay on Political Tactics* (1791), which addressed the question of the proper workings of a legislative assembly and was to be a guide for the establishment of the French National Assembly, is considered a classic. He had a more theoretical approach to the procedure of a deliberative assembly, whereas Redlich's work provides an historical reading of the British parliamentary procedure. Lord Campion's (1958) manual for members of Parliament also starts with an excursion into the history of the procedure, which offers invaluable information about the contexts in which the procedure was formed and revised.

In more recent studies on British parliamentary politics, the role of procedure has been largely overlooked. Only a few scholarly studies have emphasised its importance. Gronbeck (1982) has paid particular attention to parliamentary procedure of the eighteenth century. He has contributed to Foord's (1964) work on the tactics and techniques that the opposition members used in the period. Lord Norton's (2001) treatment of parliamentary procedure, in turn, concentrates on procedure as a constraining force on government policies. In the field of policy studies, procedure has also been considered in connection with the agenda setting of governments. It is perceived as a set of rules instrumental for the formation of political agendas (Schwartz 2008, 353). In her study on British parliamentary reform in the twentieth century, Kelso (2009) recognises procedure as an important part of the political system. Her starting point is that institutionally established norms and values shape reforms. From the perspective of historical institutionalism, she acknowledges the value of procedure. However, procedure is not treated as a vital parliamentary resource or condition of acting politically.

Norton connects the lack of research on procedure to the early twentieth-century perceptions of the decline of Parliament. The focus of studies on parliamentary procedure, he writes, has been guided by perceptions of a Parliament that is confronted by external pressures (Norton 2001, 14-15). That perspective led to the abandonment of focus on procedure and its political aspects. Instead, it seems that most of the studies conducted on nineteenth-century British parliamentary politics have an emphasis on the representative or party-political aspects. This is unsurprising, given that this was the century

in 1801. Although it predated May's work, it was not referred to in British procedural tracts due to its specialisation for the American context. However, it is important to note that Jefferson's *Manual* was adopted by the US House of Representatives as the main authority on its procedure.

For British parliamentary history, see e.g. Michael Brock, *The Great Reform Act*, London 1973; Norman Gash, *Politics in the Age of Peel: A Study in the Technique of Parliamentary Representation, 1830-1850*, London 1952; Angus Hawkins, *Parliament, Party, and the art of politics in Britain*, Chicago 1987. For history of political thought, see e.g. Stefan Collini, Donald Winch and John Burrow, *That Noble Science of Politics: a study*

when most of the decisive extensions of suffrage were enacted. However, the bulk of the literature seems to lack discussion on the effects these major pieces of legislation had on parliamentary politics. Steinmetz (2002), however, stands apart by focusing on the conceptual changes that took place in the political language inside British Parliament around the 1832 Reform Act.

In the course of this study it will be argued that parliaments are not the only assemblies that can operate in parliamentary terms. It will be shown that the political activities of the Union debating societies established in the two English universities in the early nineteenth century were also framed by an interpretation of politics essentially guided by procedure. The question then follows: to what extent and in what respects did the Union Societies adopt parliamentary procedure?

The Union Societies in Cambridge and Oxford are private debating societies founded by university students. Prior to their emergence, there had already existed several student debating clubs in the English universities whose origins have partly been attributed to the inspiration provided by still earlier academic debating societies such as the Speculative Society of Edinburgh (Martin 2000, ch. 1). Many of the Union Societies' members had also participated in the activities of the Eton Society or other public school debating societies before entering university (Hollis 1965, 12).

The Union Societies were not directly involved in party politics on a national scale. They debated on a number of issues which, occasionally, had partisan political overtones, but clearly no single political theme. Compared to such institutions as the Pitt Club, the Reform Club or the Carlton Club,⁵ the Union Societies had a quite different purpose. Whereas the others aimed at strengthening contacts among like-minds with a shared political agenda, the Union Societies were simply founded on the idea of acquiring debating skills.

In his autobiography Charles Wordsworth (1806-1892), a classical scholar and later bishop of St Andrews, described the excitement of the early nineteenth century and how it had turned him into a 'keen politician' eager to attend the debates at the House of Commons (Wordsworth 1891, 82). Wordsworth was Gladstone's private tutor at Oxford, and they were both members of the Union Society. At Cambridge Union Society his contemporaries Thomas Babington Macaulay (1800-1859) and Winthrop Mackworth Praed (1802-1839) were both elected to Parliament. Praed was described by Lord Lytton as 'the readiest and most pungent speaker at the Union Debating Society' (Bulwer-Lytton 1883, 227). It would be easy to assume that the Union Societies

in nineteenth-century intellectual history, Cambridge 1983; John W. Burrow, Whigs and Liberals: continuity and change in English political thought, Oxford 1988.

After the death of William Pitt the Younger in 1806 numerous clubs named after him were founded all over the country. The purpose of Pitt Clubs was to preserve the great leader's fame and remember his legacy through annual dinners and other commemorative events (Fletcher 1935, 2-3). The Reform and Carlton Clubs were founded for the promotion of pro- or anti-Reform Act policies, respectively.

had a direct role in national politics.⁶ However, success in a Union Society did not always lead to a political career. Especially in the early years of their existence, a vast majority of members did not become involved in parliamentary politics after graduation (cf. Meisel 2001, 37), and Macaulay and Praed, despite being called the most effective speakers in the Union, never attained the Union presidency (Hudson 1939, 87).

Especially in the latter part of the century the debates of Union Societies drew the attention of the press. Members themselves started to inform the papers about the topics of the debates. In 1873 *The Times* reported on the fiftieth anniversary of the Oxford Union Society. There the history of the society was connected with the parliamentary political culture of the time:

The Oxford Union has now worked for half a century as a school for history, politics, oratory, and conversational logic, with a good deal more than the average success of a regular University department. [...] In the course of these fifty years we have become a nation of public speakers. Every one speaks now, and tolerably well, too. Any country gentleman, or respectable tradesman taking a part in local affairs, might well compound for a speech a day, and be glad of that relief from the speeches of his neighbours. (*The Times* 1873, 1)

References to Union Societies also sometimes appeared in the House of Commons debates. For instance, in the second reading of the Parliamentary Reform Bill in 1866, Disraeli referred to Gladstone's past in the Oxford Union Society, after having just acquainted himself with the Society's records (House of Commons, 27 April 1866, cc94-95). Earlier that year the Union Societies had been mentioned in a second reading of a bill proposed by George Göschen,⁷ a former member of the Oxford Union, regarding the religious restrictions in English university education (House of Commons, 21 March 1866, cc659-715).

Given these parliamentary connections, it is curious that the Union Societies have not previously been studied from the parliamentary perspective in relation to their debating activities. The histories of the Union Societies⁸ have been written mainly by former presidents (e.g. Skipper 1878, Cradock 1953, Hollis 1965, Walter 1984, Parkinson 2009). In numerous political memoirs and biographies the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies are typically referred to as the 'training grounds' for parliamentarians, Gladstone being the most eminent example (e.g. Reid 1899, also cf. Cradock 1953, 1). In more recent research the activities of the Cambridge Union Society have been studied in

The two ancient English universities had representation in Parliament until 1950. For a discussion on the history of university representation, see Meisel 2011.

George Joachim Göschen (1831-1907) was elected a Liberal MP for City of London in 1863. He was educated at Rugby School under Tait and admitted at Oriel College in 1850. During his political career he served in Gladstone's government (1868-1871). In the early 1850s he had been active in the Oxford Union Society: he was a member of the standing committee from Easter term 1851 to Lent term 1853, during which time he served three terms as treasurer and one term as secretary. He was elected president for Michaelmas term in 1853.

The Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies should not be confused with the student unions or other student organs connected with the university. Students founded the Union Societies, but universities did not initially approve or support their activities.

connection with the Irish question (see Martin 2000). The Oxford Union Society, in turn, has inspired an ethnographical study (see Graham 2005). By far the most interesting study to treat the Union Societies as part of a unique culture of public speech is Meisel's *Public Speech and the Culture of Public Life in the Age of Gladstone* (2001), in which the Union Societies are treated as oratorical training grounds for career advancement.

For Meisel (2001, 42), the Union Societies provided systematised oratorical training for students, as this was lacking in the university curricula. He emphasises the changes in political oratory, considering the Union Societies as the embodiment of 'the new connection between public life and oratory' that was just emerging at the time (ibid. 41-42). His study places the Union Societies in a more general framework of the culture of public speech. However, his approach pays more attention to the 'oratorical' than the 'parliamentary' tradition. Bevis (2010) has also written about the effects of oratory on nineteenth-century literary culture from Romanticism to Modernism. He argues that prose was permeated by a growing fascination with parliamentary politics. It seems that both Bevis and Meisel, even though they acknowledge the relevance of Parliament to the political culture from the perspective of oratory, concentrate more on what was happening outside Parliament than on parliamentary politics itself.

1.3 The sources and my interpretation

This study aims at contributing to research on parliamentary politics from a procedural perspective by focusing on the Union Societies' use of the parliamentary mode of political activity. Most of the previous studies on Union Societies lack a consideration of their actual debating practices, although their links to the parliamentary culture are recognised (e.g. Meisel 2001, Martin 2000). To me it seems relevant to contextualise the Union Societies in that culture by looking at how the contemporary interpretations of parliamentary politics were present in the way Union Societies functioned as debating societies. Therefore, I propose to look at the debating activities of the Union Societies as a form of politics that was immersed in the parliamentary political culture of its day.

What are the benefits of conducting procedural rather than, for example, conceptual research into parliamentary politics? In a parliament it is ultimately the procedure that guides the debate. First of all, procedure ensures the basic rhetorical setting of speaking for and against specific issues. Another point is that procedure formalises and provides legitimacy to the proceedings. In other words, the parliamentary politics of debate would not exist without procedure. Conceptual research on the proceedings is valuable in the sense of investigating the conceptual changes that occur in parliamentary politics over long periods of time (see e.g. Steinmetz 2002, Ihalainen 2010). The procedural point of view, for its part, helps to complement the study of the conceptual changes by revealing the parliamentary political conflicts behind them.

Since the significance of procedure in guiding political action is my starting point, I examine the extent to which procedure defined Unions' debates. The emphasis of my analysis is on the Union Societies, although the House of Commons in the period between the parliamentary reforms of 1832 and of 1867 serves as the most relevant point of reflection. As argued above, a point-for-point comparison would not be relevant, since the institutional frameworks are designed for different purposes. The activities of the Union Societies are, therefore, treated as representing a form of parliamentary politics in a very broad sense.

A feature the House of Commons and the Union Societies do share is that both are deliberative assemblies with sets of rules designed for debating on motions. As mentioned at the outset, my point of departure is the idea presented by Redlich (1908b, 215) that parliamentary bills are, in fact, the result of a series of motions. It then follows that the aims of the political activity of a parliamentary body are twofold: firstly, to persuade what kinds of motions are put onto the official agenda, and secondly, to debate those motions that are successfully put onto the agenda. Looked at from a procedural perspective, the Union Societies have the basic features of deliberative bodies: they operate with motions and resolutions. According to Redlich, the aim of a deliberative assembly is to ensure the fair treatment of issues on the agenda with certain rules for the benefit of the majority, but without forgetting the rights of the minority to express their opinions (ibid.). In short, a motion is treated as a matter of debate before it is turned into a resolution by the majority of the House.

The primary sources of this study have been selected for the purpose of investigating the interpretations of parliamentary-styled debate and the use of procedure in the Union Societies between the parliamentary reforms of 1832 and 1867. It is during this period that the concept of 'parliamentary government' was introduced. The political situation after the Reform Act of 1832 required the members of parliament to re-orient their approach to public speaking: 'In Parliamentary Government, as it now exists among us, the contest for power is still substantially a contest for the favour of the People' (Grey 1864, 27). This important shift in the conception of debate should be seen as the contextual background for analysing the parliamentary culture of debate during the period. It is noteworthy that there has not been any previous research that combines parliamentary procedure tracts and rhetorical literature in a manner informative of this conceptual shift. For that reason I have had to construct interpretations of my own of House of Commons debate practices and procedural revisions after the 1832 Reform Act (Chapter 2) and, from non-parliamentary types of sources, of the British culture of debate more generally (Chapter 3). It was important to identify and acquaint myself with them so that I could use the findings in my subsequent analysis of the Union Societies (Chapters 4 and 5).

By using a rhetorical reading I offer an interpretation of the way the Union Societies became part of the parliamentary culture of debate in the nineteenth century. I have chosen the rhetorical perspective because it has been a neglected part of political science, despite the role of rhetoric in the Western tradition of

government and civic politics (cf. Finlayson 2004, 529). Furthermore, it seems to me that rhetoric should be studied in this type of case, where the political actors have received a classical education. I have analysed how certain debate topics, concepts and procedures correspond to the agenda of the actual parliamentary politics of the time and the rhetorical practices related to them. This kind of rhetorical reading of the Union Societies' proceedings has not been attempted previously.

There are some advantages and disadvantages related to being the first to pursue an enterprise such as this. As I am not writing a history of the Union Societies as associations, I have been unable to rely on previous studies and had to construct my own research design. I needed to reorganise the sources related to the Union Societies debates because they remained largely unindexed and fragmentary. This is the first time that a comprehensive corpus of the debating topics of the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies has been compiled.

However, the major disadvantage is that I had to devote much time to the collection and categorisation of the relevant material. I collected all relevant sources for my research from the original records. The archives of the Cambridge Union Society are situated in the Manuscripts Department of the Cambridge University Library, and the Oxford Union Society has placed all of its historical documents in the Oxfordshire Record Office in Cowley. The minute books of the Union Societies contain records of both private and public business meetings. There is also a vast amount of material related to the Union Societies which does not relate to its debates.

Almost all minute books still survive; only Volume 6 of the Cambridge Union Society minutes is missing. The proceedings in the minutes are handwritten in chronological order. The debate topics are rarely indexed, and the volumes usually do not have any page numbers. The fact that at some point the Union Societies started to print records of their public business meetings (i.e. debates concerning public issues) has helped me to go through them more systematically. The printed records most likely began when the Union Societies started to send copies of their transactions and rules to each other.

On the basis of the public business meeting records, I compiled lists of the debate topics (see Appendices 1 and 2). Additionally, the private business meetings containing issues regarding management of the societies had to be transcribed from the original minute books to an electronic form in their order of

The public business meetings did not refer to debates that were open to the public. The Union Societies are private organisations, and until the 1860s they rarely allowed any information about their activities to be published without their permission. 'Public' refers to meetings in which debate topics relate to matters outside the Society; 'private' refers to meetings on topics internal to the Society, such as maintenance of premises, the collections of the Union Society library and revision of the rules. The House of Commons did not hold 'public' meetings separately from 'private' meetings, and the meanings of 'public' and 'private' are different there: public relates to bills affecting the general public, 'private' to bills affecting localities or smaller groups of individuals (Thomas 1971, 46).

appearance. I then highlighted my notes mainly for meetings in which revision of rules was discussed.

The records of the Union Societies contain printed rules which are relevant for the purposes of my study. The rules and regulations of the Cambridge Union Society were written down almost every year, sometimes even twice a year in cases where additional amendments were made during private business meetings. The records of the society's bylaws between the 1830s and 1870s, unfortunately, are incomplete as the records for 1835 through 1840 are missing. However, as they were frequently altered, we may find traces of what was changed in the private business meetings from the minute books. The oldest surviving records of the rules and regulations of the Oxford Union Society are from 1837. Several years between then and 1867 are missing from the archives. As in the case of the Cambridge Union Society, however, we can trace some changes in the rules from the private business meetings. In some cases the rules were handled in special private business meetings (at Oxford Union Society they were also called 'extraordinary meetings'). The decision to arrange such a meeting was made by the president of the society, who had the discretionary power to call a general meeting on any matter that required special attention (CUS laws 1828, 4; OUS rules 1837, 5).

The minute books are not verbatim accounts of what was actually said in the meetings. ¹⁰ They do not reveal the argumentation for and against the motions that were made. The public business meetings were usually documented as follows: first, the date of the meeting as well as the name of the chairman were given; then, the motion and its proposer, and the speakers for and against; and last, the final vote (or 'division') showing the majority for or against. The 'division' represents the act of making a resolution based on the motion. The motions followed parliamentary models such as 'That in the opinion of this House' or 'That this House do now adjourn'. ¹¹ Occasionally amendments ¹² to the original motion and motions of adjournment were proposed as well.

The manner in which the minute books were written also affected the way I constructed the corpus. The fact that no argumentation is recorded in the sources has influenced the framing of the research questions, namely, it prompted me to analyse the agendas and the procedure debates. Furthermore, the scarcity of records meant that I have had to make maximum use of the records available. It was, therefore, important to select the sources from a relatively long period of time and from two Union Societies. That helped in making the

Reports of the proceedings of Parliament for this period were not written verbatim, either. In fact, that was not the intention of most of the contemporaries (see Section 2.2). Until well into the 1800s the reconstructions of parliamentary debates were mainly compiled from newspaper reports (see e.g. Wahrman 1992, 90; also Jordan 1931).

The Oxford Union Society started using the parliamentary style of formulating motions before the Cambridge Union Society. The issue is discussed in Chapter 4.

An amendment is a 'subsidiary motion' that is proposed for the purpose of changing the formulation of the original motion under debate (Redlich 1908b, 218).

comparisons and placing the objects of the study into the more general political context of their time.

In my view, the key way to proceed with this type of corpus is to pay attention to how the debate topics are formulated (see Chapter 4). The records of Union Society meetings are also analysed from a point of view as to what kinds of rhetorical strategies were available and employed in their particular procedural settings (see Chapter 5). My rhetorical reading is based on my earlier knowledge of classical rhetoric. Previously I conducted a study¹³ in which I analysed a consumer advocacy magazine from the perspective of classical Roman rhetoric with the intention of providing an alternative way of looking at public deliberation in our own time. More generally, I am interested in how persuasion is part of political activity in public assemblies, which led me to become interested in Westminster and how its deliberative practices have developed historically.

It has been noted that classical rhetoric is embedded in parliamentary practices and has been since the Renaissance (see e.g. Mack 2002, Skinner 2008, also Palonen 2008). Still, in the majority of British eighteenth-century writings on Parliament, this aspect was not recognised (Pulkkinen 2008, 51). It was not until the nineteenth century that the deliberative aspects of parliamentary debate became accentuated. My aim here is to explore those aspects by providing one way of looking at them from a rhetorical viewpoint.

The ideological notions of the British parliament (Seaward 2011) as well as the concepts of parliamentary functions, such as deliberation, sovereignty and representation, have recently received scholarly attention (e.g. Ihalainen 2010). Furthermore, the parliamentary style of politics has been recognised as being closely connected with the rhetorical paradigm (Soininen & Turkka 2008, also Palonen 2012). Especially in linguistics, the rhetorical side of parliamentary politics has been studied as part of discourse analysis. Ilie (2010, 1-2) has argued that the importance of parliamentary discourse analysis lies in the fact that it provides knowledge of parliamentary rules and practices. Rhetoric is used as a tool to explore parliamentarians' linguistic strategies and to reveal inherent bias.

In debate situations political agents are required to establish their political positions and further their political agendas by speaking to motions. At the same time they are constituting and re-constituting the procedure itself. In this study, I propose to look at the rhetoric of parliamentary politics from the viewpoint of how Union Society political activity was framed and legitimised by it. In other words, rather than focusing on revealing hidden agendas of political agents, I concentrate on the debating practices and how they are carried out in the parliamentary mode.

I defended my unpublished Licentiate thesis Poliittinen ironia Adbusters -lehdessä: Analyysi klassisesta pilkkaretoriikasta kulutuskulttuurikriittisessä tekstissä (Political Irony in the Adbusters Magazine: An analysis of classical rhetoric of ridicule in a text critical of consumer culture) at University of Jyväskylä in 2008.

Based on rhetorical and historical literature, I assert, in Chapter 3, that British conceptions of parliamentary oratory largely ignored the deliberative aspects of debate from the late eighteenth to the early nineteenth century. I suggest that the political importance of deliberation and its role in the parliamentary culture of debate was only realised in the course of the nineteenth century. I have focused on finding out the common deliberative aspects that were present in the nineteenth-century British parliamentary culture of debate. In the present study, I have used rhetorical genre and *topos* analysis. These have been employed especially in Chapter 4, in which I have sought to recover the politics of agenda-setting in the Union Societies. This I have done by conducting a rhetorical reading of the minutes of the public meetings, including information on both motions and resolutions, which constituted the public business of the Union Societies.

The analysis prioritises the procedural forms over the substance of the motions, although the examples I provide also show how closely the members of the Union Societies followed the politics of the day. Not only should we concentrate on the parliamentary terminology and procedure, we should also speculate on whether the topics would have been presented in an actual parliament in the first place. In debating societies, certain questions may be proposed merely for the sake of argument or for the purpose of practising defence, which would not be possible in a national parliament.

The Union Society motions indicate a systematic, repetitive use of certain expressions. In Chapter 4 I categorise the expressions under four interrelated *topoi*: 'vote of confidence', 'principle', 'character' and 'expediency'. Even though the *topoi* may seem to overlap, they do indicate starting points for further genre analysis of how political agency was rhetorically conceived in the Union Societies.

The four categories above should be considered as abstractions of the debates, not representations of their substance. In classical rhetoric *topoi* refer to conventions that are learnt and used in appropriate circumstances. Through conducting a genre analysis on the basis of the *topoi* I have identified the deliberative elements involved. The *topos* of 'character' rhetorically focuses attention on certain political conduct as justified or commendable. 'Principle' takes a distance from the conduct itself and focuses the argumentation on what is or is not a desirable course of action. 'Vote of confidence' directs attention to whether or not some policy or action merits approval. The *topos* of expediency refers to action that is concerned with the solving of a practical problem.

I have also highlighted some tropes and figures in the process of getting a clearer, overall grasp of the corpus. For example, I identified the use of the rhetorical figure of *correctio* in an Oxford Union's debate in which the president was accused of 'one-sidedness' (see ch. 5, p. 126). However, I have not tried to identify all of the rhetorical tropes and figures in a systematic manner. Similarly, I have not endeavoured to present in detail the political events that are related to the period.

I argue that the proposing of motions in a parliamentary manner instead of simply raising questions for discussion is what defined the Union Societies as deliberative assemblies. This becomes especially apparent in the records of the private business meetings. In my analysis in Chapter 5, I continue tracing the rhetorical *topoi* identified in Chapter 4 in instances where there was contention over defining the wording and content of the eventual resolutions. The majority of these cases involved challenging the role of the president.

Presidents of Union Societies had considerable powers. They were at the same time heads of the societies as well as chairs of the debates. The procedure of the society meetings gave the presidents the ultimate authority to interpret the rules. In the early years of the societies this created much disorder. However, along with the establishment of codified rules and more liberal membership policies by the 1850s, the Union Societies became better organised and more widely accepted among university students. At the same time the role of the president became even more significant as the officers of the society formed standing committees and adopted some of the characteristics of parliamentary government. However, the presidency remained a political office, even with respect to the duties of the chair. This is one of the differences that shows most clearly that the Union Societies did not always follow the example of the House of Commons. Whereas the Speaker of the House of Commons did not participate in the debates of Committees of the whole House anymore, a president of a Union Society was allowed to participate in the politics.

My intention has been to present an interpretation of a phenomenon that, in my view, has wider political implications in the field of parliamentarism and in the study of political rhetoric. My analysis of Union Society debates shows that the rules of debate and procedure can be considered as empowering members, by allowing them to debate on an equal footing, instead of constraining them, as often understood today (cf. Norton 2001). Of course, parliamentary procedure has undergone changes since the nineteenth century. However, the persuasive element preserved by procedure still remains a provider of political legitimacy in many public assemblies and associations. In that respect the *topoi* identified in this study might be useful in providing a fresh perspective for studies of the political rhetoric used in the public assemblies of today.

1.4 Parliamentary procedure and the practices of the Union Societies

Before I lay out the general narrative of this study, it is first necessary to give a short presentation of parliamentary procedure and the practices adopted in the Union Societies. In both Union Societies, parliamentary procedure was directly or indirectly referred to as an authoritative source of conduct. For instance, at Oxford Union Society one of the members sought precedent in a House of Commons practice (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 4 February 1858). Also, in 1844,

a member of the Cambridge Union Society insisted that the president should 'regulate his conduct as nearly as possible by the precedents of the "House of Commons" (CUS minute book vol. 13, 26 February 1844). But already in 1839 the Cambridge Union Society, in a special committee formed to recommend amendments to its rules, mentioned parliamentary procedure. In the committee's report, there was a suggestion that the president of the society, while performing the functions of a chairman in a debate, 'should keep to the behavior of the House of Commons' (CUS minute book vol. 10, 130-132).

British parliamentary procedure is based on traditions and precedents that have remained largely unchanged for centuries. Campion (1958, 3) described it as a settled parliamentary practice that is only modified over time. It is adjusted according to constitutional arrangements. In that sense, revision of procedure also implies a redefinition of the power relations between the constitutive parts of Parliament (i.e. the House of Commons, the House of Lords and the Crown) (ibid. 1). Awareness of the traditions, learning what is permitted, prohibited or addressed by the rules, opens up new horizons for how to act in the way that is most beneficial for one's own political ends.

The idea of protection of the minority had for centuries been the main purpose of parliamentary procedure (Redlich 1908a, 56). It had a long lasting effect on the debates in the House of Commons:

It is in debate alone that a minority can hope to compete with a majority; the forms of the house can ultimately assist neither party; but, so far as they offer any intermediate advantage, the minority have the greatest protection in forms, while the majority are met by obstructions to the exercise of their will. (May 1851, 221)

May's argument was that the forms of proceedings do not favour any party as such, as they are available equally for all who are involved in a debate. Also, he implies that the procedure is a tool to be used for political purposes, that is, the rules of debate do not specify to what end they should be used. What May seems to be suggesting, is that debate is the occasion where procedure could be freely used for one's own benefit.

The history of the legislative powers of the British House of Commons is connected with petitions. At least since the fourteenth century the House of Commons' proceedings were mainly related to petitions from outside and inside of Parliament. The individual and group petitions from outside of Parliament became later known as 'private bills', and the collective ones from members of the House of Commons were named 'public bills' (Campion 1958, 11).

According to Campion (1958, 13), the collective petitions are what turned Parliament into a legislative assembly. But as the powers of the House of Commons were strengthened in the course of the nineteenth century, its public business became seriously obstructed by private bills that, by this time, were also being proposed by members of parliament. Government business was delayed due to debates on the increasing amount of private members' bills. The increasing demands of dealing with the problem of time shortages, therefore, left a mark on the nineteenth-century procedure of the Commons (ibid.).

The Union Societies debated once a week during every academic term. In deliberative assemblies such as the Union Societies, debates do not have the urgency to conduct business. This used to be the case also in the House of Commons prior to the reform period.

Now that every word is taken down and that the speaker, particularly the prominent or Front Bench speaker, knows that he is addressing, not a private club, but a gathering that may embrace the whole nation, [...]; he cannot frisk and frolic in the flowery meads of rhetoric; he dare not "let himself go" as Chatham or Fox could afford to do. (Curzon 1913, 14)

The growth in the amount of legislation since then has gradually contributed to a change in British parliamentary speech. Curzon contrasts the oratory of the early twentieth-century Parliament to that which he attributes to a century before. There was now very little time left for 'full-dress debate', unlike the 'Golden Age' (Curzon 1913, 13). In comparison, the Union Societies were not affected by such drastic changes. While Parliament had to change its attitudes towards publicity and the press, the Union Societies did not have to confront such issues on a similar scale. However, they did debate on the secrecy of their debates on several occasions (see Section 2.3).

In the early nineteenth century, English university studies did not include substantial ways to practise disputation, though this had traditionally been part of curricula since the Middle Ages. In earlier times, when theology had been regarded as the most important academic subject, universities encouraged debating for the sake of apologetics (Gribble 1924, 41). The practice, however, was gradually lost during the eighteenth century and was part of the decline of the popularity of neo-classical rhetoric in the late seventeenth century (e.g. Skinner 2002, 122). By the early eighteenth century, English moral philosophy and political thought had lost almost all contact with classical rhetoric.

Since then, in the English universities, the classical scholars tended to keep out of controversies (Clarke 1945, 2). In contrast to the university curricula, the Union Societies enabled students not only to practise their debating skills, but also to get acquainted with topics they otherwise might miss. Early nineteenth-century English university studies still relied heavily, however, upon classical Latin and Greek, and students were required to master selected classical texts in the original language (Miller 1997, 157-158). At Cambridge, however, it was mathematics that was more emphasised in the curriculum. In the early nineteenth century, the universities introduced the honours system. Mathematics degrees were the only degrees offered by Cambridge until the 1850s, the classics being regarded only as of secondary importance. At Oxford, students were expected to prepare for an honours degree by learning ancient texts in the original language. Examinations in classics became available in Cambridge in 1824.¹⁴

It perhaps should be added that in the first half of the nineteenth century university teaching of classics was reportedly not up to the same standards as in public schools (Clarke 1959, 103). The university education relied mostly on tutoring which was not

Another important characteristic of the Union Societies, and one that coincided with the Parliament in the eighteenth and much of the nineteenth century, was that their members had similar educational backgrounds. Their knowledge of the Classics contributed to a parity of skills between the debaters. The members shared the same classical references and in that way were able to deliberate on equal terms. In the nineteenth century classical references decreased and the rhetorical style expected of parliamentarians became more practical and goal-oriented. The centre role was accorded to procedure and rules of debate which guaranteed the fairness of the proceedings.

Even though most of the rules of Union Society debate were not identical to those of the House of Commons, similar ideas and terminology were applied. The term 'house' was adopted to denote meetings with legitimate powers to make resolutions. From 1845 onwards 'house' was mentioned in the Cambridge Union Society laws in a connection with the parliamentary formulation 'a motion put to the house' (see CUS laws 1845 Lent & Easter, 9). For example, at Oxford Union Society the minute books could be referred to as 'Journals of the House' (OUS rules 1837, 33).

Yet another example of the adoption of the terminology is found in the rules of Oxford Union Society: 'The question shall be put in form of a motion; when it shall be competent for any Member to move an amendment' (OUS rules 1837, 6). The questions under debate were not only called 'motions', they were also treated in the parliamentary manner. As was customary in the House of Commons, the issue proposed for debate, once accepted for deliberation, was considered thenceforth the possession of the house.

In the House of Commons a member who has given notice of a motion is considered the opener of the debate, although in some cases the member is allowed to use a proxy (Redlich 1908b, 217). A parliamentary question is formulated in a way that expresses a decision even before the deliberation, e.g. 'That the House do now adjourn' (Campion 1958, 20). Debate is then conducted for and against the motion. In the course of the debate members may propose additional or substitutive motions, also known as riders or amendments. These do not require any prior notice, and thus, may be moved at any time.

A debate begins after a motion has been put to the House in the form of a question by the Speaker of the House (Hansard 1857, 31). Similar procedure was used at Union Societies. On 6 May 1852, Göschen (see fn. 7, p. 15) of Oriel College proposed an amendment that the president of the Oxford Union Society should not have the power of 'closing the debate either in public or private business, at his discretion' (OUS minute book vol. VII, 6 May 1852). Göschen proposed that the phrase 'closing the debate' should be stricken and replaced 'putting the Question'. The amendment was voted on and passed. In this manner Göschen's amendment ensured that the Oxford Union Society rules

at the same level in all colleges. The colleges were financially and administratively independent. Obviously, it also meant that some colleges were better provided for than others.

would follow the parliamentary model: 'In putting any [...] Question, no argument or opinion is to be offered [...]' (Hansard 1857, 38).

In the British parliament, the proposer of a motion cannot simply withdraw his or her motion without the permission of the House. Once the motion has been moved it ceases to belong to its proposer, and becomes the possession of the House instead (Redlich 1908b, 220). Members of the House of Commons do, however, have the liberty to withdraw motions they have proposed by asking leave of the House. Permission is granted only if the House is unanimous (Hansard 1857, 32). A similar rule was applied in the Oxford Union Society:

No Member shall alter or withdraw any Motion or Amendment which he shall have brought forward, or placed on the boards, without permission of the President; nor (if such Motion or Amendment have been seconded) without the consent of the seconder. (OUS rules 1858, 36)

Related to this, the Union Societies also applied the rule of giving notice (see Section 3.1). In the House of Commons a notice of proposing a motion must be given in advance in some cases, while other motions may be moved without discussion. The reason for providing notices relates to setting the agenda of the House. By receiving notice of what motions will be proposed and in what order, the House is adequately informed of upcoming business beforehand.

Union Society members did not have the right to speak twice during a debate (CUS laws 1824, 8; OUS laws 1837, 7), except in the case of private business meetings and committees of the whole house. That rule was also adopted from the House of Commons procedure:

It is a rule strictly observed in both houses, that no member shall speak twice to the same question, except, 1st, to explain some part of his speech which has been misunderstood; 2dly, in certain cases, to reply at the end of a debate; and, 3dly, in committee. (May 1844, 195)

Debates in committees are governed by slightly different rules than in plenary sessions. In the nineteenth century, parliamentary bills that reached committee stage were usually discussed in the form of the committee of the whole house. At Cambridge, Union Society meetings called to deal with appeals against the president's decisions were named 'committees of the whole house' in 1849 (CUS laws 1849, 8). However, private business meetings of both Union Societies already resembled a committee of the whole house in that members could speak multiple times. A difference was that the private business meetings were not part of any stage in a legislative process.

The Union Societies allowed the opener or proposer of a motion make a final reply at the end of debate, before the division. In the British parliament, no House decision on the basis of a question could become a resolution without a

vote. In practice, the division¹⁵ of votes determined which side of the question enjoys the majority. In some instances the size of the majority is of crucial importance. For example, in some cases a rule applies requiring a motion to receive a two-thirds majority to be carried. If the proponents of a motion expect that it will lose a division, they can have recourse to this procedure in order to ensure attendance of those members who will support them.

A member could postpone a debate to a later date by proposing a motion of adjournment of the House. Motions of adjournment may also be proposed without prior notice. Additionally, they may be used as an 'urgency motion' in cases which there is a specific question that needs the immediate attention of the House (Redlich 1908b, 219). Another form of adjournment is the 'motion of adjournment of debate', which in practice means a proposal to end debate on the question at hand. Redlich terms motions of adjournment 'accommodative' proposals. As such they are used to make room for proceedings in unexpected situations (Redlich 1908b, 219-220).

In the Union Societies as well, any member could propose an adjournment of debate at any time. A motion of adjournment could, effectively, end the debate. At Cambridge, the rule that the debates were supposed to end by 9:45 p.m. (CUS laws 1824, 1-2) was abolished by 1841. At Oxford, there did not exist at first any precise deadline for ending the debate, but a member could move that the House adjourn by a certain time; to pass, the motion required a qualified majority of votes (OUS rules 1839, 31). In 1865 a rule was added that, in cases of private business meetings where a time limit was applied and if no new business was scheduled to be presented after 11 p.m., the president could adjourn the House (OUS rules 1865, 4-5). In the Cambridge Union Society's private business meetings, motions of adjournment in general were used less than in Oxford. Instead, motions for suspending certain rules to deal with private business were frequently used in Cambridge. At first, only the president had the right to move for a suspension of a rule, but in 1853 standing committee members also gained the privilege to propose it. The motion to suspend a rule could be made without prior notice, but it needed a majority of three-fourths of the members present (CUS laws 1826, 4-5).

The term 'division' derives from the actual voting practise of the House of Commons. Usually the vote on motions was made *viva voce*, but in the case that at least two members challenged the vote, the Speaker had to agree to a 'division'. After strangers were asked to withdraw, members who had been present when the question was put were asked to move to either of the division lobbies, which were located adjacent to the House of Commons' chamber. The Speaker gave directions regarding which side was for the 'Ayes' and which the 'Noes'. (Redlich 1908b, 233-235) In the Union Societies, 'division' was adopted as a term to denote voting by any method.

1.5 The outline of the study

The study begins in Chapter 2 with a discussion of the procedure used in the nineteenth-century House of Commons. The chapter focuses on the constitutional setting as well as the procedural revision that was undertaken at that time. In 1832 the parliament passed the Great Reform Act, which was more or less a political compromise. However, it had unexpected consequences in terms of the constitutional setting. As Bagehot (2001, 98-99) described it, the House of Commons became a 'true sovereign' that governed the country in the form of a public meeting. Formerly, speaking in plenary sessions had mostly been left to leading parliamentarians. Now, however, all elected members of parliament were expected to take part in debates.

In Chapter 3 the attention shifts to how 'debate' was interpreted in British culture from the mid-eighteenth to the late nineteenth century. To that end, memoirs, parliamentary debates, committee reports, oratorical and procedural treatises as well as articles from contemporary newspapers and journals have been used. The sources are approached with a focus on the interchange of ideas between Parliament and the wider political culture. The aim of the chapter is to situate the Union Societies in the broader tradition of the debating culture of Britain.

As stated above, my reading of the Union Societies starts from the idea that they are 'parliamentary bodies'. It follows that there are two concomitant aspects for analysing the political activity of such bodies: the first involves how the agenda is formed; the second, how the agenda items are debated. The former I call 'the politics of agenda' and the latter 'the politics of debate'. In this study they are treated in two separate chapters, partly due to the fact that the Union Societies' minute books have mostly separate entries of their public and private business meetings. This feature distinguishes the Union Societies from the House of Commons: all issues on the House of Commons agenda were discussed in the same plenary sessions. As the proceedings in the House of Commons are necessarily different, it is important to treat the Union Societies as distinctly independent 'parliamentary bodies', albeit they all share the same parliamentary culture of debate.

The main analysis of the primary sources concerning the Union Societies has been divided between Chapters 4 and 5. The minute books and compilations of rules cover the period roughly from 1830 to 1870. The time period under investigation, a period when both the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies were active, ¹⁶ coincides with the two major parliamentary reforms of the nineteenth century. In Chapter 4 the Union Societies' public business meetings are analysed from the point of view of the formulation of

Also the Durham Union Society was founded in 1835 but its activities were less regular. Its surviving records are used in the study only as supplementary materials. All of the other Union Societies were largely established in the late nineteenth century.

motions, or a part of what I refer to as the politics of agenda. The starting point for this analysis is that the topics debated were formulated based on members' interpretations of parliamentary debate. In the British parliament it is an ancient rule that no debate is allowed without a motion. This is because a House can only give a definite resolution for or against to issues that take the form of a motion (Redlich 1908b, 215). The same rule was adopted in Union Societies: their topics of debate followed parliamentary procedure in that they were presented as motions. The manner in which the members formulated the motions also suggests that their rhetorical strategies were adopted from parliamentary procedure. In Chapter 4 the aim is to analyse those rhetorical strategies through a categorisation of their *topoi*.

In Chapter 5 the private business meetings of Union Societies are considered from the angle of the politics of debate. Breaking parliamentary procedure intentionally, or even a suggestion of disorderly behaviour, would probably have caused more harm than benefit to the parliamentarian. At stake, then, was the *ethos* of the parliamentarian. However, disorderly behaviour in the Union Societies was quite common, especially before the 1840s. By the end of the decade, both Union Societies had begun to revise their rules. The reason was to minimise the range of interpretation of the rules, which effectively increased the chair's powers to regulate debate. However, the rules were still often interpreted to one's own advantage. Such interpretations were a major source of the politics of debate in the Union Societies. Their private business meetings, which are analysed in Chapter 5,¹⁷ show how Union Society members both adhered to and at times challenged the parliamentary-styled procedural rules of their respective Societies.

Other sources are also referred to, such as Hansard publications and the Standing Orders of the House of Commons, as well as the alumni registers of both Cambridge and Oxford Universities.

2 THE DEBATING PROCEDURES OF THE NINETEENTH-CENTURY HOUSE OF COMMONS

The period after the 1832 Reform Act is a time that saw the birth of procedural revisions in the British parliament. It was in this political context that the Whigs introduced the constitutional idea of 'parliamentary government', which in practice, gave the House of Commons the power to set up the cabinet. The aim of this section is to look at the constitutional context and the rhetoric relating to the procedural revision as it was undertaken by the select committees of the House of Commons. The idea of parliamentary government and how it related to the procedural traditions will be further elaborated in the following subsection 2.1. I argue that revision of procedure is a form of politics that has been used for redefining and modifying the accepted rules of debate towards one's own political ends. The emphasis will be on the analysis of committee reports and how they incorporated the arguments presented for and against the procedural reforms. Despite the fact that many of the suggested modifications were not adopted by the House of Commons, the rhetoric shows the politics of the revisions, which will be further analysed in the framework of the constitutional arrangement. The argumentation in Parliament shows that the revision of procedure was not only a question of technical efficiency, but also involved the political position and privileges of the members of Parliament.

2.1 'Parliamentary government' and the role of debate in the House of Commons

The constitutional idea of parliamentary government was dominant during the same period as parliamentary debate was featuring prominently in British political culture. Particularly between the 1832 and 1867 parliamentary reforms, the prominent mode of acting politically was, in Bagehot's words, through 'government by discussion' (Bagehot 1872). As a concept parliamentary government was adopted in 1835. However, the term 'parliamentary government' had ap-

peared already in 1832 and has been attributed to J. J. Park, Professor of English Law and Jurisprudence at King's College, London (e.g. Hawkins 1989, 641). Park's lectures on constitutional theory and practice were published as *The Dogmas of the Constitution* (1832). His main argument is that the practice of the British constitution does not correspond to the prevailing theories. In fact, Park maintains that, for the previous 150 years, there had been two 'concurrent, but essentially different' constitutions at work (Park 1832, 7).

In his view, the constitution actually represented the state of affairs of the time it was written, and had long since become outmoded with the current situation. He directs his criticism against the 'balance of powers' theory. ¹⁸ The theory had in particular been endorsed by William Blackstone in his influential *Commentaries on the Laws of England* (1765-1769). Park considers Blackstone's constitutional theory as having no relation to what was actually happening. He contends that the control of Parliament over its own deliberations had long since made the theory untenable since the Crown was simply unable to use its prerogative:

The real truth is, that these, which were at one time considered as practical checks in the constitution, have come, by change of circumstances, to be merely principles of extreme application, the resort to which would be indicative of an approaching dissolution of the constitution itself; and which, therefore, cannot with propriety be represented as *elements* of the constitution. (Park 1832, 58; emphasis in the original text)

Park's critique is directed at eminent constitutional theorists such as Blackstone and Paley who, he claims, have argued for a theory that does not exist in practice:

It was going on all the time that Mr. Justice Blackstone was living, and for a long time before that; and although, if we were to go far enough back to lose sight of this system of *parliamentary* government, we should lose it in a system, if it be possible, still more unlike that of the theory, — *prerogative government*, or government carried *out* of parliament, by the *Court*, or the *Privy Council*, or the great *officers of state*, amenable rather to parliament for their misdeeds, when grievous, than sharing with them the business of political management. (Park 1832, 40-41; emphasis in the original text)

In short, Park defines 'parliamentary government' as a constitutional practice that, though having been in use for a long time, had not yet been recognised in theory. Later research has supported Park's argument by claiming, for example, that the idea of ministerial solidarity can already be seen in the resignation of Lord North's cabinet in 1782 (Eulau 1942, 35).

The concept 'parliamentary government' dominated the constitutional discussion by the 1850s. In his pamphlet *Parliamentary Government* (1858) Earl Grev formulated it as follows:

According to the constitutional settlement, Britain had been a constitutionally limited monarchy since the Glorious Revolution of 1688. The balance of powers theory was based on an idea of the mutual check of power between three branches of government, the Crown, the House of Lords, and the House of Commons.

The powers belonging to the Crown [are] exercised through Ministers, who are held responsible for the manner in which they are used, who are expected to be members of the two Houses of Parliament, the proceedings of which they must be able generally to guide, and who are considered entitled to hold their offices only while they possess the confidence of Parliament, and more especially of the House of Commons. (Grey 1864, 4)

According to this interpretation of the constitution, the powers of the Crown were executed by ministers who were held responsible for their actions to the House of Commons. Grey was also arguing that parliamentary government had by now replaced the Blackstonean constitution, having taken place 'by gradual development of principles' (Grey 1864, 8).

Furthermore, Grey puts forward a definition of parliamentary ministry in which ministers are expected to be members of one of the houses of Parliament. However, this principle seems never to have been explicitly asserted (Redlich 1908b, 94). Grey's arguments were based on conventions that had by now become the political custom. The direct link created between the government and the parliament legitimised cabinet politics and made it increasingly difficult for the Crown to exercise its prerogative power (e.g. to appoint a government without the acceptance of the majority of the House of Commons). It has been suggested that the Crown's influence in parliamentary business was already declining well before 1832 (e.g. Foord 1947, 486-488). However, it has also been pointed out that as late as November 1834 a British monarch was allowed to use royal prerogative to remove a government that enjoyed the confidence of the House of Commons majority (Hawkins 2007, 152).

While Grey's interpretation of 'parliamentary government' became dominant, not all parliamentarians at the time endorsed the Whig explanation of the constitutional arrangement. Tory administrations prior to 1830 favoured a doctrine that emphasized order and independent executive power (Hawkins 1989, 647). Also, while Tory opposition leader from 1835 until 1841, Peel did not fully act according to the tenets of parliamentary government. Before 1835, when Peel became prime minister, William IV had dismissed the Melbourne government in order to prevent Whigs from aligning with radicals inside the Commons. William IV caused a scandal by asking Wellington to form a Tory government instead. Wellington suggested Peel for the premiership, but, as Peel was at that moment out of the country, he agreed to step in for the time being.

Finally, in its composition, the Peel government became almost indistinguishable from the Wellington government (Andrén 1947, 210). Once returned to Britain, Peel appealed to Lord Stanley to join the new government, and other moderate Whigs to support Stanley's inclusion, according to the wishes of the King (Hawkins 2007, 152). William IV used the royal prerogative to propose this alliance with the Whigs. Though Stanley, as a member of Grey's government, was partly responsible for passing the 1832 parliamentary reform, while the Conservative Peel had opposed it, they did share the same views on the Church question, which made them suitable allies.

Even though Peel supported the royal prerogative to form ministries, he was aware of the benefits of forming alliances inside Parliament as well. De-

spite almost certain victory for the Conservatives in the upcoming elections, Peel recognised that he had to comply with the principle of parliamentary government in order to stay in power. Peel decided to change his view publicly for the purpose of getting the support of the Whigs for his future government. He wrote an electoral programme entitled the Tamworth Manifesto after the name of his own constituency. The manifesto was aimed at blunting criticism of the Tory policy on reform. It was rhetorically designed to pre-empt any moderate Whig assertions about the Tories being obstacles to progress (Hawkins 2007, 159). The manifesto was published in *The Times*, which Wellington had earlier managed to persuade to take the side of the future Conservative government. In this way Peel managed to get favourable publicity for his new pro-reform policy. Although some Tories would not be favourable to the new tactics, Peel was counting on the majority of the Tory party to be amenable to compromise in order to remain in office (ibid. 160). By expressing his appreciation for the Whig reform policy, Peel was able to draw support for his election campaign from the opposition and thereby secure a majority in the House of Commons. In this sense Peel's campaign was the first in British electoral history where there were clear parliamentary elements involved (Andrén 1947, 221).

Another new characteristic that marked the 1835 elections was the greater role accorded to electoral organisation of the political parties (Andrén 1947, 221). Hawkins (1989, 642) argues that parliamentary parties were Park's solution to the constitutional dilemmas of parliamentary government. Parties' constitutional function was to protect parliamentary sovereignty from both the prerogatives of the monarch and the rash demands of the uneducated populace. Therefore, parties were considered 'political associations' inside Parliament that worked as safeguards against outside influence.

In Grey's arguments for parliamentary government the Whig effort to legitimise Parliament's educational role is conspicuous:

The mode in which our Parliamentary contests have been carried on, has had the further and great advantage of contributing much to instruct the Nation at large on all the subjects most deeply concerning its interests, and to form and guide public opinion. [...] The value of Parliament as an instrument for the instruction of the Nation, and for enabling it to arrive at just and wise conclusions on matters affecting its welfare, is hardly less than that which belongs to it as the organ for expressing and enforcing the national will when it has been deliberately formed. (Grey 1864, 37)

In Grey's opinion, then, parliamentary debates were a means of educating the nation. In this sense parliamentary government ensured that the representatives of the nation in Parliament would be actively involved in educating the populace in matters that concerned them.

In contrast to the Whig interpretation of the constitution, Peel and his followers did not accept the idea of parliamentary government according to which the legitimate use of executive powers was based on the ability of parties to consolidate opinions (Hawkins 1989, 652). Nevertheless, parliamentary majorities became of increasing consequence when 'parliamentary government' was accepted as the basis of conduct in Westminster. As shown above, that was certainly acknowledged by Peel as well.

Hawkins maintains that parliamentary party activity in mid-century was actually conducted according to the principles of parliamentary government in the Whig sense (Hawkins 1989, 661). Along with the new emphasis on parliamentary majorities came new requirements and aims. This was echoed not only in Gladstone's 1838 essay (see Reid 1953), but also in Grey's conception of parliamentary government. A serious parliamentarian would now direct his efforts towards acquiring debating skills and securing a position in a ministry.

Grey mentions as one of the prerequisites of parliamentary government that ministers have the ability to gain the confidence of the nation through parliamentary debating contests (Grey 1864, 27). Although he does not consider debating skill the most important quality of a minister, he nevertheless argues that it is necessary if a minister is to secure his position:

Success as a Parliamentary debater is indeed far from being a certain index of a man's fitness for the duties of a Minister, but it is, at least, no bad test of intellectual power, and of the knowledge which a Minister possesses of the affairs entrusted to his management. No prompting by subordinates, and no assistance which can be commanded, can prevent the ignorance of a Minister, when it exists, from being brought to light by the strict ordeal of Parliamentary discussion. (Grey 1864, 34)

A more important quality in a minister than skill in debate, according to Grey, is the maintenance of character. In debate one might win backing for certain policies, but in order to keep such support a parliamentarian must maintain the good opinion of others. In a minister, Grey finds this quality the most significant of all: 'A man who has failed to establish, in the party he belongs to, a character for judgment and for ability, can hardly become, as the leader of the House of Commons, the most important member of a British Ministry' (Grey 1864, 35). Character is, in his view, formed in the party the speaker belongs to. In rhetorical terms character refers to the ethos of a speaker. In the new framework of parliamentary government with its interplay between parliamentary majorities and the maintenance of ethos, it became increasingly important for parliamentarians to form alliances.

Grey's views on 'parliamentary government' were later echoed in Bagehot's *The English Constitution*, which was published in 1867. Bagehot's conception of 'cabinet government' does not resemble Grey's definition of 'parliamentary government' by accident. In Bagehot's view cabinet government plays an important role in educating the nation, but it also generates critical opposition against itself. Accordingly, he highlights the importance of debate as part of the process:

The great scene of debate, the great engine of popular instruction and political controversy, is the legislative assembly. A speech there by an eminent statesman, a party movement by a great political combination, are the best means yet known for arousing, enlivening, and teaching a people. The cabinet system ensures such debates, for it makes them the means by which statesmen advertise themselves for future and confirm themselves in present governments. (Bagehot 2001, 14)

Parliamentary debate, in Bagehot's opinion, is an educative tool that is created by cabinet government. Furthermore, he argues that the cabinet system benefits the representation of the people by allowing for Members of Parliament to engage with the general public.

[The cabinet system] brings forward men eager to speak, and gives them occasions to speak. The deciding catastrophes of cabinet governments are critical divisions preceded by fine discussions. Everything which is worth saying, everything which ought to be said, most certainly *will* be said. [...] The nation is forced to hear two sides — all the sides, perhaps, of that which most concerns it. And it likes to hear — it is eager to know. Human nature despises long arguments which come to nothing — heavy speeches which precede no motion, abstract disquisitions which leave visible things where they were. (Bagehot 2001, 14; emphasis in the original text)

Bagehot seems to argue against long speeches that have no connection to debate itself. He also makes reference to the age-old rule that speeches should not be conducted without a motion. In his opinion, speakers should avoid arguments that do not address the question or are too heavy and abstract. In this sense Bagehot defends the rhetorical virtues of parliamentary procedure as giving structure to debates and preventing long speeches.

May's Constitutional History of England, first published between 1861 and 1863, also became influential in the discussion of parliament's constitutional role. The needs to which parliamentary speaking was a response, May argues, have been completely altered. The state of parliamentary oratory was now, in his view, connected to situations in which parliamentarians who are able to demonstrate outstanding verbal talents raise not only the level of parliamentary oratory, but the quality of Parliament as an institution as well. According to him, the authority of the House of Commons had increased by the introduction of the new rules: 'Indeed, as the Commons have advanced in power and freedom, they have shown greater self-restraint, and a more ready obedience to the authority of the Speaker' (May 1882, 128). May gives the impression that the revision of the rules of debate was also beneficial for the constitutional position of the House of Commons. His rhetoric was certainly supportive of parliamentary government in the sense that he emphasised the role of the Speaker.

2.2 Revision of debating procedures from 1837 to 1861

The growing political significance of parliamentary procedure was connected with the constitutional shift that gradually took place after the first parliamentary reform, in 1832, as underlined in the previous section. At the time, the House of Commons' management of public business was becoming seriously delayed. The procedural reforms that were made between 1832 and 1867 remained largely respectful of the privileges of individual members, even though the number of speakers had increased. In terms of debate and free speech, it was the ancient privilege of individual members to raise debate on any issue by claiming priority (Fraser 1960, 450). After the establishment of 'order days' in

1811, which in practice set aside Mondays and Fridays for debating government business, such privileges became the most powerful tools for disrupting business. In the nineteenth century these privileges were frequently resorted to as a means to gain public attention by obstructing the work of the government. This was especially the case in connection with petitions. Petitions had been, before the Commons constituted a standing committee for their presentation in the 1860s, a source of numerous debates, which hindered government business since petitions were presented before any other business before the house was transacted. In the 1830s the house began to introduce rules to put an end to the great amount of time expended on petitions (Redlich 1908b, 239).

The problem was first addressed in 1837 when both houses of Parliament decided to appoint select committees to inquire into the delays that had long caused detriment to the transacting of other business. Thereafter, three more select committees were appointed between 1848 and 1861. In this section I will focus on the debates in the reports of four select committees appointed by the House of Commons, in 1837, 1848, 1854 and 1861. The committees were charged with inquiring into the ways through which the forms of parliamentary proceeding could be amended to more efficiently deal with the course of business.

As will be briefly presented below, the politics of procedure revolved around the question of how to limit debates without compromising the privileges of the House of Commons or its members. Throughout the nineteenth century, the Standing Orders¹⁹ of the House of Commons were revised chiefly for the more effective distribution of time (Campion 1958, 38-39). Revision of the rules was conducted for securing the efficient conduct of government business. Procedural changes were, therefore, also a reaction against parliamentary opposition within. The remedy was sought from written rules instead of relying on the ancient privileges and customs (Fraser 1960, 445).

Already in the 1820s, the amount of agenda items in the House of Commons had increased to the point that it disrupted the conduct of business. The select committee report of 1848 argued that the debating procedure was equally put under strain as the number of parliamentarians who spoke in debates grew (Report from the Select Committee 1848, iii). The amount of petitions from constituencies was also growing at a remarkable rate, between 7,436 and 18,450 new petitions per year between 1832 and 1848 (ibid.).

A motion to form a select committee to address the problems caused by the petitioning was first moved by Lord Brougham in 1837, during Lord Melbourne's second ministry. Brougham argued that parliamentary business had suffered due to the increased amount of private legislation.

In Kemp's (1971, 1) view, the way the rules of proceeding are named already tells about the times of their foundation. 'Standing' orders suggests that rules that had earlier relied on precedents were made permanent and 'binding for the future'. As the first Standing Orders and Votes appeared in 1678 and 1680, it seems that a stable set of rules was sought in times of political crisis. Precedents were unreliable or were not perceived as the way to conduct parliamentary business in a fair and equal manner. (ibid.)

He sought not to cast blame on any party — it was the system, and the system alone, of which he complained, and which by long usage had grown up into an inveterate practice. With regard to Members of the House of Commons the case was peculiar. [...] It, was true that an individual elected a Member of Parliament ought to consider himself the representative not alone of his particular constituents but of the country at large. It certainly was his duty to consult the interests of the public as a whole, but it must also be admitted, that his constituents, in so far as their local interests were concerned, had a peculiar claim on him. (Brougham: House of Lords, 5 June 1837, cc1176-1177)

Brougham's concern was that demands from constituencies, although they needed to be taken seriously, would continue to harm the proceedings of Parliament if nothing was done. He suggested that the House of Lords conduct inquiries into the restriction of private business. In particular, he argued for a revision of the Standing Orders:

It might be said, that to a certain degree the standing orders would apply a remedy for the evil of which he had complained; but he thought that an inquiry would shew the necessity of some legislative provision to expedite the business. This plan had been proposed before; he had heard of it ever since he had possessed a seat in Parliament. (Brougham: House of Lords, 5 June 1837, cc1181-1182)

Brougham was raising a matter that would later be more frequently debated: he wanted permanent rules. He argued in particular for a revision of the Standing Orders, which had only recently been established, in 1811. Brougham's motion passed and, subsequently, both houses of Parliament appointed select committees to inquire into their conduct of business. In the House of Commons report of 1837, practical recommendations for both private and public business were made. The committee suggested, for example, that, in the case of public business, notices of motion should be given well in advance and that they should be written in the Order Book (Report from the Select Committee 1837, 6). However, the committee seemed anxious to suggest limitations on public business.

For the part of private business, it was notable that the 1837 committee did not accept any plans which were suggested or adopted in the upper house. It was made clear that the lower house was an independent body with separate functions:

The Members of the other House are bound to act under a sense of responsibility to the Public generally, but without any special duties towards any particular and special portion of it. The Members of The House of Commons, on the contrary, though bound by the same general rule of duty, are also immediately responsible to particular bodies of electors, and each particular Constituency looks upon its Representative as specially charged with the duty of watching over their interests in matters of private business, and have a right to his services upon any question of the kind. (Report from the Select Committee 1837, 7)

The committee did not deny that there were issues in need of amendment, but it made clear that the means proposed and adopted in the House of Lords could not be directly applied in the Commons. In short, the rhetoric in the report of 1837 strongly supported a separation between the lower and the upper house in the area of private business.

Finally the 1837 committee recommended minor changes to the conduct of public and private business in the House of Commons. On 15 July, after the report had been read and adopted by the House of Commons, Lord Brougham, speaking in a sitting of the House of Lords, expressed his dissatisfaction concerning the changes made in private business. According to him, the Select Committee of the House of Lords had succeeded in improving the conduct of private business in its house, whereas the committee of the House of Commons had failed. He called for more effort on the part of the Commons to revise their procedure accordingly (Brougham: House of Lords, 15 July 1837, cc1913-1914). However, this revision was put on hold.

Another initiative regarding the issue came from the House of Lords in 1848. Lord Stanley, who had been a member of the House of Commons' committee in 1837 and would later three times become prime minister of minority governments, introduced his idea of giving both houses the power to postpone proceedings (Hawkins 2007, 347). According to his view, the House of Lords suffered from the postponements in the lower house, and thus became an 'unwilling accomplice' in the matter. Rhetorically, Stanley suggested that unless an initiative come from the House of Lords, the problems would not be addressed properly and would result in outside criticisms against both houses of Parliament. On 14 April, while presenting his motion, he made references to the constitutional changes as well as to changes in the character of the House of Commons that had occurred over the previous twenty-five years. He also remarked on how the public business and legislation of both houses of Parliament was more carefully followed than before. In that respect, he was particularly concerned about the delays in public business, as the general public was anxious to see legislative measures taken up by the government (Stanley: House of Lords, 14 April 1848, cc330).

Stanley maintained the liberty given by the House of Commons to individual members to speak was to the detriment of consistent government policy (Stanley: House of Lords, 14 April 1848, cc330-331). His disapproval was directed to the way in which legislation was carried out in the House of Commons. In his view it was lamentable that the House of Commons reserved three days of a week for motions proposed by individual members, and only two days for government business. The regularity of conducting government business was disrupted whenever individual members introduced new motions onto the agenda. It was the excessive talk in the House of Commons which, in the view of Lord Stanley, was ultimately destroying the credibility of Parliament as a legislative institution. He argued that the House of Lords did not have enough time to deliberate on all of the bills coming from the lower house, which affected the quality of legislation:

The result was, that almost immediately after the passing of the Acts, defects were found in them, and it became necessary to introduce Acts to amend Acts, so that not only did this mode of conducting the public business result in legislation being enormously and inconveniently increased, but both the Legislature and the legislation suffered in public opinion. (Stanley: House of Lords, 14 April 1848, cc334)

In Stanley's rhetoric, the House of Commons is portrayed essentially as part of a legislature. Debate is, therefore, something that is dispensable to a certain extent and that should be restricted for the benefit of the greater good of passing laws. According to Stanley, legislation, since it is what is primarily expected of Parliament, should be made Parliament's first priority.

Like Brougham in 1837, Stanley also urged the House of Commons to look into the revision of procedure without delay. He even proposed restrictions on its privileges regarding debate (House of Lords, 14 April 1848, cc334). Other speakers in the debate on Stanley's motion agreed with him that some restrictions on debate in the lower house would be necessary. Brougham, however, again argued that this was a matter that was not suitably addressed by proposing new laws, but rather by amending the Standing Orders.

In addition, Lord Campbell spoke against the bill in the second reading: 'The Bill would introduce a very important change in the working of our constitution. We must take care, therefore, that we did not cause greater inconveniences by our legislation than those which the measure was intended to remove' (Campbell: House of Lords, 15 May 1848, cc981). Here Campbell raised the issue of the constitution. In connection with it Lord Redesdale warned of possible disputes between the two houses of Parliament if a bill like the one Stanley was proposing was passed:

If this door for legislation were once opened, it would never be closed. Legislation ought to be adapted to all periods — as well periods of excitement as of quiet; and it was easy to conceive what serious consequences might follow from a measure of this description in times of public disturbance. Disputes between the two Houses might be greatly aggravated by it. (Redesdale: House of Lords, 15 May 1848, cc982)

Redesdale was concerned of constitutional imbalance between the two houses of Parliament. In his view the House of Commons was more likely than the House of Lords to come under pressure from outside of Parliament in times of crisis. In the event that a bill of this sort was now passed, the upper house would likely not be able to remain unaffected by demands from the general public. Rhetorically, he suggested that the House of Lords should not let the lower chamber take the lead in revising the procedure.

Although Lord Brougham supported the aims of the bill, he agreed with Lord Redesdale that it would possibly lead to legislation unfavourable to the House of Lords. The next speaker, Lord Beaumont, also argued that the House of Lords risked losing the power to propose new measures, as the bill would give the House of Commons the power to make all legislative initiatives (House of Lords, 15 May 1848, cc983-985).

After the Earl of Devon and Marquess of Lansdowne had shortly spoken of the benefits of the bill, Lord Stanley delivered his reply. In his view, the discussion had touched upon both the details and the principles of the bill, but he did not anticipate the kinds of problems that Lord Campbell had predicted:

I think it would be somewhat odd to see the noble and learned Lord [Campbell] resisting innovation, and myself promoting and pushing it forward. And yet no other argument except one equally futile — that of a danger of collision between this

House and the House of Commons — has been urged against this Bill. (Stanley: House of Lords, 15 May 1848, cc987)

A Conservative leader, Stanley rhetorically suggested that it was ironic for a Liberal, such as Lord Campbell, to oppose a measure for reform. Stanley then gave assurances that the purpose of his bill was only to facilitate the dispatch of public business in both houses and would not lead to the dangers Campbell had raised. By mocking Campbell's unwillingness to support the bill, Stanley sought to diminish Campbell's arguments against it.

In the third reading, Lord Campbell moved for a postponement of the vote. He remained convinced that the formulation of the bill was unsuitable. Lord Langdale, also known as Henry Bickersteth,²⁰ argued that Campbell's objections were unfounded. He supported the bill, although he thought it inadequate for solving the problems it sought to address:

I own it appears to me that it will not afford an adequate remedy for the inconvenience complained of, and that after it shall have passed, as I hope it will, further measures will be required; and having made that observation, I hope your Lordships will excuse me for stating my opinion that the best if not the only means of guarding against hasty, rash, and indiscreet legislation is to bestow adequate care on the preparation of Bills before they are introduced into either House. (Langdale: House of Lords, 2 June 1848, cc247-248)

Here Langdale indicates that the best means for tackling the kinds of problems Parliament was facing would be with more expert formulation of the motions. He goes on to argue that legislation would greatly benefit from more consistent government policy and greater ministerial responsibility:

No business is so difficult, or requires so much care, attention, and caution, as the business of making new laws; and I presume to think that no new law should be proposed by the Government without the official report of a responsible Minister, [...]. If this were carefully done, we might reasonably hope to have less of rash and inconsiderate suggestion from ignorant and incompetent persons — less difficulty in dealing with such suggestions when made — less time wasted in idle and unnecessary discussions — more of useful deliberation, and less of hurry — a greater facility of preserving uniformity of enactment and expression — in short, better laws. (Langdale: House of Lords, 2 June 1848, cc248)

Langdale clearly states that he considers it to be the duty of government ministers to take legislative initiatives. He also links debate to cabinet government, as he calls for more care in the formulation of motions on the part of the government for the sake of more purposeful deliberation. In this way Langdale was, in fact, supporting a view that would later lead to what is called the 'modern procedure', where the House of Commons' powers are restricted to cricism of government policy (cf. Campion 1958, 35).

The discussions on Lord Stanley's bill show the increased pressures the parliament as a whole was facing from the growing amount of legislation. Both houses were equally affected, although they had different constitutional

He was one of the founders of the Cambridge Union Society, see Section 3.2.

agendas. In the 1848 House of Lords' discussions, those speaking against the bill argued that reforming the procedure of the House of Commons should be undertaken with great care, as it might create a change detrimental to the constitutional balance. In this way the debate on the bill also suggests that it included the question of the power relations between the two houses of Parliament.

The bill was directed to a select committee of the House of Commons on 5 July 1848. The committee compared the amount of business the House of Commons had in the present session with the previous years. Petitions were seen to have increased enormously, which meant more and more committee work for the house. In its report, the committee described how the increased amount of committee work made it difficult to transact public business. It especially pointed out that members, exhausted after working in committees in the mornings, did not attend the evening debates. The party leaders and other main speakers did not consider it worthwhile to address the house half empty, which led to adjournments of debates.

The committee of 1848 highlighted the fact that a number of important topics had lately been adjourned in the House of Commons. As many subjects were in adjournment at the same time, debates were confusing for the members and, consequently, made them lose interest (Report from the Select Committee 1848, iii). On 10 July the Speaker of the House of Commons, Charles Shaw-Lefevre, was asked to describe the state of public business and give recommendations for solving the problems that had been discovered. He responded that more members were generally speaking in debates than previously, and this did lead to adjournments. It was the right of members to speak whenever they wished, which made it difficult to restrict. In his rhetoric the privileges of members of the house should not be restricted.

Instead of reducing the privileges of members Shaw-Lefevre suggested other means of helping the business of the house to run more smoothly. In his view the committee should concentrate on motions of adjournment because they were occasionally misused:

The motion to adjourn The House is sometimes made for the purpose of enabling a Member to make a speech when there is no question before The House; at other times it is made (as well as the motion to adjourn a debate) for the purpose of postponing the decision of The House upon a question. In all cases these motions form a great interruption to public business (Report from the Select Committee 1848, 1).

Shaw-Lefevre concluded that the problems could be solved if the committee proposed a plan to prohibit debate on motions of adjournment. He argued that the management of public business would improve if all motions of adjournment were to be decided without debate.

However, Shaw-Lefevre also pointed out that, in the event that motions of adjournment were decided without debate, members would likely resort to other means of hindering the proceedings. He also said that delays could also be created by constant divisions on motions of adjournment. Therefore, he

proposed a rule that at least 21 members should be present to second a motion of adjournment. Also, he insisted that there should be a further regulation that forbade motions of adjournment being proposed a second time within one hour (Report from the Select Committee 1848, 1-2).

Shaw-Lefevre was again interviewed by a select committee in 1854. The Speaker's involvement in both committees was related to the fact that he represented the interests of the House of Commons. Therefore, his rhetoric usually reflected the interests of the house as a whole and his justifications were given in the name of the institution. As Speaker, Shaw-Lefevre had the authority to propose new rules to improve the dispatch of business.

The Report of the Select Committee of 1854 made reference to the 1848 report. Some of the same hindrances to the proceedings were mentioned as in 1848. For example, disruption of the business in the Commons was again affecting the House of Lords. It was asserted that it had become almost impossible for the Lords to handle any bills due to the delays in the Commons.

The results of the 1848 committee were described as successful even though some of the same recommendations were repeated. For example, the importance of the rule that members speak only to the matter was reiterated. This implies that debates were still allowed on motions of adjournment. Such debates diverted arguments to matters other than the original motion. Even though it was the parliamentary rule that members should only speak to the motion at hand, the Speaker could not prevent members from speaking on a motion of adjournment.

In the committee report, adjournments were singled out as the most important form of proceeding whose rules needed to be more carefully observed. In his *Treatise* May explained the different usages of two types of motions of adjournment:

Members who only desire to enforce the continuance of the debate on another day, often vote for an adjournment of the house, which, if carried, would supersede the question which they are prepared to support. [...] Suppose a question to be opposed by a majority, and that the minority are anxious for an adjournment of debate; but that on the failure of a question proposed by them to that effect, they vote for an adjournment of the house: the majority have only to vote with them and carry the adjournment, when the obnoxious question is disposed of at once, and its supporters have themselves contributed to its defeat. (May 1844, 173)

In short, the motion for adjournment of the house prolonged the discussion to another day. Motion for adjournment of debate, however, ended the discussion altogether. May pointed out that in cases where a minority wished to discuss the motion another time (in hope of a better result in the division), they sometimes mistakenly moved for an adjournment of the house instead, and thus ended the debate altogether, when they meant only to defer the decision. As mentioned in Section 1.4, the procedure had traditionally protected the minorities so that they could introduce matters that had been neglected in the original debate. Motions of adjournment gave minority members a chance to put forward inititatives. However, during the interviews conducted by the

select committee of 1854, even the Speaker was willing to restrict the initiatives of individual members.

While the report of 1854 said the previous committee had contributed to a less frequent use of both motions of adjournment, members were still reported to misuse them, especially on Fridays for postponement of debate for Mondays. That was said to interfere with initiatives from the government, as Monday was one of two days a week when priority was reserved for government business.

Another problem that had emerged was caused by motions of going into committee, which also created opportunities for individual members to open debates on issues they wanted to advance and caused further disruptions to the ordinary course of business. The select committee of 1854 gave the Speaker the power to make proposals for dealing with the problem. Erskine May, now Clerk Assistant of the House of Commons, and Edward P. Bouverie, Chairman of the Committee of the whole House, were also interviewed.

Speaker Shaw-Lefevre was asked to describe the difficulties when the house went into committee. The chairman of the committee, Sir John Pakington, argued that especially motions of going into Committees of Supply, in which supply of funds for various ministries were debated in detail, were taking too much time from all other business. The Speaker confirmed this and gave evidence of how members took advantage of these situations. In his opinion the problem had escalated lately when members had taken to making notices of speaking before going into a Committee of Supply.

Erskine May, whose procedural treatise on parliamentary proceedings was now in its second edition and used as a reference in 1854 committee report, expressed his concern about the great amount of speaking possibilities the old procedure allowed in general. He was not in favour of restricting debates as such, but he called for restrictions on the opportunities for debate granted by the procedure (Report from the Select Committee 1854, 24). In his view, the procedure had to be amended to accommodate the increased volume of business in the House of Commons.

The same understanding of the state of affairs was, indeed, conveyed by the Speaker. He held the opinion that debates on motions of adjournment should be further restricted. He proposed the so-called American plan, whereby questions of adjournment, if moved in the middle of a debate, should be decided without an additional debate.

I think it is not safe to allow matters to remain as they now are, unless you give the House the power of closing debates by a summary process. Cases sometimes occur in which it is necessary to pass a Bill with unusual expedition. (Speaker Shaw-Lefevre: Report from the Select Committee 1854, 62)

Here Shaw-Lefevre uses the rhetoric of efficiency to legitimate the restrictions. He emphasises the detriment to the management of the business of the nation if nothing were done to alleviate the situation.

The Select Committee of 1854 suggested further restrictions on debate. It was proposed that all discussion on the principles of the bills should be confined to the first reading. Members of the House of Commons had a

tendency to open a new debate on the principle of the bill after the first reading. The committee stressed that permitting such debate put time pressures on the second and third readings as well as committee work.

Finally, the report of the select committee resulted in the revision of the Standing Orders of the House of Commons. However, of the thirty-six alterations proposed by chairman Pakington, only nine were agreed on in the committee of 1854. According to the select committee report of 1861, only eight of the nine were finally approved by the house, and the committee considered them as mere additions to the changes proposed in the report in 1848 (Report from the Select Committee 1861, iii).

In 1861 the cautious nature of the changes in the previous committee reports and the House of Commons' decisions was not subject to criticisms and was, in fact, praised for respecting the traditions of Parliament:

This respect for tradition and this caution in making changes have proceeded on the principle, that no change is justifiable which experience has not proved to be necessary, and that the maintenance of the old rules is preferable to new, but speculative, amendments. [...] It is also to be observed, that this caution in making changes has not been unproductive of advantage. The new rules, which have been introduced in consequence of Reports of the three Committees above enumerated, have been found to work so well, that not one of them has been hitherto either altered or rescinded. (Report from the Select Committee 1861, iii-iv)

The report stated that a guiding principle for making procedural changes should be the avoidance of unexpected consequences. This rhetoric of risk management was adopted from the previous Speaker, Shaw-Lefevre, who had called for 'predictability of proceedings'. The new Speaker, John Evelyn Denison, was reported to strongly agree with his predecessor. He had also been involved in procedural revision as the chairman of the 1848 select committee. Now, as Speaker, he argued that the main purpose of the committee was to improve the certainty about the proceedings of the house. This rhetoric of certitude had not been mentioned explicitly in the committee reports, but it was generally supported after both Shaw-Lefevre and Denison referred to it.

The pursuit of certainty was expressed as the main impetus of the committee of 1861 when it directed attention to the Speaker's recommendation that debates on motions should be prevented from going into the Committee of Supply. According to the report, the Committee of 1854 had been unable to make suggestions against the practice:

From fear of unduly limiting the opportunities of debate, and of the discussion of grievances, the Committee, while admitting the inconvenience complained of, declined to recommend the adoption of any new rule by the House. This cause of delay, if it be an evil, has now for seven years remained unchecked, and, in the opinion of the Speaker, the delay has increased. (Report from the Select Committee 1861, iv)

The report referred to incidents in which formalities of the proceedings, e.g. the motion 'that the House resolves itself to the Committee', were used as opportunities for debate. They caused further delay in the workings of the

house. The quoted passage, while confirming that delays were a problem, understated their effects. The report also states that the discussion of grievances before the Supply Committee was 'among the most ancient and important' privileges of the House of Commons and 'the surest and the best' opportunity for 'obtaining full explanation from the Ministers of the Crown' (ibid.). Thus, the delays caused by discussion of grievances was portrayed as an unfortunate by-product.

In their rhetoric, certainty was guaranteed by the forms of proceeding, upheld by the Speaker according to the time-honoured practice. The committee argued that the ancient privileges of the house were best served by the principles of parliamentary government:

Although it is expedient to preserve for individual Members ample opportunity for the introduction and passing of Legislative measures, yet it is the primary duty of the Advisers of the Crown to lay before Parliament such changes in the law as in their judgment are necessary; and while they possess the confidence of the House of Commons, and remain responsible for good government and for the safety of the State, it would seem reasonable that a preference should be yielded to them, not only in the introduction of their Bills, but in the opportunities for pressing them on the consideration of the House. (Report from the Select Committee 1861, vi)

The committee suggested the Standing Orders be revised so as to accommodate governmental initiatives. The increased governmental control over legislation would, it was suggested, give more predictability to legislation. By emphasising the importance of ministerial control, the committee was also making a constitutional statement: the principle of parliamentary government was a justification for preserving the privileges of the House of Commons.

2.3 Procedure at the core of parliamentary debating

During the 1830s until the 1870s, the constitutional role of the House of Commons expanded for several reasons. One was the dominating idea of 'parliamentary government': the government had to enjoy the confidence of the majority of the House of Commons. In effect, this meant the attaining of popular sovereignty. The introduction of cabinet government, however, somewhat collided with the ancient debating procedure. Ultimately, cabinet government itself was a political solution to a problem that had arisen with the increased number of motions and bills. The House of Commons, having been designed to control the finances of the Crown, now disbursed grants too specific for such a large collective body. The situation resulted in an arrangement in which ministers of the Crown were given the powers to propose initiatives and the House of Commons was left the duty to oversee and criticise government policies. All of these changes were done through the procedural revisions of the nineteenth century.

In 1837 both houses of Parliament set out to formulate written rules for conducting business. In the meantime, as discussed above, the procedure became a polarising issue between the House of Commons and the House of Lords. In the select committee reports, arguments for and against revision of procedure were also connected with the constitutional arrangement. As the House of Commons had gained more constitutional authority after the 1832 reform, those who advocated for parliamentary government were unlikely to surrender the powers they had already won to either the House of Lords or the Crown. As also indicated in the committee reports, the lower house, dominated by proponents of parliamentary government, made it clear that it would not tolerate any interference in the reform of its own rules of debate.

The powers of the House of Commons were restricted to criticism of government policy, while financial initiatives were a right reserved to the ministers of the Crown. In that sense the House of Commons' procedure of debate had to be revised in order for the parliament to work properly. In the committee report of 1861, the rhetoric of certainty is connected with the idea that written rules had to be set to ensure debates would take place within predictable boundaries. In 1854 Speaker Shaw-Lefevre had already promoted the same rhetoric. It was also during the revision of procedure that the Speaker's role became a political issue. Shaw-Lefevre and his follower Denison promoted the 'impartiality' of the Speaker. Before their time it had been common for the Speaker to cast the deciding vote in cases when the house was evenly divided.

In some ways, it was the debating procedure that defined the newly established constitutional arrangement. The procedure remained largely unchanged, only needing some adjustments in order to legitimise the principles of parliamentary government. The select committee reports were cautious about limiting the opportunities for debate, though some members urged more drastic measures. Erskine May as well as the Speakers of the House of Commons considered it a problem that the procedure gave the opportunity to commence debates at occasions that were purely formal in character. In contrast, members of the House of Lords were generally more inclined to restrict debate in the Commons. Therefore, we may conclude that the practical solutions that were sought for the constitutional situation after the 1832 reform were not merely technical in nature; rather, they involved a considerable political dimension.

3 THE BRITISH CULTURE OF PARLIAMENTARY DEBATE

In this chapter the aim is to look at how British parliamentary debate was interpreted in a variety of political contexts roughly from the late eighteenth to the early twentieth century. Three such contexts are the newspaper press, the debating societies and the contemporary tracts on parliamentary oratory. It will be argued that the Union Societies were part and parcel of British parliamentary debating culture.

The focus is mainly on the period from the 1770s to the first parliamentary reform in 1832. The beginning of the period coincides with the time when parliamentary debates were becoming available to the public. The chapter will show how parliamentary debate was interpreted in late eighteenth-century British newspapers and literature as well as over the course of the nineteenth century as parliamentary journalism became professionalised and certain indirect effects of the parliamentary reform of 1832 became part of political practice.

In Section 3.1 the context of the British tradition of debate from mideighteenth century onwards will be further explored. In the eighteenth century, debating societies functioned as either popular entertainment or private clubs. Some of their appeal has been attributed to the increase in the reporting of parliamentary debates (e.g. Reid 2000). In the late nineteenth century, British debating societies became explicitly parliamentary in character. This is evident from the popularity of what were then, in fact, called 'parliamentary debating societies' in the 1880s (see van Rijn 2007). The Union Societies, it shall be argued in Section 3.2, should be seen as part of that history.

Section 3.3 deals with press and parliamentary journalism with a special emphasis on the notion of 'publicity'. Around 1770s the newspaper press became a rather influential mediator between Parliament and the general public. Previously, debates had been published despite the fact that Parliament had not given permission for it. By the 1770s, however, the House of Commons had given its tacit approval for newspaper reporting. This kind of publicity of parliamentary proceedings also affected how the people of the time conceived of

political agency. Their interpretations, in turn, indicate what was required of parliamentary politics or, indeed, of Parliament itself.

In Section 3.4 the focus will be on the contemporary writings on parliamentary speaking. From 1770s onwards the literature on parliamentary eloquence was concentrated on the great orators of the day. Parliamentary speaking was mainly written about in a way that left out the key element of debating, namely, the procedure. Indeed, in the nineteenth-century tracts on parliamentary oratory the period stretching from the 1770s to the early nineteenth century was referred to as a 'Golden Age'. These works show that outsiders either had very little knowledge about the procedure of debate inside Parliament, or they were unaware of its relevance. A reason for this oversight concerning the traditions and conventions is that written guidebooks on the parliamentary rules of debate were not widely available until the late nineteenth century.

3.1 The politicisation of debate

In 1882 *The Times* reported on a national conference of parliamentary debating societies held at Liverpool. It was the first of its kind ever held in Britain. The president on the occasion was Thomas Cope, a tobacco manufacturer, Justice of the Peace and one of the founders of the Liverpool Parliamentary Debating Society.²¹ He described the aims of the societies as follows:

Debating societies [...] did not follow the lines of the House of Commons in a spirit of burlesque imitation, but the House of Commons' model was followed because it gave precisely what they required. The desirability of members of societies assuming the names of constituencies was shown in the fact that it enabled people of every social position to meet on one common platform and take part in any debate as members for particular places, though one might be a barrister and another a shoemaker. (*The Times* 1882, 4)

One year later the famous journalist Blanchard Jerrold wrote in *The Nineteenth Century* an article where he referred to the societies as a new phenomenon:

It will surprise even many students of contemporary politics to learn that at the present moment there are upwards of one hundred Houses of Commons flourishing in various parts of the empire, the majority of which are modelled on the House of Commons at Westminster, have their speakers, prime ministers, and chancellors of exchequer, and observe with solemnity the forms of the parent assembly [...]. (Jerrold 1883, 1085-1086)

Jerrold had himself read the minutes of the proceedings and interviewed the 'prime minister' of the national conference, Mr Mead Corner, a ship owner and broker, who was an MP for Midlothian in the Sydenham and Forest Hill in the mock House of Commons. He was particularly impressed by the educational

See *Liverpool Mercury*, 22 September 1884.

value provided by the parliamentary debating societies for their 35,000 members:

It is already an educational machine of national proportions, for instructing politically thoughtful members of the community, thus creating a public opinion worthy of the freedom which the English people enjoy. (Jerrold 1883, 1089)

From Jerrold's account it becomes clear that parliamentary debating societies had a civic purpose. They gave a sense of equal opportunity to act in a political community, as they taught the procedural forms by which the House of Commons worked.

In Britain the politicisation of debate occurred through the interchange of parliamentary ideas between Parliament and the debating societies. By the 1770s, the number of debating societies in Britain had increased (Clark 2000, 119) due to the political tensions and also partly related to the publication of the proceedings of the House of Commons, which, ultimately, made possible the imitation and adoption of parliamentary practices by the debating societies in the late nineteenth century. Until the nineteenth century, the debating societies had been unaware of the procedures due to the reluctance of Parliament to make its proceedings public. Eighteenth-century debating societies mostly had their own procedures and rules, usually with the aim of providing opportunities to practise oratorical skills.

Political clubs and societies have a long history in Britain. It has been suggested that politics was introduced to English club life already in the midseventeenth century (Timbs 1899, 4). In the eighteenth century there were numerous literary and dialectic as well as debating societies that dealt with topics ranging from political to religious issues. Debating societies were different compared to other clubs and meetings of the time as they distinguished themselves by conducting formal debates. The formality of debating societies was shown in their careful manner of choosing topics, to which they kept while speaking, adhered to rules of procedure, and dealt with such subjects as morality, religion, politics and aesthetics (Fawcett 1980, 216).

The so-called popular debating societies were originally an English phenomenon. They had become fashionable by late eighteenth century when commercial oratorical platforms, for example, advertised debates in newspapers. The oldest known popular debating society was a London debating club called the *Robin Hood Society* (1742), which had been founded in a tavern by a schoolmaster, Peter Annet (McCalman 1987, 310). Its meetings were attended by 100-300 debaters. As the debates at the Robin Hood Society were relatively public, the speakers tended to acquire a more dramatic style in their oratory than at the House of Commons: 'Some of those who acquired their oratorical graces at the Robin Hood displeased Members of the House of Commons by a theatrical and declamatory manner, which seemed absurd and vulgar when compared with the nobler action and the genuine inspiration of Pitt' (Macknight 1858, 71-72). The theatrical style was common in public speaking practices of the time. Indeed, one of the most reputable elocutionists of the eighteenth century, Thomas Sheridan, was an actor.

Another actor, Charles Macklin, established a debating chamber in London after becoming convinced of the endurance of popularity of Robin Hood Society. It was called *The British Inquisition* (Fawcett 1980, 217).

McCalman (1987, 311) argues that the role of London debating clubs in promoting radical political ideas, up until the Chartist movement in the late 1830s, was significant. By the turn of the nineteenth century the clubs had gained a reputation of having connections to revolutionary activities. William Hamilton Reid, a provocateur and a journalist, wrote a pamphlet entitled *The Rise and Dissolution of the Infidel Societies in This Metropolis* (1800), in which he accused the Robin Hood Society of being the source of radical uprisings in the capital (McCalman 1987, 309). Reid himself had been a member of the famous *London Corresponding Society* which was also founded in a tavern in 1791.

The London Corresponding Society was a radical association founded by artisans and shopkeepers advocating parliamentary reform. It was, contrary to what Reid had suggested, the main reason London clubs in general were held in such suspicion because it aimed at changing parliament (Thale 1989, 62). The Society was feared for its revolutionary ideas, which were similar to those of the popular societies of Paris in 1791. They were a gathering-point for antiparliamentary forces and demanded reforms that would entail popular ratification for all law-making (ibid. 63). Clubs such as the London Corresponding Society represented the political radicalism of the 1790s and served as a substitute for Parliament by representing those who were disenfranchised (Parssinen 1973, 532). According to Thale (1989, 59), they were commonly advertised as 'rational entertainment'. The London Corresponding Society did not hold formalised debates, but its meetings had the marks of other debating clubs in the capital, such as entrance fees and weekly meetings where daily politics were discussed (ibid. 63).

Popular debating societies were open to all who paid for admission. The payment was usually affordable for the lower and middle classes, and accessible even for women. The Robin Hood Society remained a prototype for public forums until 1790s, after which they started to convene in more genteel places than taverns and pubs. Westminster Forum was one of the 1770s' imitators of the Robin Hood Society: 'According to its constitution the Westminster Forum was intended for the benefit and instruction of the public at large and as an oratorical training ground for would-be preachers, barristers, and members of Parliament' (Fawcett 1980, 218). The topics under debate were sometimes clearly opposed to parliamentary principles. As an example, the Forum debated on questions such as whether parliamentary candidates should be obliged to pledge themselves to attempts to reform parliament (Andrew 1996, 415).

In popular debating societies politics and religious issues were freely discussed. Debates were usually conducted as 'harangues', referring more to declamations rather than to deliberation. In the latter part of the eighteenth century, popular debating societies spread outside London. They were established, for example, in Manchester, Birmingham, Norwich, Edinburgh and Glasgow. Following the French Revolution the atmosphere in the country was tense, not

least of all due to extra-parliamentary movements advocating radical parliamentary reform. John Thelwall (1764-1834), a renowned orator, was considered by the authorities to be one of the most dangerous people in Britain and was accused of treason in 1794. The Tory government at the time introduced before Parliament the Suspension of Habeas Corpus Act,²² which came into force in May 1794. The state of exception lasted until July 1795. The government also set up parliamentary inquiries on popular movements and societies. In 1795 the Seditious Meetings Act was enacted despite opposition in the House of Commons. Richard Sheridan (1751-1816), for example, suggested that the government's ideas about revolutionary activities, beginning with its reports in 1792, were largely baseless:

It was true that a committee had been appointed, and that from that committee they received accounts of an extensive treasonable plot. The existence of the plot, however, was brought from higher authority, and the trials were deferred till books could be prepared with suitable decorations [...]. (Sheridan: House of Commons 1795, 162)

Sheridan maintained that it was absurd to draw general conclusions about revolutionary activities based on individual actions and rumours. He also compared the circumstances in France with what was happening in England, and argued:

A people who have been used to rational liberty and rational rights, who have not been ground down, nor made the slaves of a corrupt Government, would never be guilty of such crimes. (Sheridan: House of Commons 1795, 165)

Here the rhetoric of rationality was used to appeal to the King. The government and its proponents took the London Corresponding Society as a warning example, for its members had notoriously been charged with treason a year earlier. Lord Eldon (1751-1838), the Attorney General who had been in charge of the Treason Trials, also defended the bill based on the acquired intelligence:

So long as there remained a King in another country, the Corresponding Society addressed the clubs in France; when the King there was afterwards cut off, through the influence of these clubs, this Society stated, that they hoped soon that that country would send over congratulations to a National Convention in England; whilst, at the same time, the English and French Societies professed to affiliate with each other, and those in France concluded that they hoped soon to send the soldiers of England pikes and bonnets of liberty. (Lord Eldon: House of Commons 1795, 177)

The concept of convention was used by radical movements with reference to past and current Anglo-Saxon political institutions. It has been argued elsewhere that the conventions provided a strong tool for radical orators whose

In 1679 Parliament had passed the Habeas Corpus Act, according to which any person charged of a crime had the right for appeal in a court of law. But in the case of public unrest, Parliament had the right to suspend the Act, and anyone on criminal charges could be sentenced without trial.

rhetoric made a distinction between those who had political power and those who did not (Parssinen 1973, 532).

In the quotation above, it is shown that Lord Eldon rhetorically uses 'liberty' in connection with the revolutionary societies in France. He goes on to distinguish private gatherings from the clubs that are under suspicion:

A regard to the public safety calls upon us to sacrifice a part of public liberty for a time, that we may more firmly secure a continuance of the remainder. I wish at present merely to rectify one mistake. — When persons suppose that this bill goes on to disturb private and family meetings, and the enjoyment of innocent mirth, they egregiously mistake its tendency; nor is it calculated to disturb any club which any rational lover of freedom would wish should exist in this country[...]. (Lord Eldon: House of Commons 1795, 178)

Lord Eldon makes it clear that the revolutionary rhetoric of liberty should be separated from that of 'rational lovers of freedom'. In this way he legitimises the restrictions against a distinct set of clubs. Furthermore, he argued that it was made for the benefit of the nation as a whole. Charles James Fox (1749-1806) countered the statement by suggesting Lord Eldon had ulterior motives:

Was it in consequence of the result of the trials that the bills were brought in? He was told that not from these trials only, but from their subsequent proceedings that the dangerous temper of these meetings had been proved, and that their mischievous tendency could not be corrected, except by some new legislative regulation. (Fox: House of Commons 1795, 179)

Fox maintained that the accounts of Corresponding Society proceedings at Copenhagen House seemed biased, and the case against the societies had been drawn from rumours of the King's life being endangered in a theatre on the night of 29 October. He also remarked that a new governmental measure would not necessarily be effective. It was then Pitt the Younger (1759-1806) who addressed the House:

From the moment the suspension of the Habeas Corpus act was taken off, all the plans of these societies revived, and continued in a progressive state till the meeting of Parliament. But the right honourable gentleman called for some proof, to shew the connection of the meeting at Copenhagen House and the attack upon His Majesty. He had stated before, that he could not prove this by strict legal evidence; but it was almost impossible to reason fairly, and come to two conclusions upon the subject. (Pitt: House of Commons 1795, 187)

In Pitt's rhetoric, Fox's arguments on the subject were not 'fair'. He viewed the bill under discussion as necessary because all of the other measures taken had failed. He also accused the opposition of taking the side of the revolutionaries:

Could it be supposed that this daring outrage was committed without some hope of support from some party or other? certainly not — with respect to the alliance supposed to be formed between the right honourable gentleman and his friends with the London Corresponding Society, he wished to caution that gentleman and his friends, that that society was still persisting in its original plan for the destruction of the Constitution[...]. (Pitt: House of Commons 1795, 188)

The Whigs had, indeed, connections with clubs and societies that advocated parliamentary reform. Some radical Whigs had even publicly declared their sympathies for the French revolution (Foord 1964, 405-407). Notoriously, under the leadership of Fox, the Whigs had been using the press for their own political purposes, writing pamphlets on the important topics discussed in Parliament and then circulating the ideas in the newspapers for publicity (ibid. 407). Already in 1784 Fox argued that forming a coalition with extra-parliamentary movements was necessary for the Whigs to carry on their opposition politics and keep the steady support of the public (ibid. 422). In short, the Whigs realised the potential of making alliances across a wide political field.

Significantly, the idea of political opposition in eighteenth-century Britain was connected with the notion of party activity. In writings of the late seventeenth and early eighteenth century, the notion of 'party' was frequently synonymous with 'faction', and political opposition was considered tantamount to treason (Ball 1989, 167). Opposition in Parliament was largely considered 'disloyal' towards the government and the state (cf. Skinner 1974). Foord (1964, 10-11) has argued that the concept of 'opposition' was only applied in British parliamentary politics in the modern sense after 1830. By 'modern' parliamentary opposition Foord means the way the opposition became a generally accepted part of the sovereignty of the British parliament. It was a crucial step towards the idea of parliamentary government, and an idea the Whigs capitalised on after the passage of the 1832 Reform Act.

The Seditious Meetings Act, along with the Treason Act, was passed at a time when free discussion in debating societies on political and religious issues was suspect due to the French Revolution. Tighter control was enacted and popular debating societies had problems in getting licenses for their activities, which resulted in their disappearance by the turn of the century (Clark 2000, 120). Thereafter, debating societies continued to operate, but in a more private capacity, also becoming more exclusive. However, there were some transitional societies, such as the *Select Society of Edinburgh* (Fawcett 1981, 220).

As the name suggests, the Select Society was judicious in choosing its members, though its membership was quite large. Established in 1754, it eventually attracted one hundred members, of which the majority were lawyers. It folded, however, ten years later. It was succeeded by another famous academic debating society, the *Speculative Society of Edinburgh* (1764). Its membership was restricted to twenty-five members at a time. In 1780 the number rose to thirty, where it stayed until the early twentieth century. The Speculative Society was founded by university students 'for improvement in Literary Composition and Public Speaking' (The Speculative Society of Edinburgh 1905, 2). Its activities attracted students as well as those with well-established credentials in such fields as law, literature and politics. Its more distinguished members included Lord Lansdowne, who became Chancellor of the Exchequer in 1806, and Henry Brougham, one of the founders of the *Edinburgh Review* and who was to become one of the most influential Whig leaders in the country.

The activities of the Speculative were related not so much to parliamentary conventions as to literary and oratorical pursuits, as was common during the eighteenth century. Although topics such as 'What is the best duration of parliaments?' were debated, the normal procedure was for a selected member to read a paper, which the Society then debated. The title for the oldest student debating society in the United Kingdom is accorded to the College Historical Society of Trinity College in Dublin (e.g. Samuels 1923). First established as 'The Club', also called the 'Academy of Belles Lettres', it has been suggested that the foundation of the Club in 1747 marks the origin of the British debating tradition (e.g. Stewart 1991, 5; Cooke 1898, 273). However, that argument ignores the fact that earlier debating societies were operating in London approximately the same time. For example, it has been suggested that political topics have been debated in clubs since the 1650s (Timbs 1899, 4).

One of the Club's founders was the young Edmund Burke. The aims were, as written down in the first minutes, 'the improvement of its members in the more refin'd, elegant, and usefull parts of Litterature' so that they would be better able to engage their 'minds and manners for the functions of Civil Society' (quoted in Samuels 1923, 204). The founders of the Club were of the opinion that anyone could gain the title of Master of Arts and Science, but only through practice in a society could the benefits of their learning be put to full use. The benefits of practice were considered to include 'enriching our judgement, brightening our wit, and enlarging our knowledge and of being serviceable to others in the same things' (ibid.).

Some of the debate topics at the Club were on current political events, but historical and literary subjects were also introduced. Members were not only required to create orations for delivery, but also to engage in debates on assigned subjects. Sometimes debates were performed as role play in which historical figures appeared. On at least one occasion the Club 'resolved itself into a mimic Parliament' (Cooke 1898, 282). A bill was introduced in the meeting, and all argumentation for and against was recorded. On some occasions whole orations delivered before the assembly were written down in the minutes.

The Club did not remain active for very long, as it only met 35 times. It was re-established as the 'Historical Club' in 1753. From 1777 onwards it was known as the 'College Historical Society', which still exists today. The Society's primary purposes were 'the cultivation of historical knowledge and the practice of the members in oratory and composition' (quoted in Miller 1997, 133). By 1780 it had approximately seven hundred members. The Society then resembled more a popular debating society than a private literary society as its meetings could draw some hundred and fifty members at a time (Miller 1997, 132).

In 1783 the College Historical Society established a 'mutual membership agreement' with the Speculative Society of Edinburgh, as they had similar self-educational aims. The College Historical Society was expelled from Trinity College in 1794. It was readmitted in 1813, but dissolved in 1815, after which it was re-founded in 1843 (Samuels 1923, 205). The Speculative Society dissociated itself from the College Historical Society in 1806, and relations were not re-

established until 1863. This break probably had something to do with the fact that the College Historical Society had become dissociated from Trinity College and become more open to outsiders. From 1797 until 1805 the Speculative Society had enjoyed exceptionally lively discussions due to the political situation after the French Revolution, but it retained its exclusivity.

In 1799 Francis Horner, a member of the Speculative Society and Member of Parliament between 1806-1817, devoted much of his energy to attending the meetings. He was a law student seeking to improve his style and manner for career advancement in the public field. In his journal he wrote how he practised his oratory through observing other speakers at the Society and reading speeches delivered in Parliament (Horner 1843, 78-79). For example, Horner reported of having spoken twice at a debate of the Society, 'both times without any premeditation' (ibid. 93). However, he was not completely satisfied with his performance, and planned to practise by studying the styles and manners of one opponent at a time:

Then I shall proceed to another, and sometimes venture to give a reply at once to both. [...] I thought it prudent to take notes of [Alexander] Copland's arguments, and in speaking, I found it necessary to have frequent recourse to them. [...] I must try to invigorate my powers of attention, and by artifices of arrangement to strengthen my recollection of details. [...] By the habitual study of the best writers, particularly the poets, I must store my imagination with the elegancies of expression, and acquire such a habit that my thoughts will naturally present themselves to me clothed in the most perspicuous and the purest language. (Horner 1843, 95-96)

Horner was very keen to learn public speaking. His main method was to imitate various 'models of eloquence', such as presented in poetry (Horner 1843, 97). In fact, the connection between poetics and rhetoric had already been made by classical writers, such as Aristotle, Cicero and Quintilian (Bevis 2010, 27).

The Speculative Society and other debating societies were part of student life in the Scottish universities. At the University of St Andrews a debating society was formed in 1794 called the 'Literary Society' and later renamed the *St Andrews Union Debating Society*. Although no connection to the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies is evident, it seems probable they inspired the society to change its name. That is indirectly confirmed by the fact that, in the official history, the Society places itself in the tradition of union debating societies starting from Cambridge and Oxford (see Stewart 1991, 5).

The St Andrews society had some peculiar differences regarding its activities compared to the Union Societies. For instance, in its rules of 1832, membership was restricted to twenty-five, similar to the limitation used at the Speculative Society. Until 1841, prospective members were required to have attended classes of Logic or Moral Philosophy to be eligible for the society (Stewart 1991, 7). Membership was, therefore, possible only for certain students. By the end of nineteenth century, however, membership was gradually opened to all students of the arts and sciences. Another feature specific to the society was that it did not elect a president for the first 116 years of its existence (ibid.). Instead, any member of the society could serve as chair in a meeting.

Scottish schools and universities had gained a good reputation in England. Already in the eighteenth century, English medical students were attracted to Scottish universities for their quality of teaching. While there, they participated in various student debating societies and, after coming back to England, were involved in founding their own (Fawcett 1980, 223). The idea of founding academic debating societies seems to have travelled down to England due to the movement of students from Scottish universities during the Napoleonic wars. While it was common for a young aristocracy to make a Grand Tour as part of their education, the war with France, as it grew in the early nineteenth century, led to education being sought from universities in Scotland, especially Edinburgh, instead of the tour. As an example, it has been recorded that students from Oxford were sent up to Scotland to continue their studies (The Speculative Society of Edinburgh 1905, 16).

3.2 The Union Societies: their foundation and promotion of debate

The Cambridge Union Society was founded in 1815 as three debating societies from separate colleges joined together. Henry Bickersteth²³ (1783-1851), later known as Lord Langdale, briefly studied medicine at Edinburgh and, after coming back to England, was one of the founders of the Cambridge Union Society. Charles Fox Townshend (1795-1817) has also been named as one of the founders (see Martin 2000, ch. 5). Townshend was also involved in the founding of the Eton Society, or the 'Pop', in 1811, which was later attended by Edward Stanley, John Evelyn Denison²⁴ and Gladstone.

Prior to the foundation of the Union Societies, there had existed several smaller, private student debating societies in the old English universities. As an example, there was a debating club at Oxford founded by George Canning, who later became prime minister (see Fawcett 1980, 227). Also, according to George Pryme (1781-1868), a lecturer of political economy at Cambridge, a club called *The Speculative* had been established before the Cambridge Union (quoted in Cradock 1953, fn. 3). This seems to indicate that the Speculative Society of Edinburgh had, in one way or another, been a predecessor of the Union Society.

After 1815 a whole range of political issues was undergoing a sea change, due to the questions before Parliament at the time (Howarth 1956, 72). Members themselves became increasingly aware of the conditions of people living in their constituencies, whereas previously they had little or no knowledge of what was actually happening (ibid. 73). Between the 1780s and 1830s there was also a

Bickersteth is named as one of the founders of the Cambridge Union Society. He also participated in the procedure reform debates in Parliament in the 1830s (see ch. 2, p. 40)

²⁴ Both Stanley and Denison were involved in the procedural reform debates discussed in Section 2.2.

change in political discourse around the concept of 'public opinion' (Steinmetz 2002). Now when discussing the activities of extra-parliamentary movements, parliamentarians tended to describe them as uncontrollable, whereas previously their language had suggested the opposite. This change was also reflected in the language used by movements and associations (ibid. 93-94).

The years following the Napoleonic wars were hit by a financial depression, which affected the poor in particular and created disorder. Demands for parliamentary reform were also rekindled in many large cities. In 1817 the British government appointed a secret commission to address rumours of revolutionary activities in London. In its report the commission informed the Parliament that they had, indeed, identified suspicious meetings and societies that they believed were inciting revolutionary action among workers in the capital. The House of Lords received reports that:

A traitorous Conspiracy has been formed in the Metropolis for the Purpose of overthrowing, by means of a general Insurrection, the established Government, Laws, and Constitution of the Kingdom, and of effecting a general Plunder and Division of Property [...]. (House of Lords 1817, 40)

It was suspected that radical groups were trying to manipulate the uneducated in societies by taking over their meetings and involving discontented workers in illegal activities. The commission reportedly took a particular interest in the 'Union Clubs' they saw as advocating for workers' political rights. These clubs were feared to pose a threat to the constitutional balance of power in the country. The report of the commission warned that:

Others of these Societies are called Union Clubs, professing the same Object of Parliamentary Reform, but under these Words understanding Universal Suffrage and Annual Parliaments — Projects which evidently involve not any qualified or partial Change, but a total Subversion of the British Constitution. (House of Lords 1817, 41)

As a consequence of the report, the Act of Seditious Meetings, of which the objective was to restrict free association, was passed in Parliament in March 1817. Since its establishment, the Cambridge Union Society had received neither academic nor financial support from the university. In the political context of 1817, the Union Society was prevented from acting as a debating society at Cambridge²⁵ and existed only as a reading club from 1817 to 1821. Debates did resume later, however, under the provision that only political subjects before 1800 could be discussed. The rule remained unchallenged until 1830 (see Chapter 5).

The Oxford Union Debating Society was established in 1823. Two years later the society was dissolved and renamed. The disruption was not directly due to restrictions by the authorities, as had been the case at Cambridge. Hollis (1965)

The university authorities took the action most probably as a precautionary measure because the Union Society had been reported lately to have been discussing the bill of Seditious Meetings and issues surrounding it with President William Whewell, whose father was a carpenter (Martin 2000, ch. 5). Whewell (1794-1866), however, later became an esteemed scholar at Cambridge University.

argues that the incident was a political manoeuvre of President Wrangham²⁶ of Brasenose College. President Wrangham proposed a motion to dissolve the old society. After a vote the motion was carried and the new *Oxford Union Society* was instantly founded. With the re-establishment of the society, the rules could also be renewed. It was now decided that any decision of the society would only require the support of a simple majority, not two-thirds, as had been the case. Disputes between members had prompted Wrangham's motion. With the majority rule in place, the president was now able to pass further rules to maintain order (Hollis 1965, 28).

At first the Union Societies only met for weekly debates for the academic term and had not yet institutionalised their activities. The lack of institutionalised activities was partly due to the restrictions on membership. Union Societies admitted new members through secret elections, more specifically, by ballot. This meant that candidates only had a chance to become elected if they already knew some of the members. At Cambridge, however, this practice ended in 1834. From then on, any student or alumnus of Cambridge University was entitled to become a member of the Union Society by payment of a simple membership fee. This meant that the Cambridge Union Society was not strictly a private club; the election of members was not limited to a small circle of students, but was now open to a larger group of academics. Anyone within the university who wished to join the society only had to state his intention to the treasurer (CUS laws 1834, 3).²⁷

In Oxford Union Society the restrictions remained tighter at least until the 1860s. New members were proposed by those who were already members. Also, before becoming eligible for membership, a candidate had to have resided at the University for at least one term (OUS rules 1839, 13). All the members of the society were responsible for the admission of new members, so the elections were carried out by balloting, and it was the first business transacted at the society's meetings (OUS rules 1839, 14).²⁸ The elected members were entitled not just to take part in the debates, but to use the libraries and other facilities, such as the reading and writing rooms provided by both Union Societies. The libraries included books, magazines and newspapers representing a variety of interests. The selection of the articles ordered for the library was itself a matter of debate. For a period, the Cambridge Union Society's private business meetings

However, the matter of membership restrictions was raised again in 1846, following which member candidates had to be proposed by current members (CUS laws 1846, 1). In 1847, the Cambridge Union Society again reopened the matter of elections by ballot (see the discussion in Chapter 5).

Digby Cayley Wrangham (1805-1863) was educated at Ripon and was admitted at Brasenose College in 1822. Lord Dudley, Canning ministry's foreign secretary, offered him a junior clerkship in the foreign office in 1827. Wrangham served as his private secretary and, after a change in government, remained as the private secretary of Lord Aberdeen. He was elected a Tory member for Sudbury in 1831. Wrangham also participated in the formation of the Carlton Club in 1831-1832.

Later on the rule was amended so that new members were elected only before public business meetings of the Society, whereas no such elections were held during private business meetings (see OUS rules 1863).

were, in practice, dominated by debates on which texts should be admitted to its library and which should be banned. In the 1840s and 1850s the ordering of magazines with overtly provocative theological content, in particular, was frequently debated. This was probably due to the fact that a Library Committee existed for the Cambridge Union Society prior to the constitution of the standing committee. At Oxford Union Society, the library questions were rather limited to debates on the authority of the Librarian to make recommendations what books would be included in the collections. Sometimes this meant that the society had to cancel its public business meetings because of the great amount of private business to discuss. At Cambridge the situation was different: the society had to cancel its private business meetings because it did not have any issues to discuss.

Along with regular members (also referred to as 'contributing members') there were so-called 'honourary members' in both Union Societies. At Cambridge they were not required to pay for membership, although they were subject to fines were they to break any rules (CUS laws 1824, 13). Usually this meant that, while honorary members were allowed to take part in debates, they had to follow the rules and pay the fine if they failed to do so.

In the event that any regular member neglected to pay for membership, he was subjected to a fine and could not become elected to any office or vote in elections (CUS laws 1850, 2, 14). If the member in question did not pay his arrears by the end of the term he was 'posted'²⁹ and expelled. However, he could be re-admitted as a member without need to be re-nominated by paying the fine (ibid. 2). Permanent expulsion of a member was also possible, not just by the president of the society,³⁰ but also through the motion of any other member. The motion had to be concurred by a majority of three fourths of the members present (CUS laws 1827, 5). At Cambridge a law was adopted in 1830 that stated a member could also be expelled by a simple majority if he had personally insulted the president (CUS laws 1830).

Unlike Cambridge, in the Oxford Union Society rules the non-payment of membership fees or fines were not mentioned as grounds for barring members from voting or from eligibility for office. In the case of newly elected members, the fine for such omissions had to be paid by the next meeting, failing which the member's name would be removed from the society's list by the president (OUS rules 1851, 19). Existing members had to pay their membership fee for the term by the second meeting; otherwise, they were subjected to fines which increased daily. Once the amount of fines reached a certain level, the treasurer posted the offender within three days and, if the amount was still not paid within the space of the next two meetings, the president announced 'to the House that he has struck off such member's name from the list of the Society'

The term refers to the act of posting the offence and the name of the offender in a public place.

³⁰ În both Union Societies the president had the right to expel a member who continuously disrupted the debates.

(ibid. 20). The expelled member had to pay his debts before he could be reelected. In 1853 the rule was amended and it stood that if a member was reelected he was required to pay the entrance fee again (OUS rules 1853, 17).

The honorary members of the Oxford Union Society were also exempted from membership fees as long as they did not reside in Oxford. By paying a one-time payment, a contributing member was allowed to become an honorary member after leaving the society (OUS rules 1839, 16). Cambridge Union Society eventually allowed anyone to become an honorary member by a simple payment without even having been a member in the first place. The rate was different for undergraduates and others (CUS laws 1848 October, 6). This rule indicates that Cambridge Union Society had already gained a reputation outside the university and was making use of it by allowing outsiders to become members for a fee.

Oxford Union Society permitted university graduates (who were also given the chance to attend its debates) to become honorary members by a single payment. Before they could be considered honorary members, however, graduates were subject to election by ballot in the same manner as new members (OUS rules 1839, 15). In 1853, however, the rule changed so that any member of the Society who had paid for at least nine membership subscriptions was entitled to become an honorary member without going through the election process. Furthermore, the appointed trustees of the Society were given the power to nominate any graduate of Oxford University as an honorary member (OUS rules 1853, 14).

All in all, it seems that the Oxford Union Society kept more restrictions of membership than Cambridge. However, both Societies considered the members of its sister society eligible to become honorary members. At Cambridge honorary membership was also extended to all the members of the Historical Society of Dublin (referred to as the *Dublin Literary and Historical Society* in the Society's laws). At Oxford, honorary membership was also granted to members of Durham Union Society from 1856 onwards. Members of London Union Society only had the right to participate in the debates if resident if they resided in the city of Oxford (OUS rules 1851, 18). London Union Society members could also take part in Cambridge Union Society debates after 1853, but they were not entitled to use other facilities unless they paid the membership subscription. (CUS laws 1853, 7)

The Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies kept in close contact over the years, which also explains why they granted honorary memberships to each other's members from very early on. At some point, some of the rules and regulations of the Oxford society distinctly resembled those of Cambridge. For example, the rules for 1839 gave the president of Oxford Union Society the role of 'sole interpreter of the laws' (OUS rules 1839, 27). Rules were distinctly referred to as 'laws' in the Cambridge Union Society as well. The similar formulation adopted in Oxford was not a coincidence, as one Cambridge Union Society minute books explicitly mentions that the secretaries of both societies had sent copies of their proceedings for that year (CUS minute book vol. 10, 116). How-

ever, the term 'rules' was soon afterwards adopted again at Oxford (see OUS rules 1843).

As has become evident, the rules concerning membership in Union Societies were extremely carefully constituted. They show that, over time, the societies became well organised and their members intended to institutionalise their functions for a longer period than just one term at a time.

The Union Societies themselves became models for other academic debating societies in England. John Stuart Mill, for instance, founded the *London Debating Society* in 1825 on the model of the Speculative Society, but was also inspired by the activities of the Cambridge Union Society (Mill 1955, 106), which he considered an impressive arena for political debate:

The Union Debating Society [...] was an arena where what were then thought extreme opinions, in politics and were weekly asserted, face to face with their opposites, before audiences consisting of the elite of the Cambridge youth [...]. (Mill 1955, 76-77)

The Scottish academic debating societies also remained influential. In the newly founded University College London (1826) students established literary and debating societies that did not seem to follow the example of the Union Societies. *The University College London Debating Society* was formed in 1828, first as the 'Literary and Philosophical Society'. First of all, unlike the Union Societies, it functioned on the premises of the university. Also, its debates did not follow parliamentary procedure.

Along with Cambridge and Oxford, other Union Societies also appeared in the late nineteenth century. Durham Union Society organised an intervarsity debate to celebrate its jubilee on 16 March 1912. Among delegates from the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies as well as College Historical Society of Dublin there was a group of speakers joining the debate from the *Edinburgh University Union Society* (see *Durham University Journal* 1912). Durham Union Society's forerunner, *Durham University Debating Society*, was established as early as 1835. The University of Durham had been established only a few years earlier, in 1832.³¹ The university was originally based on just one college. In this sense it shares a resemblance with Trinity College of Dublin. Durham University Debating Society only existed for a short period of time and was financially aided by the university. The surviving records of the society only cover the period between 1835 and 1839.

There does not seem to be any other records for meetings earlier than 1885. However, the university journal mentions a Durham University Union Society that was established in 1842. The records of the Oxford Union Society also suggest that a *Durham Union Society* was operating at least in 1856. Additionally the president of Durham Union Society attended the jubilee celebration of the Ox-

Previously there existed a college at Durham closely connected with Oxford University. It had been established by a community of scholars at Durham Cathedral in the Middle Ages. The religious clerics and scholars continued to be educated at Oxford until early nineteenth century. They provided for academic education and local administration in the Durham area.

ford Union Society in 1873. The Durham Union Society had been revived as 'Durham University Union' a year earlier, when three debating societies merged together (*Durham University Journal* 1912, 204).

Based on the few extant records of their meetings, Durham Union Society seems to have followed the parliamentary procedure of proposing motions from very early on. In the minute book entry of 28 October 1835, the society debated on George Hills' proposal 'that the present state of Cathedral Establishments is of decided advantage to the country' (Durham University Debating Society minute book 1835). From the formulation, it appears that Durham had adopted the parliamentary way of putting motions. It seems likely that the society kept in contact with the Oxford society at the time, although there is no factual evidence of this in the records.

It has been argued that the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies were forerunners of the late nineteenth-century parliamentary debating societies in relation to their adoption and application of the procedure used in the House of Commons (van Rijn 2007, 54). Their contribution to the training of parliamentarians was recognised by several commentators. It was, for example, declared that 'nearly a fifth of the present House of Commons, and a very considerable number of the House of Lords, have aired their early efforts in the great debating hall [of the Oxford Union Society]' (Harris-Burland 1894, 502). This was, indeed, a significant number. Although it is difficult to say whether or not the figure was correct, the argument itself suggests that the Union Societies were considered a part of parliamentary political culture.

The ceremonial speeches at the inauguration of the Cambridge Union Society's new buildings in 1866 as well as at the fiftieth anniversary celebrations of Oxford Union Society in 1873 also suggest that their parliamentary connections were considerable. In 1866 the Earl of Powis³² opened the inaugural proceedings at Cambridge by expressing his view of the society's contribution to the nation:

Let me ask you to consider for a moment how important the practice of debate is in a country like this, pervaded by constitutional forms — a country in which not only all the national, but all the local business is conducted by representative assemblies of every sort and size. Even in political matters Parliament controls, and I may almost say directs the executive. The Treasury, or Home Office, the Poor-Law Board and the Privy Council have but a power of veto — a consultative power as it were — while the initiative is given to the rate-payers, the parish vestries, the town councils, the improvement commissioners, the magistrates assembled in quarter sessions, and in our great commercial enterprises to the directors and the shareholders themselves. Now these are bodies whom, to influence, you must persuade by discussion. (Lord Powis: Cambridge Union Society 1866, 4)

In short, Lord Powis argued that societies such as the Cambridge Union Society provided its members an invaluable advantage in training to meet the require-

Edward Herbert (1818-1891) was educated at Eton and St John's College, Cambridge, where he graduated with an MA in 1840. He was elected in the House of Commons in 1843 and created peer in 1848 when he entered the House of Lords.

ments of national politics. Likewise, the benefits of participating in the activities of the Oxford Union were noted by former members. In his speech at the fiftieth anniversary, the Right Honourable J. R. Mowbray³³ raised the issue:

There are many persons, I know, who regard the Union as merely a debating society, but I think this to be a great mistake (hear, hear). There are imperial politics, and there are Union politics. Regarded on the side of imperial politics, it may be called a deliberative society; but regarded on the side of Union politics, I look upon it as a great school for the development of the combative element (hear, hear). (Mowbray: Oxford Union Society 1874, 6)

Here Sir John Mowbray highlights the distinction between 'imperial' and 'Union' politics. His speech suggests that, despite the fact that the minute books of the Union Societies never directly express the political side of their activities, the members themselves were fully aware that the debates were not merely academic in character: the debates for and against motions were not conducted merely for the sake of the argument.

As the demand for debating practice grew in the British political culture, parliamentary rules became more familiar to many debating societies. By the twentieth century, debating was not only practised by academics but also by the working classes. In 1926 the *Glasgow Parliamentary Debating Society* celebrated its fifty years of existence. Founded in 1876 its members were mostly workers, which distinguished it from many other such societies at the time. The Glasgow society respected the Scottish tradition of self-improvement, just like so many Enlightenment debating societies had promoted before. However, the society also recognised the importance of following parliamentary procedure:

Wherever a few or many people are found together desirous of improving the mind, there is some measure of common purpose. In this the "House" did not differ, although one should imagine there could be quite a good discussion as to what is the primary purpose of the Association: — whether it is the debating of politics or whether it is the development of public speakers. At any rate, both objects are admirable, and if in the course of developing self-expression one's knowledge of politics grows, or if in the discussion of politics one's power of expounding grows, the educational aims of the Association are being served. (Mossman 1926, 5)

Unlike those in Liverpool, Edinburgh and London, the parliamentary debating society in Glasgow did not achieve instant success. As Robert Graham, a former member, described in 1882:

We have never been taken up by the political leaders in the city, we have never been taken up by the civic authorities — unlike many other associations throughout the kingdom, where I know there are a very much higher social grade than what there is in Glasgow [...] But in Glasgow, some years ago, when half-a-dozen almost unknown young men conceived the idea of starting such an Association they were met with derision, and for two or three years they were ignored by the newspapers. If

Sir John Robert Mowbray (1815-1899), also known as John Cornish until 1847, was educated at Westminster School and Christ Church College, Oxford. He was a long-serving MP, becoming first elected to the House of Commons in 1853 for Durham, and then representing Oxford University from 1868 until his death in 1899.

they tried to get an occasional paragraph in the newspapers it was said they magnified themselves too much. But now we have become an institution in the city, not likely to fall back. (quoted in Mossman 1926, 3)

Although the society was not at first taken seriously, it was allowed to function and advertise its activities. The societies in other cities had members with more diverse backgrounds, some being Members of Parliament themselves. They were large assemblies that emulated not only the procedure, but also many parliamentary conventions, such as holding seats for constituencies. *The Liverpool Parliamentary Debating Society*, which was the first of its kind, had 1200 members in 1882 (Mossman 1926, 2).

The British tradition of debating societies would not have been realised without the spread of parliamentary ideas. The great controversies of the eighteenth century relating to newspaper reporting on Parliament and the secrecy of parliamentary proceedings contributed to the general public interest in Parliament.

3.3 Publicity, press and parliamentary journalism

The British parliament did not have an official publisher of debates before the early twentieth century. The Hansard records attained official status only in 1909, although, in practice, they had been considered authoritative for a hundred years (Jordan 1931, 437). The newspaper press and subsequent professionalisation of parliamentary journalism enabled parliamentary ideas to spread in the nineteenth century. However, printers and publishers had been involved in the politics of reporting since the early eighteenth century.

The secrecy of proceedings in Parliament has a long history. It has been realised in the political struggles between Parliament and the Crown since Elizabethan times. It became a tradition to keep parliamentary debates private. The journals of the Houses were kept only for the purposes of the members. In 1680 the House of Commons, for the first time, allowed the votes of the House to be printed. The following year it also granted permission to publish its proceedings. Until the early eighteenth century, *Votes and Proceedings* included simple records of passed motions and received petitions (Hoover 1953, 5).

Parliamentary debates have been reported in periodicals since the 1710s. The reporters were expected to show the different partisan sides in their writings and to provide the general public with an account of the political controversies inside Parliament (Hoover 1953, 6). Their reporting introduced daily parliamentary politics to the coffeehouses and the taverns. Habermas (1989, 64) argues that this reporting led to the creation of a critical public, whose ideas were mediated in the controversies between the governing party and the opposition. However, it has also been argued that Parliament was already conceived as the main public forum for political debate (Black 2008, 217). The growing reading public did not challenge the political authority of Parliament. In fact, in

eighteenth-century British political culture, the importance of Parliament grew even stronger due to the increased publicity given to its debates.

At first, the accounts of debates appearing in magazines were rather brief and erratic. The Political State and the Historical Register were among the first publications to provide debate reports. In 1731 the Gentleman's Magazine appeared, providing summaries of proceedings that had already been published elsewhere (Hoover 1953, 10). Its competitor was the London Magazine, which was founded the following year. In April 1738, due to House of Commons' actions against the magazines, the London Magazine published an article purportedly written by a secretary of a club34 in imitation of the style and manner of Parliament (ibid. 16). The debate was, in fact, a report of one held at the House of Commons in February. In June the Gentleman's Magazine, in its turn, published a supplement with the title 'Debates in the Senate of Magna Lilliputia'.35 In the article the names of the characters were anagrams of real parliamentarians. This disguised manner of reporting parliamentary debates lasted for half a year, after which the magazines were able to resume their regular style of reporting. However, they had to remain cautious not to breach parliamentary privilege, and frequently resorted to their disguising techniques also in the 1740s.

The magazines also included parliamentary speeches that were not disguised. The speakers were usually distinguishable, although the names were blanked out. Samuel Johnson, who was mainly responsible for the speeches in the Gentleman's Magazine, confessed that he had written his celebrated piece on a speech delivered by the elder William Pitt without actually hearing him (Macdonagh 1913, 139-140). In fact, Johnson had been informed (by Gentleman's Magazine employees, whom the doorkeepers had let in) about the subjects of debate, the names of speakers and their speaking order, and the sides they took and main arguments used. Johnson himself had visited the gallery only once. The speech he ascribed to Pitt the Elder was, basically, of his own imagination completely and written solely for the purposes of the magazine. However, the speech was included in *Parliamentary Debates* and later in collections of orations and school textbooks as an example of the oratory of the Golden Age (ibid. 140).

The competition between the magazines made their activities more and more bold, despite the restrictions of parliamentary privilege. They had hardly any proper access to the sessions of Parliament, but sometimes individual parliamentarians might send their speeches for publication (Hoover 1953, 29). In March 1747 the magazines published genuine reports of a House of Lords hear-

The article seems written in the style of Samuel Johnson, but there is no certainty of the authorship (Hoover 1953, 19).

Hoover (1953, 17) attributes the article to Thomas Gordon who was known as a translator of Tacitus. The debate report included speakers named 'Honourable Scipio Africanus' as well as 'M. Tullius Cicero' and 'M. Cato'. Additionally, the *London Magazine* had a Dublin edition, which might have inspired Edmund Burke and others to establish the first student debating society, named the 'Club', in 1747.

ing on Lord Lovat, and this resulted in the brief arrest of the editors of the *Gentleman's Magazine* and the *London Magazine*. This seemed like the beginning of the end for the reporting of parliamentary debates. The 'Political Club' column of the *London Magazine* did reappear later in the year with a loose connection to the argumentation in Parliament. It ran for another decade (ibid. 30).

In the 1760s the reporting of debates was left to the daily newspapers, which started publishing parliamentary debates in full (Thomas 1959, 629). The manner of reporting was more journalistic in the sense that more attention was paid to reporting the speeches accurately as well as providing political commentary (Macdonagh 1913, 195). There was increasing pressure on Parliament, especially in connection with the Wilkes affair,³⁶ to give up its strict secrecy regarding the printing of parliamentary debates. After the outcome of the Wilkes affair in 1771, when press reporting became more or less accepted in Parliament (although not officially until 1845), the practice was that only one or two newspapers reported on one parliamentary debate at a time. These representations of events were copied by other newspapers, which provided their own summaries of what had happened (Thomas 1959, 631).

One of the early commentators of parliamentary reporting was Jeremy Bentham. In his procedural tract, Essay on Political Tactics, 37 he discusses the publicity of the proceedings of political assemblies, considering it 'the fittest law for securing public confidence' (Bentham 1843, ch. II). Even though Bentham acknowledged the publication of debates as a 'crime', it served a greater good: 'It is to these fortunate crimes that England is indebted for her escape from an aristocratic government resembling that of Venice' (ibid. ch. II §6). Bentham argued that the publishing of parliamentary debates carried further political benefits: 'The body which speaks in public, and whose debates are published, possesses all the means of conciliating to itself numerous partisans, whilst those who deliberate in secret can only influence themselves' (ibid. ch. II §6, fn.). In this sense, Bentham recognised that the publicising also had the effect of legitimising political action.³⁸ In this manner Bentham participated in the politics of publicity with his notion of it as securing public confidence in Parliament. The publishing of debates was, indeed, a political matter. In an interview before the 1871 select committee on business of the House of Commons, May was asked whether he supported the privilege of individual members of the House to clear the gallery of strangers. He responded that this old prerogative of individual members was based on the assumption that strangers were not present, which was not the case anymore (Report from the Select Committee 1871, 13). Therefore, in May's view, it was not a right at all but rather a 'relic of a past age' (ibid. 20).

For a discussion, see Ihalainen 2010, ch. 2.

Bentham's pamphlet was not published during his lifetime. For further details about the publication, see editor's note in Bentham (1843).

His followers were later involved in an attempt to arrange parliamentary debates in a publication with commentaries. The publication was named *Parliamentary History and Review*. It only appeared twice in the late 1820s.

May's argument was made in the context of a national legislative assembly. In the Union Societies, however, the notion of publicity was still a contested issue. As an example, in the Cambridge Union Society a private meeting was called by the standing committee to discuss a letter that had been published in the Morning Post on 21 November 1844. It was argued that the newspaper's deliberate informing the public of the Union Society's proceedings was a breach of privilege (CUS minute book vol. 13, 2 December 1844). This did not remain the only incident. In the Oxford Union Society, the question of publication of its proceedings in newspapers was discussed on several occasions. In fact, already in its second year of existence, in 1824, the United Debating Society (as it was then called) met to discuss such an incident. On 6 June a paragraph had been published in the John Bull which had presented the proceedings of the debate of 29 May on the topic 'That the dethronement of Charles I was fully justifiable' (Transactions of the Oxford Union Debating Society: 1823-1825, 29). The standing committee of the Oxford Union Society recommended in 1866 that the rule prohibiting the publication of speeches should be amended:

That the following be substituted for Rule LI. "No notice or report of the proceedings of the Society, which mentions or alludes to individual members of the Society, shall be published in any Newspaper or Periodical whatsoever. The President is empowered to take steps to prevent such publication." (OUS minute book vol. IX, 22 February 1866)

The proposal was formulated in a way that, in practice, permitted the publication of proceedings as long as no names of members were mentioned. Another important provision was that the president alone had the authority to prevent such publication. In the rules the president was not, however, allowed to act without first consulting the standing committee (OUS rules 1863, 17). The motion was not passed, but one of the proponents demanded a poll, which was granted by the president. The result was that the majority favoured passage, but the matter remained unsettled as some members still showed reluctance towards permitting publication.

In the aftermath of the Wilke's affair in 1771, parliamentary reporting began to form a specific branch of journalism. It became more professional as the circulation of newspapers continued to rise during the nineteenth century. From 1774 onwards most newspapers started to write their own versions of debates. As demand for parliamentary reporting grew, it eventually led to competition between London newspapers, and they started to specialise in specific aspects of parliamentary debates. However, it was difficult to make accurate reports until 1783, when the ban against taking notes from the press gallery was lifted. By the nineteenth century, the debates were written down in shorthand and then re-written as coherent reports of what had been said (Sparrow 2003, 45). The presence of reporters was also accepted in practice after 1834 when press galleries were installed in the new Houses of Parliament, which had been rebuilt after a fire in 1834.

By the nineteenth century, parliamentary ideas were even penetrating into literary culture. For example, Byron and Tennyson, poets considered among the

greatest of the period, were deeply affected by parliamentary politics (see Bevis 2010). It is also known that Charles Dickens' writings were influenced by his experiences as a reporter, e.g. for the *Mirror of Parliament* and *Morning Herald*, in the early 1830s (Sparrow 2003, 37-38). Already before he was working for newspapers he used to visit the parliamentary gallery. This period in his life was utilised by Dickens in his later literary work. It has even been argued that he wrote his novels in a manner that resembled public speaking, due to his practice as a parliamentary reporter (Bevis 2010, 100).

Dickens's uncle, John Henry Barrow, was the editor of the *Mirror of Parliament*. His aim was to give accounts of parliamentary proceedings that were 'impartial' and 'correct' (Brown 1955, 312). In that way he offered an alternative to the newspaper reports that notoriously took sides and made representations of debates for their own purposes.

Before Hansard became considered the official provider of parliamentary reports, the *Mirror of Parliament* was among its rivals. The first to report full debates was William Cobbett (1763-1835), who had started by attaching parliamentary proceedings as a supplement to his *Annual Register* in 1804. Soon after, *Cobbett's Parliamentary Debates* appeared as an independent publication. In 1808 T. C. Hansard appeared as its printer and in a couple of years took over the publishing. At that time, Hansard was just one more publisher of parliamentary proceedings. The *Mirror of Parliament*, which appeared from 1828 to 1841, had for a short period been regarded as the leading publication (Jordan 1931, 438).

The *Mirror of Parliament* sought for the status of official printer of parliamentary reports in 1834 when William Tooke³⁹ presented Barrow's petition to the House of Commons. In it Barrow asked for the House to make sure that the future of the *Mirror of Parliament* was secured as it had provided a 'faithful and impartial parliamentary record' (quoted in Brown 1955, 315). Barrow also warned the House of the possibility of leaving the reporting to others, with their attempts to distort parliamentary proceedings 'under the influence of political or personal motives' (ibid.). While presenting the petition Tooke used similar rhetoric by arguing that 'daily reports are not only, perhaps necessarily incomplete, but are generally tinged with the fairly avowed political principles of the editors' (ibid. 316). Furthermore, Tooke argued that the *Mirror of Parliament* was not in competition with other publications.

It seems that Barrow was using a rhetoric of impartiality, not only in trying to portray the exceptionality of the *Mirror of Parliament* in its competition with other publishers of parliamentary debates, but also in establishing its authority in the House of Commons. However, the Speaker of the Commons denied a discussion on it on the grounds that the petition did involve an acknowledgement of committing a breach of the House's privileges (Brown 1955, 316).

William Tooke (1777-1863) was a Member for Truro 1832-1837. He contributed to the Society for the Diffusion of Useful Knowledge and was a founder of University College London.

On 22 May Tooke moved yet another motion in which he insisted that a select committee should consider 'the expediency of establishing or encouraging the publication of an authentic report of the debates arising in the House' (Tooke: House of Commons, 22 May 1834, cc1228-1229). Those in favour of the motion argued for its benefits, whereas those against it in general argued that the competition of the press ensured a wide range of interpretations, which pleased the general public (Brown 1955, 317-318). After a lengthy debate Tooke's motion ultimately lost. Barrow continued to publish the *Mirror of Parliament* and he even expanded its range of reporting. For example, the *Mirror of Parliament* started to include authorised *Lists of Divisions* (Brown 1955, 319). The increasing parliamentary material as well as the costs of publishing resulted in the discontinuation of the publication in 1841. However, it remained a source of reference in the House of Commons' debates (ibid. 321-322).

3.4 Rhetoric and parliamentary eloquence

Along with the professionalisation of parliamentary journalism, other writings of the period also affected the way parliamentary debate was understood and discussed. Such related concepts as 'debate', 'rhetoric', 'eloquence' and 'oratory' did not bear the same meaning in the contemporary writings on public speaking. In addition, their relations were often interpreted in different ways among the writers of the period. In the following, I will present the range of discussion related to the interpretations of parliamentary debates from the late eighteenth to the mid-nineteenth century.

In the late nineteenth century 'debate' became connected with parliamentary speaking. The change was described in *The Times*:

In the course of these fifty years we have become a nation of public speakers. Everyone speaks now, and tolerable well too [...] Eloquence is but a facility, or instrument, or weapon, or accomplishment, or, in academic terms, an art [...] We are now more than ever a debating, that is, a Parliamentary people. (*The Times* 1873, 1)

Here 'debate' was portrayed as a national characteristic. However, as discussed in Section 3.1, debating was not always appreciated, and was sometimes even interpreted as a constitutional threat. In his posthumous essay, *Public Speaking* (1838), Gladstone took notice of the lack of political and rhetorical education in England. He considered experience in public speaking a prerequisite for a 'healthy constitution of moral and intellectual character' (in Reid 1953, 266). He further argued that a student of public speaking should particularly observe how oratory was practised in the House of Commons (ibid. 267). During his studies at Eton, Gladstone had written a short essay in *The Eton Miscellany*, in which he argued for the benefits of public speaking skills acquired in debating societies:

Scarcely any one of the great orators of this country has risen to so proud a distinction without previously trying his strength, maturing his faculties, and remedying his defects, in a *private Debating Society*. [...] Of the very few distinguished young speakers in the House of Commons, as it exists at present, (altogether, perhaps, not more than four or five) three, and those perhaps the first — I mean Lord Morpeth, the Hon. E. G. Stanley, and Lord Castlereagh — have been members of the ETON DEBATING SO-CIETY! (Gladstone 1827, 113; emphasis in the original text)

In young Gladstone's view parliamentary credentials were gained through public speaking skills. At that time, however, the notion of public speaking was still largely being shaped by certain eighteenth-century theories. Howell (1971) distinguishes four distinct strands in British rhetorical thought, most of which he regarded as derivative of Aristotelian or Ciceronian thought or affected by the new sciences (ibid. 696). There was, firstly, a rhetorical program by John Ward and John Holmes incorporating ancient Greek and Roman theorists into popular oratory. They emphasised the grand style of the ancients as opposed to the 'plain unadorned speech of civil life' (ibid. 697). Secondly, there was styleoriented rhetorical thought, aimed at poetry, novels, and drama, and represented by such theorists as Nicholas Burton, Anthony Blackwall and John Stirling. The third variant was the elocutionist movement, which was popular in Great Britain and America until the end of nineteenth century. Its most prominent adherents were Thomas Sheridan, Orator Henley and John Walker. The elocutionists were interested in turning ancient rhetorical theories into a scheme of delivery. Sheridan, for instance, was well educated in the ancient art of oratory and saw a need for educational reform that would emphasise oratorical mastery for public purposes. Finally, the fourth type of rhetorical theory was called 'new rhetoric'. Inspired by teachings of Bacon and Locke and accentuating 'learned communication', it mainly concentrated on creating a general theory of literature (ibid. 697). Its proponents included Adam Smith, George Campbell and Hugh Blair.

Scottish enlightenment philosophers frequently connected the idea of politics with an understanding of mutual courtesy and tolerance. The cultivation of one's manners was part of the general goal of self-improvement and was connected to the idea of the independence of individuals. Blair and Hume were among those who referred to parliamentary eloquence as one form of the British public speaking tradition. In his Lectures on Rhetoric and Belles Lettres (1783), Blair discussed eloquence in connection with popular assemblies. The aim was to provide instruction to those who wanted to elevate their social status by improving their public speaking. For that purpose, Blair provides descriptions of various forms of eloquence suited for public assemblies, the bar, and the pulpit. In the case of eloquence in public assemblies, he cited the Parliament of Great Britain as the best example: 'Wherever there is a popular court, or wherever any number of men are assembled for debate or consultation, there, in different forms, this species of Eloquence may take place' (Blair 1812, 6). He further stresses the importance of persuasion in public assemblies as the attempt to convince an audience:

Nothing can be more erroneous, than to imagine, that, because speeches to popular assemblies admit more of a declamatory style than some other discourses, they therefore stand less in need of being supported by sound reasoning. When modelled upon this false idea, they may have the shew, but never can produce the effect, of real eloquence. (Blair 1812, 7)

It seems that Blair's rhetoric is intended to deflect accusations of demagoguery. He argues that there is no point in making 'mere declamations' without any relation to reasoning. Furthermore, he declares that 'the foundation of all that can be called Eloquence, is good sense, and solid thought' (Blair 1812, 7). He makes a distinction between eloquence and argument. As known in 'new' rhetorical theories, figures and tropes are clearly separate from argumentation:

I know, that young people, on purpose to train themselves to the art of speaking, imagine it useful to adopt that side of the question under debate, which, to themselves, appears the weakest, and to try what figure they can make upon it. But, I am afraid, this is not the most improving education for public speaking; and that it tends to form them to a habit of flimsy and trivial discourse. Such a liberty, they should, at no time, allow themselves, unless in meetings where no real business is carried on, but where declamation and improvement in speech is the sole aim. (Blair 1812, 8)

Blair considers it unwise to use figurative speech, which he claims to be without substance, in assemblies of 'real business' because it might jeopardise *ethos*. Having been one of the founders of the Speculative Society of Edinburgh, Hume, for his part, was less explicit. In his *History of England* (1757) Hume continually refers to parliamentary manners of speaking. However, he does not express his definition of eloquence directly. Rather, he alludes to a connection between English liberties and parliamentary oratory (Hume 1983, 150). The idea that liberties could be strengthened through parliamentary oratory is not explained in detail by Hume, rather, it may have been so common an assumption as to require no explanation.

Howell (1971, 716) argues that rhetoric as a term became mostly associated with 'declamation' or 'ornate expression' in the beginning of the twentieth century. Rhetoric had, according to this view, become by then alienated from its traditional relations to eloquence, particularly from the practice of it. This does not mean, however, that the lack of theoretical attention paid to the connection between rhetoric and public speaking made rhetoric disappear from political life. Sandford shows that there was intensive criticism towards British oratory already at the beginning of the eighteenth century and that this led to much theorisation of public speaking, including on the topic of 'rhetoric' (Sandford 1929, 131-132). One of the main reasons for these differing accounts is that Howell mainly concentrates on the literary theories of rhetorical investigation. Instead of relying on classical rhetorical doctrine, theories that are the focus of Howell's work emphasised 'privatization of literary experience' (Wellbery 2000, 187). The enlightenment ideal of political action related to a concept of originality that superseded the old ideals of upholding cultural traditions. During the eighteenth century, rhetoric was regarded as a subgenre of literature and later, it played a part in the formation of English literature when it became an academic discipline in its own right (Howell 1971, 716; see also Miller 1997, esp. ch. 9).

In the various places where public speaking was practised, from the pulpits to the parliament, the study of rhetoric remained in the background. Howell does not seem to consider the practical use of oratory as a persisting aspect of the rhetoric of the eighteenth century. Even though rhetoric in general terms was considered more a literary field of study, it had oratorical connections to parliamentary life, as already noted by young Gladstone. As the classics still formed the basis of their education, parliamentarians themselves had a sound knowledge of classical rhetoric. Classical rhetoric did not lose its importance as long as it remained instrumental for various types of public action, such as politics, literature and religion (Wellbery 2000, 189).

From the early nineteenth to the beginning of the twentieth century, a specific genre of literature emerged on parliamentary eloquence. Tracts were written commenting on parliamentarians' styles and manners and including quotations from their speeches. The excerpts were carefully selected to illustrate the heights of British eloquence. Some of the tracts claimed that the peak had been reached in the eighteenth century (e.g. Browne 1808, 9-10). William Pitt the Elder (1708-1778), also known as the Earl of Chatham, was usually considered the greatest British orator due to his classical proficiency and style (e.g. Hazlitt 1810, 4-7). He was described as the model parliamentarian:

Probably no man in the history of senates ever combined in a higher degree the gifts of an orator of the first rank as did the elder Pitt. Voice, presence, delivery, courage and character, un unerring instinct for the temper of his auditory, unassailable public and private virtue, imagination, fire, statesmanship, and poetry of expression — all these had Fortune lavished upon her favourite without ungrudging hand. (Lampson 1918, 1)

Speeches of the Earl of Chatham were often written down in the tracts as authoritative examples. However, they were hardly in the original form given the fact that the publication of parliamentary proceedings was strictly censored in the eighteenth century.

Another purpose of including the quoted speeches with the portraits of the parliamentarians was to depict them as possessing a model, public character (cf. Craig 1913, 8). To put it in another way, the texts were selected in order to show reasons for their reputations as parliamentary orators. The orators of the past were seen through the lenses of nineteenth-century reviewers keen to use them as models for their own times. For example, the famous Whig leader Charles James Fox (1749-1806) was more appreciated in terms of oratory than debate:

His education had in some respects furnished him with the weapons of an orator; but he was deficient in statistics, and in scientific acquaintance with the principles of political economy. These gaps in his training he was obliged to make up by prodigious efforts, or by drawing attention from them by brilliance in other directions. He better loved debate than set oratory [...]. (Hawthorne 1900, 400)

It is interesting to note, however, that Macaulay's first essay on the Earl of Chatham (1834) describes him as an unsuccessful debater, though he was otherwise considered a model parliamentarian:

Yet he was not a great debater. That he should not have been so when first he entered the House of Commons is not strange. Scarcely any person has ever become so without long practice and many failures. [...] But, as this art is one which even the ablest men have seldom acquired without long practice, so it is one which men of respectable abilities, with assiduous and intrepid practice, seldom fail to acquire. It is singular that, in such art, Pitt, a man of great parts, of great fluency, of great boldness, a man whose whole life was passed in parliamentary conflict, a man who, during several years, was the leading minister of the Crown in the House of Commons, should never have attained to high excellence. (Macaulay 1913, 18)

While Macaulay's interpretation may be politically oriented, it does represent an exception to the prevailing ideas of parliamentary speaking. Certainly, his interpretation was influenced by the experience he had gained in the Cambridge Union Society. Macaulay did not admire the style of public speaking of the standards of the eighteenth century, in which the individual *ethos* of the speaker played the key role. Instead, he supported the same values as Gladstone for whom training and practice in public speaking, acquired through rising to the occasion in various parliamentary conflicts, ultimately determined style of debate.

Francis's *Orators of the Age* (1847) provides yet another example of the 'conduct and personal character' way of interpreting parliamentarians. His essays had been published as separate articles in *Fraser's Magazine* from 1845 onwards. As typical of the genre, Francis treated his chosen parliamentarians without reference to each other. As he portrayed parliamentarians as individual speakers, he did not consider his subject matter from the point of view of debate and conflictual argumentation. Indeed, he wrote that his portraits were intentionally written so that there would be as little as possible to remind the reader of party politics (Francis 1847, iii-iv).

Here we may contrast Francis's arguments to De Mille's⁴⁰ typology of public speaking in *Elements of Rhetoric* (1878). In the 1882 edition of his rhetorical manual De Mille makes a distinction between 'oratory' and 'debate':

Oratory is the discussion of a subject by one; debate is the discussion of a subject by more than one. Oratory considers the subject from one point of view; debate considers the subject from two or more opposed points of view. (De Mille 1882, 471)

De Mille describes 'oratory' as one-sided speech. 'Debate', instead, is speech from at least two opposing sides. It is further divided into two distinct forms: controversial and parliamentary debate. De Mille argues that the parliamentary form has overtaken the controversial since it provides for a more thorough treatment of a subject:

James De Mille (1833-1880) was a Canadian novelist and a professor of rhetoric. Rhetorical manuals and public speaking tracts were written on both sides of the Atlantic from the late nineteenth to the early twentieth century.

A parliamentary debate, when carried on by able men, is one of the finest exhibitions of the powers of the human mind that can be witnessed. We see well-informed and well-trained intellects turning all their powers to the discussion of a subject from many points of view, in which two opposite forces struggle for the victory. (De Mille 1882, 473)

Francis, for his part, disregards the consideration of opposing sides and accentuates individual oratorical performances. He further argues that parliamentary oratory is superior to debate:

The House of Commons has often been called a giant debating-club; and very often, at the time of great party struggles, it deserves that name. But ordinarily it takes a higher ground. It is not a mere battle-field for gladiatorial combats, the aim of which is personal distinction and public honor alone, but an assembly in which the opinions and interests of rival classes are set forth and judged by the master-spirits of the time, who are the real legislators, [...]. (Francis 1847, 16)

He portrays debate as an inferior rhetorical activity that is only conducted for the pursuance of self-interest. He also claims that, at the time of his writing, British eloquence had declined compared to the quality of the past. In his view, the only parliamentary orators deserving of their eminence are found in a period from the 1770s until the 1840s, for they were subjected to each other's mutual criticism and scrutiny. Francis described them as 'indifferent' to outside demands:

It is in the *animus* that vivified the speeches of the elder orators — their concentration of soul — their indifference to all external modifying influences, to all but the full development of the spontaneous creations of their intellects, that modern speeches are deficient. (Francis 1847, 18)

Francis's conception of parliamentary oratory was very much an apologetics for the traditions of the past. He further argues that the main reason for the decline of oratory is the outside influence on parliamentarians:

The House has become the property of the public; and deference is paid to the public, by public men merging their private quarrels in the more important contests of the class interests which they represent. [...] Another and a more influential cause of the altered tone of contemporary eloquence is the altered character of the House of Commons. [...] Parliamentary orators now find it necessary to do something more than merely display their own talents. (Francis 1847, 19-20)

In Francis's view parliamentary eloquence is a matter of talent obtained in pristine conditions. Now that the House of Commons had come under greater scrutiny by the general public, parties were more affected by outside influences. Francis's rhetoric seems to suggest that parliamentary oratory is at its purest in the absence of party political expediency or short-term goals:

We are in a state of transition, a condition of things favorable to the development of the wisdom of the statesman or the philosopher, but not to the genius of the poet or the orator. Experience has shown that the more remote the prospect of change, the less an orator hopes for the immediate accomplishment of that for which he is striving, the more earnest and enthusiastic is his advocacy; the more fearless his declaration of principles; the more brilliant and fascinating the picture he draws of the good to be attained [...]. (Francis 1847, 21)

Francis argues that, when there is no immediate need for change, an orator acts without self-interest. Politics is, therefore, only resorted to at times of urgency.

Hawthorne (1900), in his turn, focuses on the role of the British House of Commons as a national 'school for oratory', which, he claims, stretches from as far back in history as the drafting of Magna Carta. According to Hawthorne certain trying historical events, such as the American Revolution, produced 'parliamentary giants' unequalled in oratory. They are portrayed as the great protectors of the liberties of Englishmen (see Hawthorne 1900, iv-v). Hume also connected English liberties to parliamentary oratory. Along with Francis, Hawthorne seems to share the view that the greatest oratory in Parliament is only attained at times of distress. This idea was shared by many eighteenth-century commentators on eloquence as well (Potkay 1994, 26). British oratory was conceived as belonging to a tradition of eloquence stemming from antiquity. The concept of eloquence was, therefore, understood in terms of former ages (ibid. 31).

Other British rhetorical treatises likewise compared the parliamentary style of speaking with ancient models. William Gerard Hamilton's (1729-1796) posthumously published manual entitled *Parliamentary Logick* (1808) serves as an example. In this book for parliamentarians Hamilton explicitly applied ancient Roman rhetoric to parliamentary speaking by advising about what techniques were the most persuasive to use in the British parliament. For instance, his book included a variety of examples about how and when to use oratorical wit:

Reductio ad absurdum is the best style of argument for a popular assembly. Consider there for not only the mere weakness of your adversary's argument, but the absurdities of which it is necessarily productive. (Hamilton 1927, 40)

Hamilton's fragmentary manual shows an attempt to compile the first comprehensive treatise on parliamentary rhetoric in a way that would serve the needs of the political culture. The aspect of collecting rhetorical devices for the use of parliamentary orators makes his tract clearly part of the classical rhetorical tradition. Hamilton's attempt proves that classical rhetoric was not altogether absent from the political thought of the eighteenth century.

In light of the great changes affecting the House of Commons, however, the ideals of the past were increasingly difficult to realise. The concept of eloquence was redefined by some writers who saw a need to reconcile the ideal of oratory with the practice of parliamentary politics. One of them was Gladstone, who defined 'eloquence' as a practical activity as well as a subject of study. For him, the substance used by eloquence as an art form are passion and prejudice (in Reid 1953, 268). 'Eloquence of the study' refers to a written form, whereas practical eloquence is defined as debate. Like Blair, Gladstone deplores any style of public speaking that takes place without conviction. In his view, a subject can be treated brilliantly in a written declamation, but appear too didactic

and pompous when performed in front of an audience. In short, the artificiality of a written speech becomes clear when it is uttered.

For Gladstone the highest form of eloquence is debate. Debate is dependent on a 'principle of sympathy' (in Reid 1953, 269), where the passions are moved by confrontation. The aim of the debater is to win over the sympathy of the audience. The key is to carefully observe the 'mood of the moment': 'The ultimate construction therefore of his speech is the work of the moment' (in Reid 1953, 269). The reason why written speeches fail to convince in debate, he suggests, is that they undermine the contingency of the speech situation. In a case where the situation is imagined beforehand and the speech is delivered regardless of what has been uttered by the others before, the parliamentary audience will not be convinced. If we take Parliament as a model for debate, it is imperative to recall that parties play a significant role. Therefore, the debater must consider his fellow party-members, as he 'rises as it were on behalf of those among whom he sits' (in Reid 1953, 270).

Gladstone's definition of public speaking was conspicuously influenced by the rules of parliamentary debate. For example, he takes into consideration the rule that a member is only allowed to speak once in a plenary session, which he does by calling to mind that speeches must be concise and to the point. However, Gladstone also follows Blair's description of the contingency of debate:

Debate, in popular courts, seldom allows the speaker that full and accurate preparation beforehand, which the pulpit always, and the bar sometimes, admits. The arguments must be suited to the course which the debate takes; and as no man can exactly foresee this, one who trusts to a set speech, composed in his closet, will, on many occasions, be thrown out of the ground which he had taken. (Blair 1812, 9)

According to Blair, the opening of a debate is the only time when a set speech is appropriate. But as the debate develops, set speeches become unsuitable:

They want the native air; the appearance of being suggested by the business that is going on; study and ostentation are apt to be visible; and, of course, though applauded as elegant, they are seldom so persuasive as more free and unconstrained discourses. (Blair 1812, 9)

It seems that Gladstone incorporated Blair's notion into his own idea of the 'mood of the moment'. But Blair's suggestion is rather about acquiring a method of one's own than following parliamentary procedure.

De Mille also acknowledges the role of procedure in parliamentary debate. He divides 'debate' into two categories: 'controversial' and 'parliamentary'. Controversial debate is a 'natural' form of expressing dissent: people are by their nature prone to engage themselves in controversies, and therefore debates are unavoidable. Parliamentary debates, for their part, are something more refined: 'The peculiarity of parliamentary debate is that the subject to be examined is presented in a formal statement, called a resolution, or question, to which alone the discussion must refer' (De Mille 1882, 472).

Earl Curzon of Kedleston gave his Rede Lecture at the University of Cambridge on 6 November, 1913. For the lecture he prepared a presentation entitled *Modern Parliamentary Eloquence*, which covered the previous fifty years. Its purpose was to provide an analysis of contemporary British eloquence to his fellow public speakers in Parliament. George Nathaniel Curzon (1859-1925) had been educated at Eton and at Oxford University, where he participated in the activities of the Union Society, becoming its president in 1880. He entered Parliament as a representative of the Conservative party in 1886. He was soon sent to Asia to serve as Undersecretary of State for the Conservative government, and was later nominated Viceroy of India (1898-1905). After his return to England, Curzon was appointed Chancellor of the University of Oxford (1907), and created Earl in 1911. During World War I he returned to Parliament and served in the cabinets of Asquith and Lloyd George.

Curzon argues that it would be ridiculous to claim that the existing practice of oratory in Parliament was the same as before. This is because, for him, the term refers to 'a very high and superlative degree of excellence', which public speakers aspire to, but only rarely attain under the present conditions. More specifically, Curzon avoids the term 'oratory', arguing that no such art as was taught or practised by the ancients. 'Eloquence', however, means something that exists irrespective of the age. For him it is 'the highest manifestation of the power of speech', and one which the public speakers of his time were still capable of performing. So, even though 'oratory' in its classical sense was not practised at the present time, it was still dependent of 'eloquence'. In short, oratory is a secondary manifestation of eloquence.

When it comes to parliamentary eloquence, Curzon, contrary to Francis, does not seriously consider it as being in a state of deterioration or long for a time long gone. He maintains that eloquence in Parliament is always tested in practice by whether the audience is impressed or not. In this sense Curzon is more inclined than Francis to view parliamentary eloquence as contingent and adaptable in its form.

The occasions of speech in our public life have so enormously multiplied, parliamentary business lies so much more in debate than in exposition, there is so little leisure on the part, either of speaker or of audience, for sustained display, that the speaker who can improvise has a great advantage over the speaker who requires notice. (Curzon 1913, 19-20)

Curzon also takes into consideration the fact that parliamentary audiences now prefer shorter speeches to declamations lasting for hours as the agenda has become more diverse.

In the first place the House of Commons is much more concerned with legislation and much less with administration than a century ago. In those days there were but few bills, and the main business of the House was to keep an eye on Ministers, to question their policy — particularly their foreign policy — to check their expenditure, and, for the party in opposition, to expose with as much vituperation as possible their alleged misdeeds. (Curzon 1913, 13)

It is, in Curzon's view, only natural that, in the past, the purpose of debate in the House of Commons created occasions for oratory. But since then, the increasing amount of legislation has prevented individual members from displaying their oratorical talents.

Now Parliament is immersed in the harassing details of legislation; it has become a gigantic workshop, in which the hum of the machinery is always ringing, and the dust from the spindles is flying thickly, in the air. A good deal of time is spent on interrogating Ministers; four-fifths of the remainder in the Committee Stage of Bills or the conversational discussion of the Estimates. The residuum that is left for full-dress debate is very small. (Curzon 1913, 13)

In fact, Curzon points out that the style of speaking in the so-called Golden Age would now seem ridiculous. Although the fineries of classical rhetoric are not present or even appreciated any more in the House of Commons, he argues that the general level of oratory has risen. What is now expected from a parliamentary orator is the standard of a public meeting:

In the House of Commons the general level of speech is certainly higher than it was fifty years ago — the direct consequence of the practice acquired on the platform and in the hard mill of contested elections. It is scarcely to be conceived that so wretched a speaker as Castlereagh could ever again lead the House of Commons — that he should have been preferred to the brilliant Canning is to this hour one of the puzzles of history. (Curzon 1913, 21)

At the beginning of the twentieth century, the leaders of the Commons were expected to be excellent speakers. Indeed, Curzon considers speech talent as a 'condition of existence': 'The man who would lead the people and control the State may not perhaps succeed without character; but he will undoubtedly fail if he has not the gift of tongues' (Curzon 1913, 21).

In a *Times* column marking the fiftieth anniversary of the Oxford Union Society, debate was mentioned in favourable terms:

Debating implies comparison of opinions and occasional submission. It is vastly better than the wordy declamation of the platform or the table, where there is no reply, and, consequently, little fairness. It is vastly better, too, than the endless overflow of the aristocratic visionary or the plebeian demagogue, who never listens to anything but his own sweet voice, or consults anything but his own admired egotism. (*The Times* 1873, 1)

In Curzon's opinion the practice of speech is vital for national politics. This idea was repeated in the practices of various debating societies and clubs, which by the late nineteenth century had become ever more parliamentary. Several manuals of the parliamentary style of debate were in circulation at the time. One was by the Speaker of the Liverpool Parliamentary Debating Society, Charles Willett, in 1880. In the rule book, Willett describes his debating society as serving as 'an *educational medium* for Parliamentary Debate, and for the purpose of discussing "Political and Social Topics," according to the rules and forms of the House of Commons, as far as may be practicable' (Willett 1880, 5; emphasis in the original text). It had now become commonplace to discuss political topics in public venues with a special emphasis on procedure.

3.5 Nineteenth-century interpretations of parliamentary debate

Clubs and societies were, according to Clark (2000, 2), 'one of the most distinctive social and cultural institutions of Georgian Britain'. As discussed above, however, the British debating society tradition was not limited to that period. It has been the aim of this chapter to show that there was indeed a tradition of societies in nineteenth-century Britain that followed politics and adopted parliamentary ideas. More importantly, it was not just that associations affected Parliament, but Parliament affected the associations as well.

In the eighteenth-century tracts, parliamentary speeches were presented as individual displays of oratory. The literature on parliamentary speaking focused on the eloquent speeches of leading parliamentarians. These interpretations of parliamentary debate show quite clearly that procedure was considered of little note. In the nineteenth century, however, speeches were more likely to be interpreted as parts of debate. The significance of parliamentary procedure was realised more widely only in the nineteenth century. The nineteenth-century interpretations of parliamentary debate would not have been possible without the publicity of the press. The demand for parliamentary journalism both broadened the variety of press coverage and increased popular knowledge of parliamentary politics.

The wider circulation of reporting on parliamentary debates and consequently greater interest in how politics was conducted in the House of Commons gradually contributed to ideas of parliamentary political agency. In the latter nineteenth century, 'parliamentary debating societies' emerged, emulating the parliamentary forms of debate and party organisation inside Parliament. Their aim was to inform and empower the public (The Times 1882, 4). In this chapter the Union Societies have been placed within the parliamentary political culture of debate, of which the parliamentary debating societies were also part. At first, the Union Societies had mostly operated within small circles, and were prone to rivalries and disorder. By the 1840s, however, both Union Societies had opened their doors to all university members. The membership became available to anyone within the universities who paid the membership fees. Once the Unions' debates became better attended they became potential opinion-builders among the students. They not only promoted debate but, more importantly, how to debate in a parliamentary manner. In that sense they were becoming something like independent parliamentary bodies with their own rules and proceedings.

4 THE POLITICS OF AGENDA IN THE UNION SOCIETY DEBATES

By the nineteenth century there existed three types of associations relating to the parliamentary political culture of the time, all with a different relationship to the parliamentary model of acting politically. Firstly, there were extraparliamentary movements demanding parliamentary reform in the 1830s and 1840s that attracted thousands of people. Such political associations — the best example of which had been the Anti-Corn Law League — relied on platform oratory (Ostrogorski 1964, 67). While these radical clubs and associations had an important role as pressure groups, they did not remain active after the Parliament started to enact the reforms they called for. These types of movements did not seriously threaten Parliament as a constitutional institution during the period. Rather, their aim was to increase parliamentary representation (ibid. 69).

There were also a number of private political clubs that had parliamentary connections. The most famous, and still existing, are the Carlton and Reform Clubs. Conservatives established the Carlton Club after the fall of the Duke of Wellington's government in 1830. It became the political headquarters of the Conservative party until 1853 (Phelps 1983, 1-2). The Reform Club was founded in 1836 with the intention to organise the Whigs and Radicals for the cause of reform (Woodbridge 1978, 2). They have traditionally been described as the first political clubs, due to their connections with the formation of party organisations. This understanding can be challenged for at least two reasons. First of all, there had previously existed political clubs formed around leading parliamentarians, such as the various Pitt Clubs. Second, what is termed 'political' in connection with the clubs of the time fails to take into account those that were not tied to party politics.

My thesis is that both the agenda of debate and the forms of proceeding of the Union Societies were parliamentary, which makes their activities political and an inherent part of British parliamentary political culture. The Union Societies did not participate in the kind of politics that has been attributed to the Carlton or Reform Clubs: they were not founded around a specific policy or by a political group. Nor did they advocate platform oratory, with a view toward democratic development that emphasises representation and the role of extraparliamentary demands. Instead, the Union Societies represent a third type of political club, one that connects specifically with parliamentary political culture. This link was created through their incorporation of parliamentary procedure in their debates. In their own historical context, the Union Societies were relatively open in terms of membership, considering how they had started out with the rather club-like characteristics of exclusivity.⁴¹ What ultimately preserved the Union Societies was that they could harness a wide range of members from the universities.⁴²

In the following it will be discussed how parliamentary politics shaped the public meetings of the Union Societies. In terms of sources, the analytical focus is on the public business meetings of the Societies. As described earlier, the 'public' nature of these meetings referred to the debates, which were on topics of current public interest. Due to the fact that the sources do not allow us access to the arguments actually presented in the meetings, the analysis here is limited to the formulations of the motions. The analysis is based on the idea that the formulations used are part of the parliamentary culture of debate. Therefore, I focus on the rhetorical patterns of putting questions in the meetings in order to highlight how the language used in the motions provide information about the way political action was conceived and addressed, based on the information available at the time about debates in the Westminster Parliament. In other words, the analysis prioritises the forms over the substance of the motions, although the examples I provide also show how closely the members of the Union Societies were following the politics of the day.

4.1 Agenda setting in the Union Societies

In contrast to the British parliament, the debates of the Union Societies do not bear any subsequent importance in terms of national policy-making or representation in general. Additionally, matters of urgency do not disrupt their deliberations. The Union Societies do, however, meet the traditional characteristics of a parliamentary body. As already stated in the introduction, parliamentary

They should not be confused with gentlemen's clubs such as the Oxford and Cambridge Club, which was established in London in 1830. Its members had the common background of having studied in the old English universities. This qualification of membership was dropped in 1967 due to financial difficulties (Lejeune 1984, 186-187).

The University Pitt Club at Cambridge was also founded by undergraduates in 1835, and it had already set the example of admitting members widely inside the University. The aim of the Club was to unite Conservative students and to promote party interests (Fletcher 1935, 11). It is noteworthy that some of its members were active also in the Cambridge Union Society (e.g. Hon. G. S. Smythe of St. John's College and Lord John Manners of Trinity College). It offers further proof that the Union Societies were indirectly in touch with party politics.

The private business meetings will be dealt with in Chapter 5.

tary bodies tend to follow the pattern of formulating resolutions based on debates that begin with motions.

According to Redlich (1908b, 215), 'motion' and 'resolution' are the historical building blocks of a parliamentary body. They are the two fundamental components of parliamentary activity. In short, they form the pattern of formulating a decision (i.e. resolution) following a debate on a question (i.e. motion) brought before the parliamentary body. The Union Societies followed the same model: their motions are turned into resolutions after the final vote.

Agenda setting in the Union Societies was limited to a rule that a subject that had already been debated upon during one term was not allowed to be discussed again. That rule is also part of parliamentary procedure (cf. May 1844, 186). Adopted since the seventeenth century, a question once put and decided upon was not allowed to be re-introduced during the same session 'but must stand as a judgment of the House' (Hatsell 1818, 125). The rule was applied with the aim of minimising surprises and unresolved questions before the House.

The rule could, however, be bent to a certain extent by moving an adjournment during the debate. May referred to the adjournment of the house as a way of 'evading or superseding a question':

In the midst of the debate upon a question, any member may move "that this house do *now* adjourn," not by way of amendment to the original question, but as a distinct question, which interrupts and supersedes that already under consideration. [...] it is a common practice for those who desire to avoid a decision upon the original question, on that day, to move alternately that "this house do now adjourn," and "that the debate be now adjourned." (May 1844, 172)

As discussed in Chapter 2, a motion of adjournment often involved a new debate, which was frequently used in the House of Commons in order to delay the decision. Adjournments and amendments also became part of Union Society politics. In the Oxford Union Society, adjournments could be moved by a member without giving a notice. However, once the motion had been put to and lost in a division, adjournment could not be moved again for at least half an hour (OUS rules 1839, 31). The rule is a precaution against excessive disruption during the debates. Because motions to adjourn the debate could be proposed without notice, someone could have used the rule for obstructive purposes. The laws of the Cambridge Union Society did not recognize a motion of adjournment until 1845.

Unlike their counterparts in the House of Commons, members of the Union Societies had plenty of opportunities to speak for and against motions. Cambridge was somewhat slower in their parliamentarisation of the rules. From very early on, however, both Union Societies had already adopted the parliamentary rule that limited members to speaking only once on the same topic (e.g. CUS laws 1824, OUS rules 1837). In the debates the speakers could only speak for and against a question, which is the most familiar format for parliamentary speaking.

Debating on both sides of a question had already been practised at Burke's 'Club' in the 1740s. At the Speculative Society, which was the main model available during the early years of the Cambridge Union Society, questions were not put in parliamentary form. Their formulations only assumed a simple question of yes or no: 'Ought any permanent support to be provided for the poor?' (The Speculative Society of Edinburgh 1905, 9). Also at Cambridge Union Society the manner in which topics were proposed did not at first follow parliamentary procedure. Debate topics were delivered as ordinary questions: 'Is the Principle of the Salique Law worthy of adoption in Hereditary Monarchies?' (CUS 9 February 1830).⁴⁴ That was the usual custom in the eighteenth-century debating societies that served as the models for the Union Societies (see Chapter 3). In the Oxford Union Society the parliamentary style of proposing motions was already applied in 1824 (see Transactions of the Oxford Union Debating Society: 1823-1825).

Around 1843 the Cambridge Union Society adopted the parliamentary form: 'That the Salique Law was a proper measure' (CUS 2 May 1843). Later both Union Societies started adopting new forms of expression that represented more the nature of the resolutions as jointly formed: 'That the House looks with alarm...' (CUS 22 February 1848), or 'That in the opinion of this House...' (OUS 17 May 1860). Some of the formulations clearly indicate that the debates were conducted with a view towards a judgment on the matter: 'That this House, considering the National Church should be an integral part of the British Constitution, is opposed to the abolition of Church Rates on grounds of principle as well as of expediency' (OUS 28 February 1861). As becomes evident, the later formulations of motions were explicitly drafted for the purpose of coming to a decision after the debate. This, of course, was also the aim of parliamentary debate (Campion 1958, 20).

In the Union Societies the agendas for public business meetings were set either by members themselves or by the standing committees. At Cambridge it was the tradition to decide among all the members present in a public meeting after voting on a debate what questions would be debated next. In the early days of the Cambridge Union, members were each in turn required to participate in formulating debate topics: 'Every member shall open a debate in his turn, unless he provide a substitute; but a preference shall be given to the proposer of the question chosen' (CUS laws 1824, 7). However, two years later the rule was amended so that 'any member may propose a subject for debate, [...] but if no question be proposed, it shall be incumbent on the Treasurer and Secretary each to submit one to the choice of the Society' (CUS laws 1826, 4). The obligation to submit questions for debate was thereby transferred to the elected officers of the Society. But choosing the topics remained in the hands of the full meeting, not a committee.

All the references in this chapter to Union Society debate topics can be found in the Appendices. Appendix 1 is for Cambridge Union Society and Appendix 2 for Oxford Union Society.

At Oxford Union Society the committee (later known as the standing committee, see Appendix 3) was mainly in charge of the agenda. However, any member could propose a debate topic by delivering a written notice of it to the standing committee (OUS rules 1856, 40). Debate topics were, at first, chosen and announced three weeks before they were put before the meeting. The rule was, however, later changed and thereafter the announcement was required only five days before the debate (OUS rules 1856, 36), leaving less time to get acquainted with the subject. After the selection of topic was made, the question was put in the form of a motion at the next public business meeting.

Motions for adjournment and points of order, as well as amendments⁴⁵ and riders⁴⁶ to a motion, take precedence in a debate because they can be introduced without notice. They can also be best described as chances to speak about something that was not mentioned in the original motion. In other words, they open up new fields of argument. In comparison with the Cambridge meetings, the Oxford records clearly exhibit more amendments being put forward during its debates. This shows that the original questions put from the chair were more actively amended than in the case of the Cambridge Union Society. The difference may partly derive from the simple fact that, at Cambridge, the debate topics were presented to the house and voted upon for selection, whereas at Oxford the topics were selected and put in the form of motion by the standing committee. The amendments put forward during Oxford Union public meetings might, in some cases, have been more frequent due to the perceived misinterpretations of the standing committee of what the proposer had intended as a motion. But it does not explain the difference altogether, as the comparison shows a distinct divergence from the practice of the Cambridge Union Society.

Members of both Union Societies were subjected to fines for showing any disrespect for the meetings. A member could be fined for neglecting to open a motion that had been approved by the standing committee (OUS rules 1853, 35). At Cambridge, fines were imposed especially in cases when members disturbed the meetings or defied the authority of the president (CUS laws 1834, 4). These kinds of rules show that the Union Societies devised their rules not just to imitate parliamentary politics, but more to make the rules more conducive to facilitate their own political practices.

4.2 Formulation of motions

Rhetorically the setting of political agenda refers to *inventio*. In a parliamentary setting *inventio* is perhaps best described as the necessity to debate either for or against an issue, where the speakers use the commonplaces particular to the

 $^{^{\}rm 45}$ — Amendments are a special case of a motion that challenges the original motion on which the debate is based.

A rider is an addition to the original motion. In the event that an original motion is accepted by a majority of votes, it will be again put to the vote together with the rider.

debate themes to persuade their audience. In classical rhetoric *topoi* refer to conventions that are learnt and used in appropriate circumstances. The purpose of this section is to investigate the formulations of motions presented in the Union Societies through a categorisation of the *topoi* most commonly seen in the resolutions debated. Before going into the categorisation I will briefly explain how I selected the debate topics for the analysis.

The subjects debated at Union Society meetings were extremely varied. The issues stretch from such topics as the state of drama to questions concerning patriotic duty. Not only was a wide variety of topics represented, resolutions included matters ranging from poetic sensibilities to judgments on the performance of past or present British governments. Analysis of this material may be done in a number of ways. In the following table (Table 1) I put forward one example of selecting formulations of motions that were presented in the Union Societies. Although the Societies did not have to deal with the question of representation themselves, they frequently debated the topic. It was a very politically charged issue, especially around and after the 1832 parliamentary reform. It seems appropriate to take a closer look at how members of the Union Societies formulated their debate topics around the idea of representation. For that reason I have selected the following examples on the basis of expressions of confidence rather than commendation.

Among the examples there are topics that speak explicitly about public confidence and those that deal with it at a more abstract level.⁴⁷ Usually the explicit mentions relate to government actions: 'That the present ministry are undeserving of the confidence of the country' (Fowler: OUS 9 June 1836). In the early years, as the Union Societies were careful not to attract the attention of the university authorities, motions of votes of confidence were sometimes portrayed in the guise of historical events: 'Did Mr. Grey, in his Bill for reform in 1793, deserve the confidence of the Country?' (Law: CUS 10 May 1831). As we move further down the list of examples we find that, in the latter part of the period under investigation, the formulations were becoming bolder in their connection to representation and politicians: 'That the Political Conduct of Mr. Gladstone does not entitle him to our confidence' (Lawrance: CUS 29 May 1860). In short, the formulations were starting to more clearly express formal declarations of the Union Societies.

⁴⁷ In Section 4.2.1, I treat 'vote of confidence' as a rhetorical topos, to which I will come back later.

TABLE 1 Motions related to confidence presented in the Union Societies

Date	Cambridge Union Society	Oxford Union Society
1830 November	Was the Duke of Wellington's Administration deserving of the support of the Independent Members of	That the administration of the Duke of Wellington is undeserving of the confidence of the country (motion: Glad-
	Parliament? (motion: Matthew)	stone)
1831 March	Ought Ministers to receive the confidence and co-	
	operation of the People in bringing forward measures	
	for general Reform? (motion: Gardiner)	
1831 May	Did Mr. Grey, in his Bill for reform in 1793, deserve	That the present Ministry is incompetent to carry on the
	the confidence of the Country? (motion: Law)	Government of the country (motion: Knatchbull)
1832 March	Are his Majesty's Ministers deserving of the Confi-	
	dence of the Country? (motion: Yonge)	
1833 May		That the conduct of the ministry , since the passing of the
		Reform Bill, has not been such as to deserve confidence of
		the country (motion: Tickell)
1833 December	Is Lord Grey's Ministry deserving the confidence of a	
	British Parliament? (motion: Fearon)	
1835 February	Is the present administration worthy of the confi-	
	dence of the country? (motion: Drake, opened: Jones)	
1836 June		That the present ministry are undeserving of the confidence
		of the country (motion: Fowler)
1838 November		That the present ministry by the Conservative tone of their
		recent policy at home and in the Colonies have forfeited the
		confidence of the country (motion: Moncreiff)
1920 Folomeous	Is the conduct of the present Coverns of the	
1839 February	Is the conduct of the present Government with re-	
	gard to the British Navy, likely to inspire the nation	
	with confidence, in the event of a war? (motion: Drury)	
L	1 2/	I .

Date	Cambridge Union Society	Oxford Union Society
1839 May	Does the conduct of the Ministers for the last three years entitle them to the approbation of their country ? (motion: Rudd)	
1840 March	Has the conduct and policy of the Melbourne Government since its return to office in 1835, been entitled to the confidence of the country? (motion: Bullock)	
1840 May		That of the various parties which divide the country, the conservative is the least entitled to our respect and confidence (motion: Congreve)
1840 November	Is the Irish Policy of the Present Government unworthy of our confidence ? (motion: Stock)	
1840 December	Has the policy of the Ministry with respect to the Syrian Question been such as to deserve our approbation ? (motion: Galton)	
1841 May	Has the Budget produced by the Melbourne Administration (May 1841,) deserved the confidence of the Country? (motion: Bullock)	
1841 November	Is the Present Administration worthy of the confidence of the country? (motion: Crawshay)	
1843 May		That the present Government deserves the gratitude of the nation (motion: West)
1843 November	That the proceedings of the present Government towards Ireland, are disgraceful to it as an executive, and absurd in policy (motion: Tooke, opened: Crompton Hutton)	

Date	Cambridge Union Society	Oxford Union Society
1845 April		That Sir Robert Peel's government has forfeited the confi-
_		dence of the country (motion: Giffard)
1846 February	That Her Majesty's Ministers are unworthy of the	
	confidence of the country (motion: Cayley)	
1847 March	That the conduct of Her Majesty's Ministers , in their	
	having rejected Lord George Bentinck's measure for	
	the permanent relief of Ireland, does not meet with	
	the approbation of this House (motion: Prest)	
1847 April		That in the present state of politics in England, the Protec-
		tionist party appears to have most claims on our confidence
		(motion: Bedford)
1847 June		That the three gentlemen nominated as candidates for the
		representation of this university at the next election, Mr.
		Round, of Balliol, is the only one entitled to our confidence
		and support (motion: Latham)
1848 March	That the Manchester school of politicians is unworthy	
	the confidence of the Country (motion: Colt)	
1848 November		That the present ministry is incompetent to carry on the
		government of the country, and that it is only from an union
		of the Conservative party that we can expect an administra-
		tion which shall possess the confidence of the nation (mo-
		tion: Knatchbull)
1849 March	That this House approves the foreign policy of the	That whatever its partial defects, the new Poor Law has suc-
	present ministry during the last three years (motion:	cessfully remedied the evils with a view to which it was de-
	Louis)	vised, and is as a whole deserving of our commendation
		(motion: Stowe)

Date	Cambridge Union Society	Oxford Union Society
1851 March	That Lord Stanley's proposal [] is calculated [] to	-
	endanger the institutions of the country, which can	
	only rest with safety upon the confidence and good	
	will of the great masses of the people (motion: Vernon	
	Harcourt)	
1851 November	That the Foreign Policy of the present government	
	has been conducive to the honour and dignity of this	
	country; and deserves the approbation of this House	
	(motion: Cust)	
1852 June		That Mr. Gladstone is deserving of the confidence of the
		Church, the Country, and the University (motion: Oxenham)
1852 November	That this House reposes confidence in the fitness of	
	the present Ministers to govern the country; and in	
	the purity of their motives (motion: Swanston)	
1852 December		That the conduct of Lord Derb[y]'s government since their
		accession to office entitles them fully to the support and
		confidence of the country (motion: Cazenove)
1853 February	That the present Administration is so constituted as to	
	demand the confidence of the Country (motion: Lit-	
	tlewood)	
1854 May		That the intention of government to re-constitute, reform,
-		and extend the University of Oxford demands our sympa-
		thy and support (motion: Brodrick)
1855 April		That Mr. Gladstone's political career has rendered him un-
_		fit to represent this University in Parliament (motion: Wil-
		berforce)

Date	Cambridge Union Society	Oxford Union Society
1855 June		That the conduct of Lord Palmerston's government with
		reference to the present war has not been such as to deserve
		the confidence of the country (motion: Bayley)
1857 March		That Mr. Gladstone is a fit and proper person to represent
		the University of Oxford in the ensuing Parliament (motion:
		Fogg)
1858 March		That the general policy of Lord Palmerston's government
		has not deserved the confidence of the country (motion:
		Austen)
1859 February	That the stringent measures adopted by Government	
1005 Tebruary	with reference to the Seditious Societies lately discov-	
	ered in Ireland, are deserving of approbation (mo-	
	tion: Raikes)	
1859 June		That Mr. Gladstone deserves the support of this University
		(motion: Puller)
1860 January		That the present government is unworthy of the confidence
		of the nation (motion: Robinson)
1860 February		That the Budget of the Chancellor of the Exchequer merits
		the cordial approbation of the House (motion: Farrell)
1860 May	That the Political Conduct of Mr. Gladstone does not	
	entitle him to our confidence (motion: Lawrance)	
1860 October	That the Garibaldi volunteer movement is deserving	
	of confidence (motion: Geary)	

Date	Cambridge Union Society	Oxford Union Society
1861 February		That the political antecedents of Lord Palmerston justify us
		in placing the greatest confidence in his administration of
		public affairs (motion: How)
1861 May		That the conduct of the Conservative party in Parliament
		for the last three years has not entitled it to the confidence
		of the country (motion: Urquhart)
1861 November	That this House views with satisfaction the policy	
	pursued by Lord Palmerston's government (motion:	
	Beard)	
1862 November		That Mr. Disraeli's political conduct fully deserves the con-
		fidence of the country (motion: Dombrain)
1863 May		That Mr. Gladstone is unworthy to represent this Universi-
		ty in Parliament (motion: Thomas)
1864 February	That this House disapproves of the foreign policy of	
	Lord Palmerston's government (motion: Jones)	
1864 March		That this House wishes to express its full confidence in the
		present ministry (motion: Slipper)
1865 May	That this House considers the ministry entitled to	
	the confidence and support of the nation at the ensu-	
	ing general election (motion: Peto)	
1866 February	That the conduct of Governor Eyre in suppressing the	
	late insurrection in Jamaica, deserves the approval of	
	this House, and the thanks of the country (motion:	
	Anderton)	
1866 March		That in the opinion of this House the present Government
		has not as yet proved itself worthy of the confidence of the
		nation (motion: Campbell MacKinnon)

Date	Cambridge Union Society	Oxford Union Society
1867 February	That, in the opinion of this House, Her Majesty's	
	Government has exhibited a patriotic sense of duty,	
	and a sincere desire to settle the Reform Question in	
	the scheme they have laid before Parliament on the	
	subject (motion: Lindsay)	
1867 May		That the government ought to be supported in their en-
		deavours to carry a sound and Constitutional Reform Bill
		(motion: Smith)
1868 April		That this House disapproves of the course taken by the
		Liberal Party in Parliament in the recent debate and division
		upon the Irish Church (motion: Dale)
1868 May	That the present Government has justly forfeited the	
	confidence of the country (motion: Wilkins)	
1868 October		That Sir Roundell Palmer is the fittest and worthiest Repre-
		sentative of this University (motion: Geldart)
1869 February	That the present Government is deserving of the con-	
	fidence of the Country (motion: Symes)	
1870 February		That the candidature of Odger for Southwark deserves the
		approval of this House (motion: Cotton)
1870 May	That the present Colonial Policy of the Government	
	deserves the condemnation of the Nation, as tending	
	to the ultimate disintegration of the Empire (motion:	
	Rocke)	

As shown in the table, 'confidence' was also expressed in other terms. One example of expressing confidence without explicit mention is the question presented at the Cambridge Union Society: 'That this House views with satisfaction the policy pursued by Lord Palmerston's government' (Beard: CUS 5 November 1861). Here the formulation of motion indicates a debate about whether or not the Society would express confidence in the ministry's policy. Similarly, in the Oxford Union Society a motion was proposed: 'That the present Ministry is incompetent to carry on the Government of the country' (Knatchbull: OUS 16 May 1831). The Society's debate for and against the competence of the ministry was carried out presumably to test the balance between government and opposition supporters inside the Society.

The politics of the day were hardly forgotten in the Union Societies' debate agenda, even when discussing past events. In his ceremonial speech on the inauguration of the new Cambridge Union Society building, Edward Herbert (see ch. 3, fn. 32), by then the Earl of Powis, spoke about the debates at the Union of his time:

You address, as hereafter you seldom will, a wholly cultivated and educated assembly — an assembly every member of which is intellectually and by cultivation on a level with the speaker, before which he cannot presume, and which he dare not attempt to cajole, misinform, or despise. [...] You must study the questions on which you speak. You must not content yourselves with repeating the well-worn platitudes of the Revolution of 1688, or of the Repeal of the Union; or when you treat the subjects of the day, as for instance, in discussing the comparative merits of a Liberal or of a Conservative Government (cheers and laughter), you must not content yourselves with merely reproducing the articles in the daily newspapers (hear, hear). (Powis: Cambridge Union Society 1866, 5-6)

Here Lord Powis encourages the speakers of the Union to put careful effort into the debates. Furthermore, he maintains that the best manner of taking part in a debate was to 'treat political questions as topics of philosophical and historical inquiry':

If the wonders of a seven days' war should allure you to trace the causes which have made the rise of Prussia so constant, and the persevering ambition of the successors of Frederick so successful in spite of their selfish policy on several critical occasions, or if you should be led to investigate the causes which have made Austria a mass of indigested provinces and the house of Hapsburg so constantly unfortunate and like Athestane the Unready often unprepared and always too late, you will command the attention of your fellows, and you will beneficially exercise the powers of your own minds (cheers). A little practice in debate will enable you to study with effect, and to contrast the ornate, diffuse, didactic rhetoric of Lord Brougham, full of epithet and amplification, with the severe simplicity of Lord Lyndhurst, [...]. (Powis: Cambridge Union Society 1866, 6)

In Lord Powis's speech, the debates of the Union Societies are portrayed as a leisurely activity without an explicit mention of a party politics dimension. He suggests that persuasion of the audience involved references to historical cases rather than to parties, in contrast to Gladstone's assertion that the consideration of parties marked the 'peculiar character of British debating' (cf. in Reid 1953, 270). However, it has been acknowledged that discussion of past events usually

arose from political conflicts in the current Parliament (Thomas 1971, 9). In that sense Powis's omission to mention the connection with party politics might have been due to the obviousness of the fact for him. Speaking after Lord Powis, Lord Houghton⁴⁸ also suggest how societies such as the Union encouraged political discussion:

For my own part, I do not see how any man, however young, or even any boy, can be brought to the serious study of history without at the same time awakening in his mind political associations, and to a certain degree conveying political ideas. [...] When a youth connects the history of the past with the political life of his own time, he is able to realise that past, and apply it to the present. (Houghton: Cambridge Union Society 1866, 16-17)

Houghton seems to affirm what Powis left unsaid: references to the past were used for presenting political arguments. Both Houghton and Powis seem to suggest that, indeed, the debates provided rhetorical and political training: the more you debated, the more tropes you were able to use for political argumentation.

The way to recover the politics related to agenda-setting in the Union Societies is to conduct a rhetorical reading of the minutes of the public meetings, including information on both motions and resolutions, which constituted the public business of the Union Societies. The aim here is to find out what kind of rhetorical *topoi* members of the Union Societies used in their motions for debate. Given that the motions entail resolutions, the following categorisation provides a tool for understanding what kind of resolutions the debates were aimed at. For example, in the event that a motion was formulated 'That the administration of the Duke of Wellington is undeserving of the confidence of the country' (Gladstone: OUS 11 November 1830) it is fair to assume that the debate for and against included arguments either supporting or opposing the government. The object of the debate, therefore, and ultimately the resolution, was a vote of confidence.

The *topoi* of the Union Societies' resolutions can be divided into four categories:

- vote of confidence (on a policy or conduct)
- principle (whether or not something is desirable)
- character (justified or commendable action, or the opposite)
- expediency (whether or not something is beneficial to some party or is convenient)

Richard Monckton Milnes (1809-1885), later Lord Houghton, entered Trinity College, Cambridge, in 1827. He became a poet, and was elected to the House of Commons in 1837, where he represented Pontefract until 1863.

As stated, while making the categorisation above, it was assumed that the formulations used are directed towards certain resolutions: the speakers of each debate spoke for and against the given motion before voting on them. The vote taken after the debate is the moment when a motion turns into a resolution.

Even though the *topoi* are not all-inclusive and may even overlap, they do indicate starting points for further analysis of how political agency was rhetorically conceived in the Union Societies. The four categories above should be considered as abstractions of the debates, not representations of their substance. For example, a 'vote of confidence' directs attention to a course of action. At the same time, it refers to representation: whether or not the actions of elected representatives merit approval.

4.2.1 Reform, representation, and past references: 'votes of confidence'

The formulations of motions that were selected for this analysis date from 1830 and until around 1870. The four decades coincide with a period in British history when petitions for reform constantly appeared before the House of Commons. For the Whigs, in particular, reform as a political idea represented a means to maintain the constitutional *status quo*. After the passing of the 1832 Reform Act, however, further reforms became seen more generally as 'improvements' demanded by the times though they had to be reconciled with the past requirements (Briggs 1984, 437).

A great majority of the debate topics in the Union Societies related to reform questions in general. In the following analysis of the Union Societies' resolutions, some attention will also be paid to the way the discussion themes vary according to certain periods. The question of the extension of the suffrage, for instance, was not explicitly mentioned in the debate topics before the midnineteenth century. ⁴⁹ However, the reform question in general was a staple among debate topics during the whole period under investigation.

Subjects concerning parliamentary representation may be divided into at least two categories. First, those that concern the extent of reforms, e.g. 'That the Franchise should be extended to ten-pound householders in the Counties' (Noel: CUS 3 March 1857); and, second, those that discuss their quality, e.g. 'That it is desirable that the qualification for the Franchise in towns should be education not property' (Webb: OUS 30 May 1861). These instances show the different emphases of reform questions in general. In the former instance, reform is debated from the point of view of extension of suffrage, and in the latter from the perspective of what the eligibility qualifications for voting rights should be. Both examples treat reform as connected with the voting franchise.

Instead of looking at the formulations on reform in terms of substantive matters of the extent or of the quality of representation, one may consider the

There was only one exception, the question 'That it is the duty of the legislature to endeavour by the Political Education of the people to render the inevitable extension of the suffrage desirable and safe', which was posed at the Oxford Union Society on 13 April 1837.

rhetorical aspects. (This abstract level was mentioned above while discussing Table 1.) The rhetorical formulations tend to address the question of what kind of representation is legitimate. These types of questions tended to refer to approbation or disapprobation of the actions of the government or of a parliamentarian. Presumably the arguments for and against such questions would have been acts of commending and of condemning. In that sense the *topos* of 'vote of confidence', at which this type of resolution aims, is a case of epideictic rhetoric in the Union Societies' debate subjects.

What kind of rhetorical strategies did the votes of confidence entail? The *topos* is most frequently employed in such instances as the motion 'Has the internal policy of the Whigs for the last seven years been such as to merit our approbation?' (Barrett: CUS 26 February 1838). The rhetorical aspect of agenda is best illustrated by debates that included an additional motion, such as a rider or an amendment. As an example, on June 9 in 1836, the Oxford Union Society debated the motion 'That the present ministry are undeserving of the confidence of the country', which was proposed by Fowler⁵⁰ of Pembroke College and to which Hussey of Balliol moved the rider:

That our want of confidence is occasioned by their cowardice in shrinking from the obvious duty of destroying the present Church Establishment in Ireland, and of adapting generally the institutions of the country to the inevitable progress of Democracy. (Hussey: OUS 9 June 1836)

Hussey's⁵¹ rider disapproves of the present situation. Had his rider gained a majority of votes, it would have been added to the original motion.⁵² In that sense it would have added more argumentative power to the resolution. Those who would have been in favour of the original motion in the first place would, however, have to be persuaded that these were the precise reasons for their disapproval of the ministry. The house was then adjourned and the debate resumed on 11 June, when Cornish⁵³ of Christ Church College moved another rider:

That our want of confidence is grounded as well on the degrading alliance with O'Connell, as on the miserable experience which the English people have had of genuine Whig policy, the supporters of which have consulted the interests of a faction at the expense of a nation, have preferred tortuous paths to an honest and straightforward course, availing themselves of temporary expedients, instead of relying on fixed principles, and have ever been found the ready tools for measures, the disastrous consequences of which they were not sagacious enough to foresee, or too unprincipled to regard. (Cornish: OUS 11 June 1836; emphasis added, TH)

There were now two competing riders to the original motion. In the one put forward by Cornish, the Whig policy in general is rhetorically portrayed as unreliable. In the rider proposed by Hussey, however, the disapprobation is di-

John Coke Fowler (1815-1899) became a barrister.

William Hussey (b. ? 1814-d. unknown) became a barrister.

Riders are always in support of the original motion.

⁵³ Cornish was later known as Sir John Robert Mowbray, see ch. 3, fn. 33.

rected against only one incident. Formulation of Cornish's rider reveals two additional *topoi* of Union Society debates: principle and expediency. Cornish formulated the Whig policy as resorting to 'temporary expedients' and naming it as 'unprincipled'. This indicates that the two topoi were often used in opposition to each other.⁵⁴

It was not uncommon in either Union Society to find motions expressing the 'confidence of the House' on the present ministry or on a certain policy. These types of formulations, which began to appear in the late 1840s, were most likely used to measure the general power relations between political parties within the Union Societies. In his essay on public speaking (1838) Gladstone (in Reid 1953) emphasised that a debater has to take into account his audience and the 'mood of the moment'. Debating on whether or not the house should give its confidence to a ministry, members of the Union Society were trying to persuade the audience of whether or not they should make a resolution for or against the party that held the confidence of the majority of the House of Commons. Also, it shows how parliamentary debates of the period could potentially still pose a threat to ministries due to the non-established character of political parties. This helps to explain why the contemporary press was so keen to publish even the most minimal information about the debates in the Union Societies: the result of voting for and against the present ministry was considered of importance because it potentially affected and reflected opinion-building inside the universities.

The formulations of debate topics also suggest that the past was commonly referred to in Union Society debates. It was not unusual for nineteenth-century political language to refer to past events (eg. Collini et al. 1987; see also Anderson 1967). Historical events were often used for legitimating political arguments and decisions. Thomas Babington Macaulay, who was both a former member of Cambridge Union Society and a Whig member of parliament, was also one of the few historians of the time to emphasise the benefits of history in providing political wisdom (Collini et al. 1987, 192). A reference to past events or people indicates an application of forensic rhetoric. Based on the records of public business meetings, it seems that Union Society debates, especially in the 1830s and 1840s, made clear references to the past. In substance, they mostly related to the Glorious Revolution or to the dissolution of the monasteries by Henry VIII.

The past references to the dissolution of monasteries were also related to contemporary political debates. A similar example had been used by Burke in *Reflections on the Revolution in France* (1790), in which he discussed the fate of the French monasteries. His writings on the matter have not received much attention, which is partly due to the fact that most studies on Burke's *Reflections* have not considered the monasteries relevant to the French revolution (Beales 2005, 420). But, according to Beales, Burke, when beginning his discussion of the property rights of the Church in France by referring to the dissolution of the

I will elaborate further on this point in the Section 4.2.3.

English monasteries in the sixteenth century, was writing as much about the British politics of his time as he was about the French case.

In the Union Societies the matter of Church property rights appeared decades later, though without a clear historical reference. In 1849 the reverend Robert Whiston, headmaster of the cathedral school at Rochester since 1842, had accused the dean and the chapter of the Cathedral of financial misconduct. His complaints were published in a pamphlet Cathedral trusts and their fulfilment in 1849. It became a best seller and was also commented upon in Parliament (Yates & Welsby 1996, 121). Subsequently, the Whiston matter resulted in a Royal Commission inquiry on Cathedrals and revision of legislation. The reports of the commissions, also known as 'Blue Books', were also very sought after by the general public (Briggs 1984, 275). In 1850 the Cambridge Union Society debated on 'That we heartily sympathise with Mr. Whiston in his endeavours to obtain an equitable distribution of Cathedral property; and we believe that the Church of England will be considerably strengthened by the inevitable consequences of these endeavours' (Childers: CUS 5 February 1850). The reason for not resorting to past references in this instance was perhaps that Whiston had been educated at Trinity College and the Society only intended to raise the subject due to Whiston's connection with the university. In this particular case, then, the motion did not directly involve a vote of confidence, though it did involve epideictic rhetoric as well.

Especially in connection with national political events, debates on votes of confidence were questions of setting an historical precedent. For example, the Cambridge Union Society debated the topic: 'That this House desires to record its satisfaction at the Reform Bill lately introduced by the Conservative Government, and its admiration at the brilliant leadership of Mr. Disraeli, in the House of Commons' (Owen: CUS 29 October 1867). Here the formulation of the resolution is shown to be particularly official. It gives the impression that the debate and vote on this topic would be an addition to the nation's historical record. The incident refers to the political conflict caused by Disraeli's decision to support parliamentary reform. Only a few days earlier, on 24 October 1867, the Oxford Union Society topic of debate was: 'That the passing of the Reform Bill by Mr Disraeli has ruined the character of the Conservative Party for consistency and principle' (Cotton: OUS 24 October 1867). The formulation implied that Disraeli's political action had affected the ethos of the whole Conservative party. The passing of the law was rhetorically portrayed as directly involving a loss of confidence. In this case the formulation contained two topoi: 'vote of confidence' and 'character'. In short, the Union Societies' debates in relation to votes of confidence did not necessarily refer only to certain policies but could be personalised with a reference to 'character'.

4.2.2 Personalisation and de-personalisation of politics: 'character' and 'principle'

The category of votes of confidence somewhat overlaps with the category of character in that they are used here to refer to the political conduct that is under evaluation. 'Character' also is an example of epideictic rhetoric. 'Principle', in its turn, relates to an underlying theory or idea that supports certain actions. Both 'character' and 'principle' are commonplace concepts in nineteenth-century British politics (see Collini et al. 1987). 'Character' was attached to various political arguments. It was employed to add force to certain ideas in party political struggles (Collini 1985, Ledger-Lomas 2004). For example, the 'character' of William Pitt the Younger was employed as representing certain Tory principles decades after he had passed away. Whigs, in their turn, would define Pitt's character in a negative light in order to advance their own political agenda. (Ledger-Lomas 2004, 642) Related to this type of politics, the Oxford Union Society debated in 1830 on whether the conduct of Fox and the Whigs deserved approbation: 'That the conduct of Mr Fox and his party in reference to the Treason and Sedition Bills, which were passed in the year 1795, deserved the admiration and gratitude of their country' (Moncrieff: OUS 11 February 1830). With reference to the conduct of Fox as the head of the party, it appears that a strong personalisation of politics as exhibiting a 'character' still existed. A party could be judged on the basis of its former leader (cf. Ledger-Lomas 2004, 642). Additionally, in the above motion the topos in question could be easily changed from 'character' to 'vote of confidence' if the person and the bill in question were changed to a more contemporary 1830s example.

The concept of national character likewise appears in a Cambridge Union Society debate: 'That Vote by ballot would fail to accomplish its intended object; and would be productive of great injury to the National Character' (Smith: CUS 11 March 1851). The concept is also used indirectly. For example, on 25 November 1851, the Cambridge Union Society debated the proposition 'That the Foreign Policy of the present government has been conducive to the honour and dignity of this country; and deserves the approbation of this House' (Cust: CUS 25 November 1851). In terms of recent British political theory, 'national character' has been described as 'a subtle move from participation to detached observation' (Collini et al. 1987, 173). This also involves an idea that a nation may learn from its own traditions. In that sense, 'character' can also have an historical reference.

However, most statements about 'character' referred to an individual conduct in the present: 'That Mr. Gladstone's political conduct since the General Election has been dignified, consistent, and patriotic' (Wetherell: OUS 10 February 1853). In this particular instance the question was debated in four separate meetings. The first debate was adjourned and continued on 17 February when there appeared four amendments to the original motion. Amendments always proposed a new formulation. Usually they were not allowed to be in complete opposition to the original. Rather, they presented a modified alternative to the kind of resolution the original motion would have resulted in.

The first amendment was offered by Hunt⁵⁵ of Christ Church: 'That Mr. Gladstone's position in the present ministry cannot as yet be sufficiently appreciated' (Hunt: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 17 February 1853). Hunt's formulation is more cautious than Wetherell's. A longer formulation appears in the amendment by Rogers⁵⁶ of Wadham College:

That we view with unmingled regret and disappointment the position assumed by Mr. Gladstone towards Lord Derby's Government, and his subsequent coalition with the Whigs, as uncalled for by political exigencies, inconsistent with his whole past career, and tending to render permanent the disruption of the Conservative Party. (Rogers: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 17 February 1853)

Rogers's amendment seems to be the most critical of Gladstone's conduct. It blames Gladstone for having secured his own political position by abandoning his party. The third amendment is proposed by Fowler⁵⁷ of Merton College: 'That the general conduct of Mr. Gladstone deserved the support of the Members of this University at the last election' (Fowler: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 17 February 1853). Fowler's amendment explicitly refers to the main reason why the debate was so interesting to the members of the society, which was due to the fact that Gladstone represented the University of Oxford in the House of Commons. Gladstone also represented a direct link between the Union Society and the House of Commons. Therefore, resolutions of the society over his conduct had particular importance.

Fremantle⁵⁸ of Balliol College presented the fourth amendment: *'That Mr. Gladstone's conduct in joining the present Government is honourable to himself and beneficial to the country'* (Fremantle: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 17 February 1853). Fremantle extends the idea of Gladstone's conduct from his character to the benefit of the country. In a way, he reformulates Wetherell's original motion, but accentuates the beneficial aspect of Gladstone's actions.

On 24 February, as the society met again to discuss the same topic, another amendment was moved by Pearson⁵⁹ of Exeter College: 'That Mr. Gladstone's

benjamin Bickley Rogers (1828-1919) was a scholar at Wadham College 1846-1852. He was elected a Fellow in 1852 and became a barrister.

William Henry Fremantle (1831-1916) was educated at Eton. After graduating from Balliol College he was elected a Fellow of All Souls College in 1854. He became an eminent Anglican priest.

George Ward Hunt (1825-1877), B.A. 1848, M.A. 1851, was elected a Conservative MP for North Northamptonshire in 1857. He served as Secretary of the Treasury under Lord Derby in 1866-1868 and as Chancellor of the Exchequer in 1868 in the Disraeli government.

Thomas Fowler (1832-1904) was educated at King William's college on the Isle of Man. After taking his honours degree at Merton College, he was elected to a Fellowship in Lincoln College. He became Professor of Logic in 1873 and Vice-Chancellor of Oxford University in 1899.

Charles Henry Pearson (1830-1894) was educated at Rugby School and was admitted at Oriel College in 1849. He changed to Exeter College the following year. He was elected president of the society in 1852 and 1853. In 1853 he received his B.A. degree and was elected a Fellow of Oriel College in 1854. The following year he became lecturer of English language and literature at King's College, London. Shortly afterwards he was nominated professor of modern history. In 1873 he became professor

conduct in recognizing the necessity of a Liberal Government by joining the coalition has been eminently patriotic' (Pearson: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 24 February 1853). Here, too, the emphasis is on the benefit the country would receive from Gladstone's conduct. The president adjourned the house due to disruption during one speech.

In the fourth meeting, on 28 February, Hunt withdrew his amendment by leave of the house. A vote was then taken on Rogers' amendment, as it had been presented following Hunt's. The majority voted for it, which meant that all the other amendments and the original motion were never voted upon and, subsequently, considered lost.

The term 'political' was not often used in the formulations. It appeared mostly in connection with words such as 'conduct', 'character', and 'career': 'That this House entirely disapproves of the Political career of the Right Hon. B. Disraeli' (Duggan: OUS 23 February 1865). Grainger (1969) argues that it has been characteristic of English politics, in contrast to the American political system, that representatives were required to gain certain reputation before they could be entrusted with political office. That meant a show of skills, which, by the middle of the nineteenth century, was judged by performances in parliamentary debate (Grainger 1969, 15). Therefore, party political struggles became defining moments for gaining a reputation as a statesman:

That Lord Ashley's uniform advocacy of a law to keep down the hours of labour, while supporting those laws whose object is to keep up the price of food, together with his recent letter to his constituents, entirely vitiates his claim to be considered a Statesman. (Fripp: OUS 13 November 1845)

In the case above, it is suggested that to be called a 'statesman' had a connection with an acquired 'character'. But, in some instances historical characters are subjected to debate on their 'political' qualities as well: 'That the Political character of Themistocles is not deserving of our esteem and admiration' (Karslake: OUS 9 December 1841). This shows that the idea of 'political' was not only connected with contemporary agents, but was used to make moral judgments of the actions of past characters.

In cases where a motion suggested that a course of action should be based on a certain theory or question of morality, it is here considered a resolution based on 'principle'. It is the most frequently employed *topos* of the four as it represents a form of opinion based on political preference in relation to a course of action: 'That it is desirable the British possessions at the Cape of Good Hope be abandoned' (Stephen: CUS 26 October 1852). An amendment to the motion was formulated as follows:

That all after the word 'That' be omitted, and the following substituted: "this House, considering the Cape of Good Hope, in its present state, a very unprofitable posses-

sion, is of opinion, that more energetic measures for subjugating the Kaffirs should be immediately adopted." (Carte: CUS minute book vol. 15, 26 October 1852)

In Stephen's⁶⁰ motion there seems to be no indication of the grounds for the argument. In Carte's⁶¹ amendment, however, one reason for why the possession of the Cape of Good Hope should be abandoned has been provided. This reveals that motions that are formulated in the form of 'principle' usually entail a value judgment that is not always directly expressed.

The motions that included some kind of principle suggest that, in order to pass them as resolutions, the debate had to include a judgment on conduct that was more speculative than based on immediate experience. Furthermore, debates with the intention to decide about a principle often had the qualities of deliberative rhetoric with an orientation towards future or present action: 'That the government of this country ought to use all its influence in order to secure the liberties of Poland; but it would not be justified in making war with Russia on behalf of that country' (Peto: CUS 17 November 1863). In relation to this motion an amendment was moved:

That all after the word 'That' be omitted, and the following substituted: "the Government of this Country ought to abstain from all diplomatic action for the settlement of the dispute between the Russian Government and the Poles, as worse than nugatory, unless they are prepared for the alternative of War. (Goodman: CUS minute book vol. 18, 17 November 1863)

In this case as well, it seems that the amendment specifies the matter to which the original motion is referring. It must also be noted that here we see both the *topos* of 'vote of confidence' and that of 'principle' in a case where government policies are mentioned. Although they may both refer to certain policy decisions, votes of confidence usually dealt with past conduct and principles with present or future decisions. In short, a vote of confidence either approves or disapproves of an action and principle suggests a course of action.

As a further example, in 1839 the Oxford Union Society debated the topic 'That in the present state of the Empire, it is the duty of an enlightened Government to propose a free and liberal measure of National Education' (Blackett: OUS 9 May 1839). The original motion is formulated in a manner that suggests a debate on the duties of a government in general. It is rhetorically implied that the present government, in order to prove itself enlightened, has to make an initiative towards national education. Northcote⁶² of Corpus Christi College moved the amendment: 'That National Education, to be conducted on any sound and efficient principles, ought to be carried on in connection with the National Religion'

⁶⁰ Leslie Stephen (1832-1904), the father of Virginia Woolf, was educated at Eton and King's College, London. He was admitted as a scholar at Trinity Hall in 1851. He became an eminent author and critic.

Thomas Sampson Carte (1829-d. unknown), B.A. 1852, M.A. 1855, became assistant master at King's College, London, around 1864.

James Spencer Northcote (1821-1907) was a scholar of Corpus Christi College from 1837 to 1842. He became a catholic priest and president of Oscott College in Birmingham.

(Northcote: OUS minute book vol. V, 9 May 1839). He suggests additional principles that should be considered in the drafting of the future policy.

The debate was adjourned till the following Thursday, 16 May, on which date two additional amendments were proposed:

That it is an universally acknowledged principle, that the State is bound to provide for her members; so, since the alteration of our Constitution by the Acts of 1828 and 1829, the Government is bound to provide for all those Non-conformists, who, by our present Constitution, are members of the State, such education as they can accept, and as seems most calculated to improve the condition of our lower classes; and further, that it is the bounden duty of every individual, who would promote the peace and welfare of every society, to further such education. (Arnold: OUS 16 May 1839)

Arnold's⁶³ formulation suggests that there is only one 'principle' on which government policies should be based. In terms of contemporary political language, 'principle' had a strong connotation to Utilitarian philosophy. The utilitarians, also known as the Philosophic Radicals, combined the idea of scientific progress with ethics in order to create practical reforms. For Bentham, the principle of utility was a universal that should be used as the basis for judicial revision in Britain (Halévy 1955, 76). He argued that legislation would best serve the interests of individuals by identifying the interests of the community. The utilitarian moral science was remarkably influential, perhaps because it coincided with the reforming spirit of the age.

Presumably Arnold's amendment has a connection to utilitarian philosophy. He formulated his argument as a motion in a very particular manner, firstly, by presenting a 'universally accepted' principle and then by drawing certain conclusions from it of the duties of individuals. Rawlinson,⁶⁴ however, reverts to the rhetoric of duty without any direct reference to principles:

That in the present circumstances of the Empire, it is the duty of an enlightened Government to strengthen and support the National Church in the efforts which she is making to adapt her Educational System, and the existing wants of the Nation. (Rawlinson: OUS 16 May 1839)

Rawlinson's amendment seems to combine the arguments of the original motion and Northcote's amendment. It mentions the duty of an 'enlightened government' of the original motion along with a consideration of religion given in Northcote's amendment.

'Principle' is found especially in those formulations that imply a potential action without reference to a specific case. These kinds of motions clearly suggest deliberative rhetoric, although there might not be any immediate contextual reference in the formulation. Whereas 'character' implied personalisation of political activity, 'principle' rather connotes de-personalisation. In that sense the

⁶³ Charles Thomas Arnold (1818-1878), B.A. 1840, M.A. 1843, became a priest. He was nominated Assistant master of Rugby School in 1841 and later Headmaster.

George Rawlinson (1812-1902), B.A. 1838, was a Fellow of Exeter College in 1840-1846. Rawlinson was ordained a priest the following year.

topos of 'character' rhetorically focuses the attention to certain political conduct and 'principle' takes distance from it.

4.2.3 Questions of policy and political benefit: 'expediency'

The *topos* of expediency refers to action that is concerned with the solving of a practical problem. Along with 'principle' it is one the most frequently applied *topoi* in the Union Societies' resolutions. Even in classical rhetoric, they appeared as opposites of each other. As discussed earlier, 'principle' is the classic rhetorical *topos* of morality as opposed to the political convenience that 'expediency' represents.

As was the case with 'principle', 'expediency' is mostly used to argue for or against some future action. The two are often used in the same formulations: 'That while we condemn the Norman Invasion, as in principle unjust, with reference to its effects we must pronounce it highly beneficial' (Tickell: OUS 20 October 1842). This type of formulation was associated with the Sophists in particular: 'Ought one to do what is expedient or what is just?' (Aristotle, On Sophistical Refutations, Sect. 2, Part 12). But the same also appears in Roman rhetorical literature. For example, in Cicero's writings there appears a standard division between 'honorable' ('honestum') and 'expedient' ('utile') topics (Morstein-Marx 2004, 61). This suggests that the Union Society debates had links to the rhetorical tradition followed by British parliamentary culture since Renaissance.

In some cases 'principle' and 'expediency' were not put as opposites, but used to rhetorically complement each other. This type of formulation was presented on 13 November 1851 in the Oxford Union Society when it debated: 'That the French Revolution of 1789 was justifiable, and has conferred the greatest benefits on mankind' (Göschen: OUS 13 November 1851). Here the first part of Göschen's (see ch. 1, fn. 7) motion introduces the topos of principle and the latter conveys the one of expediency. When Göschen uses the expression 'greatest benefits' he implies that the French Revolution was conducted with good intentions and, therefore, may be considered 'justifiable'. He uses the topos of principle not to contrast with, but to complement that of expediency. An amendment was, then, proposed:

That a Revolution was necessary in France, but that it is premature to pronounce definitely concerning the good effects resulting from it, in consequence of the excesses in which the Revolution terminated. (Butler: OUS minute book vol. VII, 13 November 1851)

Butler's amendment seems to be formulated in a way that only accentuates 'expediency'. The rhetoric of necessity implies that the revolution was the only available means to change the situation prevailing in France, though Butler added a cautionary remark concerning the assessment. The 'house' was then adjourned and another amendment was presented, by Nussey⁶⁵ of Oriel Col-

⁶⁵ Edward Richard Nussey (b. ? 1828-d. unknown) became a priest.

lege, in the following meeting: 'That the French Revolution has conferred the greatest benefits on mankind' (Nussey: OUS minute book vol. VII, 20 November 1851). Unlike Göschen's motion, where 'principle' was used to support 'expediency', in Nussey's amendment it has been altogether abandoned. Nussey seems to suggest that the practical outcome of the revolution itself should be commended. In this way his rhetoric emphasises 'expediency'.

In the Union Societies' debates, 'expediency' appears often in connection with national benefit. In the Cambridge Union Society, for instance, it was debated in connection with the question of national education: 'Is the universal extension of education a national benefit?' (Smythe: CUS 4 December 1838). Later the formulation related to national benefit was usually put in the words 'the best interests of the country':

That this House, on account of the unsettled state of Europe, does not think the present a fitting time to remit taxes, and is of opinion that the Chancellor of the Exchequer in his budgets pays too much attention to beauty of language, and too little to the best interests of the country. (Curtis: OUS 2 May 1861)

The example shows also that the Union Societies followed the occurring changes of parliamentary speaking. Here the oratorical fineries of the pre-Reform period are rhetorically portrayed as opposed to carrying out the best interests of the country. The idea that political arguments should be based on facts and figures dates from the 1830s, when parliamentary and royal commissions were founded to supply statistical information about the empire (Young 1986, 29). The reports were in such high demand that they began to be sold to the public in 1835. Subsequently, the rhetoric of expediency became more of a norm in the parliamentary culture.

The rhetoric of expediency in the formulation of motions in the Union Societies is evidence that they were deliberative assemblies with a strong interest in parliamentary politics. Whenever 'expediency' is the object of a debate the attention is on policy-making, the weighing of necessities and political consequences for future action. It is about persuading in terms of political circumstances, not just in the level of what is good or bad, but what seems to be necessary and therefore beneficial in a present context. The following motion is a good example of the change of tone in Union Society debates: 'That Parliamentary Reform on the principles of 1832, is not required by the interests of the Country' (Young: CUS 9 March 1858). Although the proposition includes a reference to principles of a reform, the actual focus of the debate is the utility or necessity of those principles in terms of the well-being of the country.

It should be noted that there also appears debates where 'expediency' and 'principle' seem to be included in competing arguments. For example, on 17 November 1859 the Oxford Union Society met to debate on a motion 'That Universal Suffrage is desirable, and that, while it may be questioned whether we are ripe for it at present, this House will never regard Reform as completed until it is carried' (Tollemache: OUS 17 November 1859). The rhetoric of desirability refers to a value judgment, and therefore to the *topos* of principle, whereas 'expediency' is argued with the question of circumstantial appropriateness. The

formulation of the motion points to the idea that the reform may be accomplished only if certain circumstances obtain in the future. Therefore, the future goal has not yet been reached, even though the necessity for change is implied. In this way the realisation of 'principle' is made conditional on 'expediency'.

Then an amendment was moved 'That Universal Suffrage is not desirable, and that this House will never approve of any Reform Bill, which has not for its basis a property qualification' (Blennerhassett: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 17 November 1859). The formulation of the amendment has a very strong connotation to 'principle', at least the principle of property, but does not include any reference to 'expediency'.

An adjournment was moved and passed, and the debate resumed a week later. After several speakers, Burney⁶⁶ moved the following amendment:

That this House, whilst it fully recognizes the justice and desirability of Universal Suffrage, whenever we may be ripe for it, considers that it would be neither just nor desirable that this Suffrage should give an equal voice to all who possess it. (Burney: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 24 November 1859)

Before the division, adjournment of debate was proposed by Messenger⁶⁷ of Lincoln College, but it was opposed by the majority. The decision prompted Messenger to move an amendment of his own:

That the leading interests in the nation, not the mere predominance of numbers, are what mainly claim to be represented in the National Legislative Body; and that *this principle will be most efficiently carried out* by allowing a certain number of the learned, professional, and commercial bodies to send members to the House of Commons. (Messenger: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 24 November 1859; emphasis added, TH)

In Messenger's amendment there is a juxtaposition of 'principle' and 'expediency'. But it rather emphasises 'expediency' than 'principle' in that the first part of the motion, which defines Parliament as representing interests, is supported by the rest of the argument as being a principle itself. In short, Messenger seems to use a principle as an argument for 'expediency'. Messenger's amendment shows how the increasing rhetoric of expediency related to parliamentary work (see Section 2.3) had an effect upon the rhetoric used in Union Societies. However, the other amendments in that particular debate emphasised 'principle'. It seems that the classical juxtaposition between 'principle' and 'expediency' was still the main use of the *topoi* in the Union Societies' debates.

Charles Burney (b? 1841-d. unknown) was admitted at Corpus Christi College in 1859. He became a B.A. in 1863.

⁶⁷ John Farnham Messenger (b? 1836-d. unknown), B.A. 1859, M.A. 1862, became a priest.

4.3 Formulating political resolutions in the Union Societies

The purpose of this chapter has been to investigate how the formulation of motions in the Union Societies was connected to the parliamentary culture of debate of the time and with the theory of rhetorical invention. The formulations reveal how the members conceived of political action on the basis of their knowledge of parliamentary politics. As mentioned above, the Union Societies, at first, did not follow the parliamentary manner of proposing motions. The debates were conducted in the form of questions: 'Is the present generation likely to witness the dismemberment of the United States of America?' (CUS 16 February 1841). Parliamentary forms of debate were gradually adopted. In terms of style, the debates moved from the declamatory manner of academic debating societies to a more deliberative rhetoric of the House of Commons.

In a sense, the proposing of motions in a parliamentary manner instead of simply raising questions for discussion is what defined the Union Societies as deliberative assemblies. In the course of the debates, original motions were amended and additions to them were moved. The amendments show that the contents of the motions were sometimes challenged during the argumentation. In short, there was competition over defining the contents of subsequent resolutions. The motions indicate a systematic, repetitive use of certain expressions. Here I categorised the expressions under four interrelated topoi. To sum up, 'vote of confidence' and 'character' are connected with the notion of reliability in political conduct. 'Principle' and 'expediency' both relate to some future line of action or policy. All of the topoi essentially belong to deliberative rhetoric, but they represent different aspects of it. A 'vote of confidence' is evaluation of future action in terms of representation, and action based on 'character' is judged by the skills acquired by the actor and by the action itself. 'Principle' refers to the desirability of political activity on moral grounds, and 'expediency' on the basis of necessity or utility.

The formulations of motions showed that members of the Union Societies became more inclined to include issues related to government policies in the latter part of the period under investigation. In relation to British political thought the motions also had references, for example, to utilitarian philosophy. An important finding here is the frequent use of references to the past in the formulations. In the House of Commons, the use of historical precedents was a commonplace and often related to present political conflicts (Thomas 1971, 9). However, in the politics of setting the agenda in the Union Societies, references to historical events seemed eventually more often to give way to formulation of political statements that could potentially become precedents themselves. The resolutions of the Union Societies, especially in relation to the 'vote of confidence', began showing signs of joint statements of a 'united will' (cf. Redlich 1908b, 215). In this way, in relation to national politics, the political significance of the public debate meetings of the Union Societies began to grow once their members started to act more like members of a parliamentary body. Further-

more, to place the focus on political activity instead of end results, it seems fair to conclude that it is precisely this way of acting that ultimately made the Union Societies parliamentary.

5 THE POLITICS OF DEBATE IN THE UNION SOCIETIES

At the inauguration of the new building of the Cambridge Union Society, Lord Houghton spoke about the benefits of participating in the society's activities:

It is in such societies as this that you will learn the value of political forms, forms in themselves perhaps apparently frivolous and pedantic, but which you will find to be absolutely necessary for the government of these societies, and, in fact, of all societies of men. (Houghton: Cambridge Union Society 1866, 18)

Houghton accentuates the overall significance of the forms that governed the activities in the society. In his view, the political forms are taught through the practices of the societies. His own experience taught him the importance of possessing knowledge particularly of such forms.

The forms that Houghton described as necessary for the government of the Union Societies will be considered in this chapter. In the private business meetings, members were able to participate in the management of the societies. Before going into the analysis, the adoption of parliamentary characteristics will be discussed in the Section 5.1. As has been presented above, the Union Societies were connected to parliamentary proceedings and parliamentary terminology. Here it is shown that the Union Societies were also acquiring parliamentary characteristics that had only recently been taking shape in the House of Commons. It will be argued that the adoption of parliamentary forms, for its part, legitimated the political argumentation of Union Society proceedings. However, the societies' politics did not follow the parliamentary model in all respects.

In Section 5.2 I will analyse how the acquired rules were used politically. As was the case with the public business meetings, the arguments for and against motions were not recorded in the minute books. Therefore, the analysis of the politics of debate is based on instances where the rules were somehow challenged or tested. Those kinds of cases will reveal the rhetoric — and the politics — that were practised. It has proved essential to use their compilations of rules as well as their minute books as primary material. The rule compila-

tions show the result of the work that was done in the select committees. But parts of them derived directly from the debates in the private business meetings, where changes to the rules were mainly decided. In the minute books, the secretaries of the Union Societies have recorded the motions and amendments concerning the revision of rules as well as reports of committees that proposed alterations to the rules. By comparing the minute books to rule compilations it is possible to get a sense of how the rules changed over time. To facilitate comparison I have attached a summary of the rule changes in both Union Societies below (Appendix 3).

5.1 Parliamentary references in the Union Societies' politics of debate

Traditionally the business of the House of Commons has been regarded as analogous to a 'grand inquest of the nation' (Thomas 1971, 14). In the eighteenth century it was used to describe parliamentary business as continuous conflicts between the opposition and the Crown's ministers. As described in Chapter 2, the constitutional practice of cabinet government changed the configuration in that the cabinet, consisting of members of parliament, was now held responsible for their policies to the majority of the House of Commons. Therefore, the business of the House, which was still based on procedure favouring the minority, had to accommodate to a new setting. The cabinet was reliant on the majorities, and these were more difficult to maintain in circumstances where individual members had strong privileges.

In the following sections I will present the constitutive elements of the politics of debate in the Union Societies. First I will elaborate on the connections the Union Societies' politics of debate had to the political situation in the House of Commons. The powers of the Union Society presidents and standing committees are analysed particularly in relation to the notion of parliamentary government. Highlighted will be how the powers were modified according to the parliamentary example.

5.1.1 Powers of the standing committees

The most distinctive characteristic of parliamentary government was that the cabinet became responsible to the majority of the House of Commons. The historical development of the cabinet is traceable to the Privy Council, of which it was originally a committee (Blauvelt 1902, 4). Essentially, the cabinet is a political committee that is chosen by the House of Commons to govern the nation. It is responsible both for the execution of legislation and its control. In other words, cabinet government is 'the government of a committee elected by the legislature' (Bagehot 2001, 23).

Bagehot has compared the House of Commons to a club. In fact, he argues that one does not fully understand parliamentary government without realising

this 'standing wonder' of government by club (Bagehot 2001, 99). Bagehot's comment might have been somewhat ironical, but it highlights the difference between publicly responsible government and a private association. Since antiquity, membership in clubs was usually determined by a consensus of the members (Timbs 1899, 2). The Union Societies, too, first used the ancient 'black-ball' method to elect its members: a certain amount of black balls placed in a box would deny membership.

Timbs (1899, 6) distinguishes clubs from other associations. He takes Johnson's definition as the authoritative account of a truly English style of a club: 'an assembly of good fellows, meeting under certain conditions' (ibid.) However, Todd's edition (1818) of Johnson's Dictionary of the English Language, which was more widely circulated and criticised, a club is 'an association of persons subjected to particular rules' (quoted in Timbs 1899, 6). In this sense, the British House of Commons certainly had club-like qualities, even though 'club' usually connotes a more closed society.

The House had become more dependent on outside opinion than it had been before the 1832 Reform Act. It had become a public meeting that elected its own 'rulers' and performed the duties of a representative legislature (Bagehot 2001, 99). Although the Union Societies elected their own officers and acted in the form of a 'house', passing resolutions, etc., the members were not responsible to an electorate. Therefore, representation was not an issue in the workings of the Union Societies.

The officers of the Union Societies⁶⁸ were elected by the whole society every term with specific rules. At Oxford, a candidate for any office had to be someone who had, firstly, been a member of the society for at least one term, and, secondly, taken part at least once in the debates (OUS rules 1837, 18). On the day of the election all candidates were submitted to the society in the form of a motion, of which a notice had been given. The election was conducted by secret suffrage.⁶⁹ After the president had put the motion, the votes were examined by the previous committee members. (OUS rules 1839, 21-22)

In the Cambridge Union Society the requirement for a candidate for office was that he was not in debt to the society. The candidate was required to place his name with that of his proposer in the Reading Room of the society before the election. If there was only one candidate, he was declared elected. In the case of a competition between candidates, the proposer and seconder of a candidate were allowed to address the society and describe their nominee's merits (CUS laws 1834, 4). However, this rule was changed in 1853 when the proposers were no longer permitted to address the house in support of their candidates (see CUS laws 1853, 21).

^{&#}x27;Officer' here refers to the president, the treasurer, or the secretary, which were the most basic offices in the societies. Also, e.g. a vice president or librarian could be elected

⁶⁹ Secret suffrage was a recurring theme in the public business meetings of the Union Societies. It was also an issue contested by parliamentarians and adopted in 1872.

The elected officers of the Union Societies sat in the standing committees, which by the 1850s were responsible for making initiatives to revise the rules. Rules became frequently revised in both Union Societies, with the new rules written down and circulated among the members. This regulation of procedure was itself adopted from parliamentary practice. The House of Commons' procedure in the period after the 1832 reform was characterised by two aspects: first, how to deal with time in the debates, and second, how to regulate the procedure by Standing Orders (Campion 1958, 36). In relation to the former aspect, on 24 November 1851, the Cambridge Union discussed and voted on a motion proposed by R. J. Cust of Trinity College: 'That the following be inserted under Cap. VIII: No member shall rise to address the House on any Debate, after half past nine o'clock; except for the purpose of reply, or to move an amendment' (CUS minute book vol. 15, 24 November 1851). The motion was lost in a vote and again in a poll that had been demanded afterwards. Even though the motion was not passed as a rule of the society, the incident shows that the question of time was for the first time raised on the agenda of the society. The idea to limit the time of debates was derived from the House of Commons as well. In the nineteenth century the sittings of the Commons tended to be prolonged. Restrictions were gradually put in place in an effort to make the business of the House more efficient (Campion 1958, 38-39).

Polls⁷⁰ were a peculiar characteristic of the Union Societies' private business meetings. Such polls did not take place in the House of Commons. In the Cambridge Union Society any member was allowed to request of the president that a poll be taken concerning any motion presented in a private business meeting. This had been written into the laws at Cambridge since 1848. A rule concerning polls was also in force at Oxford from 1856 on. The use of the polls suggested that divisions⁷¹ were not considered as final but, in principle, could be contested. They, in effect, delay the final vote and give the chance for a minority to persuade others to vote in their favour.⁷²

According to its minute books, the Cambridge Union Society had its entire compilation of rules revised and codified by standing committee for the first time in 1845. Before that the rules had mostly been amended in an ad hoc manner, which had posed the problem that members could not keep up with the alterations. The committee report presented at Cambridge in February 1840 contained suggestions to amend the existing laws as well as to create new ones. The committee had also read the minute books and decided to make a collection of the resolutions that had been passed in the previous private business meetings, but not written down in the rules:

⁷⁰ A poll could be called after the final vote on a motion. It was used as a way to test the majority in any decision of the house.

A division refers to the act of voting where the votes are 'divided' for and against a motion. As mentioned earlier, the term 'division' derives from the parliamentary practice of physically moving to different parts of building to perform the vote. I will come back to the question of polls in Section 5.2.2.

The Committee in revising the Minute Books have found the following laws which do not appear in the present printed copy, but which it seems desirable should be embodied with the others: In all cases for which no express provision has been made by the Laws it is expedient that the President should regulate his conduct as nearly as possible by the Precedents of the House of Commons. (CUS minute book vol. 10, 13 February 1840)

The rhetoric of expediency was here used for incorporating parliamentary precedents in the 'standing orders' of the society. In 1845 the question of regulating the proceedings also appeared in a discussion concerning a newspaper report. A newspaper had violated the rules by publishing Cambridge Union Society proceedings. Due to the incident, the society decided to turn its rules into 'laws':

That it is essential to the well-being and respectability of the "Union Society" that Members should be aware of the Rules by which the Society is governed, in order to avoid any violation of them. That to this end it is expedient that all such rules should be embodied in the form of Laws. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 9 December 1844)

The rhetoric of expediency was used to legitimise the change from 'rules' to 'laws'. The rules of the society had already been alternatively referred to as 'laws' but the argument here was, more or less, that governing the society would become more effective with laws instead of rules. In practice the society had no internal authority to enforce the laws. Therefore, it seems that 'laws' were here rhetorically portrayed as a more reliable method of keeping order than 'rules', without any more severe punishments proposed in the event of their being breached.

Subsequently, in the laws of 1845, a resolution was written down that all previously enacted resolutions and rules of the society that did not appear in the new code of laws would become invalid (CUS laws 1845 Lent & Easter, 13). This break with the past was deliberately done for minimising references to past resolutions in the debates. It is noteworthy that the rhetoric of minimising unpredictability was also used in the House of Commons, in relation to the revision of procedure in 1861 (see Section 2.2). In the report of Parliament's select committee, respect for tradition and caution in making changes to procedure were named as the two most important characteristics of procedural revision in the House of Commons. It was stated that the amendments to procedure had been done on the principle of making no changes unless 'experience has [... proved it] to be necessary' (Report from the Select Committee 1861, iii). But in the case of the Union Societies the threat was not a potential loss of tradition, but of order: the rhetoric of minimising precedents was used for the government of the societies, not for the preservation of privileges already acquired. Also, in this sense, it is possible to understand why the Cambridge Union Society preferred the term 'laws' instead of 'rules': they rhetorically helped to establish the *ethos* of the society as a well-organised institution.

The first time Oxford Union Society appointed a committee to revise its rules was in 1842. However, the revision concerned the rules relating to the of-

fice of president only.⁷³ In 1848 a revision of all of the rules of the society was undertaken by a select committee appointed. The committee's suggestions for alterations were presented in an extraordinary meeting on 31 May 1848 which, however, as was noted by secretary Meyrick⁷⁴ of Trinity College, was not attended by the required 20 members.⁷⁵ After the recommendations of the committee were discussed, treasurer Melville Portal⁷⁶ of Christ Church moved that the rules be approved by the house. The vote passed, however, not enough members were present so the rules remained officially unchanged (OUS minute book vol. VII, 31 May 1848).

On 2 February 1849 the committee, with Meyrick now the chair as well as society president, suggested changing its name and role in the revision:

That the President, Treasurer & Librarian be a Standing Committee with power to amalgamate & revise the Rules as often as they are to be reprinted; provided that in case of disagreement any of the said Committee may bring the question before the Society. (OUS minute book vol. VII, 2 February 1849)

The motion was carried, and the practice henceforth was that the revision of rules was reserved for the standing committee only. It was already the practice at Cambridge that the standing committee made the initiatives on rule changes. It seems, then, that in terms of revision of rules, Cambridge adopted qualities of cabinet government earlier than its Oxford counterpart.

The standing committee at Cambridge was first mentioned in the laws in 1841: 'The standing Committee shall consist of those Members who are in, or who have served any office' (CUS laws 1841, 7). This meant that the society's 'cabinet' consisted of those who were elected, but also of those who had already retired from their duties. The general management of the society was left to the three elected officers (i.e. president, treasurer, and secretary), who served for one term at a time, and to the two clerks, who were employed by the society for the administration of finances.

The functions of the standing committee remained unwritten until 1845 when a rule was added: 'The Standing Committee shall meet on the Friday before each Private Business Meeting; and any Officer shall be at liberty to call together the Standing Committee on any matter affecting the interests of the Society' (CUS laws 1845 Lent & Easter, 10). Further, in the laws in effect during the October term of

The debate related to the establishment of a committee to revise the rules concerning the president will be dealt with in the Section 5.1.2.

Frederick Meyrick (1827-1906) was a Fellow of Trinity College 1847-1860. He was a lecturer of rhetoric as well as philosophy in 1850, a public examiner in Literae Humaniores in 1856 and a tutor 1856-1859. During his career he was an inspector of schools, a rector of St. Andrew in Blickling, Norwich, and an active member of the Anglo-Continental Society which promoted church reforms.

It was a rule of the Oxford Union Society that the president adjourned the house in the case that only twenty members were present (see OUS rules 1843, 13).

Melville Portal (1819-1904), B.A. 1842, M.A. 1844, was elected a Conservative MP for North Hampshire 1849-1852, and for Winchester 1852-1857.

1848, the standing committee with its retired officers was merged with the officers of the society:

The Standing Committee shall consist of the President, Treasurer, and Secretary; and also of those Members who have held any of these offices; provided, that they shall have signified their intention of serving, during the Term, on this Committee, by inscribing their names in a book kept by the Secretary for that purpose. (CUS laws 1848 October, 15)

The fact that retired officers were also admitted as committee members shows that there was some continuity in the policies of the standing committee, even though the terms of office were very short. The newly elected president was named the chair of the standing committee. The role of the committee was described as follows:

The Committee shall meet [...], to consider all proposed new laws, or alterations of laws, which have been placed on the boards; at which meeting, the proposers of new laws, or alterations, shall be invited to attend, or to communicate the reasons for their proposals. (CUS laws 1848 October, 15)

The primary function of the merged standing committee was, in short, the preparation of the laws of the society before they were debated in private business meetings. In that respect the committee became a preparatory institution that dealt with motion initiatives regarding the rules. This is a clear example of adopting the functions of cabinet government in the Cambridge Union Society. The standing committee also decided whether proposals of other members were debated in the meetings or not. The decisions of the committee were afterwards announced to all the members of the society (CUS laws 1848 October, 15).

The committee of the Oxford Union Society was first composed of ten members (OUS rules 1837, 18). The standing committee of the society was constituted in 1849. When the standing committee and the library committee were divided as separate entities, the standing committee, consisting of seven members, became officially in charge of the affairs of the society (OUS rules 1851, 20). The standing committee met once a week, and in all its meetings at least one of the following officers of the society were required to be present: president, treasurer, or librarian.

There was a special characteristic of cabinet government in the Oxford standing committee as well. During public debates, and after a ballot had taken place, members could pose questions to members of the committee without notice (OUS rules 1856, 40). However, the president was allowed to stop the discussion or postpone it. This practice of questioning the committee resembled the way members of the House of Commons criticised the government policies. A difference, however, was that in the Union Societies the criticising did not have the dimension of representation. But it is noteworthy that it was only done in the public business meetings, which were open to visitors. This meant that the audience for the speeches was potentially more diverse than in the private business meetings.

Already before the establishment of the standing committee it had been a custom of the committee to propose motions. For example, on 17 May 1844, Cazenove of Brasenose College was reported to have moved 'the following motion, by recommendation of the committee. That Rule LXIII stand thus 'That no member of the Society shall be eligible to serve on the committee unless he shall be of six terms standing at least in the university, and shall have been in the Society at least one term' (OUS minute book vol. VI, 17 May 1844). Although at Cambridge there were no similar committee recommendations, motions of the standing committee were moved individually by the elected officers.

It seems that the committees of the Union Societies were not at first considered as 'cabinets'. The elected officers had their own roles as specified in the rules and, as a committee, they could propose recommendations. Only after the establishment of standing committees and acquiring the power to make initiatives did the government of the Union Societies approximate parliamentary practices.

At Cambridge, revision of rules was reserved for the standing committee. At Oxford, select committees were first appointed for this purpose from 1849 to 1852. The rule from 1849 stated that the standing committee had the ultimate power to revise the rules of the society and only had to consult the house whenever there were disagreements about the changes between members of the standing committee. On 4 March 1852 it was decided that revision was no longer possible without the approval of the whole house. The president, Walter W. Shirley⁷⁷ of Wadham College, moved:

That a Select Committee be appointed to revise the rules of the Society printed on the basis of the edition of 1843: with power to make alterations in the rules & order of the rules & so incorporate subsequent resolutions of the House. That if they shall see reason to recommend any changes [...] in the rules these shall be proposed by them, after the usual notice, at least week previous to the presentation of their general report. That the Rules of the Society as revised by them shall lie on the table of the Reading Room for one week & full notice of their being put be placed on the notice boards of the Society. The whole report shall then be submitted rule by rule to the House. That the following gentlemen shall compose the Committee. Mr. Conington, University; Mr Sotheby, Exeter; Mr. Boyle, Exeter; Mr. Fitzgerald, University; Mr. Johnstone, Exeter. (OUS minute book vol. VII, 4 March 1852)

The motion was carried unanimously. The work of the committee took several years. However, some adjustments to the old rules were already made before the submission of the committee report. For example, on 10 March 1853 the revising committee presented some of the alterations, but it was then moved that they would not 'come into operation before the general Report of the Revising Committee' (Johnstone: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 10 March 1853).

Walter Waddington Shirley (1828-1866) had been educated at Rugby School under Thomas Arnold. He matriculated at University College, Oxford, in 1846 and was elected a Fellow of Wadham College in 1852. Shirley became Regius Professor of Ecclesiastical History in 1863 and a canon of Christ Church.

In the British parliament, committees are formed on the basis of a very specific practice. Traditionally, the business of both Houses of Parliament has had two forms of proceeding: that of the House and that of a committee. The distinctive feature is that both the proceedings of the House and the Committee of the whole House are performed as plenary sessions. This means that there is no difference between either session in terms of the members present. In a strict sense the Committee of the whole House is not a 'committee' at all, but simply the House deliberating in a different form (Redlich 1908b, 180-181). The actual committees in the British parliament function as preparatory institutions. Until the nineteenth century the House only had select committees for the purpose of inquiring into matters of interest and planning how they would be dealt with (ibid. 187). Standing committees were constituted in the nineteenth century for dealing with the increasing amount of administrative work of the House of Commons.

In proposing committees for various purposes, members of the Oxford Union Society were again following parliamentary precedent. Before the revising committee appointed by the society had presented its report, the standing committee on Michaelmas 1855 decided to move that a 'Standing Committee of appeals' be appointed, which would consist of at least three former presidents of the society and would be charged with interpreting and revising the rules. The specific duties of this committee would be:

1) To decide appeals against any decision of the President which may involve the interpretation of rules, or the settlement of a point of order. 2) To revise the rules of the Society, previous to reprinting whenever they shall be empowered to do so by a vote of the House. (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 3 December 1855)

The motion was defeated by a majority of one. The following term another standing committee suggested 'That a Committee of four be appointed to revise the rules of the Society' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 11 February 1856), which was agreed.

The newly appointed revising committee gave its report on 28 May 1856, stating as one of the difficulties that they had not received any definite instructions or found any clear precedents in the written records, which prompted them to turn to recent customs and practices: 'On this point they have, as far as the lamentable imperfect state of the minutes enabled them, followed the precedent, afforded by the proceedings of the last committee appointed for a similar purpose' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 28 May 1856). According to the revising committee, other hindrances had been caused by the long periods between the revisions as well as the dereliction of the duty of earlier committees to examine the minutes of the society regularly.

On this point your Committee feel that they cannot too strongly express their sense of the impropriety of permitting so lax a system to obtain in keeping the journals of the House, or too strongly censure those officers of this Society who have failed during their short period of terminal office, to fulfill one of its plainest and most necessary duties, or of those committees which appear habitually to have omitted the duty

to which the rules bind them, of auditing the minutes weekly. (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 28 May 1856)

The committee report claimed that in terms of consistency the rules were deficient due to the fact that the minute books were so badly kept. The standing committee had the duty to examine and correct the minutes of the meetings (OUS rules 1853, 30). Because the amended rules did not appear in the records, it made the work of the revising committee extremely difficult:

From this neglect a larger amount of confusion and trouble than they can easily describe has, as was natural, been entailed upon your committee; for example, an entire chapter of rules, concerning the election of officers passed in November 1855 was in April 1856 unentered in the Society's rules. [...] In several instances unfortunately [...] many omissions and inaccuracies still disgrace the minutes [...] and Book of Rules. Some of them have been rectified by your Committee: others it is feared are of too long standing to be easily corrected inasmuch as omissions of a grave character are to be found throughout the entire period of the past 8 years [...]. (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 28 May 1856)

Due to the inconsistencies of the rules, the committee had decided 'to carry out a more intelligible classification'. One of the principal alterations proposed was that public and private business should be discussed on separate occasions. Furthermore, it was argued that copies of the rules and of the proceedings should be published with a calendar indicating the society's meeting days:

This arrangement would in the opinion of your Committee not only provide an authentic account of your society, and obviate the inconveniences of which your Committee have such abundant reasons to complain, but would, in all probability, materially benefit the finances of your society from the extensive circulation which so popular a publication would assuredly command. (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 28 May 1856)

The societies had benefited from relatively liberal policies regarding visitors. At Cambridge the rules concerning visitors attending its debates were somewhat stricter, whereas Oxford from early on allowed for a certain number of visitors to attend its debates. However, the publication of debates had been as vigorously condemned as at Cambridge. It seems that, for the sake of expediency, the revising committee at Oxford was now prepared to publish the society's proceedings. The argument was that the regular publishing of the society's transactions would benefit it in the long term and help with its finances. But publication of speeches that had been delivered at society's public business meetings remained banned.

At the Cambridge society, the strict exclusion of non-members from its public debates partly contributed to a decline in its attendance in the late 1840s. The problems began in 1843 when the society was confronting financial difficul-

The most recent instance had occurred in 1852 when an anonymous letter was sent to the *Record* newspaper 'containing several misstatements in reference to a Debate at the Society's meeting of the previous Thursday, and also a personal criticism on the character and opinions of the mover' (OUS minute book vol. VII, 27 May 1852).

ties. According to a report of the October term 1846 written by Vaughan, the secretary, ⁷⁹ in March 1847, the Cambridge society had also ceased to attract university students in the same manner as previously:

The Secretary cannot but regret the slight interest taken by the Majority of the Members in the Public Debates; the consequence of which, is that the Society is very far from sustaining its former character as a school for public speaking; nor does there seem to be any hope of great improvement in this particular, until some general interest shall have been excited, which shall lead to improvement and increase of number in the speakers as well as to larger and more attentive audiences. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 22 March 1847)

In Vaughan's view a change in the character of the business of the society had occurred. In 1846 the financial situation was declining rapidly.80 While reporting on their financial straits, the treasurer of Lent term 1847, Davies⁸¹ of Trinity College, argued that there was a 'want of vitality' in the society's activities: 'The recent Debates can scarcely be said to have been very successful; they have generally called forth less energy in speaking than the private business of the Society' (CUS minute book vol. 14, 26 April 1847). The private business Davies was referring to included the constitution of the standing committee in 1845 as well as the revision that turned the rules into the 'laws' of the society. According to Davies, the main problem was general indifference toward elections to choose the officers of the society: 'A contested election besides being a symptom of interest, is in itself beneficial to the Society, by enlisting new Members and procuring early payment of subscriptions and arrears' (CUS minute book vol. 14, 26 April 1847). Davies used the rhetoric of expediency in arguing for the benefits of using electoral competitions for attracting more members. In his view the society needed to become more popular in order to become successful again. This kind of rhetoric was also indicative of the change of character pointed out by Vaughan earlier. For the purposes of expediency the Cambridge Union Society was turning from a 'school for public speaking' into a more parliamentary type of deliberative assembly.

Vaughan argued that the society's character would only improve by some increase of 'general interest'. The decline of speakers in public business meetings had already appeared during Easter term 1846. The usual number of participants in a public debate had been around 60 a year before, but in 1846 the number was closer to 15 (CUS laws 1846, 13-23). Vaughan's argument that the Cambridge Union Society was losing its 'character' was made at a time when, on the level of national politics, Peel's repeal of the Corn Laws shook the Con-

The acting secretary was David James Vaughan (1825-1905) who was educated at Rugby School and admitted to Trinity College in 1844. He became a priest and a founder of Working Men's College of Leicester in 1862.

Whereas there were 107 members paying the membership fees of the society in the October term 1845, only 7 did so in the Easter term 1846 (CUS laws 1846, iv).

John Llewelyn Davies (1826-1916) was twice elected President of the Union, in 1847 and 1849. He was educated at Repton School and admitted to Trinity College in 1843. In his long career as a priest he served, for example, as Chaplain to Queen Victoria. With Vaughan he translated Plato's *Republic* into English.

servative party (see Ostrogorski 1964, 34). The old party was in the middle of a crisis, which had more general repercussions for party politics.

At the level of political agency, the rhetorical premise of Vaughan's argument represents an interpretation that emphasises 'character', whereas Davies' utterance suggests the position of 'expediency'. Davies was more practical in his assessment of the situation. His position was that the political struggles in the elections for officers were the reason for the renewed interest.

Davies proposal to focus on contested elections to attract new members was addressed in the following term. At the time, the society's public and private business meetings were attended by Liberal politician William Frederick Campbell,⁸² who in 1847 became elected Member of Parliament for Cambridge as well as president of the Cambridge Union Society. On 14 December 1846 Campbell commenced a discussion regarding the election of new members, by moving for a return to voting by ballot. As the society met for a private business meeting, he proposed:

That a select Committee be appointed to inquire into the grounds on which the election by ballot was abolished in the Society, the expediency of restoring it, and the results which have been found to attend the existence of it in the Oxford Union. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 14 December 1846)

Campbell suggested that the Union Society inquire into the benefits of election by ballot. In this way he seems to have suggested a means to solve the issue of attracting new members. John Kynaston⁸³ of Trinity Hall moved an amendment that the debate concerning Campbell's motion should be postponed to following term. Kynaston's effort to postpone the matter was, however, blocked by a vote on his amendment, after which Campbell's motion was put and carried by a majority of one. The following term, Campbell was elected president of the Union Society.

Campbell's initiative was partly responsible for a revival of the Union activities and launching a new style of politics. In March 1847 Vaughan acknowledged that the financial problems of the society had almost been resolved because a considerable number of new members were entering the society (CUS minute book vol. 13, 22 March 1847). As Vaughan had predicted, the character of the society only improved through the renewed interest. With Campbell, the Cambridge Union regained its popularity among university students.

William Frederick Campbell (1824-1893), a son of Baron Campbell, was elected a Liberal MP for Cambridge 1847-1852 and for Harwich 1859-1860. After inheriting the title of Baron Stratheden from his mother in 1860, he entered the House of Lords and remained in his seat until his death in 1893.

John Kynaston (b ? 1825–d. unknown), B.A. 1848, M.A. 1851, was admitted at the Inner Temple in 1846.

5.1.2 The president's role in the interpretation of rules

The duties of the president in both Union Societies included acting as the head officer of the standing committee as well as chairing all private and public business meetings. In both societies, presidents were given the power to interpret the rules. The president was in charge of identifying and acting against disorderly behaviour. This gave authority over the proceedings much like that of the Speaker of the House of Commons.

The powers of the president were as great at the Cambridge Union Society as at its Oxford counterpart. However, at Oxford there was less room for challenging the presidents' decisions during their terms in office than at Cambridge. The rule at Oxford was that a president's decisions could not be questioned until the end of the term, and then only if a written appeal notice had been submitted 'within a week of the occurrence complained of' (OUS rules 1839, 29).

The decisions of the president of the Cambridge Union Society could be subjected to an appeal at any time. The method of doing so was through a 'requisition', which had to include at least 100 signatures. After receiving such an appeal the president had to declare a committee to inquire into the matter (CUS laws 1829, 4). This Committee of the whole House (a term derived from the usage of the British parliament) inquired into the propriety of the judgments made by the president:

If a requisition of One Hundred Members, with their Names and Colleges affixed, be presented to the President, it shall be incumbent on him to appoint an early day for a Committee of the whole House, to inquire into the propriety of any decisions from the Chair. (CUS laws 1848 October, 16-17)

When a Committee of the whole House⁸⁴ was formed in the House of Commons, the Speaker had to resign his chair, and the proceedings were presided over by another (May 1844, 224). Until well into the 1850s, Speakers took part in the committee debates (Campion 1958, 76). However, in the Union Societies the presidents continued to participate in the committee and other debates even after the 1850s. In this respect, the Union Societies did not follow parliamentary practices.

If a Union Society president chose to participate in a private or public debate, the meeting was presided over by a substitute who was not allowed the full powers of the president. At Oxford the substituting chair only had 'the full power and responsibility of the President so far as relates to the conduct of that Meeting: provided always that he shall not rule any point of order, or interpret

In a Committee of the whole House, members of parliament are allowed to speak more than once. This kind of practice is needed for a detailed consideration of matters: 'When a member can speak only once, he cannot omit any argument that he is prepared to offer, as he will not have another opportunity of urging it; but when he is at liberty to speak again, he may confine himself to one point at a time' (May 1844, 226). At both Union Societies, it was possible to speak more than once at any private business meeting. Although Committees of the whole House are mentioned in the rules of the Union Societies, they had a different character in practice.

any law, in opposition to an announced decision or interpretation of the President' (OUS rules 1863, 11). This meant that the president, by taking part in a debate, did not lose his authority on questions of order or interpretation of rules. He, in fact, had the right to make an appeal against the acting chair, which had to be settled before the next public debate. The acting chair's decisions were also subject to appeal if questioned, but the matter was to be discussed at a private business meeting.

By 1853 the Cambridge Union Society had added a rule that the acting chairs were to be 'invested with all [the president's] functions' (CUS laws 1853, 8). The rule limited the time of the substitution until the end of the discussion that had prompted it. Similar to Oxford, presidents at Cambridge who wished to take part in a debate had to temporarily resign their chair and appoint a standing committee member to act as a *locum tenens* for the remainder of the discussion (CUS laws 1848 October, 8).

In the early years the decisions of the president could be reversed through a charge of 'illegal' conduct. In the 1830s the powers of the president of the Cambridge Union Society were debated several times. One of the main discussions was related to the rule that political matters of the day could not be debated. On that issue Orde,85 of Queen's College and president of the society, arranged a special meeting to discuss a letter, sent by the Proctor of the University86 who had been informed of the society's decision on 9 November 1830 that would introduce a rule to allow discussions on current political topics. In the minute book it is shown that some members of the society made 'objections to the legality of the meeting on the ground that the President had no right to call it under the circumstances' (CUS minute book vol. 6, 11 November 1830). These objections were, however, overruled. The meeting was then dissolved into a committee on the motion of James Heaviside87 of Sidney College, with Henry Dupuis⁸⁸ of Kings College to act as chair of the committee just formed. The treasurer, William Brookfield89 of Trinity College, moved that the twenty-year rule should be added to the laws of the Society again.90

The motion created disorder and the president was accused of breaking the law, according to which, as it stood, a question already brought before the house cannot be decided again during the same term. Lord Kerry⁹¹ of Trinity

Leonard Shafto Orde (1807-1895) served as the President of the Union Society twice in 1830. He became a priest.

⁸⁶ Proctors were university authorities in English universities, and their duties included disciplinary and other functions.

James William Lucas Heaviside (1808-1897), B.A. 1830, M.A. 1833, became Proctor of the University in 1835. He had been ordained a priest a year earlier.

Henry Dupuis (1808-1867) was educated at Eton and was elected a Fellow of King's College in 1830

William Henry Brookfield (1809-1874) was the President of the Union Society in 1831 and 1833. He became a priest.

Previously, the Cambridge Union Society had a rule barring debate on political topics that had occurred within the past twenty years.

The Earl of Kerry, William Thomas Petty Fitzmaurice (1811-1836), was the elder son of the third Marquess of Lansdowne, who was a Whig leader. Lord Kerry was elect-

College moved for adjournment 'sine die', meaning he wished the house to make no resolution on the matter. The issue would have been completely abandoned and failed to become a precedent had the adjournment motion been carried in a division. However, Matthew⁹² of Sidney College then proposed an amendment that the debate be adjourned until the next Tuesday. Matthew's amendment was defeated, and Lord Kerry's indefinite adjournment was carried by a show of hands (CUS minute book vol. 6, 11 November 1830). No debate, therefore, could be continued on the same subject.

When the society convened again, on 16 November, president Orde tendered his resignation. However, the majority of the society voted to decline it. The following week the matter was raised again when Laing⁹³ of St. John's College moved a 'vote of censure': 'That a Vote of Censure be passed on the President for his illegal and unconstitutional conduct while in the chair on Thursday the 11th of November' (CUS minute book vol. 6, 23 November 1830). Laing's motion again raised havoc and almost led to several offending members being expelled from the Society. President Orde overruled the motion 'on the grounds that no motion reflecting upon the conduct of the President could be discussed whilst he was in office unless at a special meeting called upon a requisition signed by 100 members' (CUS minute book vol. 6, 23 November 1830). Subsequently, Laing and some of his supporters were fined.

In the meantime, the law that permitted discussion of politics of the day was passed by the society. Soon after a motion was moved by Dupuis that a note of protest against the new law should be placed in the records of the Society. A majority agreed and the protest was written down in the minutes. In it the protestors explained that they acted out of fear that Proctors would intervene again and the situation might deteriorate to the point where members would be prohibited from debating matters of any kind.

The law was under constant revision for several terms, and stood from 1832 onwards without the twenty-year rule. However, again in 1839 there was an attempt to return to the old rule. For a reason undisclosed in the records, on 12 November 1839 president Craufurd⁹⁴ insisted upon going back to the laws of the year 1824. Despite the existing rules that permitted discussion on current politics, he declined to put two topics of debate before the house. Hodson⁹⁵ of Trinity College moved to, if it garnered a majority, declare a formal condemnation of Craufurd's decision.

ed Member of Parliament for Calne in 1832, succeeding Thomas Babington Macaulay, also a former member of the Cambridge Union.

Henry Matthew (1807-1861) was a former President of the Union Society.

Samuel Laing (1812-1897) graduated as Second Wrangler, received a Second Smith's prize in 1832 and was elected a Fellow. He was elected MP for Wick Burghs as a Liberal in 1852.

Edward Henry John Craufurd (1816-1887) had been admitted at Inner Temple two years previously. He was known as a Radical politician. In 1852 he was elected to Parliament as a member for Ayr Burghs.

George Hewitt Hodson (1817-1904) became a priest.

On 22 November, to discuss a requisition written by members to oppose the decision of the president 'that no political subject subsequent to the year 1800 should be allowed as a question for debate', the house was dissolved into committee. Then Hodson moved the following: 'That the late decision of the President by which two subjects proposed for debate were struck off the board in direct contravention of the first law of the society and consequently illegal' (CUS minute book vol. 10, 22 November 1839). The resolution was seconded by Shaw of Trinity College, and after Craufurd had said a few words, the motion was debated for and against.

An amendment was moved by former president Bartlett,% of Clare Hall: 'That the President's decision respecting the subjects of debate be reversed, and that the Society be always considered "as a debating society, to discuss any subjects, except those of a theological nature" (CUS minute book vol. 10, 22 November 1839). The amendment was carried unanimously. It contained a suggestion to reverse the decision of Craufurd, which was an alternative to declaring Craufurd's it 'illegal'. The house voted in favour.

The reversal of Craufurd's decision coincided with the report of the committee that had been summoned to revise the laws of the society. The report recommended that the president should act according to the House of Commons' procedure in those instances where there was no precedent in the society's own laws: 'In all cases for which no express provision has been made by the Laws it is expedient that the President should regulate his conduct as nearly as possible by the Precedents of the House of Commons' (CUS minute book vol. 10, 130-132). The reference to the House of Commons, however, could also be ignored by the president. On 26 February 1844 Holmes⁹⁷ of St. Peter's College proposed: 'That a Committee be appointed, with powers to direct some Solicitor to draw up a case for the opinion of counsel, as to the means by which the Union Society may securely possess property' (CUS minute book vol. 13, 26 February 1844). Brame98 of St. John's College moved an amendment 'That the motion be postponed to this day six months', after which there was a division, and the amendment was carried by a majority of five votes. The result was opposed and a poll was demanded by Delacour⁹⁹ of St. Peter's College. Disorder ensued, with Thomson¹⁰⁰ of Jesus College moving twice for adjournment, but remaining unsupported. Ritson¹⁰¹ of Jesus College moved that the poll, if granted, should take place immediately. The president, Ogier¹⁰² of Trinity College, was of the opinion that the poll was

⁹⁶ Symeon Taylor Bartlett (1812-1877) had been president of the society in 1838. He be-

⁹⁷ Richard Holmes (1823-1893), B.A. 1845, became a priest.

John Brame (1817-1889) became assistant master at Derby School in 1845 and also a priest

Robert William Delacour (1822-1888), B.A. 1844, became a priest.

William Thomson (1816-d. unknown), B.A. 1837, M.A. 1840 was a chaplain of St. Nicholas, Guildford, 1845-1848.

¹⁰¹ John Ritson (1823-d. unknown), B.A. 1845, M.A. 1850, became a priest.

John Creuzé Hingeston Ogier (1820-d. unknown) was educated at Eton and called to the bar in 1842.

to be taken by the mover and seconder of the amendment after the adjournment of the meeting. Ritson then reminded the president of the rule in the society's *Index of Precedents* stating 'That in all cases, for which no express provision has been made by our Laws, it is expedient that the President should regulate his conduct as nearly as possible by the precedents of the "House of Commons" (CUS minute book vol. 13, 26 February 1844). This precedent was, however, ignored by the president, who 'declined revoking his decision' (CUS minute book vol. 13, 26 February 1844).

It seems that the presidents were allowed to interpret precedents to their own liking. But, as was evident in Craufurd's case, the president's decisions could be reversed if a member was able to gather a majority behind a motion. What is also noteworthy here is the priority given to Union politics over a strict adherence to parliamentary procedure.

At Oxford, appeals against any decision of the president or acting chair of society were discussed in the first private business meeting of the term after the president's or acting chair's resignation (OUS rules 1863, 11). The Oxford Union Society's rules did not specify the manner in which an appeal against the president should be made. Therefore, the rules left ample room for interpretation.

At an extraordinary meeting of the society, which the president had called to discuss private business on 27 April 1839, there was a debate about his decision on an amendment. Tate of University College accused president Moncrieff¹⁰³ of giving Townend of Oriel College permission to speak on an amendment while refusing Kinloch¹⁰⁴ of St. Mary Hall the right to speak to a motion. President Moncrieff declared that he acted according to 'principle', judging that Kinloch had been out of order (OUS minute book vol. V, 27 April 1839). Based on his principle (which was not specified in the records) the president declared the matter settled, although several members wished to speak on a point of order. Then Rawlinson¹⁰⁵ of Trinity College 'advised all members on his side to withdraw opposition on points of order, as they saw we had "a one sided President" (OUS minute book vol. V, 27 April 1839). Rhetorically Rawlinson suggested that any opposition would be useless in the present situation because the president would only accept action that he considered to be consistent with his 'principle'. As president Moncrieff asked Rawlinson for an explanation, Hodson¹⁰⁶ of Merton College moved that the president inflicted a

George Robertson Moncrieff (1817-1897) graduated from Balliol College (B.A. 1838, M.A. 1846) and became rector of Tattenhall, Cheshire, in 1842. He had already once been the president of the society, in 1837.

Alfred Kinloch (1819-d. unknown) became a chaplain.

George Rawlinson (1812-1902), B.A. 1838, was a Fellow of Exeter College in 1840-1846. He also became president of the society in Easter term 1840. Rawlinson was ordained a priest the following year. He was a canon of Canterbury and is remembered as an historian.

John Fowden Hodson (b? 1815-d. unknown) was a son of James Alexander Hodson, a Member of Parliament for Wigan. He changed his name to Hodges after the death of his maternal uncle in 1844.

fine on Rawlinson pursuant to Rule 70.¹⁰⁷ Another suggestion came from Fawcett,¹⁰⁸ of University College, who proposed 'that as in common law, half the penalty should go to the informer' (OUS minute book vol. V, 27 April 1839). The following speaker was Kinloch, who supported Rawlinson in the matter, as he 'objected that it was out of the President's power to fine the Honourable member' (OUS minute book vol. V, 27 April 1839). President Moncreiff replied by requesting that the secretary, Arnold¹⁰⁹ of Magdalen Hall, read the rules on the subject. President Moncreiff, then, acted upon Rule 70:

2. The President shall also interfere, when any words are spoken in the Society, which in his judgment impute dishonourable motives or conduct to, or are otherwise injurious to the personal honour and character of, any Member of the Society; and the speaker so called on by the President, shall be bound immediately to explain. (OUS rules 1839, 28)

The president duly asked for an account from Rawlinson, who replied that 'in stating the President to be "a one sided President," he meant to impute no unfairness to him' (OUS minute book vol. V, 27 April 1839). The president accepted this explanation. However, according to Rule 70, the president could have, if still suspecting insult, questioned the meaning of the words before adjournment of the house:

3. All explanations shall be received without question as to the real meaning and intention of the speaker; but it shall be in the power of the President, (if he deem it necessary,) after such explanation, to direct the speaker to withdraw the expression objected to. No words, however, shall be questioned except at the time they are uttered. (OUS rules 1839, 28)

After the incident the discussion continued on the original motion put by the president and was adjourned according to Rawlinson's proposal.

The incident above included the rhetoric of fairness. It was suggested that Rawlinson viewed the president's decision as unfair, despite his denial. This corresponds to the rhetorical figure of *correctio*, used for retracting an utterance and replacing it with a more suitable expression (*Ad C. Herennium* ... 1954, IV. 26, 36). By describing the president as 'one-sided' Rawlinson was surely aware of being out of order. According to the rules an explanation was given, in which instance Rawlinson denied any 'unfairness' being intended. The president did not demand further explanations which, in fact, enhances the rhetorical effect of the figure of *correctio*: 'This figure makes an impression upon the hearer, for the idea when expressed by an ordinary word seems rather feebly stated, but after the speaker's

Rule LXX. 1. In the meetings of the Society, it shall be the duty of the President to interfere (though not appealed to) whenever there is a breach of order; and it shall be in the power of any Member to call his attention to any conduct which appears to him disorderly, or to request him to fine any Member. (OUS rules 1839, 27)

Ralph Thomas Fawcett (b? 1818-d. unknown) became B.A. in 1840.

Charles Thomas Arnold (1818-1878), B.A. 1840, M.A. 1843, became President of the Union Society in Michaelmas term 1840. A year later he was nominated Assistant-Master of Rugby School.

own amendment it is made more striking by means of the more appropriate expression.' (ibid.) The implicit charge of 'unfairness' is reduced to only a hint by its explicit denial.

Rawlinson's case shows that a president could base his decisions on the simple argument of 'principle' and disregard the rules. The same became evident in another incident at Oxford Union Society. On 3 March 1842 Chase¹¹⁰ of Oriel College appealed¹¹¹ against a decision given by acting chairman in a meeting on 2 December 1841. President Congreve had been absent and his substitute, treasurer Portal, had refused to introduce a topic of debate which Chase had proposed for that occasion. It seems that Congreve had told Portal to refuse the motion beforehand. In the following private business meeting on 9 December 1841, Townend¹¹² of Oriel College asked the president on which rule he based his refusal to receive motions addressed to the society. President Congreve answered that he based his decision on Rule 72, which stated that a president's decisions were not subject to appeal while he was still in office (cf. OUS rules 1839, 29). Tate¹¹³ of University College questioned president Congreve's decision and inquired whether the president was aware of Rule 68: 'If any Member of the Committee shall refuse to transact any business assigned to him, such refusal shall be equivalent to the resignation of his office' (OUS rules 1839, 27). Tate seems to suggest that, by refusing to put Chase's motion, Portal, acting behalf of Congreve, had failed to fulfill his duties as a member of committee and, therefore, should have resigned his office. Congreve denied the applicability of the rule in that situation. Here Tate employed a different rule than the president had used for his defense. Chase inquired into the president's reasons for refusing his motion for a debate on public business. Congreve answered 'that it was placed by the Rules in the discretion of the President' (OUS minute book vol. VI, 9 December 1841). In short, president Congreve argued that the discretionary powers of the president made it legal for him to reject motions of debate.

The following term Portal (see fn. 76, p. 113) was himself elected president, thus presiding as chair on 3 March 1842 over Chase's appeal. Chase argued that Congreve's refusal to put his motion, of which due notice had been given, in a public meeting of the society was 'wholly unjustifiable & unwarranted' according to the rules of the Society: 'And that therfore a vote of censure be passed upon him by the House and that he shall be declared incapable of holding any office in the Society until after the expiration of one year from the time of his office as President' (OUS minute book vol. VI, 3 March 1842). In short, Chase's motion included not just a condemnation of Congreve's refusal, but also a proposal to pass a vote of

Drummond Percy Chase (1820-1902) became President of the Union Society the following term. He was later the Principal of St. Mary Hall, Oxford.

The president of the term in question was Richard Congreve of Wadham College. Congreve (1818-1899) was educated at Rugby School under Thomas Arnold. He became Fellow of Wadham College in 1844 and subsequently a noted positivist philosopher.

¹¹² John Townend (1817-1858), B.A. 1841, M.A. 1847, became a barrister.

Francis Tate (1817-1867) had been matriculated at Balliol College and was a scholar of University College 1838-1844.

censure. He also demanded Congreve's resignation as a member of the standing committee, to which he had been nominated at the end of his presidential term.

Chase's motion created a precedent as no rule to censure a member was mentioned in the existing rules. Neither was there any adopted practice to prevent a former president from applying for a position in a standing committee. Under these circumstances, Chase's motion had the potential to become a precedent that either had to be recognised in the rules of the society or could be used and interpreted as a precedent in other occasions. The motion also undermined the existence of the entire nominated standing committee in the event that the motion should pass. The motion was, therefore, more important and carried wider implications than it might seem at first glance.

The discussion on the motion had not even properly started when Townend was fined for disorderly behaviour, indicating how much the motion stirred passions. After Townend's fine, Chase asked 'leave of the Society to withdraw the latter part of his motion from the words "and he shall be declared" to the end' (OUS minute book vol. VI, 3 March 1842). However, after the alteration proposed, the motion would still have contained the vote of censure. President Portal and Congreve spoke against the suggestion, after which Townend apologised for his conduct. Portal declared that he was satisfied with the explanation provided and moved that the fine should be cancelled. There was a brief discussion on the cancellation of Townend's fine. Parnell¹¹⁴ of St. John's College spoke against the motion, after which the house divided. The votes for the cancellation of the fine won.

The society then resumed debate on Chase's second motion, i.e. that the latter part of his first motion should be withdrawn. The speakers for this motion included two former standing committee members, Plumptre¹¹⁵ of University College and Alban¹¹⁶ of St. John's College. Those speaking against were Blackett¹¹⁷ of Christ Church, a current member of the standing committee, and Cotton¹¹⁸ of Christ Church, the current secretary. The house divided on the second motion, and the majority voted against.

After this defeat, the meeting continued with a discussion of the original motion. But then Chase moved 'for leave to divide his motion with 3 distinct propositions' (OUS minute book vol. VI, 3 March 1842). According to the rules, a member was allowed to alter his own motion by the permission of the majori-

Paul Parnell (1821-1852) was a Fellow of St. John's College and later became a barrister and a crown solicitor in Perth, Western Australia.

Edward Hayes Plumptre (1821-1891) was elected a Fellow of Brasenose College 1844-1848 and took up an academic career in theology.

William John Alban (1821-1862) matriculated at St. John's College in 1839. He became a priest

John Fenwick Burgoyne Blackett (1821-1856) was a son of an MP for Northumberland South. He was educated at Harrow and, before becoming elected a Fellow of Merton College in 1842, matriculated at Christ Church in 1838. He was elected MP for Newcastle-on-Tyne as a Liberal in 1852.

Henry Cotton (1821-1892) became a barrister and was nominated Lord Justice of Appeal in 1877. He was also made a Privy Councillor.

ty of the Society (OUS rules 1839, 11). Plumptre seconded Chase's proposal. Tate as well as Chase himself took part in the discussion. The house finally approved the division of Chase's motion into three separate propositions.

The decision was beneficial for Chase in the sense that it provided him the chance to get at least some part of his motion passed in the divisions of the house. In the event that the whole original motion was opposed by the majority of the house, there would not be a second chance to propose the issue during the term. The house had now given permission to divide the original motion, there was still a chance for Chase's motion to carry, in one form or another. It should also be noted that there is a certain peculiarity in British parliamentary debate practice, which Chase must have known about when dividing his original motion, that once an amendment on the original motion has been proposed, the amendment, once carried, leads to a situation where there may not be a division on the original motion, as the amendment has superseded it. By now Chase had managed to prevent, firstly, a total rejection of his original motion in a division, and, secondly, the risk of someone else proposing an amendment, which could have superseded his own motion.

The debate now continued so that president Portal put the first proposition to the house: 'That the conduct of the late President [Congreve] in refusing on the evening of December 2nd to put to the house a motion of which due notice had been given was wholly unjustifiable and unwarranted by the laws of the Society' (OUS minute book vol. VI, 3 March 1842). After a number of speakers on both sides had spoken (Parnell, Tate, Alban and Plumptre having supported the motion), the house voted against the first proposition. It had been the one that was most likely to survive the vote, as it contained the least controversial part of the original motion. However, the house seems to have been unwilling to oppose the rule that the president possessed the ultimate authority to interpret the rules of the society. A house vote in favour of the first proposition would have been against the existing rules. Also, despite the fact that president's decisions could not be challenged before the end of the term of office, Chase's original appeal could be interpreted as a questioning of the president's decision as a breach of the rules, since it occurred within a week of the incident. In that sense, Chase and his supporters had been out of order by questioning the president in the first place.

The negative result of the division prompted Plumptre to move an adjournment of the debate. He was supported by Cazenove¹²⁰ of Brasenose College. After a discussion, the motion of adjournment was put to the vote and lost. Plumptre's attempt to postpone the debate to another private business meeting being defeated, Chase asked to withdraw his second proposition. The permission to do so was granted, and the president reformulated Chase's final motion:

The rule stood: 'No motion, if rejected, shall be brought forward a second time in the same Term, but the repeal of any motion may be moved in the same Term in which it has been carried' (OUS rules 1839, 11).

John Gibson Cazenove (1821-1896), B.A. 1843, M.A. 1846, became Chancellor of Edinburgh Cathedral.

'The first meeting on Private Business after the expiration of the present Presidents office, Mr. Chase in accordance with Rule LXXII will appeal against a fine inflicted by the President on him December 9th' (OUS minute book vol. VI, 3 March 1842). Townend and Parnell, among others, spoke for Chase's appeal, while Congreve, the former president, was the only speaker against it. The house supported Congreve and voted against the appeal by a majority of one.

This debate shows that the private business meetings, otherwise very plainly recorded in the minute books, may, by a close reading of the proceedings of the Society, reveal how skilfully the members were able to use the established rules and procedures. Even though this particular debate did not have any specific outcome that might have affected the organisation of the society as a whole, it certainly provides us with an understanding of how well the members knew the rules and acted accordingly. In other words, the right to appeal for a president's decision was not just another rule in the rule book, but it was actually used and tested.

In the example above, it was a decision by president Congreve, not treasurer Portal, that was subjected to appeal, even though it had been Portal who had declined to put Chase's debate topic before the house. However, Portal had acted as a substitute for the president and thus had reduced powers. According to the rules, the substitute only had authority as regards the conduct of the meeting.

The vote of censure that Chase had included in his appeal was not codified in the rules. Politically it was a bold move that potentially could have become a precedent. In this case the basis was the accusation that a president's actions had been 'unjustified and unwarranted by the laws'. As discussed above, this kind of rhetoric of illegality as to the decisions of the president had also been practised at Cambridge Union Society. As a result, the presidents of Union Societies could be made to resign their office or their decisions could become reversed.

5.2 Rhetorical strategies in the Union Societies' politics of debate

The Union presidents had vast powers over the management and debate proceedings of the societies. As the standing committees took charge of making initiatives on questions of procedure, they gained greater executive power. They were also responsible for the committee work relating to private business meetings. In some respect, presidents had gained powers like those of a prime minister. The president's authority was now challenged when other members proposed their own interpretations of the rules or tried to prevent the president from resorting to precedents. The increased authority of the president coincided with the beginning of a comprehensive revision of rules in the Union Societies. For example, at Cambridge there were attempts to minimise the use of precedents in 1845 when the old rules and resolutions were declared inapplicable.

Nevertheless, it remained possible to challenge the president's interpretation of rules.

It will be argued here that the politics of debate in the Union Societies took the shape of rule interpretation. The authority to interpret the rules was in both Union Societies vested primarily in the president. But, since the role of the president was not impartial and the rules were open to interpretation, their application in practice was a constant source of the politics of debate in the Union Societies. Due to the 'double capacity' of acting as head of the standing committee and as the main chair of debate, the president had considerable powers. As discussed in Section 2.2, the powers of the Speaker of the House of Commons had also become more explicit with the revision of procedure. The Speaker was used as counsel in the select committees in matters of procedural revision. In the Union Societies the president did not only provide counsel in questions of procedure, but was actively involved in the politics.

At the Oxford Union Society amendments, were subject to the discretionary powers of the president. The president could refuse to put an amendment or a rider¹²¹ to the vote if deeming it irrelevant to the motion (OUS rules 1839, 8). The reasons for such refusal were, therefore, contingent. At Cambridge, president Campbell announced before a debate that a previously elected member of a ballot committee had resigned, and he moved that Thrupp¹²² of Trinity College be appointed instead. The house gave the president its approval through a vote. Afterwards, an appeal signed by 147 members was presented to the society and claimed the election was invalid (CUS minute book vol. 13, 2 March 1847). The claim was based upon Law 56, which read: 'Notice of any motion except motions for adjournment, shall be placed upon the boards on or before the Thursday previous to the meeting at which it is to be discussed' (CUS laws 1846, 7). Members who had signed the requisition argued that, according to the laws of the society, president Campbell should have given advance notice of the motion to elect Thrupp for the ballot committee. They also asked for 'the President to call a meeting, for the purpose of asserting the validity of that Law, and of electing a Member of Committee' (CUS minute book vol. 13, 2 March 1847). The argument was that it was the duty of the president to act according to the laws of the society and, by his actions, to validate them. It was intimated that the president had not acted according to the laws.

Campbell answered with a letter that was placed on the boards of the Society on 12 March:

On March the 2nd before the Debate I informed the Society that the Members of the Ballot Committee were even, and it became requisite, without delay, to obtain a New Member. I therefore requested the permission of the House to add Mr Thrupp of

The difference between an amendment and a rider is that an amendment is a motion which is intended to supersede the original motion, whereas a rider is an addition to any motion, whether an amendment or original motion.

Joseph Francis Thrupp (1827-1867) was educated at Winchester School and was admitted to Trinity College in 1845. He was elected President of the Union Society in 1848. He became a priest.

Trinity College, as the nomination of the Committee rests with the Member who proposes it. The permission thus asked at once was unanimously granted. I had felt that it involved some apparent irregularity (and the necessity itself was not one provided for) and invited any Members to object to it as I should have been disposed to yield to any symptoms of objection. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 12 March 1847)

By resorting to the rhetoric of expediency Campbell argued that there was a need to replace Thrupp without delay. And as he had proposed to appoint the ballot committee, it was his duty to nominate its members. However, such a duty was not mentioned in the laws of the society. Although it might have been an unwritten custom, the laws of the Cambridge Union Society had only three years previously been revised for the purpose of avoiding excessive interpretation. So it seemed unlikely that such broad interpretation was permitted.

The election of Thrupp had been, according to Campbell, a matter of urgency:

Gentlemen, by this means the Ballot Committee was put in a position to perform its duties, which otherwise it could not have been until the next private business meeting: so that no progress could have been made during the whole term. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 12 March 1847)

Campbell then turned to criticise the requisition as being itself a breach of the law: 'Such a requisition ought according to the Laws only be resorted to for the purpose of impugning a decision of the President on some point of order' (CUS minute book vol. 13, 12 March 1847). Campbell was referring to Law 27, which stated: 'If a requisition of One Hundred Members, with their names and colleges subscribed, be presented to the President, it shall be incumbent on him to appoint an early day for a committee to inquire into the propriety of any of his decisions' (CUS laws 1846, 4). The laws of the Union Society did not specify that a requisition was the means to address questions about points of order of the kind Campbell had referred to in his statement. In that sense the requisition was valid.

In the requisition Campbell had been accused of not giving due notice of his intentions to nominate Thrupp. Campbell turned the question around and accused the requisition of being not only against the law, but also a personal attack against himself:

Notwithstanding the pleasure I derive from at its debates, and the honour which in my opinion, such an office confers, engagements with other parties uninteresting to the House, and of a wholly different nature, are such as to prevent me from consenting, if it is avoidable, to become the cause or subject of a personal contention at the Private Business of the Society. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 12 March 1847)

Furthermore, Campbell suggested that 'personal contention' would negatively affect the society as a whole:

As another reason you will forgive me for reminding you that personal debates generally lead to scenes of disorder, which however disapproved by the majority, are more calculated to lower than to raise it (and the latter has been my constant object) the reputation of the Society. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 12 March 1847)

Rhetorically Campbell seems to suggest that the requisition was an attack on his character as well as that of the society as a whole. While engaging in the rhetoric of character, he seeks to persuade those who are concerned of the society's reputation. Campbell then informs the society of his request that Thrupp withdraw from the ballot committee. Campbell himself as well as the president of the previous term, Arthur Garfit,¹²³ also decided to withdraw in order to prevent the increasingly partisan atmosphere:

I have also to announce that Mr Garfit and myself feel ourselves justified in likewise retiring from it, as we now perceive the jealousy and party spirit it excited, and these are evils which we cannot hope to overweigh by any advantages to be derived from it. In this manner it has seemed to myself and the Gentlemen I have consulted that harmony will be restored to the Society, which as things now stand, is unfortunately suspended. (CUS minute book vol. 13, 12 March 1847)

By this political move of denouncing 'party spirit' Campbell both portrays himself as a proponent of 'harmony' and the ones who signed the requisition as those causing disruption. In his rhetoric the requisition had been against the laws and he had only acted in good faith to ensure the prosperity of the society.

On behalf of those who had signed the requisition Dacre¹²⁴ of Trinity College responded to Campbell's letter. His notice was publicly displayed on the boards of the society. He replied that the undersigned had consented to withdraw the demand that there should be a special business meeting arranged to discuss the matter. However, they would still bring forward the 'substance of the Requisition' in the next private business meeting. On 22 March 1847 Dacre, indeed, moved 'That this house considers the proceedings by which, on Tuesday March 2nd Mr Thrupp (Trin. Coll.) was appointed to serve on the Ballot Committee, to have been contrary to Law 56 and subsequently invalid'. The motion was, however, withdrawn, most probably due to lack of support (CUS minute book vol. 13, 22 March 1847).

In the first meeting of Easter term 1847 Dacre returned to the issue. The meeting was not well attended and, therefore, new office holders were not elected. However, Dacre's motion 'That the appointment of any Member to serve on a Committee is always subject to Law 56, as involving a Motion' was carried by the majority of members present. This undoubtedly prompted Campbell to arrange a special private business meeting on 26 April 1847. The secretary, Edward Prest¹²⁵ of St. John's College, proposed

To amend and alter the Law 56 to the following "Notice of any motion, except Motions for adjournment, or for the suspension of any Law, or for leave to withdraw any motion or amendment, shall be placed upon the boards on, or before, the Thurs-

Arthur Garfit (b. unknown-1884) entered Trinity College in 1843. He became a priest.
 Joseph Dacre (b. unknown-1868) was educated at Rugby School and admitted to
 Trinity College in 1843. He was called to the bar in 1854 and subsequently became a magistrate for Cumberland.

Edward Prest (1824-1882) was educated at Uppingham and admitted at St. John's College in 1843. He became a priest.

day previous to the Meeting at which it is to be discussed". (CUS minute book vol. 14, 26 April 1847)

The motion was subsequently carried. It appears likely that Law 56 was revised in order to counter Dacre's motion, which had carried one week before. The intention most probably was to make the law as explicit as possible for the sake of its application and in order to limit the president's interpretive latitude.

Thorough revision and writing down of the rules failed to resolve the issue of interpretation at Oxford, too. For instance, the distinction between public and private business meetings that during Easter term 1856 had been established became a matter of interpretation. The question was important in the sense that the rules regarding the different types of meetings were ambiguous. It was, therefore, possible to use the rules of debate and meeting venue for one's own political purposes if a member was able to persuade others to shift the proceedings to a more advantageous type of meeting.

On 10 November 1856 Wetherell¹²⁶ of Brasenose College moved for an adjournment of debate in a public business meeting because he wanted 'to make a statement in a matter strictly personal to himself' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 10 November 1856). The treasurer, Bennet¹²⁷ of University College, rose on a point of order to ask whether there were precedents in the minute books of similar situations. The president, Oakley¹²⁸ of Brasenose College, did not mention any but answered that a member was permitted to introduce a subject of debate on a motion of adjournment. Adjournments as well as points of order could be moved without notice by any member during public debates. However, the rule already included a limitation that president Oakley did not mention: 'No speaker on any such motion for adjournment shall introduce any matter not bearing solely on the question for adjournment or conduct of the meeting' (OUS rules 1856, 41). In short, the decision to allow Wetherell to speak can be seen as entirely an interpretation on the president's part of the rules related to public business meetings.

Davey¹²⁹ of University College, then, enquired whether the present meeting was to be considered public or private:

For if it were one on Public Business the discussion in hand was injurious to the interests of the Debates of the Society, and, if Private Business, how it could be introduced on a Public Business night? (Davey: OUS minute book vol. VIII, 10 November 1856)

President Oakley decided that a public business night that was interrupted as it was, by the adjournment of Wetherell, became private business. However,

Thomas Frederick Wetherell (1831-1908) became a civil servant and a journalist. He served as a clerk in the War Office in 1856-1878 and, in early 1859, acted as editor of the Weekly Register run by Henry Wilberforce, a fellow Catholic convert.

Edward Kedington Bennet (b? 1834-1890) became a priest and in 1885 rector of Bunwell, Norfolk.

John Oakley (1834-1890) had been the secretary of the revising committee. During his later career he became Dean of Carlisle.

Horace Davey (1833-1907) became a judge and was elected a Liberal MP 1880-1885 and 1888-1892.

treasurer Bennet persisted in arguing that Wetherell's motion of adjournment had been a breach of order. President Oakley insisted that Wetherell continue and explain his reason for moving adjournment. Bennet rose on a point of order again and asked Oakley to consider the standing rule that, on a meeting for public business, no private business was allowed to be introduced (cf. OUS rules 1856, 39-40). Oakley refused and 'ruled that the Honourable Member had not transgressed the Rules of the Society' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 10 November 1856). This incident shows how the president's authority to interpret the rules could be challenged by a member of the standing committee. However, it seems to have been done in vain, as other members of the standing committee could not challenge the president's position as the 'Speaker' of the house.

But in a private business meeting on 2 December, treasurer Bennet proposed a motion:

That in Rule LXIII,¹³⁰ after the words "all other speakers" the following to be added "But no Speaker on any motion for adjournment shall introduce any matter not bearing solely on the question of adjournment". (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 2 December 1856)

It seems that with this motion Bennet was seeking to prevent the president from making multiple interpretations of the same rule. At Oxford, unlike Cambridge, references to past precedents had not been prohibited. If one wanted to challenge the authority of the president, it was best conducted through passing resolutions that would complicate the president's future interpretations.

Bennet's motion in itself indicates that there were differing opinions inside the committee, since the motion was presented by him individually. Members who wished to propose motions of their own were referred to as 'private members' for the first time in the rules of 1856:

LXXIII. Private Members must give notice of all Motions to be discussed at such Meetings at the least Four Days previous to the Meeting; but Motions recommended by the Standing, Library, and Select Committees, provided that they do not affect any Rule or Standing Order, may be discussed without notice, and shall take precedence of all other Private Business. All such Motions shall, however, be announced to the House by the President immediately before the commencement of the Business of the evening. (OUS rules 1856, 44)

The rule implies a distinction between the standing committee and the other members. Generally, Union Society motions recommended by standing committees took precedence over those suggested by individual members and were

^{&#}x27;LXIII. Amendments on such Motions [referring to motions that have been announced beforehand in writing], or Riders to such Motions or Amendments, may be moved without notice in the course of the Debate; and at any time during the Meeting any Member may bring forward a Motion which has reference solely to the Conduct or Adjournment of the then Meeting, and the Mover of such Motion shall have precedence of all other speakers.' (OUS rules 1856, 40-41)

discussed without prior notice.¹³¹ These were all characteristics of cabinet government that had been adopted from the House of Commons.

Wetherell had used the motion of adjournment as an occasion to discuss a matter that had not been announced beforehand. President Oakley had taken the liberty of interpreting the motion of adjournment as an occasion where a public business meeting could be turned into a private one. At that moment the president used his discretionary powers as 'Speaker' to perform a political act: he interpreted the rules for the benefit of a member instead of for the whole house. In contrast, the Speaker of the House of Commons has traditionally been considered as a servant of the House, and the House vests its authority in the Speaker (Laundy 1964, 67). The Speaker has, therefore, powers that he uses on behalf of the House. President Oakley, however, had ignored the multiple points of order that Bennet had raised and decided to interpret the rules for his own purposes. In this manner, he acted politically.

By proposing the addition to the existing rule Bennet's intention was to minimise the potential for any similar incidents that could interrupt debates. Byrth¹³² of Brasenose College, who had opposed Wetherell's motion in the earlier debate, also moved now for an amendment to Bennet's motion: 'But no speaker on any such motion for adjournment shall introduce any matter not bearing solely on the question of adjournment or conduct of the then meeting' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 2 December 1856). The amendment shows Byrth trying to prevent motions of adjournment from being used as occasions for speaking on other subjects than proposed in the original motion. It is noteworthy that similar problems had been addressed in the procedural revisions of the House of Commons since 1848 (see Section 2.2).

After a long discussion for and against Byrth's amendment, the house voted by division on it. President Oakley declared Byrth's amendment defeated by majority of one. However, a claim was made of 'an informality in the taking of the numbers' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 2 December 1856), though the rules of the society had previously recognised some degree of 'informality' in elections since 1843. After the revision work done by the committee, the rule now stood:

¹³² Henry Stewart Byrth (1831-1895), B.A. 1854, M.A. 1856, was ordained a priest.

See also the Cambridge Union Society's rule in Chapter XII. §2.: 'Notices of motions must be given into the Clerk's office before five p.m. on the third day previous to that on which they are to be discussed; except such motions as shall be proposed in the Standing Committee' (CUS laws 1859, 13). The House of Commons had certain weekdays for handling government business. The so-called order days were constituted already in the seventeenth century, but their significance grew over the course of the nineteenth century. From 1806 onwards the House began reserving one to two weekdays for the business of government, which prioritised governmental 'orders of the day'. This custom led to the notion that the government's duty was to 'lead the House' (Redlich 1908a, 70-71). Additionally, some motions were dealt with unannounced if they were unopposed, such as questions of privilege and motions concerning unexpected contingencies (May 1844, 169).

XXXII. In any case of Informality, whether of Division or Election (of Officers or Members), the President shall annul such Division or Election, and shall post a notice, at the furthest within forty-eight hours, to the effect that such Division or Election shall be brought again before the Society at their next Meeting. (OUS rules 1856, 29)

President Oakley, accordingly, decided 'That on account of the informality declared he should act upon Rule XXXII and ensure, by the entry on the minutes the introduction of the subject on the next Public Business night' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 2 December 1856). It seems that the rule relating to informality was intended to prevent the president from making decisions in haste. It provided yet another tool for members to postpone resolutions and to continue debates that otherwise would have been stopped by a president's decision.

The matter was raised again on 8 December when Byrth proposed an amendment very similar to the one he had suggested before:

That the following words be added in Rule 63, after the words "all other speakers,"; "That no speaker, on any such motion for adjournment, shall introduce any matter not bearing solely on the question of adjournment or conduct of the meeting." (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 8 December 1856)

This time the amendment was carried by a clear majority. The rule concerning informality could potentially be used in a similar manner as polls in the Cambridge Union Society. However, no reason for proposing a poll was needed. Polls had been permitted by presidents of the Cambridge Union Society already before October term 1848, when they were inscribed in the laws for the first time: '§7. It shall be competent for any Member to demand a poll on any motion in Private Business; but the President shall have a discretionary power to grant it' (CUS laws 1848 October, 18). Whereas the president could also refuse a poll, it was not possible in the case of suggested 'informality'.

It seems that the Cambridge Union Society was now concentrating on revising the rules with more precision than previously. The practice became more common after the public business meetings of the society started to become better attended. According to the reports of secretaries of October term 1847 and Lent term 1848, the number of speakers at the debates was growing and interest in them had grown (CUS minute book vol. 14). The rules of debate were amended in a manner that enhanced the predictability of the proceedings. For example, in 1849 the society introduced a law according to which any member who wished to speak in opposition to a debate topic could place his name on the boards of the society (CUS minute book vol. 14, 19 November 1849). This change suggested that the order of speaking in debates was decided already before the meetings took place.

Whereas at Oxford, challenging a president's interpretations was primarily done by preventing precedence-setting resolutions, in the Cambridge Union Society the aim was to limit interpretation as to the formulation of the rules. At Cambridge, since the rules were so precise, the way to bend the rules of debate was sought from suspension of a rule. The rule regarding suspension had existed for a long time in the laws of the society. But since 1853 the use of suspension became reserved for standing committee members only (see CUS laws 1853,

14). Its use required the concurrence of three-fourths of the members present. Before these new restrictions took place, the law had been used by both standing committee members (the president included) as well as other members of the society. On 22 February 1850 president Louis¹³³ of Trinity College had called a special private business meeting to discuss issues involving a committee that had been appointed to examine certain matters pertaining to the society. However, one of the members questioned whether members had been duly notified of the meeting:

A question was raised by an honourable Member as to the legality of the meeting; on the ground, first, that the President (or in his place the Treasurer, or Secretary) had no power to call a special meeting without first consulting the society. Secondly, that due notice of the meeting had not been given, and that therefore the meeting was not competent to transact any business. (CUS minute book vol. 15, 22 February 1850)

This unnamed member argued that the president did not have the right to call a special meeting without the consent of the society. The member was politicising the president's right to call special meetings by claiming that such could not be done without first consulting the society on the matter. The president reacted by overruling the first objection. The member then moved suspension of the law that required a three days' notice for any special meeting. It was declined on an argument from other members that the present meeting was not 'competent to entertain the question' (CUS minute book vol. 15, 22 February 1850). President Louis, however, decided that the meeting should vote on the suspension of the law 'in order to legalise its proceedings'. The motion was then put 'That the law requiring three days' notice to be given be suspended' (ibid.). The motion required a majority of three fourths to be passed. The motion of suspension of the law did not get the required majority. President Louis' insistence on allowing the vote in order to legalise the proceedings caused the entire meeting to dissolve. It thus seems that this anonymous member who decided to politicise the calling of the meeting actually won the argument, with the help of procedure. After this incident another law was added:

The President (or his Deputy) shall have the power of calling a Special Meeting of the Society, at any time, on giving three days' notice; or less if necessary; but in the latter case, it shall be submitted to the Meeting before any business is transacted, to decide, whether the emergency justified the omission of the usual notice. (CUS laws 1850, 5)

Although it seems that the members of Cambridge Union Society used means other than preventing precedents when they wanted to challenge a president's decisions, there is at least this one exception. As explained above, at Cambridge the president's decisions could be appealed in the form of a requisition signed by a certain number of members. The requisition could be put at any time during or after a president's term in office. If enough members had signed the req-

Alfred Hyman Louis (1829-d. unknown) was named as the first Jewish president of the society. Louis was called to the bar in 1855 and was one of the editors of the Spectator.

uisition, the president was obliged to call a special meeting where the issue was debated in the form of a Committee of the whole House. This was also the case in February 1873, when the society was given a notice of a special meeting:

In compliance with a requisition signed by 150 members the President appoint a special meeting to be held on Monday February 17th 1873 at 7 P.M. when the House will go into Committee in order to consider the propriety of a decision given by the President on the evening of 26th May 1847. (CUS minute book vol. 20, 13 February 1873)

The requisition concerned a decision made by a former president in a private business meeting held 26 years earlier. It was a very unusual incident, unprecedented in the society's history: the incumbent president was asked to call a special meeting in order to inquire into a decision made by one of his predecessors. The requisition was formulated as follows:

That whereas on Wednesday 26th May 1847 the laws of the society prescribed that any motion to alter an existing law should require the concurrence of three-fourths of those present and that no such motion could be carried save in a house consisting of at least 40 members, and whereas the then President did on that evening declare such a motion carried which was supported by only 28 votes. We the undersigned request the President to appoint a day for a Committee of the Whole House to consider the legality of that decision. (CUS minute book vol. 20, 13 February 1873)

The president in question had been John Llewellyn Davies of Trinity College and the matter in question was related to a division that had taken place after a motion to alter an existing law, which had recently been debated. It was suggested that the manner of passing the alteration of the law was illegal.

The requisition was dealt with in a special meeting on 17 February 1873. First, the president, Frederick W. Maitland¹³⁴ of Trinity College, read the requisition and the names attached to it. Then a chair was appointed, even though in this case the president in office was not the one under examination. This shows how far the rules were adhered to. A committee chair would usually have been someone who was considered to have no attachment to either side of the case. ¹³⁵ In this case, Henry Jackson¹³⁶ of Trinity College, a former president himself, was proposed and accepted as the chair.

On behalf of Childers¹³⁷ of Trinity College, Moulton¹³⁸ of Christ's College opened the debate in question. An amendment was then proposed by Matheson¹³⁹ of Trinity College:

As an example, a chair of the Committee of the whole House was usually a professor or other visitor specifically called to the meeting.

Charles Edward Eardley Childers (1851-1931) was educated at Eton. After matriculating at Trinity College in 1869 he was admitted at the Inner Temple in 1871. He was called to the bar in 1874.

Frederic William Maitland (1850-1906) became a lawyer and England's greatest historian of law. He was elected Downing Professor of the Laws of England in 1888 after having practised as a Reader in English law at Cambridge since 1884.

Henry Jackson (1839-1921) had been a president of the Union in 1864. He was chosen probably due to his seniority and his experience in office. He was a Fellow of Trinity College at the time.

That all after the second "whereas" be omitted, and the following substituted: "for reasons communicated to the Society the President did decide that such a motion having received the support of thee fourths of those voting in a house of more than forty members was carried; and whereas the said decision was sanctioned by a Committee of the whole house, has since remained unquestioned and has been acted upon by the officers of this Society for more than a quarter of a century, this house declines to reverse the decision of the said previous committee of the whole house." (CUS minute book vol. 20, 17 February 1873)

In short, Matheson argued that the decision made by president Davies had become a valid precedent, as it had been approved by a committee of the whole house. He argued that the precedent-setting decision should not be reversed since it had been referred to as a rule for over a quarter of a century and had already been accepted as a resolution of the house.

It was reported in the minute book of the society that the debate on the precedent lasted for three hours and twenty minutes in total, and after 'animated discussion' the house voted against the amendment. The original motion was then also put to a vote and was passed by a clear margin, with 323 votes for and 59 against the motion.

On 4 February 1858 the Oxford Union Society debated on the use of precedents with a reference to the House of Commons. Scott¹⁴⁰ of Brasenose College had made an appeal against an acting president, treasurer Bowen. He insisted that Bowen should have not made the decision 'That it is illegal for a member in moving the adjournment of a Debate to specify the Time to which he wishes such Debate to be adjourned' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 4 February 1858), because the precedent of the House of Commons' practice was that debates were adjourned for six months. Bowen, former president Halcomb¹⁴² and the president in office, Fowle¹⁴³ of Oriel College, all 'contradicted the fact & denied the analogy between the 2 case' (OUS minute book vol. VIII, 4 February 1858). They argued that 'it was not the Debate but the Reading of the Bill that was so adjourned, and the effect was merely to put off the question that session' (ibid.). It seems that, here, the former presidents interpreted the rules of the House of Commons as supporting Bowen against Scott.

- John Fletcher Moulton (1844-1921) was a Fellow of Christ's College at the time. He was also Lecturer in Mathematics and assistant tutor. During his long career, he became not only a barrister and Fellow of the Royal Society, but also a Liberal Party member of Parliament and Judge of the Court of Appeal. He was created a life peer as Lord Moulton of Bank in 1912.
- Donald Matheson (1852-1930) had been educated at Harrow. He also studied in Tübingen and New College of Edinburgh. During his career he entered the Ministry of the Presbyterian Church.
- ¹⁴⁰ George Philip William Scott (1834-1876), B.A. 1857, M.A. 1860, became a priest.
- Charles Synge Christopher Bowen (1835-1894) was elected the President of the Oxford Union Society the following term. He was Fellow of Balliol College in 1858. He pursued a career in law and became a judge.
- ¹⁴² Thomas Robert Halcomb (1833-1880), B.A. 1856, M.A. 1858, was elected Fellow of Lincoln College 1860-1880.
- Thomas Welbank Fowle (1835-1903) entered Oriel College as a scholar in 1854. He was a vicar of St. Luke in London 1868-1875 and rector of Islip, Oxfordshire, from 1881 to 1901.

5.3 Political interpretations of the rules in the Union Societies

In this chapter it has been argued that the Union Societies adopted and adapted to their own purposes some contemporary characteristics of the government of the British Parliament. Although the Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies were in contact with each other (which makes their debate practices comparable), there were differences in their adoptions of parliamentary practices and ways of interpreting the rules. For one example, the rules of the Cambridge Union Society were carefully renamed as 'laws'. The change was deliberate and it was rhetorically used for the purposes of institutionalising the society's organisation.

The private business meetings of the Union Societies analysed in this chapter seem to have included the use of the some of the same rhetorical *topoi* that were present in the public debates. The rhetoric of expediency, for example, not only appeared in connection with the establishment of the laws of the Cambridge Union Society, but also in the Oxford Union Society's discussions about publishing its rules. In private business meetings 'expediency' seems to have been used in the legitimisation of new practices that would ensure the managerial and financial stability and efficiency of the societies.

The revision of the rules together with the growing powers of the presidents was a source of the politics of debate in the Union Societies. The president's role was strengthened with the introduction of standing committees in both Union Societies. The societies vested all the official powers to interpret the rules in their presidents, who functioned as the 'Speakers' of the debates, both in the public and the private business meetings. These presidents tended to have a more political role than the Speakers of the House of Commons. Although the House of Commons Speakers functioned impartially by the midcentury, the presidents of the Union Societies were still politically active. The double capacity in which Union presidents served created political conflicts inside the Union Societies, which were manifested in the private business meetings as competing interpretations of the rules.

In the records of the Union Societies, the challenges to presidents' interpretations were never explicitly mentioned as 'political'. However, a rhetorical reading of the minutes reveals that the political aspects of the debates tended to be based on competing portrayals of the meanings of rules. Decisions of the president were challenged with alternative interpretations of the rules as well as by proposing new rules to limit the president's exercise of discretionary powers. In the Oxford Union Society the tendency was to hinder the president from making decisions that would become precedents. This was meant to ensure that the presidency would not gain more powers that it already had. At Cambridge the validity of the rules and precedents made before 1845 was terminated. In addition, the laws of the Cambridge society tended to be more precise in their formulation in an attempt to minimise the use of precedents by the president.

6 CONCLUSION

In previous studies the political significance of the Union Societies has been overlooked either because their parliamentary connection was considered obvious or because their activities seemed to have little bearing on the furtherance of democratic principles in a political culture. Meisel (2001, 21) has argued that the Union Societies, since they could not fully reproduce the House of Commons' procedure, cannot be considered in parliamentary terms. Although he acknowledges the parliamentary characteristics of the societies, he seems to suggest that the only reason why we cannot consider the Union Societies as parliamentary bodies is the fact that they did not legislate. In his view the Union Societies were mere debating societies without any other 'real effect' to national political culture (ibid. 26).

Instead of concentrating on the effects of the Union Societies it has been my intention to place them in the parliamentary culture of debating of their time, which I consider to be their primary context of political activity. While Meisel underlined that parliamentary politics differs from the politics of the Union Societies, rather than treating this as an indication of deficiency on the part of the societies, I have suggested that we should consider the Union Societies as independent political arenas with parliamentary characteristics. I have argued that the Union Societies adopted parliamentary procedure as the framework of their own political activity, which, ultimately, constitutes them as parliamentary bodies. In the beginning of this study I described parliamentary business as consisting of a series of motions. This description underscores the fact that parliamentary debates would not be possible without motions. They are the fundamental units of political activity in a parliamentary body. My thesis is based on the idea that we should follow, firstly, how the motions are formulated, and secondly, how they are debated, in order to understand the political activity that is guided by parliamentary procedure. The primary aim of this study was to find out the extent to which parliamentary procedure defined the political activity of the nineteenth-century Union Societies. To this end, I chose to examine the politics of the Union Societies from two distinct angles: the politics of agenda and the politics of debate. Both are based in the idea that motions should be regarded as the fundamental building blocks of parliamentary political activity. The agenda aspect refers to the formulation of motions, the debate aspect to the conduct of the business that is based on the forms and motions.

The formulation of motions was treated in Chapter 4 and the Union Society public business meetings were used as primary sources. The analysis concentrated on four rhetorical *topoi* used in the motions: 'vote of confidence', 'character', 'principle' and 'expediency'. These were treated as interrelated rhetorical categories that constituted the politics of agenda. Based on the analysis I argued that the formulations of motions in the Union Societies were connected with the national politics as well as the political thought of the time. Even though some of the Union Society motions could not have been presented in the House of Commons (e.g. 'That the French Revolution of 1789 was justifiable, and has conferred the greatest benefits on mankind'), the political nature of the Union Societies was made clear through the rhetorical reading of the *topoi*. It was shown that the formulations of the motions indicated political conflicts on a variety of issues. The topics of the public debates were becoming bolder in their connection with daily politics. They show that the Union Societies were starting to debate with the intention of making public statements.

In Chapter 5 the focus of the analysis was on the proceedings used in the Union Societies' private business meetings. It was argued that the politics of debate, as seen in the conduct of the meetings, was based on a revision and interpretation of the rules that were part of the parliamentary politics of the time. Once the Union Societies started to revise their own rules, the role of the president grew in significance and the politics of debate took a form whereby it employed procedure as a rhetorical resource. Most of the interpretations of the rules were used to challenge the president's authority and decisions. The rhetorical reading revealed that the rules were interpreted for political purposes, even by the president. Presidents of the Union Societies, therefore, were not expected to be as impartial as was becoming the practice with the Speaker of the House of Commons. What this suggests is that while members of the Union Societies decided to adopt some of the rules and practices of the House of Commons, they did not imitate them to the letter. This seems to have been a deliberate choice.

At first glance, the politics related to the agenda-setting of the public debates appeared to be separate from the politics of debate of the private business meetings. This is because the two were kept separate by the Societies themselves. However, with a rhetorical reading of the proceedings, one can see that both had common deliberative characteristics. Members tended to make use of the same rhetorical *topoi* of the public business meetings while arguing for their own interpretations of the rules in the private meetings. For instance, the *topos* of vote of confidence was also used in challenges to the president's authority in the private meetings. In the debate on Chase's motion (see ch. 5, p. 127-130), an appeal against a former president was proposed by Chase through using a vote of censure. Chase interpreted the rules in a manner benefitting

himself while rhetorically portraying them as justifying the vote of censure for the common welfare of the society. However, it seems that he was unable to persuade the audience to support his appeal.

In the private business meetings the rhetorical strategies tended to revolve around interpretation of procedure. Interpretations were proposed that challenged those of the president. In the Oxford Union Society, interpretations of precedents were commonplace, whereas at Cambridge it was more the practice to prevent interpretation of the rules. Cambridge's means of doing this was to make the rules as explicit as possible. In the case of President Campbell (see ch. 5, p. 131-133), for instance, a law limiting the election of committee members was added due to the politics the question had raised.

The interpretation of rules is the basis of the politics of debate in the Union Societies. In light of British parliamentary politics, this comes as no surprise, as it is the procedure that underlies its legitimacy. The suggestion in parliamentary procedure manuals, most clearly in those of May, is that interpretation of the rules of debate was the cause of the procedural revision in the House of Commons as well.

I began this study with a discussion of the House of Commons' revision of procedure that took place after the 1832 parliamentary reform. Traditionally, Parliament's role in British political culture has been very substantial. In terms of the parliamentary culture of debate, the critical point arose in the eighteenth century when Westminster faced demands for the publishing of its proceedings. In considering the extent to which the Union Societies adopted parliamentary aspects, we should not only take into account how Parliament modified its traditions and customs in order to accommodate to the demands for publicity and reform, but also how the Union Societies situated themselves in the context of the parliamentary culture of debate. Such thinking motivates the elaboration in Chapter 3 of the British parliamentary culture of debate, which I consider to be the framework of the political activities of the Union Societies.

As keen observers of the parliamentary affairs of their time, the members of the Union Societies were informed about political developments in the House of Commons. They made explicit references to the House of Commons' procedure in their private business meetings. The adoption of parliamentary procedure was conducive to the quick learning how business was conducted in the House of Commons. It directed their attention to the rules and how they could be interpreted. This knowledge led to a greater awareness of how the rules could be used as a political tool in the Union Society, or indeed, in any deliberative body.

In parliamentary bodies such as the nineteenth-century Union Societies the members are all aware of the possibilities inherent in having the shared rules. The rules of debate are part of the politics because, though they apply to everyone equally, the process whereby they are amended, revised and adjusted for practical purposes is often marked by divisiveness. What makes the debates analysed here so valuable for further political studies is that they show the significance of understanding procedure. By studying the process of revising

the rules, one gets a sense of what kind of political purposes they were originally meant for. In addition, by recognising the significance of procedure and the uses to which it has been put in the past, scholars as well as parliamentarians may become better aware of its potential political uses.

But the Union Societies did not remain the only 'training grounds' for parliamentarians, as a number of parliamentary debating societies appeared in the 1880s. The political parties also became more organised. By the end of the Second World War the parliamentary political culture of debating, which had been so specific to nineteenth-century British politics, was challenged by new political ideas. Whether the Union Societies had to reinvent themselves once the voting rights were further extended and the universities became more open for students of different backgrounds are matters for another study. Based on the findings of this study, I would say that the politics of the nineteenth-century Union Societies shows that, in parliamentary democracies, procedure has not received the attention it deserves. It is still a fundamental part of democratic politics, even though it was not designed for that purpose.

What I have tried to achieve here is to enhance awareness of the significance of procedure, not only as a tool for parliamentary politics, but in a wider sense. In the field of parliamentary research, an emphasis on procedure would raise political conflicts to the foreground. Procedure highlights political activity, because without it, there would be little legitimacy to parliamentary decisions. But, however perfect a set of rules may be, they do not themselves guarantee the anticipated results. At the end of the day, whether we want to call it parliamentary or democratic politics, politics of a state or politics of a debating society, it is politics nonetheless. Parliamentary procedure does not eliminate the contingency of political activity. Furthermore, although it is obvious that the forms of proceeding of the nineteenth-century Union Societies do not exist anywhere else, this does not alter the fact that it is precisely because of the forms they (as well as the Westminster Parliament) employed that the politics of our present-day parliamentary democracies are considered legitimate.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Tutkimuksessa tarkastellaan 1800-luvun Cambridgen ja Oxfordin Unionidebattiyhdistysten yhteyksiä Britannian parlamentaariseen debattikulttuuriin, joka muodostui vuoden 1832 reformin jälkeisenä aikana. Tavoitteena on myös asettaa kyseiset yhdistykset laajempaan brittiläiseen debattiyhdistysten traditioon. Vaikka Unionit on nähty 1800-luvun loppupuolelta lähtien osana parlamentaarista politiikkaa, niiden varsinaisia debattikäytäntöjä ei ole tähän mennessä tutkittu. Tämän tutkimuksen lähtökohtana olikin tarkastella niitä siitä näkökulmasta, kuinka ja miten pitkälle parlamentaarisia menettelytapoja hyödynnettiin yhdistyksissä.

Tutkimuksessa korostetaan parlamentin ja debattiyhdistysten välisten keskinäisten yhteyksien muodostumista. Parlamentaarisen debattimuodon leviäminen mahdollistui 1700-luvun jälkipuoliskolta lähtien, jolloin brittiparlamentin alahuoneessa käydyt puheenvuorot tulivat vähitellen julkisiksi. Unioneja tarkastellaan itsenäisinä parlamentaarisen politiikan tiloina, joissa parlamenttiviitteitä ja terminologiaa hyödynnettiin omiin poliittisiin tarkoituksiin.

Parlamenttipuheen poliittinen merkitys muuttui 1830-luvulta lähtien. Aiemmin tärkeimmät linjapuheet oli jätetty harvoille ja valituille parlamentaarikoille. Heidän puheensa nähtiin vielä 1800-luvun alkupuoliskolla osoituksena brittiläisen puhetaidon kulta-ajasta. Tällainen ajattelutapa oli yleistä kirjallisuudessa, jossa keskityttiin parlamentaarikoiden puheiden arviointiin erillään niiden poliittisesta asiayhteydestä. Vuoden 1832 reformin jälkeisenä aikana parlamenttidebattien poliittisuus alkoi olla jo ilmeistä. Kun alahuoneen perustuslaillinen merkitys vahvistui, myös puheen rooli kasvoi. Debatteihin osallistumisesta tulikin tärkeä osa parlamentaarista edustusta. Tämä vaikutti myös siihen, että parlamentaarisiin menettelytapoihin kohdistui muutospaineita. Vuodesta 1837 lähtien parlamentti perusti lukuisia erikoisvaliokuntia ('select committees') selvittämään menettelyjen tehostamismahdollisuuksia. Menettelytavoista muodostui ensin poliittinen väline ala- ja ylähuoneen perustuslaillisissa kamppailuissa, mutta ne eivät johtaneet suuriin muutoksiin.

Verrattaessa Unionien debattikäytäntöjä niiden alkuvuosina ja myöhemmissä vaiheissa voidaan päätellä, miten brittiparlamentin alahuoneen merkityksen kasvu vaikutti poliittiseen kulttuuriin konkreettisin tavoin. Yhdistykset perustettiin Ranskan vastaisten sotien jälkeen, jolloin debattiyhdistysten maine oli Britanniassa huono. Monien yhdistysten epäiltiin olevan vallankumouksellisen toiminnan väyliä. Vasta ensimmäisen parlamenttireformin toteuduttua vuonna 1832 yhdistystoiminta vähitellen vapautui epäilyistä. Cambridgen ja Oxfordin Unionidebattiyhdistyksissä tämä näkyi muun muassa siinä, miten debattien aiheet alkoivat olla entistä näkyvämmin poliittisia. Kun aiemmin yliopistot olivat puuttuneet yhdistysten aihevalintoihin, Unionit saivat nyt vapaasti päättää tapaamistensa sisällöstä. Unionit omaksuivat myös piirteitä hallituspolitiikasta sekä menettelytapojen uudistamisesta, joista oli samanaikaisesti muodostunut tunnusomaisia Britannian alahuoneelle. Debattiyhdistysten poliittinen toiminta alettiin 1800-luvun lopulla nähdä yhteydessä parlamenttiin.

Väitettiin, että merkittävä osa parlamentin jäsenistä oli Unionien entisiä jäseniä 1890-luvulle tultaessa. Näihin aikoihin Iso-Britanniassa oli myös toiminnassa niin kutsuttuja parlamentaarisia debattiyhdistyksiä. Näitä yhdistyksiä oli noin sata ja niiden tuhannet jäsenet osallistuivat tapaamisiin, joissa jäljiteltiin alahuoneen toimintaa tarkasti sen menettelytapoineen, rituaaleineen ja puoluepoliittisine jakoineen. Jäsenistöön kuului parlamentaarikoiden ja paikallishallinnon edustajien lisäksi rivikansalaisia. Toiminnan tavoitteena ei ollut ainoastaan imitoida alahuoneen poliittisia valtasuhteita, vaan taata tasa-arvoiset mahdollisuudet ymmärtää ja oppia parlamentaarista menettelyä.

Unionit olivat parlamentaaristen menettelytapojen edelläkävijöitä, sillä parlamentin alahuoneen korostunut merkitys näkyi sen omissa menettelytavoissa jo vuosisadan puolivälissä. Erityisenä piirteenä näyttäytyy se, miten niissä alettiin omaksua puolesta ja vastaan puhuminen esitysten pohjalta. Tutkimuksen analyysin lähtökohtana onkin ollut itävaltalaisen juristin Josef Redlichin (1869-1936) ajatus siitä, että Westminsterin kaltaisen parlamentaarisen instituution päätavoitteena ei ole tehdä lakeja, vaan debatoida esitysten pohjalta tiettyjen sääntöjen mukaisesti. Käsityksessä korostuu se, että myös debattiyhdistykset voidaan nähdä parlamentaarisina instituutioina, jos ne täyttävät edellä mainitut tavoitteet.

Analysoin Unionidebattiyhdistysten poliitista toimintaa kahdesta näkökulmasta: esityslistan politiikan ja debatoinnin politiikan kautta. Esityslistan politiikan kohdalla tutkin, miten esityksiä laadittiin ja miten ne muotoiltiin. Debatoinnin politiikassa kiinnitin huomiota erityisesti siihen, miten sääntöjä käytettiin politiikan välineenä. Retorisen luentatavan avulla löysin yhdistysten pöytäkirjamerkinnöistä toistuvia retorisia ilmaisuja. Esityslistan politiikan analysoinnin yhteydessä tyypittelin ne neljään eri kategoriaan: 'vote of confidence' (luottamuslauseäänestys), 'principle' (periaate), 'character' (maine, olemus) ja 'expediency' (tarkoituksenmukaisuus). Kyseiset retoriset kategoriat eivät aina sulkeneet toisiaan pois, vaan ne saattoivat esiintyä jopa samassa esitysformulaatiossa. Niitä saattoi myös lukea debatoinnin politiikassa, jossa keskeisenä piirteenä oli sääntöjen muuttaminen ja yhdistysten puheenjohtajan päätösten kyseenalaistaminen.

Unionien politiikassa keskeisessä roolissa olevat yhdistysten puheenjohtajat toimivat kahdessa ominaisuudessa, sekä yhdistysten hallitusten puheenjohtajina että debattien puhemiehinä. Kun 1850-luvulle tultaessa alahuoneen puhemiehen asema oli muodostunut ehdottoman puolueettomaksi, Unioneissa puhemiehet olivat henkilöitä, joilla oli varsin poliittinen rooli. Tämä ero värittikin Unionien politiikkaa ja teki siitä niille ominaista. Voidaankin sanoa, että parlamentaarisen kulttuurin leviäminen debatointikäytäntöjen kautta ei määrittänyt itse politiikkaa, vaan Unionien poliittinen toiminta oli itsenäistä ja luovaa suhteessa Iso-Britannian parlamenttiin.

REFERENCES

Cambridge Union Society:

- Cambridge Union Society 1866. *The Cambridge Union Society: Inaugural Proceedings*. Edited by G. C. Whiteley. Cambridge.
- CUS laws [1824-1870]. Laws of the Union Society. Cambridge: Cambridge Union Society.
- CUS minute book [1823-1874]. *Minute Book* [vols. 1-14]. Cambridge: Cambridge Union Society.

Oxford Union Society:

- OUS minute book [1831-1869]. *Minute book* [vols. I-X]. Oxford: Oxford Union Society.
- OUS rules [1837-1867]. Rules and regulations. Oxford: Oxford Union Society.
- Oxford Union Society 1874. A Verbatim Report of the Speeches at the Banquet in the Corn Exchange, Oxford, on Occasion of the Fiftieth Anniversary of the Oxford Union Society, October 22nd, 1873. To which is prefixed A Sketch of the History of the Society. Oxford: Shrimptons.
- *Transactions of the Oxford Union Debating Society:* 1823-1825. Copy of the original text. Oxford: Oxforshire Records Office.

British parliament:

- Hansard 1857. Rules, Orders, and Forms of Proceeding of the House of Commons, relating to Public Business. Printed by Henry Hansard, printer to the House of Commons.
- House of Commons 1795. *Journals of the House of Commons,* 16 November 1795, vol. 43, 160-193.
- House of Commons 1834. *Reports of the Debates*. HC Debate, 22 May 1834, vol. 23, cc1228-1248.
- House of Commons 21 March 1866. [Bill 15.] Second Reading. HC Debate, 21 March 1866, vol. 182, cc659-715.
- House of Commons 27 April 1866. *Representation of the People Bill. Second Reading. Adjourned Debate. Eight Night.* HC Debate, 27 April 1866, vol. 183, cc6-156.
- House of Lords 1817. *Journals of the House of Lords*, 18 February 1817, 38-43.
- House of Lords 5 June 1837. *Business of Parliament*. HL Debate, 5 June 1837, vol. 38, cc1169-1189.
- House of Lords 15 July 1837. *Public and private business of the House*. HL Debate, 15 July 1837, vol. 38, cc1913-1914.
- House of Lords 14 April 1848. *Business of Parliament*. HL Debate, 14 April 1848, vol. 98, cc329-340.
- House of Lords 15 May 1848. Parliamentary Proceedings Adjournment Bill. HL Debate, 15 May 1848, vol. 98, cc981-987.
- House of Lords 2 June 1848. Parliamentary Proceedings Adjournment Bill. HL Debate, 2 June 1848, vol. 99, cc246-249.

- Report from the Select Committee 1837. Report from the Select Committee on the Public and Private Business of the House. The House of Commons, ordered to be printed 13 July 1837.
- Report from the Select Committee 1848. Report from the Select Committee on Public Business; together with the Minutes of Evidence, and Appendix. The House of Commons, ordered to be printed 14 August 1848.
- Report from the Select Committee 1854. Report from the Select Committee on the Business of the House; together with the Proceedings of the Committee and Minutes of Evidence. The House of Commons, ordered to be printed 3 May 1854.
- Report from the Select Committee 1861. Report from the Select Committee on the Business of the House; together with the Proceedings of the Committee, Minutes of Evidence, and Appendix. The House of Commons, ordered to be printed 19 April 1861.
- Report from the Select Committee 1871. Report from the Select Committee on Business of the House; together with the Proceedings of the Committee, Minutes of Evidence, and Appendix. The House of Commons, ordered to be printed 28 March 1871.

Online databases and resources:

ACAD: A Cambridge Alumni Database, University of Cambridge: http://venn.lib.cam.ac.uk/Documents/acad/enter.html

Alumni Oxonienses: The Members of the University of Oxford, 1715-1886; their parentage, birthplace and year of birth, with a record of their degrees. Being the Matriculation Register of the University, alphabetically arranged, revised and annotated by Joseph Foster. Later series, 4 vols. Oxford: Parker, 1887-1888. http://openlibrary.org/books/OL23271850M/Alumni_oxonienses

Hansard's parliamentary debates: http://hansard.millbanksystems.com/ The History of Parliament project: http://www.historyofparliamentonline.org/ House of Commons Parliamentary Papers (1688-) database:

http://parlipapers.chadwyck.co.uk/home.do

Online sources (all checked 26.7.2012):

Ad C. Herennium de ratione dicendi (Rhetorica ad Herennium). http://openlibrary.org/books/OL23267781M/Ad_C._Herennium_de_ratione_dicendi_%28Rhetorica_ad_Herennium%29

Aristotle. *On Sophistical Refutations*. Written 350 B.C.E. Translated by W. A. Pickard-Cambridge. http://classics.mit.edu/Aristotle/sophist_refut.html

Bagehot, Walter 1872. Physics and Politics. In *The Works and Life of Walter Bagehot*, vol. 8, London 1915.

http://oll.libertyfund.org/?option=com_staticxt&staticfile=show.php%3Ftitle=2166&chapter=200866&layout=html&Itemid=27

Bentham, Jeremy 1843 (1791). Essay on Political Tactics, or Inquiries Concerning the Discipline and Mode of Proceeding Proper to Be Oberserved in Political Assemblies: principally applied to the practice of the British parliament, and to the constitution and situation of the nation. In *The*

- Works of Jeremy Bentham, vol. 2, edited by John Bowring. London. http://oll.libertyfund.org/?option=com_staticxt&staticfile=show.php%3Ftitle=1921&chapter=113915&layout=html&Itemid=27
- Blair, Hugh 1812 (1783). *Lectures on Rhetoric and Belles Lettres*. In two volumes. Vol. II, Brooklyn, 5th American edition.
 - http://books.google.fi/books?id=IskFAAAAYAAJ&pg=PR1&lpg=PR1&dq=hugh+blair%27s+lectures+on+belles+lettres+and+rhetoric+in+two+volumes+5th+american+edition&source=bl&ots=oGnBdSsRW3&sig=MPrLwQyACxF0KE8JjoVjE9Y-
 - $01M\&hl=en\&sa=X\&ei=_98PULSEIoyL4gTSwIHICg\&ved=0CFQQ6AEwA\\w#v=onepage\&q=hugh%20blair%27s%20lectures%20on%20belles%20lettres%20and%20rhetoric%20in%20two%20volumes%205th%20american%20edition\&f=false$
- Browne, Thomas 1808. The British Cicero, or a Selection of the Most Admired Speeches in the English Language Arranged under Three Distinct Heads of Popular, Parliamentary, and Judicial Oratory with historical illustration to which is prefixed an introduction to the study and practice of eloquence. In three volumes, Vol. I. London.
 - http://archive.org/details/britishcicerowi00browgoog
- Bulwer-Lytton, Edward [Lord Lytton] 1883. *The Life, Letters, and Literary Remains of Edward Bulwer, Lord Lytton, by his Son, with Portraits and Illustrations,* Vol. 1. London. http://archive.org/details/lifelettersandl00lyttgoog
- De Mille, James 1882 (1878). *Elements of Rhetoric*. New York: Harpers. http://archive.org/details/elementsrhetori00millgoog
- Francis, G. H. 1847. *Orators of the Age: Comprising Portraits, Critical, Biographical, and Descriptive*. New York: Harpers.
 - http://openlibrary.org/books/OL6933502M/Orators_of_the_age
- Hatsell, John 1818 (1781). *Precedents of proceedings in the House of Commons; under separate titles, with observations*. In four volumes, vol. II: Relating to members, speaker, etc. London, 4th edition.
 - http://openlibrary.org/books/OL7017147M/Precedents_of_proceedings_in_the_House_of_Commons
- Hawthorne, Julian 1900 (1899). *Orations of British Orators, including Biographical and Critical Sketches* with a special introduction by Julian Hawthorne. Vol. I. New York: The Colonial Press, 2nd edition.
 - http://openlibrary.org/books/OL23402882M/Orations_of_British_orators_including_biographical_and_critical_sketches
- Hazlitt, William 1810. The Eloquence of the British Senate; being a selection of the best speeches of the most distinguished English, Irish, and Scotch parliamentary speakers, from the beginning of the reign of Charles I. to the present time. With notes, biographical, critical, and explanatory, in two volumes. Vol. II. New York
 - http://www.archive.org/stream/eloquencebritis01unkngoog#page/n5/mode/2up

- Horner, Leonard 1843. *Memoirs and Correspondence of Francis Horner, M.P.* In two volumes, Vol. I. London.
 - http://archive.org/details/memoirsandcorre05horngoog
- Hume, David 1983 (1778). *The History of England from the Invasion of Julius Caesar to the Revolution in 1688.* Foreword by William B. Todd, 6 vols. Vol. 6, Indianapolis: Liberty Fund.
 - http://oll.libertyfund.org/index.php?option=com_staticxt&staticfile=show.php%3Ftitle=793&Itemid=99999999
- Lampson, Godfrey Locker 1918. *Oratory British and Irish: The Great Age (From the Accession of George the Third to the Reform Bill 1832)*, London. http://archive.org/details/oratorybritishir00lock
- Macaulay, Thomas B. 1859. William Pitt (January 1859). In *The Miscellaneous writings and speeches of Lord Macaulay*, vol. 3, London, 1889. http://www.gutenberg.org/dirs/2/1/6/2169/2169.txt
- Macknight, Thomas 1858. *History of the Life and Times of Edmund Burke*, Vol. 1, London. http://archive.org/details/historylifeandt01mackgoog
- Martin, Ged 2000. *The Cambridge Union and Ireland, 1815-1914*. Edinburgh: Ann Barry.
 - http://www.gedmartin.net/index.php?Itemid=11&id=146&option=com_content&task=view
- May, Thomas Erskine 1844. A Treatise upon the Law, Privileges, Proceedings and Usage of Parliament. London.
 - http://openlibrary.org/books/OL23427007M/A_Treatise_Upon_the_Law_Privileges_Proceedings_and_Usage_of_Parliament
- May, Thomas Erskine 1851. *A practical treatise on the law, privileges, proceedings and usage of Parliament*, 2nd edition. London: Butterworths.
 - http://openlibrary.org/books/OL7017153M/A_practical_treatise_on_the law_privileges_proceedings_and_usage_of_Parliament.
- May, Thomas Erskine 1882 (1861). *Constitutional History of England since the Accession of George the Third, 1760-1860, Vol. 2, 7th* edition. London. http://archive.org/details/constitutionalhi02maytuoft
- Reid, Wemyss [Sir] 1899. *The Life of William Ewart Gladstone*. London: Cassell. http://openlibrary.org/books/OL7137445M/The_life_of_William_Ewart _Gladstone
- The Speculative Society of Edinburgh 1905. *The History of the Speculative Society,* 1764-1904. Edinburgh.
 - http://archive.org/details/historyofspecula00specuoft
- Timbs, John 1899 (1872). *Clubs and club life in London, with anecdotes of its famous coffee houses, hostelries, and taverns, from the seventeenth century to the present time.* A new edition with forty-one illustrations. London: Chatto & Windus. http://archive.org/details/cu31924028067076
- Wordsworth, Charles 1891. *Annals of my early life, 1806-1846*; with occasional compositions in Latin and English verse. London: Longmans. http://openlibrary.org/books/OL7085937M/Annals_of_my_early_life_1 806-1846

Other primary sources:

- Cooke, John 1898. A Famous Students' Club (1747). Blackwood's Edinburgh Magazine 163 (988), 273-284.
- Curzon, George Nathaniel [Earl of Kedleston] 1913. *Modern Parliamentary Eloquence*. The Rede Lecture delivered before the University of Cambridge November 6, 1913. London: Macmillan.
- Durham University Debating Society minute book [1835-1839]. Durham.
- Durham University Journal 1912. 5 June 1912, 200-207.
- Gladstone, William Ewart [Bartholomew Bouverie, now of Eton College] 1827. On Eloquence. *The Eton Miscellany* VIII, 107-115.
- Grey, Henry George [Earl] 1864 (1858). Parliamentary Government Considered with Reference to Reform. London.
- Hamilton, William Gerard 1927 (1808). *Parliamentary Logic*. With an Introduction and Notes by Courtney S. Kenny. Cambridge: Heffers.
- Harris-Burland, J. B. 1894. The Oxford and Cambridge Union Societies, I. Oxford. *Strand Magazine* 7, 502-507.
- Hudson, Derek 1939. *A poet in Parliament: the life of Winthrop Mackworth Praed,* 1802-1839. London: J. Murray.
- Jerrold, Blanchard 1883. On the Manufacture of Public Opinion. *The Nineteenth Century* 13, 1080-1092.
- Macaulay, Thomas B. 1913. Essay on William Pitt [Jan 1834]. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Mill, John Stuart 1955 (1873). *Autobiography*, with an appendix of hitherto unpublished speeches and a preface by Harold J. Laski. London: Oxford University Press.
- Park, J. J. 1832. *The Dogmas of the Constitution*. Four lectures, being the first, tenth, eleventh, & thirteenth of a course on the theory & practice of the constitution, delivered at King's College, London, in the commencement term of that institution. London.
- Skipper, J. F. 1878. A Short History of the Cambridge University Union. Cambridge: Wallis.
- Temple, Norman J. & Dunn, Edward P. 1948. British Debating is Parliamentary. *The Quarterly Journal of Speech* 34 (1), 50-53.
- The Times 1873. The Oxford Union. Thursday, October 23, 1.
- The Times 1882. Conference of Parliamentary Debating Societies. Thursday, 27 April, 4.
- Willett, Charles 1880. Rules and Orders for the Government of Parliamentary Debating Societies, with list of requisite books, &c., connected therewith. Liverpool.

Secondary literature:

- Anderson, Olive 1967. The Political Uses of History in Mid Nineteenth-Century England. *Past & Present* 36 (1), 87-105.
- Andrén, Nils 1947. *Den klassiska parlamentarismens genombrott i England*. Uppsala: Almqvist & Wiksells.

- Andrew, Donna T. 1996. Popular Culture and Public Debate: London 1780. *The Historical Journal* 39 (2), 405-423.
- Bagehot, Walter 2001 (1867). *The English Constitution* (Cambridge texts in the history of political thought). Edited by Paul Smith. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, second edition.
- Ball, Terence 1989. Party. In Terence Ball, James Farr & Russell L. Hanson (eds.) *Political Innovation and Conceptual Change*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 155-176.
- Beales, Derek 2005. Edmund Burke and the Monasteries of France. *The Historical Journal* 48 (2), 415-436.
- Bevis, Matthew 2010 (2007). *The Art of Eloquence: Byron, Dickens, Tennyson, Joyce*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Black, Jeremy 2008 (2001). *Eighteenth-Century Britain*, 1688-1783. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Blauvelt, Mary Taylor 1902. *The development of cabinet government in England*. New York: Macmillan.
- Briggs, Asa 1984 (1959). The Age of Improvement, 1783-1867. London: Longman.
- Brown, Everett S. 1955. J. H. Barrow and the Mirror of Parliament. *Parliamentary Affairs* IX, 311-323.
- Campion, Gilbert [Lord] 1958 (1929). An Introduction to the Procedure of the House of Commons. London: Macmillan.
- Clark, Peter 2000. British Clubs and Societies 1580-1800: The Origins of an Associational World. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Clarke, M. L. 1945. *Greek Studies in England, 1700-1830.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Clarke, M. L. 1959. *Classical Education in Britain, 1500-1900*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Collini, Stefan 1985. The Idea of 'Character' in Victorian Political Thought. *Transactions of the Royal Historical Society* 35, 29-50.
- Collini, Stefan, Winch, Donald & Burrow, John 1987 (1983). *That noble science of politics: A study in nineteenth-century intellectual history*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cradock, Percy 1953. *Recollections of the Cambridge Union, 1815-1939*. Cambridge: Bowes & Bowes.
- Craig, Robert 1913. A history of oratory in Parliament, 1213-1913. London.
- Eulau, Heinz H. F. 1942. Early Theories of Parliamentarism. *The Canadian Journal of Economics and Political Science* 8 (1), 33-55.
- Fawcett, Trevor 1980. 18th-Century Debating Societies. *Journal for Eighteenth-Century Studies* 3 (3), 216-229.
- Finlayson, Alan 2004. Political science, political ideas and rhetoric. *Economy and Society* 33 (4), 528-549.
- Fletcher, Walter Morley 1935. *The University Pitt Club, 1835-1935*. Completed by Charles Montague Fletcher. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Flynn, Jeffrey 2004. Communicative power in Habermas's theory of democracy. *European Journal of Political Theory* 3 (4), 433-454.

- Foord, Archibald S. 1947. The Waning of 'The Influence of the Crown'. *The English Historical Review* 62 (245), 484-507.
- Foord, Archibald S. 1964. *His Majesty's Opposition, 1714-1830.* Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Fraser, Peter 1960. The Growth of Ministerial Control in the Nineteenth-Century House of Commons. *The English Historical Review* 75 (296), 444-463.
- Graham, Fiona 2005. *Playing at Politics: An ethnography of the Oxford Union*. Edinburgh: Dunedin Academic Press.
- Grainger, J. H. 1969. *Character and Style in English Politics*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Gribble, Francis 1924. Review of Herbert A. Morrah, The Oxford Union, 1823-1923. *Edinburgh Review* 239 (487), 41-50.
- Gronbeck, Bruce 1982. Symbolic Dimensions of Parliamentary Procedure in the Late 18th-Century English Commons. *Parliamentary Journal* 23 (2), 41-55.
- Habermas, Jürgen 1989 (1962). *The Structural Transformation of the Public Sphere:*An Inquiry into a Category of Bourgeois Society. Translated by Thomas Burger with the assistance of Frederick Lawrence. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Habermas, Jürgen 1996. Between facts and norms: contributions to a discourse theory of law and democracy. Translated by William Rehg. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Halévy, Elie 1955. *The Growth of Philosophic Radicalism*. Translated by Mary Morris, with a Preface by A. D. Lindsay, Master of Balliol College, Oxford. Boston: The Beacon Press.
- Hawkins, Angus 1989. 'Parliamentary Government' and Victorian Political Parties, c. 1830-c. 1880. *The English Historical Review* 104 (412), 638-669.
- Hawkins, Angus 2007. *The Forgotten Prime Minister: The* 14th Earl of Derby, Vol. 1: Ascent: 1799-1851. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hollis, Christopher 1965. The Oxford Union. London: Evans.
- Hoover, Benjamin Beard 1953. *Samuel Johnson's Parliamentary Reporting: Debates in the Senate of Lilliput*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Howarth, Patrick 1956. *Questions in the House: The History of a Unique British Institution*. London: The Bodley Head.
- Howell, Wilbur Samuel 1971. *Eighteenth-Century British Logic and Rhetoric*. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Ihalainen, Pasi 2010. Agents of the People: Democracy and Popular Sovereignty in British and Swedish Parliamentary and Public Debates, 1734-1800. In the series Studies in the History of Political Thought edited by Terence Ball, Jörn Leonhard & Wyger Velema. Leiden: Brill.
- Ihalainen, Pasi & Palonen, Kari 2009. Parliamentary sources in the comparative study of conceptual history: methodological aspects and illustrations of a research proposal. *Parliaments, Estates & Representation* 29, 17-34.
- Ilie, Cornelia 2010. Introduction. In Cornelia Ilie (ed.) European Parliaments under Scrutiny: Discourse Strategies and Interaction Practices. Amsterdam: John Benjamins, 1-25.

- Jordan, H. Donaldson 1931. The Reports of Parliamentary Debates, 1803-1908. *Economica* 34, 437-449.
- Kelso, Alexandra 2009. *Parliamentary reform at Westminster*. Manchester: Manchester University Press.
- Kemp, Betty 1971. *Votes and Standing Orders of the House of Commons: The Beginning*. House of Commons Library Document No. 8. London.
- Laundy, Philip 1964. The Office of Speaker. London: Cassell.
- Ledger-Lomas, Michael 2004. The Character of Pitt the Younger and Party Politics, 1830-1860. *The Historical Journal* 47 (3), 641-661.
- Lejeune, Anthony 1984 (1979). *The Gentlemen's Clubs of London*. Photographs by Malcolm Lewis. London: Parkgate Books.
- Macdonagh, Michael 1913. *The Reporters' Gallery*. London: Hodder and Stoughton.
- Mack, Peter 2002. *Elizabethan Rhetoric: Theory and Practice*. (Ideas in Context, vol. 63). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- McCalman, Iain 1987. Ultra-Radicalism and Convivial Debating-Clubs in London, 1795-1838. *The English Historical Review* 102 (403), 309-333.
- Meisel, Joseph S. 2001. Public Speech and the Culture of Public Life in the Age of Gladstone. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Meisel, Joseph S. 2011. *Knowledge and Power: The Parliamentary Representation of Universities in Britain and the Empire.* Parliamentary History: Texts & Studies 4. Chicester: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Miller, Thomas P. 1997. *The Formation of College English. Rhetoric and Belles Lettres in the British Cultural Provinces*. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Press.
- Morstein-Marx, Robert 2004. *Mass Oratory and Political Power in the Late Roman Republic*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Mossman, Edward A. 1926. Fifty Years of the Glasgow Parliament, 1876-1926. Glasgow: The Glasgow Parliamentary Debating Association.
- Norton, Philip [Lord] 2001. Playing by the Rules: The Constraining Hand of Parliamentary Procedure. *The Journal of Legislative Studies* 7 (3), 13-33.
- Ostrogorski, Moisei 1964. *Democracy and the Organization of Political Parties, Volume I: England.* Edited and abridged by Seymour Martin Lipset. Chicago: Quadrangle Books.
- Palonen, Kari 2008. Speaking Pro et Contra: The Rhetorical Intelligibility of Parliamentary Politics and the Political Intelligibility of Parliamentary Rhetoric. In Suvi Soininen & Tapani Turkka (eds.) *The Parliamentary Style of Politics*. Helsinki: The Finnish Political Science Association, 82-105.
- Palonen, Kari 2012. Parlamentarismi retorisena politiikkana. Tampere: Vastapaino.
- Parkinson, Stephen 2009. Arena of Ambition: A History of the Cambridge Union. London: Icon Books.
- Parssinen, T. M. 1973. Association, Convention and Anti-Parliament in British Radical Politics, 1771-1848. *The English Historical Review* 88 (348), 504-533.
- Phelps, Barry 1983. *Power and the Party: A History of the Carlton Club, 1832-1982.* Foreword by Rt. Hon. Margaret Thatcher, M.P. The Carlton Lecture, 1982 by Rt. Hon. Harold Macmillan. London: Macmillan.

- Potkay, Adam 1994. The Fate of Eloquence in the Age of Hume. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Pulkkinen, Oili 2008. Before the Incorporating Union: Parliament in Scotland and England in 1700-1706. In Suvi Soininen & Tapani Turkka (eds.) *The Parliamentary Style of Politics*. Helsinki: The Finnish Political Science Association, 42-60.
- Redlich, Josef 1908a. *The Procedure of the House of Commons: A Study of its History and Present Form, Vol. 1.* Translated from German by A. Ernest Steinthal, with an introduction by Sir Courtenay Ilbert, Clerk of the House of Commons. London.
- Redlich, Josef 1908b. *The Procedure of the House of Commons: A Study of its History and Present Form, Vol.* 2. Translated from German by A. Ernest Steinthal, with an introduction by Sir Courtenay Ilbert, Clerk of the House of Commons. London.
- Reid, Christopher 2000. Whose Parliament? Political oratory and print culture in the later 18th century. *Language and Literature* 9 (2), 122-134.
- Reid, Loren 1953. Gladstone's Essay on Public Speaking. *The Quarterly Journal of Speech* 39 (3), 265-272.
- van Rijn, Jaap 2007. Parliamentary Debating Societies and the Education of New Elites. In Stefan Couperus, Christianne Smit & Dirk Jan Wolffram (eds.) *In Control of the City: Local Elites and the Dynamics of Urban Politics, 1800-1960*. Leuven: Peeters, 53-67.
- Samuels, Arthur P. I. 1923. *The early life correspondence and writings of the Rt. Hon. Edmund Burke*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sandford, William Phillips 1929. *English Theories of Public Address*, 1530-1828. Columbus: Ohio State University, doctoral dissertation.
- Schwartz, Thomas 2008. Parliamentary procedure: principal forms and political effects. *Public Choice* 136, 353-377.
- Seaward, Paul 2011. The Idea of Parliament in British Political Culture, Bolingbroke to Brown. Redescriptions: Yearbook of Political Thought, Conceptual History and Feminist Theory 15, 99-124.
- Skinner, Quentin 1974. The Principles and Practice of Opposition: The Case of Bolingbroke versus Walpole. In Neil McKendrick (ed.) *Historical Perspectives: Studies in English Political Thought and Society.* London: Europa, 93–128
- Skinner, Quentin 2002. *Visions of Politics, vol. 3: Hobbes and Civil Science*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Skinner, Quentin 2005. Hobbes on Representation. *European Journal of Philosophy* 13 (2), 155-184.
- Skinner, Quentin 2008. Political Rhetoric and the Role of Ridicule. In Kari Palonen, Tuija Pulkkinen & José María Rosales (eds.) *The Ashgate Research Companion to the Politics of Democratization in Europe*. Aldershot: Ashgate, 137-150.
- Soininen, Suvi & Turkka, Tapani 2008. *The Parliamentary Style of Politics*. Helsinki: The Finnish Political Science Association.

- Sparrow, Andrew 2003. *Obscure Scribblers: A History of Parliamentary Journalism*. London: Politico's.
- Steinmetz, Willibald 2002. Das Sagbare und das Machbare: Zum Wandel politischer Handlungsspielräume England 1780-1867. Stuttgart: Klett-Cotta.
- Stewart, Graham 1991. The Union Debating Society 1794–1990. A History of Debating at St Andrews University. St Andrews: The University of St Andrews Union Debating Society.
- Thale, Mary 1989. London Debating Societies in the 1790s. *The Historical Journal* 32 (1), 57-86.
- Thomas, P. D. G. 1959. The Beginning of Parliamentary Reporting in Newspapers, 1768-1774. *The English Historical Review* 74 (293), 623-636.
- Thomas, P. D. G. 1971. *The House of Commons in the Eighteenth Century*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Tomkins, Adam 2005. Our Republican Constitution. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Wahrman, Dror 1992. Virtual Representation: Parliamentary Reporting and Languages of Class in the 1790s. *Past & Present* 136, 83-113.
- Walter, David 1984. The Oxford Union: playground of power. London: Macdonald.
- Wellbery, David E. 2000. The transformation of rhetoric. In Marshall Brown (ed.) *The Cambridge History of Literary Criticism, Vol. 5: Romanticism.* Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 185-202.
- Woodbridge, George 1978. *The Reform Club, 1836-1978: A history from the Club's records*. With a foreword by Maurice Ashley, C.B.E. New York: Clearwater Publishing.
- Yates, Nigel & Welsby, Paul A. 1996. Faith and Fabric: A History of Rochester Cathedral, 604-1994. Rochester: Boydell Press.
- Young, G. M. 1986 (1936). Victorian England: Portrait of an Age. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

APPENDIX 1: PUBLIC BUSINESS OF THE CAMBRIDGE UNION SOCIETY

The following is a list of debate topics presented at public business meetings of the Cambridge Union Society from Lent term 1830 to Easter term 1870. The list is not exhaustive, as there are some gaps in the surviving records. In the entries I have included the date, the formulation of the debate topic, as well as the names of those who proposed the motions. Additionally, I have noted down the opener of the debate only in cases where the proposer of debate did not also open the debate. Proposers of amendments and adjournments are named whenever they appeared. If a motion of adjournment was passed in a meeting and the debate topic remained the same in the following meeting, I have marked it "(adjourned debate) same as above".

1830

Lent Term:

February 9: Is the Principle of the Salique Law worthy of adoption in Hereditary Monarchies? (motion: Morrison)

February 16: Has the Increase of Education been productive of an Increase of Crime? (motion: Law)

February 23: Is it expedient that a restraint should be placed upon the Public Press in a free Country? (motion: Roberts)

March 2: Is a Severe Code of Laws, executed with lenity, or a Lenient Code with severity preferable? (motion: Matthew)

March 9: Would it have enhanced the glory or welfare of England to have substituted in the year 1810, a Republican form of Government for that virtually established in these Dominions? (motion: Symons)

March 15: Was the Union with Ireland in 1800, a justifiable measure, or conducive to the welfare of that Country? (motion: Warburton)

March 23: Is a Taste for Oratory desirable? (motion: Carne)

March 30: Had Corruption in the Representation of the People previous to the year 1810 increased, and ought it to have been diminished? (motion: Dupuis) Easter Term:

April 27: Does Sir Walter Scott deserve the Reputation of a great Poet? (motion: Kemble)

May 4: Ought some heavier punishment to be adopted in lieu of a pecuniary fine for the crimes of Seduction and Adultery? (motion: Matthew)

May 11: Is the Literary Character or the Military Hero more deserving of the applause of mankind? (motion: Price)

May 18: Was the English Government justified in going to War with France in 1790? (motion: Dupuis)

October Term:

November 2: Do William Wordsworth's Poems entitle him to the Reputation of a great Poet? (motion: Kemble, opened: Alford)

November 16: Can the extended Education of the lower Orders be dangerous to a good Government? (motion: Matthew, opened: Law)

November 23: Was the Duke of Wellington's Administration deserving of the support of the Independent Members of Parliament? (motion: Matthew)

November 30: Would it be expedient to adopt the Ballot in Elections? (motion: Law, opened: Merryweather)

December 7: Was the conduct of Ministers during the Trial of the late Queen, constitutional? (motion: Shillito, opened: Layton)

December 14: Was the conduct of Thomas Wentworth, first Earl of Stafford, worthy the admiration of Posterity? (motion: Alford, opened: Burrows)

1831

Lent Term:

February 8: Ought Church and State to be separated? (motion: Yorke, opened: Carne)

February 15: Is an early and entire abolition of Slavery in the British Colonies desirable? (motion: Dupuis)

February 22: Would the Abolition of Capital Punishments in all cases, except for Murder, be productive of an increase or a diminution of Crime? (motion: Law)

March 1: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 8: Is it consistent with sound policy, for Great Britain to interfere in favor of Poland, in the contest between that country and Russia? (motion: Dupuis)

March 15: Ought Ministers to receive the confidence and co-operation of the People in bringing forward measures for general Reform? (motion: Gardiner)

March 18: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 19: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 22: Is Sir John Moore's Campaign in the Peninsular deserving of our admiration? (motion: Sulivan, but no debate as Sulivan failed to be present or provide an opener; Sulivan fined one Guinea)

Easter Term:

April 26: In case of an immediate War in Europe, would it be good policy in England to unite with France? (motion: Law)

May 3: Would it be expedient to adopt legal measures for affording to the art of Surgery an adequate supply of Anatomical subjects? (motion: Gardiner, opened: Sulivan)

May 10: Did Mr. Grey, in his Bill for reform in 1793, deserve the confidence of the Country? (motion: Law, adjourned)

May 17: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 24: Is the cultivation of English Literature worthy of admission into an Academical Education? (motion: Blenkinsopp, opened: Yorke)

October Term:

November 1: Was the conduct of Warren Hastings, Esq. deserving of impeachment? (motion: Layton, opened: Kennedy)

November 8: Has the Study of Political Economy been productive of benefit to the best interests of society? (motion: Blenkinsopp)

November 15: Is the custom of Duelling beneficial to Society? (motion: Kennedy?)

November 22: Have the two French Revolutions been a benefit or an evil to mankind? (motion: Creasy)

November 29: Has the agitation of the Reform Question been productive of good to the country? (motion: Mereweather)

December 6: Has the immediate interference hitherto exercised by many Peers in the return of the Members to the lower House, been in accordance with the principles of the English Constitution? (motion: Gardiner)

December 13: Would a Republican form of Government be better adapted towards the forwarding of the prosperity of England, than that which she now enjoys or labours under? (motion: Warburton, only speaker was Gardiner who spoke against the adoption of a Republic)

1832

Lent Term:

February 14: Does the Character, Political and regal, of George the Fourth merit the approbation of his country? (motion: Johnstone, who was the only speaker and spoke in affirmative)

February 21: Would a Republican form of government be better adapted to the forwarding of the prosperity of England than that which she now enjoys or labours under? (motion: Warburton, opened: Merewether)

March 6: Should prose works of Fiction be withheld from youth, as compositions injurious to the youthful mind generally? (motion: Johnstone)

March 13: Have the poor laws been beneficial to England (motion: C. Kennedy, adjourned)

March 20: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 27: Are his Majesty's Ministers deserving of the Confidence of the Country? (motion: Yonge)

Easter Term:

May 22: Is it desirable that legal provision should be made for the supply of anatomical objects, and is the bill at present before parliament calculated to effect that object? (motion: Davidson, opened: Johnstone)

October Term:

November 6: Have continental wars been on the whole beneficial to England? (motion: R.C. Kennedy, opened: Creasy)

November 13: Is the System of Emigration likely to prove Beneficial to this Country? (motion: Hon. W. Henniker)

November 20: Is a monarchical or republican form of Government the more favourable to the advancement of literature? (motion: Alford, opened: North)

November 27: Would a War with Holland under existing circumstances be either politic or justifiable? (motion: Ellis, adjourned)

December 3: (adjourned debate) same as above (opened: Matthew as proxy for Creasy)

December 4: Is a separation between Church and State desirable? (motion: Fearon)

1833

Lent Term:

February 12: Has the Revolution of 1688, been beneficial to this Country? (motion: Matthew)

February 19: Is a Repeal of the Union between England and Ireland desirable? (motion: Warburton)

February 26: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 5: Was England justified in going to war with America, in 1775? (motion: Myers)

March 12: Is the immediate emancipation of the Slaves in the West Indies desirable? (motion: Fearon)

March 19: Have the proceedings of the Common's House of Parliament, during the present session, been such as to warrant a belief that its Reform was a salutary measure? (motion: Kempe)

March 26: Should the present System of Corn Laws be continued? (motion: Laing, opened: Bowstead)

Easter Term:

April 23: Is it desirable to place restrictions on the Press of a Free Country? (motion: White)

April 30: Was the conduct of Warren Hastings deserving of impeachment? (motion: Hon. W. C. Henniker)

May 7: Whether vote by Ballot in the election of Members of the Commons House of Parliament is beneficial? (motion: Burke)

May 14: Would the Resignation of his Majesty's Ministers, on their late defeat, have been advantageous to the country? (motion: Stocks)

May 21: Is the Ambition of Russia dangerous to Europe? (motion: Creasy) **October Term:**

October 29: Was the conduct of Queen Elizabeth, in signing the warrant of the execution of Mary Queen of Scots, justifiable? (motion: Hon. W. C. Henniker, opened: Gregory)

November 5: Has the conduct of the English Government towards Ireland, been consistent with sound policy or justice? (motion: White, opened: Burke, adjourned)

November 12: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 19: Whether Triennial Parliaments be an institution contrary to the British Constitution or not? (motion: Johnson, disorderly conduct by Leathly who was fined by the President)

December 3: Is Lord Grey's Ministry deserving the confidence of a British Parliament? (motion: Fearon)

1834

Lent Term:

February 4: Would the abolition of Capital Punishments, be a measure either just or politic? (motion: G. Ferguson, spoke in negative and was the only speaker)

February 11: Whether the principle of Non-interference, as advocated by his Majesty's Government, is calculated to promote the best interests of Europe? (motion: J. Ellis)

February 18: Was not the Puritanical Spirit of the Fanatical Strictness, prevalent in the time of the Stuarts, productive of great evils to the Country? (motion: Fearon)

February 25: ["On account of private business no Debate took place."]

March 4: Should there be a Dramatic censorship? (motion: Burke, opened: Spankie)

March 11: Is the character of Lord Edward Fitzgerald entitled to approbation? (motion: Burke, opened: Redlington)

March 18: Can the conduct of the English government towards Ireland from the time of the first invasion of the English upon the latter country be considered consistent either with sound policy or with justice? (motion: White, opened: Burke)

Easter Term:

April 15: (adjourned debate) same as above

April 29: Is it expedient that Dissenters should be permitted to graduate in Arts, Law or Physic in this University? (motion: Ellis)

April 30: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 6: Would the abrogation of the Bishops privilege to sit in the House of Peers, be either just or polite? (motion: Watson)

May 13: Is it expedient that a Charter for granting degrees be given to the London University? (motion: Townsend)

May 20: Is the Law of Primogeniture worthy of our approbation? (motion: Jones)

October Term:

November 11: Would the introduction of vote by ballot in parliamentary elections be productive of good to, or would it entail evil on, the country? (motion: Watson)

November 18: Was the principle of the late English poor law system consistent with sound policy? (motion: Johnstone)

November 25: Has the Army or Navy of England contributed most to its glory? (motion: Walmesley)

December 2: Is there not every reason to rejoice that the Whig Administration has ceased to exist? (motion: Watson)

December 3: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 9: Does the system of flogging in the Army or Navy tend to degrade the character of our soldiers and sailors? (motion: Drake)

1835

Lent Term:

February 17: Whether the office of Lord Chancellor ought to be separated from political duties ex officio? (motion: Burke)

February 24: Is the present administration worthy of the confidence of the country? (motion: Drake, opened: H.B. Jones)

March 10: Whether a strict political connection with France is desirable for England? (motion: Ferguson)

March 17: Is the analogy which has been attempted to be established between the state of England at the present day; & that of France before the first revolution borne out by the actual circumstances of the two countries? (motion: Williamson, opened: Timins)

March 3: Would emigration and free trade afford any prospect of relief from our present financial embarassment? (motion: Truman)

March 24: Is a systematic opposition to an administration conducive to the happiness of a country? (motion: Mackinnon, opened: H.B. Jones) **Easter Term:**

May 5: Is one nation justified in interfering in the domestic policy of another? (motion: Redington, not debate due to Redington failing to be present and to provide a substitute)

May 12: Does the present state of Political Affairs in this Country tend towards a Republic? (motion: Timins)

May 19: Is or is not the permission to entail property advantageous to Great Britain? (motion: Latham)

May 26: Does a Republican or a Monarchical form of Government tend most to the political freedom of the people? (motion: Townsend)

October Term:

November 3: Does the principle of Lord John Russell's Irish Church Resolution meet our approbation? (motion: Townsend)

November 9: Is an Hereditary Peerage beneficial to this country? (motion: H. Roberts)

November 17: Does the formation of Tory Political Unions commonly called Orange Lodges merit our approbation or not? (motion: Drake, who was fined 1 pound for not providing an opener for the debate)

December 1: Does the conduct of ministers in permitting and encouraging Col. De Lacy Evans to raise a body of men for the service of the Spanish Government merit our approbation? (motion: Waldegrave, opened: Spranger)

December 8: Have the benefits which were expected from the Roman Catholic Emancipation been realised? (motion: H. Bullock)

1836

Lent Term:

February 9: Do the character and actions of Daniel O'Connell up to the year 1835 bear any resemblance to those of Maximillian Robespierre up to 1789? (motion: Townsend, opened: Morrison)

February 16: Has the conduct of the House of Lords during the last five years been beneficial to the country (motion: Ball)

February 23: Have the measures of the Whig Government since passing of the Reform Bill been such as to promote the interests of the lower classes? (motion: Pollard, opened: Morrison)

March 1: Did the conduct of Napoleon Bonaparte viewed either in a military of civil light merit his banishment to St. Helena? (motion: Trelawney)

March 8: Do the writings of Jeremy Bentham entitle their author to the gratitude of mankind? (motion: R. G. Latham)

March 16: Is it probable that a measure for the separation of Church and State would either secure more extended toleration of religious belief or be productive of any beneficial result to the nation at large? (motion: A. J. Watson)

March 22: Is the monopoly of the patent theatres calculated to advance the interests of the drama? (motion: A. J. Ellis)

Easter Term:

April 19: Is the existence of party feeling in a state productive on the whole of injury or benefit? (motion: Goldfinch)

April 26: Is the character of the Puritans of the time of Charles Ist deserving of our esteem? (motion: Morrison)

May 3: Whether imprisonment for debt should not be abolished? (motion: R.B. Seale)

May 10: Was Queen Elizabeth justified in signing the warrant for the execution of Mary Queen of Scots? (motion: Spranger, due to lack of members present the debate did not take place)

May 17: Whether the House of Commons in 1649 was justified in proposing the following resolution: That the House of Lords is a nuisance, and therefore should be abolished (motion: Mackenzie, opened: Haggard)

October Term:

November 8: Does the past conduct of the R. Catholics of Ireland justify an expectation that further concessions on the part of the Protestants of England will be productive of any beneficial result? (motion: Watson, opened: Mones)

November 13: Whether the conduct of James Graham of Clavesbourne has been truly appreciated by posterity? (motion: Waldegrave)

November 22: On the demise of Ferdinand 7th was Don Carlos or Donna Isabella the rightful successor to the Throne of Spain? (motion: Hopwood)

November 29: Do Alfred Tennyson's poems show a true poet? (motion: Heath, opened: Hardcastle)

December 1: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 6: Is Mr O'Connell a benefactor to this country? (motion: Cochrane)

1837

Lent Term:

January 31: Is the introduction of the ballot advisable in Parliamentary elections? (motion: Christie)

February 7: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 14: Had William of Nassau any just claim to the sovereignty of Ireland before the surrender of Limerick? (motion: Tower)

February 21: Is the Law of Primogeniture as established in this country conducive to the interests of Society? (motion: Weightman)

February 28: Does the existence of the established Church of England in Ireland conduce to the moral happiness of the people? (motion: A. Watson)

March 7: Would the presence of ladies at parliamentary debates refine the language used by Honourable Members, and check the brawls which are so frequent in the discussions of the House? (motion: Tower, opened: Wood)

Easter Term:

April 11: Is the existence of Corporate bodies beneficial and desirable? (motion: Philipps)

April 18: Does the political character of Mr. Burke entitle him to the approbation of posterity? (motion: Hopwood)

April 25: Is the maintenance of the Established Church in Ireland in its present condition consistent with justice and good policy? (motion: Ball)

May 2: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 4: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 9: Is the present system of providing for the Clergy by the payment of Tithes beneficial to the Clerical as well as Lay interests of the Country? (motion: Weightman)

May 16: Is the payment of Church Rates by Dissenters consonant with justice? (motion: C. Orme)

October Term:

October 31: Has the foreign policy of the Melbourne Ministry been conducive to the honor and interests of this Country? (motion: Hopwood)

November 7: Has the introduction of the New Poor Law been beneficial to the pauper population of this Country? (motion: Maitland, adjourned)

November 14: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 21: Is the political character of Fox deserving of our approbation? (motion: Christie, adjourned)

November 28: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 5: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 12: Was the Parliament justified in taking up arms against Charles I.? (motion: Newell)

1838

Lent Term:

February 12: Does the political conduct of Mr. Pitt entitle him to the admiration of posterity? (motion: Hopwood)

February 19: Has the political conduct of the King of Hanover since his accession to the throne been such as to merit our approval? (motion: Bullock)

February 26: Has the internal policy of the Whigs for the last seven years been such as to merit our approbation? (motion: A.C. Barrett)

March 6: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 7: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 13: Is the occupation of Algiers by the French, likely to be detrimental to the general interests of Europe or not? (motion: Lord Napier)

Easter Term:

April 3: Was the conduct of the House of Commons in voting that Daniel O'Connell, Esq., MP, be reprimanded, either justifiable or expedient? (motion: Kirwan)

May 1: Was the ministerial measure of 1833 for the emancipation of the slaves in the West Indies consistent with justice and humanity? (motion: Hopwood, adjourned)

May 3: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 15: Is it desirable that dissenters should be admitted to the degree of B.A. in the universities of Oxford and Cambridge? (motion: Vaughan, adjournment: Christie)

May 22: (adjourned debate) same as above (At half past nine a motion made by Hon E. Herbert that the debate should be continued till ten by the suspension of laws 65 and 70 was carried and the debate accordingly was continued till the abovementioned hour when further adjournment till quarter 10 was moved by Mr Hopwood Queens and carried)

May 28: Is the abolition of rotten boroughs desirable? (motion: White, opened: Donaldson)

October Term:

October 30: Did the conduct of James II, and his abdication of the throne justify the revolution of 1688? (motion: Weightman, opened: Hope, adjourned)

November 6: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 13: Is the Ecclesiastical Commission as at present constituted, either expedient or legal? (motion: A. B. Hope)

November 20: Will the provisions of Serjeant Talfourd's Copy-right Bill prove beneficial? (motion: T. Frere)

November 27: Is the conduct of the present Ministry towards Lord Durham justifiable? (motion: Thackeray, opened: Fozer)

December 4: Is the universal extension of education a national benefit? (motion: Hon. G. Smythe)

December 11: Did the conduct of Nechar at the commencement of the French Revolution merit approbation? (motion: Williams)

1839

Lent Term:

February 5: Was Charles I. justified in endeavouring to re-establish Episcopacy in Scotland? (motion: Thackeray, opened: Williams)

February 12: Does England really owe a great debt of justice to Ireland? (motion: T. Frere, opened: R. Williams, who was the only one who spoke)

February 19: Is the conduct of the present Government with regard to the British Navy, likely to inspire the nation with confidence, in the event of a war? (motion: B. H. Drury)

February 26: Is Phrenology a science entitled to our belief? (motion: Neale)

March 5: Has the political life of Daniel O'Connell been such as to entitle him to the gratitude of the Irish people? (motion: Bayley)

March 12: Is Astrology a science entitled to our credit? (motion: Ellicott)

March 19: Whether laws for the regulation and restriction of the Press be not to the furtherance of good government? (motion: Hope)

Easter Term:

April 16: No debate due to insufficient number of members present, postponed

April 23: Was Sir F. B. Head, sufficiently supported by Her Majesty's Ministers in his government of Upper Canada? (motion: Baggallay)

April 30: Is the practice of Flogging in the Army deserving of our approbation? (motion: Craufurd)

May 7: Is the connection of Church and State advantageous to the Constitution, or not? (motion: Wright)

May 14: Does the conduct of the Ministers for the last three years entitle them to the approbation of their country? (motion: A. Rudd, but was not present and did not provide a substitute, Rudd fined for one sovereign according to Law 68, adjourned)

May 21: (adjourned debate) No debate due to insufficient number of members present

October Term:

November 5: Ought Instruction in the National Religion to be made the basis of any system of National Education? (motion: J. Pearson)

November 12: Does the Philosophy of Locke deserve the approbation of posterity? (motion: W. J. Butler, who was the only speaker and spoke in the negative)

November 19: Is the Public Character of Dean Swift worthy of the grateful recollection of the British nation? (motion: J. Pearson)

November 26: Would it be to the advantage of Britain, to support the policy assumed by Mehemet Ali, towards the Ottoman Empire? (motion: T. H. Galton)

December 3: Whether the nomination of Lord Normanby to the Office Of Home Secretary, was an unwise and mischievous appointment? (motion: M. Ware)

December 10: Did Mirabeau confer a benefit upon his country, by abolishing the law of Primogeniture? (motion: T. H. Galton)

1840

Lent Term:

February 18: Has the House of Commons been justifiable in its pretensions in the matter of Stockdale v. Hansard? (motion: B. Shaw, adjourned at quarter to ten o'clock)

February 25: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 3: Is the theory of Apparitions consonant with wisdom and experience? (motion: Sheringham)

March 10: Has the conduct and policy of the Melbourne Government since its return to office in 1835, been entitled to the confidence of the country? (motion: Bullock)

March 18: Would the repeal of the Corn Laws be conducive to the interests of the country? (motion: Brooks)

March 24: Whether the passing of Sir Robert Inglis' motion for Church Extension prove beneficial to the nation at large? (motion: Christian, who was the only speaker and spoke in the affirmative)

March 31: Is the Education of Women sufficiently carried out in this country? (motion: J. W. Sheringham)

April 7: Was the Roman Catholic Relief Bill of 1829, a measure of wisdom, justice, and expediency? (motion: Bullock)

Easter Term:

May 5: Ought the Crusades to be viewed in a favourable light among Christian Nations? (motion: J. Slade)

May 12: Is the Progress of the System of Railroads likely to prove of advantage to the Country? (motion: J. A. Beaumont)

May 19: Has Secretary Stanhope's Limitation Peerage Bill received the sanction of Parliament, would it have proved prejudicial to the interests of the State? (motion: J. R. Stock, only speakers in the affirmative)

May 26: Is the democratic principle suitable to the genius of the British Nation? (motion: C. P. Shepherd)

June 2: Is the present declaration of War against China justifiable or expedient? (motion: J. R. Stock, but no debate due to insufficient number of members present, adjourned till next term)

October Term:

November 3: (adjourned debate) same as above (opened: H. L. Young)

November 10: Does the general character and conduct of Archbishop Laud deserve the admiration of posterity? (motion: T. H. Bullock)

November 17: Is the Irish Policy of the Present Government unworthy of our confidence? (motion: Stock)

November 24: Would the Abolition of Capital punishments in this Country be consistent with justice and morality? (motion: Hewitt)

December 1: Has the policy of the Ministry with respect to the Syrian Question been such as to deserve our approbation? (motion: Galton)

December 8: Is the Establishment of Political Societies a legitimate method of opposing Opinions prejudicial to the State? (motion: M. Ware)

December 15: Should England have interfered in behalf of the Poles in the war of independence, in 1830-31? (motion: G. Crawshay, no debate due to insufficient number of members present, adjourned till next term)

1841

Lent Term:

February 9: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 16: Is the present generation likely to witness the dismemberment of the United States of America? (motion: J. C. Conybeare)

February 23: Was the dissolution of Monasteries in the reign of Henry the Eight, consistent with justice? (motion: J. Slade)

March 2: Was the conduct of the Americans in asserting their independence justifiable? (motion: T. S. Western)

March 9: Is dueling a necessary evil of society? (motion: W. C. Brooks)

March 16: Are Dissenters from Established Church entitled to an exemption from liability to support that Church? (motion: H. L. Young)

March 23: Was the conduct of the House of Commons in the reign of Charles I. (up to their final breach with the King inclusive) such as to deserve our approbation? (motion: W. C. Brooks, opened: T. H. Bullock)

March 30: Was the conduct of the House of Commons towards Wilkes, constitutional and proper? (motion: T. H. Bullock, but no debate due to insufficient number of members present, adjourned till next term)

Easter Term:

April 27: (adjourned debate) same as above (opened: J. Slade)

May 4: Ought Capital Punishments to be retained in the English Law? (motion: J. Slade, who was the only speaker and spoke in the affirmative)

May 11: Would the method of voting by ballot in the election of Members of Parliament be an improvement upon the present system? (motion: E. Rudge, adjourned)

May 18: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 24: Has the Budget produced by the Melbourne Administration (May 1841,) deserved the confidence of the Country? (motion: T. Bullock)

October Term:

November 2: Are the writings of Wordsworth likely to exercise a greater influence than those of Byron on a future generation? (motion: J. Slade, who was the only speaker and spoke in the affirmative, but lost the division with a majority of 26)

November 9: Is the Present Administration worthy of the confidence of the country? (motion: G. Crawshay)

November 16: Were the Penal Laws passed against the Papists calculated to be beneficial to the country? (motion: J. Slade)

November 23: Would a Repeal of the Corn Laws be beneficial to the country? (motion: J. Hardcastle, adjourned)

November 30: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjourned)

December 7: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 14: Are the Characters and Conduct of William the Third, deserving approbation? (motion: J. Slade, but no debate due to insufficient number of members present, adjourned till next term)

1842

Lent Term:

February 8: Are Theatrical representations conducive to the benefit of the country? (motion: T. H. Bullock)

February 15: Are Capital Punishments inhuman & impolitic? (motion: Cox, opened: Rohrs)

February 22: Was the reign of Puritanism beneficial to the character of the English people? (motion: T. H. Galton)

March 1: Is it for the best interests of this University that its members should be compelled to take Mathematical honors before competing for Classical? (motion: Cox)

March 8: Was Archbishop Laud legally executed? (motion: Farr)

March 15: Would the method of voting by ballot in returning members to Parliament be an improvement upon the present system? (motion: T. S. Western) **Faster Term**:

April 12: Are the financial measures proposed by Sir R. Peel such as will tend to the prosperity of the country? (motion: Galton)

April 19: (adjourned debate) same as above

April 26: Ought the dissenters to be excluded from degrees in the Universities? (motion: Chisholm)

May 3: Ought corporal punishment to be discontinued in the Army and Navy? (motion: Cox)

May 10: Is prize-fighting deserving of couragement? (motion: J. Armitage) **October Term:**

November 1: Was the Long Parliament of 1642 justified in taking up arms? (motion: Chisholm, no debate due to proposer having not turned up or provided a substitute)

November 8: That the Penal Laws which existed against the Roman Catholics were in the highest degree unjustifiable; and that the Emancipation Bill of 1829 was a wise and expedient measure; but that its earlier adoption would have been beneficial to the interests of the country? (motion: George M. W. Peacocke, amendment: Farr)

November 15: That the Poor Law amendment Bill was a wise and humane measure (motion: Cox)

November 22: That the modern political movement is to democracy; and that there are no visible means of staging it; and that its results have been, are, and will be in the highest degree beneficial (motion: Tooke, adjournment: Peacocke, Western)

November 29: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Campbell) **December 6:** (adjourned debate) same as above

1843

Lent Term:

February 14: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 28: That the mass of the population of England are in a state of destitution inconsistent with the resources of the country, that those evils are caused chiefly by the restriction on the importation of corn (motion: Cox, amendment: W. J. Metcalfe, adjournment: T. S. Western)

March 1: That the war between England & China was justifiable and that its results will prove conducive to the prosperity of both countries (motion: J. C. H. Ogier)

March 14: Was the Long Parliament justified in taking up arms against King Charles the First? (motion: G. W. King)

March 21: That the late government were justified in the invasion of Affganistan (motion: Ogier, adjournment: Hutton, seconded by Dougan)

March 21: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter Term:

May 2: That the Salique Law was a proper measure (motion: G. E. Pattenden, opened: W. R. W. Delacour)

May 9: That Capital Punishments are inexpedient, and ought to be abolished (motion: G. W. King, opened: J. Kay, adjournment: F. Galton, adjourned)

May 16: (adjourned debate) same as above (opened: T. S. Western in behalf of F. Galton, adjournment: G. W. King, adjourned)

May 23: (adjourned debate) same as above (opened: R. Hooper in behalf of G. W. King)

October Term:

October 31: That the Drama has a tendency to improve Society in general (motion: Hon. A. R. Spring-Rice, who was the only speaker and spoke in the affirmative)

November 7: That the proceedings of the present Government towards Ireland, are disgraceful to it as an executive, and absurd in policy (motion: T. H. Tooke, opened: Crompton Hutton, adjournment: H. Cox, adjourned)

November 14: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: J. S. Boucher (a simple negation of the original motion), adjournments: H. Lindsay, J. L. Fitzpatrick, amendment carried)

November 21: That the existence of a body like the "Anti-Corn Law League" is a sign of weakness and incapacity in the present Government (motion: Hon A. Spring Rice, amendment: G. Crawshay)

November 28: That the English Nation are indebted to William III, Prince of Orange, for assisting them to assert their liberties by the just and glorious revolution of 1668 (motion: Hon. W. F. Campbell, amendment: J. Brame, against amendment: F. D. Astley, the President decided to not put the amendment due to its irrelevance to the original motion)

December 5: That the principles of Democracy has been, and is encroaching on the British Constitution (motion: J. L. Fitzpatrick)

1844

Lent Term:

February 6: That the exclusion of Dissenters from the University is just and politic (motion: J. Brame, adjournment: W. M. Cooke, adjourned)

February 13: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 20: That the policy of Sir Robert Peel, has been beneficial to the country (motion: T. H. Jones, adjournment: Röhrs (twice))

February 27: That the suppression of Monasteries by Henry VIII has been most injurious to this Country; and the circumstances of the present times imperatively demand the restoration of similar institutions (motion: J. Brame, adjournment: A. Garfit, adjourned)

March 5: (adjourned debate) same as above (motion for division of question: O. Budd, not granted, adjournment: J. L. Fitzpatrick, adjourned)

March 12: (adjourned debate) same as above (opened: W. M. Cooke in behalf of J. L. Fitzpatrick)

March 19: That capital punishments are not beneficial to the country (motion: W. M. Cooke)

Easter Term:

April 23: That the Drama is beneficial to the morals of the People (motion: J. Brame, adjournment: T. H. Jones, adjourned due to very few members present)

April 30: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: G. Brimley, adjourned)

May 7: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: G. Brimley, adjourned)

May 14: (adjourned debate) same as above

October Term:

October 29: That Inheritance is a necessary and fundamental principle of the Peerage (motion: E. F. Fiske)

November 5: That the limitation, by legislative enactment, of the hours of labour for the Operatives in this country, would be attended by beneficial effects (motion: H. B. Smyth)

November 12: That the party in the House of Commons, which has been designated "Young England," will be productive of effects, in the main, beneficial to the Country at large (motion: C. Babington, adjournment: T. H. Tooke, adjourned)

November 19: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 26: That the present system of Game Laws is generally prejudicial to the Country (motion: H. Lindsay)

December 3: That the institution of the Jesuits has been mischievous to Society (motion: T. H. Tooke, adjournments: G. Brimley, H. T. Gibbins, J. H. Röhrs (withdrawn))

1845

Lent Term:

February 4: That the public character of St. Thomas à Becket was such as to merit our approbation (motion: J. Brame, adjournment: H. W. Thomson)

February 18: That the public character of Archbishop Cranmer, was such as to merit our approbation (motion: H. W. Thomson)

February 25: That states, like individuals inevitably tend, after a certain period of maturity, to decay (motion: H.B. Smyth, adjournment: J. P. Pitcairn)

February 28: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: W. F. Campbell, actually more like a rider but the term is not used in CUS)

March 4: That a modification of the existing Corn Laws would be beneficial to the Lower and Middle classes of the country (motion: Hon. W.F. Campbell, opened: J. Kay)

Easter Term:

April 8: That the (so-called) Rebellion of 1745 was a justifiable and praiseworthy attempt to upset the "Revolution Settlement" of 1688 (motion: H. Lindsay)

April 15: That the abolition of the civil disabilities of the Jews is a good and Christian measure (motion: H. W. Thomson)

April 22: That the plan of the Government for the Endowment of Maynooth is unconstitutional and dangerous to the country (motion: J. Brame, adjournment: C. Babington, adjourned)

April 23: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournments: H. T. Gibbins, T. W. Morley)

May 13: That a suitable provision for the Irish Roman Catholic Priesthood, ought to be made by the State (motion: Hon. W. F. Campbell, opened: H. Hallam)

October Term:

November 4: That the Commonwealth's men of the 17th century endeavoured to model the "British Constitution" after the "Republic of Venice," and their efforts have been attended with partial success (motion: Churchill Babington)

November 11: That Queen Elizabeth was not justified in putting to death Mary, Queen of Scots (motion: T. Dealtry)

November 18: That the character and conduct of Oliver Cromwell were not such as to entitle him to a place among the "Eminent Men" in whose honour Statues are about to be erected in the New Palace of Westminster (motion: J. Ingle)

November 25: That a Barrister is not necessarily bound to regard the moral guilt of his client (motion: H.W. Thomson)

December 2: That the alleged principles of Mesmerism are contrary to reason (motion: A. Codd, adjournment: J. Ingle)

December 9: (adjourned debate) same as above (Ingle was not present to open the debate and was fined one Sovereign by the President in accordance with the Law 46)

1846

Lent Term:

February 10: That the introduction of the New Poor Law has been beneficial to this country (motion: A. Garfit)

February 17: That our present system of Transportation is fraught with much evil (motion: A. Codd)

February 24: That Her Majesty's Ministers are unworthy of the confidence of the country (motion: E.S. Cayley, adjournment: C. Bristed)

March 3: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 11: That the agitation carried on by the Anti-Corn Law League has not been unconstitutional (motion: R.D. Baxter, amendment: E.S. Cayley)

March 17: That the circumstances of the present age tend amply to prove the great evils of the Democratic Principles embodied in the Reform Bill (motion: R. A. Barlow)

March 24: That a pacific policy towards the surrounding states in ordinary circumstances, is best calculated to promote the interests of India (motion: J.F. Thrupp)

Easter Term:

April 28: That it would be for the interests of Great Britain to afford increased facilities for extensive emigration (motion: A. Garfit, who moved for adjournment due to "thin attendance in the House" and late hour of the evening)

May 5: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 12: That the most effectual remedy for our excessive population and its accompanying evils, is to be found in the efficient extension of the parochial system (motion: J. Ll. Davies, amendment: A. A. Van Sittart)

May 19: That the most equitable division of the Oregon Territory, would be one based on the parallel of 49. *not* on the Columbia River (motion: C.A. Bristed)

October Term:

November 3: That our present knowledge of Ireland would not justify the endowment (as proposed by some reasoners) of the Roman Catholic Religion in that country (motion: Hon. W. F. Campbell, adjournment: J. Ll. Davies)

November 10: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 17: That the annexation of Scinde to our Empire in India is a measure at once just and expedient (motion: D. J. Vaughan)

November 24: That the Crusades were productive of wholesome effects upon European Civilization (motion: J. Ll. Davies)

December 1: That the recent abolition of the Corn Laws in consequence of the conversion of Sir Robert Peel, from the principles on which he came into power, was not a triumph of sound opinion; or a boon to the Public (motion: Hon. W.F. Campbell, adjournment: W.P. Hale)

December 9: (adjourned debate) same as above

1847

Lent Term:

February 9: That the annexation of Cracow to the Empire of Austria, -combined with the previous destruction of the Kingdom of Poland, - affords us just grounds of apprehension as to the ultimate results of the policy pursued by the three allied powers of Russia, Prussia, and Austria (motion: W. P. Hale, who was fined one sovereign due to breaking law 46)

February 16: That the assertion that by some law of re-action the laxity of the Restoration naturally succeeded the strictness of the Puritanical period is not founded upon facts (motion: J.Ll. Davies)

February 23: That the Political opinions of the late Mr. Pitt were not, as is frequently assumed, coincident with those of the Conservative or Tory Party (motion: Hon. W. F. Campbell)

March 2: That any attempt at the joint education of Churchmen and Dissenters would be founded in error and must be injurious in its results (motion: A. Garfit, amendment: J. Edlin, adjournment: J. F. Thrupp)

March 8: (adjourned debate) same as above (Edlin withdrew his amendment)

March 16: That the conduct of Her Majesty's Ministers, in their having rejected Lord George Bentinck's measure for the permanent relief of Ireland, does not meet with the approbation of this House (motion: E. Prest)

Easter Term:

April 27: That the democratic principle is unsuited to the genius of the British Nation (motion: Edward Prest, adjournment: Finnie)

May 4: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 11: That the light Literature of the present day, (as for instance the works of Mr. Dickens) is in a great measure vicious in taste, and unhealthy in tone (motion: R.D. Baxter, adjournment: H. Twells, amendment: H. Twells)

May 18: That the Policy pursued by Cicero, was the best calculated to preserve the Roman Commonwealth, from the peculiar dangers which threatened it, during his public life (motion: Hon. W.F. Campbell, opened: J. Ll. Davies) **October Term:**

November 2: That Tennyson is inferior to no English poet of the present century (motion: A. A. Van Sittart)

November 9: That the public character and merits of King Henry VIII., have not been generally appreciated (motion: J. F. Thrupp)

November 16: That the abolition of Jewish disabilities would not prove injurious to the State (motion: W. Finnie)

November 23: That there are causes in operation which threaten the decline of the greatness of Britain (motion: F. H. Colt)

November 30: That it is inexpedient to abolish the punishment of Death (motion: C. B. Locock)

December 7: That from the present state of political of parties in Parliament, we cannot reasonably expect that its legislation will prove beneficial to the Country (motion: J.F. Thrupp, "In consequence of the very thin attendance in the House at the hour of Meeting, it was moved by Mr. J. F. Thrupp, Trinity. "That the Debate be adjourned until next Term." (Carried))

1848

Lent Term:

February 15: That the existing relations between the Church and State of England are anomalous and unsatisfactory, and should be modified (motion: H. C. E. Childers ("The subject of debate, adjourned from last term, was changed (with the sanction of the Proposer) by order of the Standing Committee))

February 22: That the House looks with alarm upon the probable admission of the Jews into Parliament (motion: W.R. Wroth, amendment: H. C. E. Childers)

March 1: That the Manchester school of politicians is unworthy the confidence of the Country (motion: F.H. Colt, amendment: H. Finnie)

March 7: This House regards with sympathy and satisfaction the liberal and progressive tendencies of the movement at present going on in different parts of the Continent of Europe (motion: R. Sedgwick, adjournment: H. C. E Childers)

March 14: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: C. B. Locock)

March 21: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: R. H. Parr)

March 28: That the Establishment of the Protestant Episcopal Church in Ireland as at present constituted, is just and impolitic; and requires immediate and extensive alterations (motion: R. Temple)

April 4: That the primary object of punishment is the prevention of crime, not the reformation of the criminal (motion: J.Ll. Davies, who moved adjournment of debate due to "the attendance in the House being very thin)

Easter Term:

May 9: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 16: That to all human appearance we are warranted in tracing for our country, through the dim perspective of coming time, an exalted and glorious destiny (adjournment: R. Sedgwick, motion: R. Sedgwick, amendment: J. F. Stephen)

May 22: That the Game Laws are unjust in principle, injurious in operation, and ought to be repealed (motion: W. V. Harcourt, adjournment: R. Temple)

May 26: (adjourned debate) same as above (W. Finnie opened the adjourned debate as proxy for Temple)

October Term:

October 31: That the means adopted by Great Britain for the suppression of the Slave Trade, defeat their object, increase the horrors of the traffic, cause an unnecessary waste of life and money, and ought to be abandoned (motion: Hon. A. Gordon)

November 7: That the Graces which have this day, (the 31st of October,) passed the Senate, are highly deserving of approbation, and are likely, in their results, to be beneficial to the University (motion: G.W. Hastings)

November 15: That this House looks with disapprobation upon all attempts to introduce voting by ballot at the election of Members for Parliament (motion: C. Piffard)

November 21: That it is alike our duty and interest to pay the Roman Catholic Clergy of Ireland (motion: W. G. Saurin, opened: W. V. Harcourt, adjournment: F. J. A. Hort, adjournment: G. W. Hastings)

November 28: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 5: That Byron is not entitled to rank as a poet of a very high order (motion: J. F. Stephen)

1849

Lent Term:

February 13: That the Revolution of 1688, does not deserve the name of glorious; but is rather to be considered inglorious and unjustifiable (motion: J. N. Luxmoore, amendment: R. Temple)

February 20: That the provision for the education of the people is totally inadequate; and that a large measure of State Education, ought to be immediately adopted (motion: W. V. Harcourt, amendment: A. Barry)

February 27: That the policy of Ministers during the last few years, towards our West Indian Colonies, has proved prejudicial, alike to the interests of those colonies, and to the advancement of the great principles of Liberty and Emancipation (motion: R. Stuart Lane, adjournment: T. P. Orde)

March 7: That this House approves the foreign policy of the present ministry during the last three years (motion: A. H. Louis, adjournment: F. J. A. Hort)

March 13: That this House regards with satisfaction, the bill brought into the House of Commons by Lord John Russell, for the Reform of Parliamentary Oaths (motion: R. Temple)

March 20: That this House does not regard with any satisfaction the prospect of constitutional development held out by the Royal Charter lately granted to Austria (motion: A. H. Louis, adjournment: R. Temple, due to "the number of Members in the House being very small")

Easter Term:

April 24: That the principle which asserts that education is a necessary previous condition of the conferring of the Suffrage, is unsound (motion: A.H. Louis)

May 1: That it is the opinion of this House, that the democratic principle of the British Constitution is best preserved, by the present civil position and formation of our Parliamentary Aristocracy (motion: H. Philips)

May 9: That the two first volumes of Mr. Macaulay's 'History of England' are utterly wanting in the most essential characteristics of a great history (motion: F. J. A. Hort, amendment: R. Temple, adjournment: H. Leach)

May 15: (adjourned debate) same as above

October Term:

October 30: That we consider the present system of indirect taxation as unjust in principle and injurious in practice; and therefore regard it as highly expedient that a system of direct taxation should be substituted in its stead (motion: H. Crookenden, opened: S. P. Butler)

November 6: That the policy pursued by Lord Elgin, and the English Government in Canada, is alike impolitic and unjustifiable (motion: H. Bramley, amendment: J. Ll. Davies)

November 13: That this House, while recognizing the sound judgment of the Hungarians in discontinuing a hopeless struggle, sympathizes with their efforts to preserve their national existence and constitution (motion: J. Westlake, adjournment: W. V. Harcourt, adjournment: G. Strachey)

November 20: That it is the opinion of this House, that the late armed French intervention in Italy, was alike unwarrantable and impolitic (motion: H. Leach)

November 27: That this House considers Mr. Cobden and his party to represent the rising good sense of the nation (motion: R. Sedgwick, adjournment: R. S. Lane, adjournment: H. C. E. Childers)

December 4: That the exclusion of the inferior clergy from Parliament is unconstitutional; and that the admission of a certain number of clerical representatives of that body into the House of Commons, would be a measure of sound policy (motion: J. Ll. Davies, amendment: G. M. Gorham)

1850

Lent Term:

February 5: That we heartily sympathise with Mr. Whiston in his endeavours to obtain an equitable distribution of Cathedral property; and we believe that the Church of England will be considerably strengthened by the inevitable consequences of these endeavours (motion: H.C.E. Childers, who was fined one Sovereign for not providing a substitute to open the debate)

February 12: That the agitation in favour of Protectionist reaction is short-sighted and mischievous (motion: R. Temple, amendment: R. Lane, adjournment: F. Richardson)

February 20: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: H. Bolland)

February 26: That in the opinion of this House, the present ministry has culpably neglected the commercial as well as the social interests of our colonies (motion: H. Leach, the debate was adjourned because of thin attendance)

March 5: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 12: That in the opinion of this House, the present condition of the suffrage requires alteration (motion: R. Stuart Lane)

Easter Term:

April 16: That in the opinion of this House, the dismissal of Lord Roden, from the Irish Magistracy, was not justified by the circumstances of the case (motion: R. Stuart Lane)

April 23: That it is the opinion of this House, that the principles promulgated by Mr. Carlyle, in his 'Latter-day Pamphlets,' are judicious; and their practical adoption would be beneficial to the country (motion: H. Leach, amendment: J. Ll. Davies, adjournment: F. J. A. Hort)

April 30: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 8: That a property qualification is an unfit basis for the electoral franchise; and that the suffrage should be extended – excluding only such persons as have been convicted of crime, or are in receipt of parochial relief (motion: W. V. Harcourt, adjournment: H. Leach)

May 15: (adjourned debate) same as above (T. Chenery opened the adjourned debate as proxy for Leach, amendment: H. Leach)

October Term:

October 29: That it is the opinion of this House, that the 'Exhibition of the Industry of All Nations,' to be held in 1851, will not be conducive to the true interests of this country (motion: H. Leach)

November 5: That this House coincides with the House of Lords, in condemning Lord Palmerston's policy on the Greek Question (motion: H. Leach, adjournment: A. Cohen)

November 13: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 19: That this House is of opinion, that the System of Education proposed by Mr. Fox, is contrary to the principles of true national education (motion: H. Morris)

November 26: That it is the opinion of this House, that the restoration of the legitimate line of princes to the throne, can alone restore stability to the government, and security to the people of France (motion: H. Leach, adjournment: H. Morris due to thin attendance and a concert taking place at the Town Hall)

December 3: (adjourned debate) same as above

1851

Lent Term:

February 19: That in the opinion of this House, the conduct of the Government in appointing a Royal Commission to examine into the state of the Universities, is both ungenerous and unwise (motion: S. Gedge, amendment: H. J. Roby)

February 25: That this House regards with deep indignation the late Papal Aggression; and heartily approves of Lord John Russell's conduct in the present crisis (motion: P. Laurence, amendment: S. Gedge)

March 5: That this House believes the lasting gratitude of the country is due to those, who – in the great Rebellion by their opposition to an unjust King – secured the Civil and Religious Liberties of this Realm (motion: H. A. Bright, amendment: P. Laurence)

March 11: That Vote by ballot would fail to accomplish its intended object; and would be productive of great injury to the National Character (motion: P. A. Smith)

March 18: That Lord Stanley's proposal to remove the Income Tax for the purpose of imposing a duty upon the subsistence of the people, violates every principle of sound taxation and good government; by relieving the rich at the expense of the poor; and is calculated – by alienating the confidence of the industrious classes in the justice of Parliament – to endanger the institutions of the country, which can only rest with safety upon the confidence and good will of the great masses of the people (motion: W. Vernon Harcourt)

March 25: That the withdrawal of the British Squadron, for the suppression of the African Slave Trade, would be inconsistent, impolitic, and unjust (motion: W. C. Bromehead)

April 1: That the present state of our trade, renders the principle of cooperation amongst workmen not only expedient, but absolutely necessary (motion: A. Turner, amendment: F. S. Powell)

Easter Term:

May 6: That this House, lamenting the death of Sir Robert Peel, considers that the country has lost in him a wise legislator, an honest statesman, and a true patriot (motion: P. Laurence)

May 13: That this House regards the conduct of the State, in withholding from the Church of England her ancient right of self-government (by Convoca-

tion) as arbitrary, unconstitutional, and unwise (motion: R. J. Livingstone, amendment: R. Temple)

May 19: That this House is of opinion, that the 'Society for the Promotion of Universal Peace' deserves the support of all Christian men (motion: James Payn)

October Term:

November 1: That the Policy of an Annual Grant to Maynooth College, is neither wise nor conciliatory (motion: S. P. Butler, adjournment: P. A. Smith)

November 10: That this House is of opinion, that the public manifestations in favour of M. Kossuth, are alike impolitic and ridiculous (motion: H. Leach)

November 18: That this House regards our present system of transportation as opposed to the dictates of enlightened policy, morality, and justice (motion: R. J. Livingstone)

November 25: That the Foreign Policy of the present government has been conducive to the honour and dignity of this country; and deserves the approbation of this House (motion: R. J. Cust)

December 2: That the existence of an hereditary Aristocracy is inimical to the best interests of all political communities (motion: James Payn)

December 9: That the political and social history of England, since the peace of 1815, has been one of real and great improvement; and that there is reason to trust – unless by the willful fault of the present generation – the future will be still happier than the past (motion: P. A. Smith, adjournment: W. J. Hall)

1852

Lent Term:

February 10: That a large and comprehensive extension of suffrage would be both expedient and advantageous (motion: James Payn)

February 17: That this House considers the conduct of Louis Napoleon, since the 2nd of December, 1851, utterly indefensible; and fraught with the greatest danger to the peace of Europe (motion: H. A. Bright, adjournment: E. Dicey)

February 24: That the Colonial policy of this country – as at present administered – is in principle and detail opposed to the true interests of Great Britain (motion: R. J. Livingstone)

March 3: That the Novelists of the present generation are superior to those of the preceding generation (motion: F. J. A. Hort)

March 9: That this House is of opinion, that the punishment of death – especially in its public infliction – is injurious to the community, and inefficient in its prevention of crime (motion: James Payn, amendment: W Mathews)

March 16: That the intellectual capacities of both sexes are equal (motion: W. E. Littlewood, amendment: E. G. Highton)

March 23: That it is the duty of the State to provide for the education of the people; and that that education – while not disassociated from religion – can only be conducted irrespectively of religious sects (motion: A. W. Pearson)

Easter Term:

April 28: That the Conservative is the only true and safe policy for Englishmen; and that the theories of Reformers – whether called Radicals, Chartists, or Christian-Socialists – are fraught with the greatest danger to the welfare and dignity of the country (motion: C. T. Swanston)

May 4: That the hesitation of the present Ministers to declare their opinion on free trade, and on other questions of the greatest importance, is particularly unworthy of those men who so violently attacked Sir Robert Peel on his repeal of the Corn Laws (motion: A. Cohen)

May 12: That this House views with much satisfaction the present government scheme for a Militia; and firmly believes in the expediency, the propriety, and the efficiency of that measure (motion: Sydney Gedge)

May 19: That the line of policy pursued by Mr. Cobden and the leaders of the independent party in the House of Commons, is upright, consistent, and commendable (motion: James Payn, adjournment: S. P. Butler)

May 25: (adjourned debate) same as above

October Term:

October 26: That it is desirable the British possessions at the Cape of Good Hope be abandoned (motion: L. Stephen, amendment: T. S. Carte)

November 2: That the revival of Convocation is undesirable (motion: F. V. Hawkins)

November 9: That a speedy emancipation of their slaves by the Americans would be right, practicable, and politic (motion: Sydney Gedge, amendment: W. F. Robinson)

November 16: That the Roman Catholic Emancipation Bill was founded on principles of justice no less than demanded by necessity; and has been productive of beneficial consequences to Great Britain (motion: V. Lushington)

November 23: That the establishment of the empire is likely to prove decidedly beneficial to the interests of France (motion: L. Stephen, amendment: C. Piffard, which was subsequently withdrawn)

November 30: That this House reposes confidence in the fitness of the present Ministers to govern the country; and in the purity of their motives (motion: C. T. Swanston, adjournment: E. G. Highton)

December 7: That the division of this country into Equal Electoral Districts, and a further extension of the franchise, would not be conducive to the interests of this country (motion: G. Bulstrode)

1853

Lent Term:

February 1: That the late Whig Government has claims to our respect and esteem; on account of their able administration of public affairs, and the measures of high public usefulness which they brought forward and carried (motion: V. Lushington)

February 8: That the present Administration is so constituted as to demand the confidence of the Country (motion: W. E. Littlewood, Gibbons was fined because he had been named as 'opposer' and failed to attend the debate)

February 16: That this House regards the projects of the Peace Society as visionary and dangerous (motion: Vernon Lushington)

February 23: That all legislation for the Colonies should have in view the unity of the British Empire (motion: G. Bulstrode)

March 1: That the Principles of Democracy are most conducive to the intellectual and material advancement of a Nation (motion: S. P. Butler, amendment: J. Ll. Davies)

March 8: That the Foreign Policy of the English Government ought to be exerted in favour of Consitutional Government abroad; and ought not to be merely neutral, or inactive (motion: A. Cohen)

April 12: That this House is of opinion, that the introduction of Vote by Ballot is desirable, as a means of securing the purity of elections (motion: E. Dicey)

April 19: That the late Sir Robert Peel was one of England's most enlightened statesmen, and most conscientious patriots (motion: C. S. Grubbe, adjournment: W. E. Littlewood)

April 26: That such an alteration be made in the Oath administered to Members of Parliament, as to permit a conscientious Jew to take his seat (motion: G. Bulstrode)

Easter Term:

May 3: That the principles of competition, assailed by the Christian Socialists, is the natural and necessary principle of commercial dealing; and, therefore, also, the basis of all commercial prosperity (motion: Vernon Lushington)

May 10: That the recent letters of Mr. Cobden have wholly failed in their attempt to ascribe the origin of the French Revolutionary War to the policy of Mr. Pitt's "First Administration" (motion: J. W. Wilkins)

May 17: That in the present condition of England, may be traced signs of National Decay (motion: F. Kelly)

October Term:

October 25: That the present existing Game Laws are injurious to the Agriculturist, as well as detrimental to the morality and well-being of the lower classes (motion: J. E. Hill)

November 1: That the demands of Russia upon Turkey are inadmissible; and that it is the duty – and for the interest – of England to oppose them, even at the hazard of war (motion: H. M. Butler, adjournment: C. S. Grubbe)

November 8: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: H. E. Tracey) November 15: That the number of recent strikes amongst all classes of workmen requires careful investigation, and some firm measure for their repression (motion: C. S. Grubbe)

November 22: That an extensive measure of Parliamentary Reform is, at present, uncalled for, unnecessary, and would probably be injurious (motion: A. G. Marten)

November 29: That the suppression of Monasteries by Henry VIII was highly beneficial to the country; and that their restitution, in the present day, would be inexpedient (motion: C. T. Swanston)

December 6: That Tennyson is the Poet of the 19th century (motion: S. E. Bengough, amendment: W. E. Littlewood)

1854

Lent Term:

February 14: That our present system of education, whereby classical literature is generally required as the first and chief knowledge, is unwise; and should be reformed (motion: Vernon Lushington)

February 21: That in the English Universities, as national institutions, Academical Tests ought to be abolished (motion: G. Alston)

March 1: That this House considers that the conduct of Ministers in bringing forward the question of Reform, at the present time, is judicious (motion: H. W. Elphinstone)

March 7: That the principles of Toryism are essentially adapted to the government of the British Empire (motion: G. Bulstrode, amendment: S. E. Bengough)

March 14: That the Crown should be empowered to confer Peerages for life (motion: A. G. Marten, amendment: C. Pearson)

March 21: That any scheme for the restoration of a Christian Empire in European Turkey, must be at once impolitic and chimerical (motion: J. W. Wilkins, amendment: H. W. Wilkins)

March 28: That since the time of Egbert there has been no royal line ruling in England, so incompetent and contemptible as that of Stuart (motion: C. S. Grubbe, amendment: W. Heeley)

Easter Term:

May 3: That a Representative Government would be conducive to the healthy action of the Established Church (motion: H. R. Droop)

May 16: That England should look, for her future greatness, rather to her agricultural than to her manufacturing industry (motion: G. Bulstrode)

May 24: That a system of compulsory education is imperatively required by the condition of the country (motion: A. G. Marten)

May 30: That this House views with pleasure the introduction of a bill into Parliament, for the abolition of Church Rates (motion: E. G. Alston)

October Term:

October 24: That National Character is deteriorated by the influence of the Drama (motion: G. Bulstrode, amendment: S. E. Bengough)

October 31: That the Allies should make the reconstruction of the Kingdom of Poland a condition of peace (motion: A. G. Marten)

November 7: That the acquisition of Cuba by the United States, would be advantageous to the interests, both of Europe and of that island (motion: W. C. Gully)

November 14: That this House views the proposed admission of Dissenters to the Universities as an act of wisdom and justice (motion: Fitzroy Kelly)

November 21: That Thackeray is the Novelist of the Age (motion: H. W. Elphinstone)

November 28: That it is the duty of Austria and Prussia to give active support to England and France during the present struggle (motion: Fitzroy Kelly, amendment: E. Latham)

December 5: That Shelley is the greatest poet that has appeared in England since the accession of George III (motion: H. M. Moule, amendment: J. C. Valentine)

December 12: That it is the duty of Her Majesty's Ministers, at the earliest possible opportunity, to attempt the carrying out of a system of national education, entirely freed from all sectarian conditions (motion: H. Fawcett)

1855

Lent Term:

February 6: That the restoration of conventual system, in a modified form, would be useful to the Church, and advantageous in the spread of religion (motion: G. Bulstrode, amendment: R. C. Burra)

February 13: That the recent resignation of Lord John Russell, was an act unworthy of a British statesman (motion: J. E. Gorst)

February 20: That it is desirable to impose some check upon the power of the Press in Great Britain; which has now reached a dangerous height (motion: W. D. Maclagan, amendment: H. R. Droop)

February 27: That the principle of hiring foreign troops, subjects of neutral government, is wrong (motion: H. M. Butler)

March 6: That a new system of promotion by merit should be substituted in the British Army, for the present system of promotion by interest and money (motion: W. C. Gully, amendment: H. W. Elphinstone)

March 13: That the character of the late Emperor of Russia, judged as a whole, is worthy of respect (motion: H. E. F. Tracey)

March 19: That the Public Parliamentary Inquiry into the state of the Army before Sebastopol is desirable; and will, probably, be highly beneficial (motion: A. G. Marten)

Easter Term:

April 24: That the party commonly called 'Cobdenite,' has done the country good service (motion: W. C. Gully, adjourned by the Chairman due to very few members present)

May 1: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 18: That, judging from present appearances, the results of the war will not be satisfactory, unless 'Independence of Poland' is restored (motion: H. Fawcett)

May 22: That the opening of the Crystal Palace on Sundays would not promote the welfare or the happiness of the people (motion: H. E. F. Tracey, adjourned due to insufficient number of members present)

October Term:

October 23: That the projected alliance of the Court of England with that of Prussia, would be dishonourable to the Crown (motion: H. E. F. Tracey, amendment: H. Fawcett)

October 30: That the 'Crystal Palace Company' might, probably with advantage both to themselves and the public, open a gallery of such works of art, as they could collect for sale, in aid of different charities (motion: R.C. Burra, who was not present and did not provide a substitute)

November 6: That the House views with dissatisfaction the operations in the Baltic during the past summer (motion: E. Latham)

November 13: That the conduct of the 'Times' Newspaper since the commencement of the present war, has been most unprincipled and unpatriotic (motion: J. E. Gorst)

November 20: That the present time is so favourable for the reestablishment of Peace, that it is the duty of the Western Powers to shew themselves ready to negotiate with Russia for that object (motion: E. E. Bowen)

November 27: That the present attitude of Sardinia affords the best hope for the freedom of Italy (motion: H. W. Elphinstone)

December 4: That this House fully approves of the late expulsion of the French Refugees from Jersey (motion: E. H. Fisher)

December 12: That an immediate and considerable extension of the Franchise is highly desirable (motion: W. C. Gully)

1856

Lent Term:

February 5: That the proposals accepted by Russia contain the basis of an honourable peace (motion: A. C. Elliott)

February 12: That the Income Tax is both unjust in theory, and absurd in practice (motion: A. L. Wyatt)

February 20: That the introduction of Life Peerages is a measure worthy of our approval (motion: C. Puller)

February 27: That it is highly desirable the term of tenure of Fellowships should be limited; that the restriction of celibacy should be abolished; that all who ever have been Fellows should have an equal claim with present fellows to College Livings, and should have a voice in the presentation to Church Patronage (motion: H. Fawcett)

March 4: That Lord John Russell deserves the gratitude of his country (motion: J.W. Mellor, amendment: C.A. Jones)

Easter Term:

April 8: That the character of Queen Elizabeth ought to stand high in our estimation (motion: R. B. Somerset)

April 15: That the system of National Education embodied in the resolutions put forward by Lord John Russell, seems most likely to conduce to the moral welfare of the country (motion: E. H. Fisher)

April 21: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 2: That the Annexation of Oude, was a justifiable and laudable act on the part of the British Administration in India (motion: W. L. Heeley)

May 6: That France is a declining power (motion: E. Bell)

May 13: That the 'Fall of Kars' is not attributable to any fault on the part of Her Majesty's Government (motion: C. Puller)

May 22: That the admission of Dissenters to the full privileges of the Universities would be a just and right measure (motion: J. W. Mellor)

October Term:

October 28: That the true principles of international justice, forbid the threatened interference of England and France at Naples (motion: E. E. Bowen)

November 4: That a system of National Education on a compulsory basis is much to be desired (motion: R. O'Hara)

November 11: That the Colonies should be represented in the Imperial Parliament (motion: J. J. Lias)

November 18: That the present peace with Russia affords no security against her endangering, at a future time, the freedom and independence of Asiatic and European Nations (motion: E. Bell)

November 25: That it is the duty of government to legislate with a view to the prevention, rather than the punishment of crime (motion: E. Noel, amendment: P. Spencer)

December 2: That the Jews ought not to be excluded from the British Parliament (motion: Hon. R. Noel)

December 9: That the interference of the King of Prussia with the affairs of Neufchatel is unwarrantable, and unjust (motion: W. S. Smith)

1857

Lent Term:

February 3: That it is not desirable to return to the ancient method of disposing of the dead by concremation (motion: J. W. Dunning)

February 10: That the recent conduct of the British Authorities at Canton, is inconsistent with justice (motion: C. Trotter)

February 17: That the present war with Persia is a just and necessary one (motion: W. S. Thomason, adjournment: Lord Royston, amendment: J. J. Cowell)

February 23: That the establishment, under proper supervision, of religious brotherhoods and sisterhoods, would be advantageous (motion: J. J. Lias)

March 3: That the Franchise should be extended to ten-pound householders in the Counties (motion: E. Noel)

March 10: That this House would regret a change, at the present time, in Her Majesty's Government (motion: C. A. Jones, adjournment: J. W. Dunning)

March 17: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 24: That Sir John Pakington's Education Bill is a measure sound in principle, and at the present time expedient (motion: P. W. Bunting) **Easter Term:**

April 28: That this House would desire to see a measure of Parliamentary Reform passed by the New Parliament, either in the ensuing or in the subsequent session (motion: C. A. Jones)

May 5: That the present relations of Church and State are anomalous and unsatisfactory (motion: J. J. Lias, amendment: E. Bell, which was withdrawn by the leave of the House)

May 19: That the Government of Louis Napoleon being founded on injustice, offers no security for the permanent welfare of France (motion: H. J. Matthew, amendment: R. C. Raikes)

May 27: That this House would regret to see the Bill for the Admission of Jews to Parliament, again rejected by the House of Lords (motion: C. A. Jones, adjournment: J. E. Palmer)

June 2: (adjourned debate) same as above

October Term:

October 27: That any clemency shown to the mutineers now in arms in India, would amount to a national crime (motion: H. C. Raikes)

November 3: That the conduct of the government of India since the beginning of the mutiny has been most injudicious and improper (motion: J. J. Cowell)

November 10: That the system of purchase in the army should be retained (motion: Hon. E. M. Ashley)

November 18: That 'Punch' is a public benefactor (motion: W. T. Edwards, amendment: Hon. A. Canning)

November 24: That Capital Punishment enforced uniformly and without appeal, would be a just and efficient check on the crime of murder (motion: G. O. Trevelyan, amendment: H. C. Raikes, adjournment: J. J. Cowell)

December 1: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: J. J. Cowell)

December 8: That Currer Bell [pseudonym of Charlotte Brontë] is not justly entitled to the great popularity her works enjoy (motion: W. S. Thomason, amendment: H. Sidgwick)

1858

Lent Term:

February 2: That the late suppression of public journals by the Emperor of the French, is an impolitic and tyrannical measure (motion: T. J. Clarke)

February 9: That this House would regret to see the abolition of the political power of the East India Company (motion: C. Trotter)

February 16: That the measure proposed by Lord Palmerston for the alteration of the Law against Conspiracy is inopportune and uncalled for (motion: H. J. Matthew, adjournment: G. O. Trevelyan)

February 23: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 2: That Juvenile Reformatories are likely to be affective in repressing crime and are worthy of support (motion: S. E. Bartlett, amendment: H. Geary)

March 9: That Parliamentary Reform on the principles of 1832, is not required by the interests of the Country (motion: Sir G. Young, adjournment: H. C. Raikes)

March 16: (adjourned debate) same as above **Easter Term:**

April 20: That this House having considered both bills that have been submitted to Parliament for the transfer of the government of India from the East India Company to Her Majesty, considers that neither of them is sufficient to insure the better government of India (motion: R. O'Hara)

April 27: That this House considers the present condition of France to be very lamentable (motion: J. J. Cowell)

May 4: That this House regrets that Bernard escaped punishment (motion: H. C. Raikes, opened: H. Hanson)

May 19: That it is the duty of England to afford a firm support to Sardinia, in the event of a war between her and Naples (motion: O. Browning)

May 25: That Her Majesty's Government were bound to signify to Lord Canning their disapproval of his Oude Proclamation (motion: H. J. Matthew)

June 1: That the principles of the Pre-Raffaelites are true, and worthy of imitation (motion: W. S. Thomason, adjourned till the October term due to insufficient number of members present)

October Term:

October 25: That Homeopathy recommends itself to our reason, and is not irreconcilable with experience (motion: H. Hanson)

November 2: That the present system of Examination for the Civil Service of the Crown is likely to interfere with the prosperity of the great educational establishments of this country (motion: R. O'Hara, amendment: E. L. A. Clarke)

November 9: That England should have protected Portugal from the demands of France respecting the ship 'Charles-et-Georges' (motion: H. Geary, adjournment: A. J. Patterson)

November 16: That this House views with disapprobation and distrust the principles enunciated by Mr. Bright (motion: H. C. Raikes)

November 23: That this House would regret to see any measure again introduced into Parliament having for its object the total and unconditional abolition of Church Rates (motion: R. D. Pierpoint)

November 30: That this House would regard with satisfaction the introduction of the system of voting by ballot at the election of Members of Parliament (motion: J. J. Cowell)

December 7: That this House disapproves of any interference with the internal affairs of foreign nations (motion: H. Brandreth, amendment: E. H. Fisher)

1859

Lent Term:

February 8: That the stringent measures adopted by Government with reference to the Seditious Societies lately discovered in Ireland, are deserving of approbation (motion: H. C. Raikes)

February 15: That the position taken for England by the present government with reference to the Italian Question, is the only one tenable (motion: E. H. Fisher)

February 22: That the recent demand of the inhabitants of the Ionian Islands for union with Greece was founded on justice (motion: H. Sidgwick)

March 2: That this House would rejoice to see the Nursing in our hospitals entrusted to religious sisterhoods (motion: H. J. Matthew)

March 8: That the Bill of parliamentary reform introduced by Lord Derby's government, is not satisfactory to this House (motion: M. C. Buszard, amendment: R. D. Pierpoint)

March 15: That the Resolutions of Sir A. H. Elton seem to point to the best practicable solution of the Church-Rate Question (motion: C. Trotter, adjournment: E. T. Arden)

March 22: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 29: That this House condemns Lord John Russell's amendment on the reform bill (motion: H. C. Raikes)

April 5: That this House strongly disapproves of the Bill for legalizing marriage with a deceased wife's sister (motion: F. Ll. Bagshawe)

Easter Term:

May 10: That it is the duty of England immediately to make preparations for war (motion: J. J. Cowell, which was withdrawn by the proposer due to "very few Members present")

May 17: That the Policy of Sardinia is injurious to the true interests of Italy (motion: T. W. Beddome)

May 31: That Non-interference is a principle of British policy (motion: H. Hanson, no debate due to very few Members present)

October Term:

October 25: That the present system of anonymous journalism is by no means satisfactory (motion: F. Ll. Bagshawe)

November 1: That this House finds it impossible to justify the conduct of the working classes in the recent strikes (motion: M. C. Buszard)

November 9: That the only way to check bribery at elections, is punishment of the bribed (motion: H. C. Raikes)

November 15: That the conduct of the Emperor Napoleon since the conclusion of the late war is deserving of the severest censure (motion: H. Geary)

November 22: That the existence of parties in a state is favourable to the public welfare (motion: C. Dalrymple)

November 29: That it is the duty of the English Government to insist at all risks upon the evacuation of the Island of San Juan, before consenting to any discussion of their title with the Government of the United States (motion: J. J. Cowell)

December 6: That it is the opinion of this House that it is necessary for the true administration of justice that a Criminal Court of Appeal be instituted (motion: W. Savory)

1860

Lent Term:

February 7: That this House would strongly disapprove of the abolition of the system of fagging in our Public Schools (motion: E. Huxtable)

February 14: That the power of the third estate in England ought to be diminished (motion: R. C. Lush)

February 21: That the Government have been guilty of neglect in not adopting more vigorous measures for the suppression of the Outrages in St. George's in the East (motion: F. Ll. Bagshawe)

February 28: That the study of Politics is unduly neglected in this University (motion: H. Sidgwick)

March 6: That it is incumbent on us to refuse adherence both to the Liberal and Conservative factions (motion: Sir G. Young, amendments: E. T. Carey, H. Geary)

March 13: That the Great Powers ought to make the annexation of Savoy to France a 'Casus Belli' (motion: C. Trotter)

March 20: That the abolition of the compulsory celibacy of Fellows of Colleges would be an undesirable innovation (motion: H. Geary, amendment: P. Kent)

Easter Term:

April 24: That every possible means ought to be taken to put a stop, by law, to Prize-fights (motion: F. Ll. Bagshawe)

May 1: That the system of inducing men to take the Temperance Pledge is not consistent with our National Character (motion: W. Bettison)

May 8: That the Bill now before the House of Commons for the better representation of the people, ought not to pass into Law (motion: A. Rogers)

May 22: That Lord Derby, as the leader of English Conservatives, will be justified in using all his influence to prevent the repeal of the Paper Duty (motion: R. C. Lush)

May 29: That the Political Conduct of Mr. Gladstone does not entitle him to our confidence (motion: W. J. Lawrance, debate was adjourned to June 5 when the motion was withdrawn)

October Term:

October 30: That the Garibaldi volunteer movement is deserving of confidence (motion: H. Geary)

November 6: That the Emperor of the French has entirely forfeited the good opinion of the English people (motion: P. Kent)

November 13: That the general tone of the 'Saturday Review' is subversive of the principles of true criticism (motion: C. Dalrymple)

November 20: That the Colonists in New Zealand are engaged in iniquitous war (motion: Sir G. Young, amendment: A. H. Hill)

November 27: That the Dissolution of the English Monasteries was justifiable and beneficial (motion: R. F. Woodward, amendment: W. L. Bull)

December 4: That so-called 'Spiritualism' deserves a more serious consideration than it has hitherto received (motion: W. S. Coward)

December 11: That the better Education of Women is now desirable in this Country (motion: A. H. Hill)

1861

Lent Term:

February 5: That, so far as expediency alone is concerned, this House sees no reason for the abolition of capital punishment (motion: R. C. Lush)

February 12: That this House sees no cause for regret in the probable separation of the United States (motion: Sir G. Young)

February 19: That this House cannot approve the conduct of Garibaldi during the last year (motion: W. M. Lane)

February 26: That Mr. Carlyle is not justified in stigmatizing the present age as peculiarly an age of Shams (motion: R. H. Wilson, amendment: H. Sidgwick)

March 5: That, in the opinion of this House, Fellowships ought to be held exclusively by Members of the Church of England (motion: F. Ll. Bagshawe)

March 12: That this House sees no reason to despair of the Regeneration of the Austrian Empire; and considers its permanence important to the welfare of Europe (motion: C. Trotter)

Easter Term:

April 16: That this House is of opinion that the concessions lately made by Russia to Poland are for the present sufficient (motion: N. G. Armytage)

April 23: That the recent spread of Periodical Literature in this country is prejudicial to the promotion of true taste (motion: V. W. Hutton)

April 30: That the interests of Europe demand the speedy termination of the Pope's residence in Rome (motion: W. Everett)

May 7: That it is the opinion of this House that, for the prevention of corruption practices in elections, the ballot is desirable (motion: W. Savory)

May 28: That the introduction of military studies into this University would be prejudicial to the present system of university education (motion: G. A. Skinner)

June 4: That this House is of opinion that the fall of the Government during the present session would be prejudicial to the true interests of Conservatism (motion: F. Ll. Bagshawe, which was withdrawn due to very few Members present)

October Term:

October 29: That this House sees reason to doubt the efficiency of competitive examinations, as applied to the Civil Service of this country (motion: W. Everett, amendment: E. L. O'Malley)

November 5: That this House views with satisfaction the policy pursued by Lord Palmerston's government (motion: T. Beard)

November 12: That the remarks made on the 'Cambridge Proctorial System' in the ultra-radical *Daily Telegraph*, of Monday, November 4th, 1861, were impertinent and uncalled for (motion: G. F. Radford)

November 19: That the idea of national unity, or common nationality with another people, does not justify revolutionary proceedings either in governors or governed (motion: Sir G. Young)

November 26: That the time has now arrived when the European Powers should interfere in affairs of America (motion: J. Greatheed)

December 3: That it is the opinion of this House that the abolition of the system of Commission-Purchase in the Army is an undesirable measure (motion: W. G. Wrightson)

December 10: That the seizure of Messrs. Slidell and Mason, by the American ship 'San Jacinta,' was a breach of international law, and demands immediate reparation (motion: V. W. Hutton, amendment: H. Y. Thompson)

1862

Lent Term:

February 4: That the present position of Church and State in this country calls for a reform, which shall give a greater independency of action to the Church (motion: G. Body)

February 11: That the tone adopted by the 'Times' newspaper with reference to the American Crisis, has been hasty and impolitic (motion: E. H. McNeile)

February 18: That the other University pursuits ought, as little as possible, to interfere with the efficiency of the Volunteer Corps (motion: J. Greatheed)

February 25: That a revision of the Common Prayer-Book of the Church of England would be an undesirable measure (motion: E. L. O'Malley)

March 4: That it is necessary for the welfare of the Church that the Pope should not be possessed of temporal power (motion: N. G. Armytage, amendments: Sir G. Young, H. Sidgwick)

March 11: That the step proposed in the Revised Code of making the government grant to Elementary Schools dependent on an examination, is unsatisfactory (motion: C. S. Isaacson)

March 18: That it is impossible for a Civil Government to maintain strict impartiality towards all forms of religion (motion: E. H. McNeile)

March 25: That the expenses incurred by the English troops in the war in New Zealand, ought to be paid by the inhabitants of New Zealand (motion: W. M. Lane)

April 1: That the theory of Absolute Monarchy is totally alien to the spirit of the age (motion: W. Everett)

Easter Term:

May 13: That the principles of Homeopathy deserve our confidence and support (motion: E. H. McNeile)

May 27: That it is expedient to open college fellowships to the University (motion: H. Lee Warner)

October Term:

October 28: That the cause of the Northern States of America is the Cause of Humanity and Progress: and that the wide spread sympathy for the Confederates is the result of ignorance and misrepresentation (motion: S. R. Calthrop, adjournment: E. H. McNeile)

October 29: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 4: That the French occupation of Rome justifies the recent attempt of General Garibaldi (motion: R. D. Bennett)

November 11: That it would be expedient to legalize Marriage with a deceased wife's sister (motion: Lord Amberley)

November 18: That there is no sufficient ground, in the present relations of the English Colonies to the mother country, for proposing to put an end to them (motion: J. B. Payne)

November 25: That the manner in which the affairs of the International Exhibition have been conducted by her Majesty's commissioners, has tended to throw discredit upon a great and useful undertaking (motion: H. M. Hyndman)

December 2: That the present Ticket-of-Leave system is unjustifiable in theory and unsuccessful in practice (motion: B. Champneys)

December 9: That Prince Alfred should be permitted to accept the throne of Greece (motion: A. G. Shiell)

1863

Lent Term:

February 3: That the recent Foreign policy of our government is open to grave censure (motion: S. B. Phillpotts)

February 10: That the Polish Insurrection is ill-advised and undeserving the sympathy of the English nation (motion: J. B. Payne)

February 17: That it is the duty of England to maintain her protectorate over the Ionian Islands (motion: E. G. Wood)

February 24: That the conduct of the Federal Government towards General McClellan has been characterized throughout by gross injustice (motion: P. V. Smith)

March 3: That it would be expedient to abolish capital punishment (motion: G. Shee)

March 11: That it is expedient that England should obtain the independence of Russian Poland by diplomatic intervention; and, if necessary, by force of arms (motion: R. Ramsden, amendment: P. Kent)

March 17: That the character of Henry VIII, as presented by Mr. Froude in his 'History of England,' is more just than that which previously obtained (motion: S. B. Phillpotts as proxy for N. Goodman)

Easter Term:

April 21: That this House regrets the prosecution, on the grounds of non-conformity, of Professor Jowett and others: and this House cannot in general approve of the infliction of social penalties, as a means for suppressing the utterance of conscientious opinion (motion: E. W. Chapman, amendment: W. Everett)

April 28: That the policy of the Emperor Napoleon III. has been beneficial to Europe (motion: H. Peto)

June 2: That it would be inexpedient to admit non-conformists to fellowships in the University (motion: H. D. Jones)

October Term:

October 27: That too much favour has been shewn by the public opinion of the country, to the cause and conduct of the Confederate States (motion: H. N. Mozley)

November 4: That a change in our system of Coinage, Weigths, and Measures is much needed (motion: C. W. Dilke)

November 10: That the seizure of the steam rams 'El Tousin' and 'El Monnassir' by the government is an act to be deprecated (motion: A. G. Shiell)

November 17: That the government of this country ought to use all its influence in order to secure the liberties of Poland; but it would not be justified in making war with Russia on behalf of that country (motion: H. Peto, amendment: N. Goodman)

November 24: That this House has no expectation that any substantial benefits would accrue to the nations of Europe, from the deliberations of an International Congress (motion: E. W. Chapman)

December 1: That Mr. Darwin's 'Theory of the Origin of Species' is more consistent with the facts of natural history than any other (motion: N. Goodman)

December 8: That, in the opinion of this House, women should be admitted to University Degrees, and to Professional Diplomas (motion: W. H. Winterbotham)

1864

Lent Term:

February 2: That armed interference by England on behalf of the Danes has become necessary (motion: C. W. Dilke)

February 9: That the efforts of the members of the French Opposition, in the cause of liberty, are deserving of our warmest sympathy (motion: H. M. Hyndman)

February 16: That this House disapproves of the foreign policy of Lord Palmerston's government (motion: H. D. Jones, adjournment: C. W. Dilke)

February 17: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 22: That the influence of the cheap Press has upon the whole been beneficial (motion: T. G. Osborn)

March 1: That the conduct of the present administration towards France, has been unworthy of the country (motion: L. Sergeant)

March 8: That it is the opinion of this House, that the English Church, as established in Ireland, is an injustice to the Irish people (motion: N. Goodman) **Easter Term:**

April 12: That Great Britain ought not to part with any of her colonies at present (motion: H. N. Mozley)

April 19: That the results of the Public Schools Commission will, in the opinion of this House, be materially beneficial to education (motion: F. Pollock, amendments: R. Collier, S. B. Phillpotts)

May 24: That the honours recently shown in England to General Garibaldi, were calculated to excite reasonable alarm and distrust of this country (motion: J. B. Payne)

October Term:

October 25: That this House would view without regret the voluntary separation of Australia from England (motion: C. W. Dilke)

November 1: That the conditions of the Franco-Italian Convention meet with the approbation of this House (motion: H. Peto, amendment: C. Greene)

November 8: That the limitation of fellowships in the universities to members of the Established Church is inexpedient (motion: J. R. Hollond)

November 15: That the House views with disapproval the amount of hostility which has been directed against the efforts of 'Brother Ignatius' (motion: C. Greene)

November 22: That in the opinion of this House the character of Oliver Cromwell ought to meet with the disapproval of every true Englishman (motion: R. A. Palmer)

November 29: That this House would approve a moderate extension of the Franchise, as a measure likely to benefit the nation (motion: F. T. Payne)

December 6: That this House disapproves of the compulsory attendance at the College Chapels as at present enforced (motion: J. R. Hollond)

1865

Lent Term:

February 7: That in the opinion of this House, there is no sufficient reason to believe that spiritual agency is concerned in the manifestations of the so-called Mediums (motion: S. Colvin, no other member rose to speak so the motion was declared carried unanimously by the President)

February 14: That this House would view with regret the success of the Confederates in the present American War, as a fatal blow to the cause of freedom, and to the stability of all government (motion: F. T. Payne, adjournment: C. Greene)

February 21: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 28: That in the opinion of this House, capital punishment as at present administered is injurious to public morality (motion: H. L. Anderton, amendment: G. Shee, adjournment: F. T. Payne)

March 7: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 14: That in the opinion of this House, the Established Church in Ireland ought to be maintained as an endowed establishment by our government (motion: F. A. Mather, amendment: F. Bingham, adjournment: C. Woodroffe)

March 21: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 28: That the outcry against sensation literature, is illiterate and illiberal (motion: H. N. Grimley)

Easter Term:

May 9: That in the opinion of this House, the adoption of the ballot in parliamentary elections, would be unadvisable (motion: H. L. Anderton)

May 30: That this House considers the ministry entitled to the confidence and support of the nation at the ensuing general election (motion: H. Peto) **October Term:**

October 24: That this House views with satisfaction the result of the late general election (motion: H. Peto)

October 31: That while this House condemns the recent Fenian Conspiracy, it nevertheless considers that the disaffection in Ireland has been produced by English mis-government (motion: H. L. Anderton)

November 7: That this House would view with approval a moderate extension of the Franchise, in both Counties and Boroughs (motion: Lord E. Fitzmaurice)

November 14: That this House views with satisfaction the present course of affairs in America; and the Re-construction Policy of President Johnson (motion: S. Colvin, no one else rising to speak on the motion the opener added a few words after which the President put the question to the House which was carried unanimously)

November 21: That this House views with satisfaction the recent rejection of Mr. Gladstone as Member for the University of Oxford (motion: W. A. Lindsay)

November 28: That this House would disapprove any alteration in the Game Laws, which would make Game the property of the Tenant (motion: C. Woodrooffe)

December 4: That this House believes the existing connexion between the State and the Church to be wrong in points of morality and public policy (motion: F. T. Payne, amendment: J. W. Tipping)

1866

Lent Term:

February 6: That the conduct of Governor Eyre in suppressing the late insurrection in Jamaica, deserves the approval of this House, and the thanks of the country (motion: H. L. Anderton, adjournment: C. W. Dilke)

February 13: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendments: W. A. Lindsay, B. M. Haggard)

February 20: That this House would view with satisfaction the abolition of Church Rates (motion: H. A. Rigg)

February 27: That the generous offer of Mr. Thompson to endow an American Lectureship for this University, meets with the approval of this House (motion: F. A. Mather, adjournment: Lord E. Fitzmaurice)

February 28: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 6: That, in the opinion of this House, the principle embodied in the bill proposed by Mr. Clay, M.P. for Hull, placing the Electoral Franchise on an intellectual basis, is the scheme of Reform that will best promote the welfare of the nation (motion: S. J. Rice)

March 13: That this House would view with satisfaction, the abolition of all Religious Tests and Subscriptions, now required for admission to fellowships in this University (motion: A. S. Wilkins)

Easter Term:

April 17: That this House accepts the Government Reform Bill (motion: C. W. Dilke, amendment: W. A. Lindsay, adjournment: N. Moore)

April 18: (adjourned debate) same as above

April 24: That this House disapproves of the system of enforced attendance at the College Chapels in this University (motion: H. L. Anderton)

May 1: That with reference to the recent election for the Borough of Cambridge, this House – first, Expresses itself satisfied with the result; secondly, Is of opinion that, in future, every resident Master of Arts should have a vote for the Borough (motion: J. W. Tipping, amendment: W. Vincent, with permission of the House the second clause of the motion and the amendment were withdrawn)

May 8: That the government, by remaining in office, have shewn a most disinterested and praiseworthy desire to settle the Reform Question (motion: R. Collier)

May 29: That the election of one who is not a Member of the Church of England to a teaching office in this University, is a precedent in the highest degree dangerous (motion: M. J. Sutton)

October Term:

October 30: That this House views with regret the late substitution of a Conservative Government for a Liberal Government (motion: F. T. Payne, amendment: W. Vincent)

November 6: That this House looks back with grief and shame upon the Act of Uniformity of 1662 (motion: A. S. Wilkins)

November 13: That the total exclusion of women from the Franchise, who are otherwise qualified, is an insult to the sex, an injustice to the claims of property, and a loss to the Country (motion: G. C. Whiteley)

November 20: That this House would disapprove of a purely secular system of national education (motion: W. R. Kennedy)

November 27: That the suppression of Monasteries by Henry VIII, has been most injurious to this Country; and the circumstances of the present times imperatively demand the restoration of similar institutions (motion: W. Vincent, amendments: C. Greene, W. A. Lindsay, adjournment: A. S. Wilkins)

November 28: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 4: That this House regrets the issue of recent events in Germany, and desires particularly to express its sympathy with the misfortunes of Austria and Saxony (motion: W. A. Lindsay, amendment: A. S. Wilkins)

December 11: That this House views with satisfaction the late Reform Demonstration; and is thereby confirmed in the opinion that the desire of the Working-man for the Franchise, has been greatly exaggerated (motion: C. Greene)

1867

Lent Term:

February 5: That in the opinion of this House the maintenance of the Irish Established Church on its present footing, is an injustice to the people of that country (motion: H. L. Anderton)

February 12: That, in the opinion of this House, the present lamentable state of the British Drama is owing to the want of dramatic talent on the part of writers of plays, and not to any falling off in public taste (motion: G. A. Critchett)

February 19: That, in the opinion of this House, Her Majesty's Government has exhibited a patriotic sense of duty, and a sincere desire to settle the Reform Question in the scheme they have laid before Parliament on the subject (motion: W. A. Lindsay)

February 26: That in the opinion of this House the prosecution of Ex-Governor Eyre is unjust and uncalled for (motion: W. Vincent, amendments: H. L. Anderton, C. Greene)

March 5: That this House while strongly disapproving of the Mormon Institution, yet thinks any attempt to repress it forcibly, unjustifiable (motion: W. R. Kennedy)

March 12: That in the opinion of this House the Hebdomadal Council at Oxford have neglected an opportunity of adding fresh luster to their University by the refusal of an honorary degree of Mr. R. Browning; and that this House would view with marked approbation the conferring that honour on so distinguished a poet by our own University (motion: G. W. Forrest, amendment: W. Lee-Warner)

March 19: That in the opinion of this House the present Irish Rebellion, though ill considered, is by no means dishonourable to the Irish people (motion: N. Moore, amendments: N. E. Hartog, W. Vincent)

March 26: That in the opinion of this House, some system of compulsory education should be adopted in England (motion: E. Armitage)

April 2: That this House considers that it is expedient that, for the present, Candia should remain under the dominion of Turkey (motion: A. Colvin) **Easter Term:**

May 7: That this House would view with regret the passing of Mr. Fawcett's Bill for admitting Dissenters to Fellowships (motion: N. Moore, amendment: W. Cullinan)

May 14: That Wordsworth is the great regenerator of modern English poetry (motion: F. G. Luke, amendment: A. S. Wilkins)

May 28: That in the opinion of this House, women should be admitted to University Degrees and Professional Diplomas (motion: G.C. Whiteley)

June 4: That, in the opinion of this House, the substitution of Stipendiary for Unpaid Magistrates would be beneficial to this Country (motion: J. W. Cooper)

October Term:

October 29: That this House desires to record its satisfaction at the Reform Bill lately introduced by the Conservative Government, and its admiration at the brilliant leadership of Mr. Disraeli, in the House of Commons (motion: E. A. Owen, adjournment: N. Moore, amendment to adjournment: W. Lee-Warner)

October 30: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: F. T. Payne, adjournment: W. Vincent)

November 5: That this House disapproves the French intervention in Rome (motion: A. S. Wilkins)

November 12: That, in the opinion of this House, the British Museum and other similar institutions should be opened on Sunday, in order the better to

bring the people of this Country in contact with national works of art (motion: W. A. Lindsay)

November 19: That this House would view with satisfaction the abolition of religious tests in the university (motion: H. D. Warr, opened: F. T. Payne)

November 26: That, in the opinion of this House, any party legislation against the Ritualists is unadvisable (motion: C. Greene, amendment: A. S. Wilkins)

December 3: That, in the opinion of this House, the enthusiasm and energy of the present day are equal to the enthusiasm and energy of any previous age (motion: N. Moore, amendment: W. A. Lindsay)

December 10: That this House considers that the Middle Classes of our Country are, in the main, responsible for the great existing national evils (motion: R. T. Wright)

1868

Lent Term:

February 4: That this House approves of the conduct of the Government in allowing the late Fenian Executions in Manchester to take place (motion: J. F. Popham)

February 11: That, in the opinion of this House, the educational system of this University does not meet the educational wants of the times (motion: H. G. Seeley)

February 18: That this House would approve of the extension of the Franchise to Women, who are otherwise qualified (motion: G. C. Whiteley)

February 25: That this House would regard with satisfaction the Abolition of Capital Punishment (motion: W. R. Kennedy, amendment: H. G. Seeley)

March 3: That this House considers the existence of any Political Constituency from which Dissenters are excluded, to be discreditable to the country (motion: W. Wiles, amendment: H. H. Jeaffreson)

March 10: That, in the opinion of this House, the recent appointment of Mr. Disraeli is a sign of decay in the political life of this Country (motion: N. Moore, amendments: C. Fagan, W. Vincent)

March 17: That the state of Ireland justifies the use of extraordinary conciliatory measures (motion: J. F. Moulton, amendment: N. Moore, adjournment: Fitzgerald)

March 18: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 24: That this House disapproves of the system of compulsory chapels existing in the University (motion: J. E. Symes)

Easter Term:

May 5: That the present Government has justly forfeited the confidence of the country (motion: A. S. Wilkins, adjournment: E. S. Shuckburgh)

May 6: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 12: That, in the opinion of this House, the present unlimited and dangerous power of 'trade unions' would be best controlled by establishing them as corporate bodies with definite rights (motion: N. Moore)

May 19: That this House approves of the proposal to admit to the University students not connected with any college (motion: A. S. Wilkins, amendment: J. D. Fitzgerald)

June 2: That this House views with admiration, the efforts of women to establish for themselves colleges, on the principles of those existing for men (motion: H. G. Seeley)

October Term:

October 27: That, in the opinion of this House, anonymous journalism is a thing to be discouraged (motion: W. K. Clifford)

November 3: That, in the opinion of this House, no modern scheme of reform in this University would be so efficacious as the restoration of those ancient principles of its constitution which have been unnecessarily abandoned (motion: N. Moore)

November 10: That, in the opinion of this House, the present College Kitchen System in this University is execrable; and no permanent improvement is possible until irresponsible cooks exchange their practical monopoly for the position of college servants (motion: Frank Watson)

November 17: That, in the opinion of this House, the recent charges of reckless expenditure brought against the present Government, are unjust; and deserving of the strongest censure (motion: J. Adam, amendment: N. Moore)

November 24: That this House watches with interest the progress of the scheme by which students not connected with any college have been admitted members of the University of Oxford, and looks forward with approval to the introduction of a similar scheme in our own University (motion: S. Thackrah)

December 1: That this House views with satisfaction the result of the General Election (motion: J. D. Fitzgerald, amendment: R. Purvis, adjournment: H. G. Seeley)

December 2: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 8: Believing that the Artizans are the hope of the Country, this House would view with admiration the passing of an Education Bill (motion: H. G. Seeley, amendment: J. E. Symes)

1869

Lent Term:

February 1: That the proposed abandonment of Gibraltar by the English is in every respect unnecessary and inexpedient (motion: R. Purvis)

February 9: That this House would view with dissatisfaction the use of the Ballot at Parliamentary Elections (motion: D. Campbell)

February 16: That the Girl of the Period is worthy of our admiration (motion: H. G. Seeley, amendment: A. C. P. Coote)

February 23: That the present Government is deserving of the confidence of the Country (motion: J. E. Symes)

March 2: That this House would approve of the opening of the British Museum and National Institutions on Sunday (motion: I. Davis, amendment: J. E. Johnson)

March 9: That this House would view with satisfaction the abolition of Triposes (motion: R. J. Watson)

Easter Term:

April 13: That this House is of opinion that horse racing in its present state is injurious to the welfare of this Country (motion: R. T. Wright)

April 27: That in the opinion of this House the increase of convents in this Country requires some immediate check (motion: S. Leeke)

May 4: That in the opinion of this House the Colonies of British North America and Australia, when ready for independent government, should be separated from the mother Country (motion: C. H. Pierson)

May 11: That this House would approve of legislative checks on the increase of Population (motion: H. G. Seeley)

May 18: That in the opinion of this House the settlement of the Land Question in Ireland is of far greater importance than any measure in connexion with the Church (motion: A. C. P. Coote, amendment: J. D. Fitzgerald, adjournment: H. Fox)

May 19: (adjourned debate) same as above

October Term:

October 26: That there is no truth in the statement that England is becoming a second-rate power (motion: I. Davis, amendment: J. Adam)

November 2: That, in the opinion of this House, any system of national education to be efficient must be of a denominational rather than a secular character (motion: G. Warington, amendment: D. L. Boyes)

November 9: That, in the opinion of this House, the power at present possessed by Trades-Unions is dangerous to the commercial interests of the Country, and any undue use of this power ought to be checked by Legislation (motion: J. E. Johnson, amendment: J. E. Symes)

November 16: That a re-organization of the policy of the Conservative party is desirable (motion: Hon. C. H. Strutt)

November 23: That this House would view with satisfaction the Abolition of Religious Tests in the University (motion: J. E. Symes)

November 30: That, in the opinion of this House, it is desirable that the connection at present existing between the Church and the State in this Country, should be dissolved (motion: A. Foster)

December 7: That this Society watches with interest and sympathy the career of the Ladies' College at Hitchin (motion: I. Davis, opened: J. F. Moulton, amendment: E. H. Shears)

1870

Lent Term:

February 8: That this House would strongly condemn any Irish Land-bill which in the least degree violated the rights of existing proprietors (motion: J. De Soyres, amendment: D. L. Boyes)

February 15: That, in the opinion of this House, the scheme of the Educational League is worthy of the support of the nation (motion: A. W. Dilke, adjournment: W. F. J. Romanis)

February 18: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 22: That this House approves of the extension of the Franchise to women (motion: T. O. Harding)

March 1: That this House would view with satisfaction the abolition of Compulsory Chapels (motion: E. K. Purnell)

March 8: That this House supports the Church Establishment in this Country; but is of opinion that its basis should be enlargened (motion: C. H. Pierson, amendments: J. E. Symes, D. L. Boyes, adjournment: J. De Soyres)

March 15: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 22: That this House would view with satisfaction the abolition of Capital Punishment (motion: W. B. Odgers)

March 29: That this House views with regret the present unsatisfactory state of the English Drama (motion: H. F. Dickens)

Easter Term:

May 3: That this House, while approving of the establishment of a Second Parliamentary Chamber, considers that its character should not be hereditary (motion: D. L. Boyes)

May 10: That the present Colonial Policy of the Government deserves the condemnation of the Nation, as tending to the ultimate disintegration of the Empire (motion: R. Rocke)

May 17: That this House would view with gratification the abolition of the Office of Master in the Colleges of this University (motion: H. I. Owen)

May 24: That, in the opinion of this House, Conventual Establishments of every kind, and irrespective of sects, ought to be under Government inspection (motion: J. Adam)

APPENDIX 2: PUBLIC BUSINESS OF THE OXFORD UNION SOCIETY

The list below includes debate topics presented at public business meetings of the Oxford Union Society from Lent term 1830 to Michaelmas term 1870. As was the case with the Cambridge Union Society, there are some gaps in the list. The main reason here is that I had to be more selective with the Oxford records due to limitations in access and reproduction of copies. Therefore, I mainly concentrated on documenting the years after 1845. From 1845 onwards the list is more comprehensive.

1830

Lent:

January 28: That the purity and independence of Parliament is better secured at present than it would be under any system of reform (motion: Sir John Hanmer, amendment: Manning, Hanmer withdrew the original motion)

February 11: That the conduct of Mr Fox and his party in reference to the Treason and Sedition Bills, which were passed in the year 1795, deserved the admiration and gratitude of their country (motion: Moncrieff)

March 25: That Leeds, Manchester, and Birmingham, ought to be represented in Parliament (motion: Moncrieff as proxy for Lyall)

Easter:

April 29: That the Battle of Navarino was unjustifiable, and that its consequences have proved prejudicial to the interests of England and France, the two principal powers engaged in it (motion: Lord C. Osborne)

May 20: That the disabilities of the Jews ought to be removed (motion: Lyall, amendment: Oakes)

June 17: That the establishing of Colleges in London for the education of the Middle Classes, is beneficial to the interests of the society (motion: Chamberlain)

Michaelmas:

October 28: That the foreign policy of the Duke of Wellington has been derogatory to the dignity, and injurious to the best interests, of the country (motion: Gaskell)

November 11: That the administration of the Duke of Wellington is undeserving of the confidence of the country (motion: Gladstone)

November 18: That Free Trade is essential to the prosperity of the country (motion: Denison, amendment: Acland, Denison withdrew his motion an acceded to amendment)

1831

Lent:

January 27: That it behoves all lovers of their country to unite against the spirit of democracy, which is tending to destroy the constitution in church and state (motion: Allies, amendment: Acland, sen.)

February 10: That the extent to which the liberty of the Press is now carried is injurious to the peace and welfare of Society (motion: Ward)

February 16: That the Catholic Relief Bill has not justified by its results the expectations which were held out by its supporters (motion: Jelf)

Easter:

March 3: That a reform in the system of parliamentary representation will ultimately prove destructive of the constitution, and consequently of the prosperity of this country (motion: Hon. Sidney Herbert)

May 16: That the present Ministry is incompetent to carry on the Government of the country (motion: Knatchbull)

May 17: (adjourned) same as above (rider: Gladstone, adjournment: Moncreiff, Rickards)

May 19: (adjourned) same as above

Michaelmas:

November 10: That the King ought to create new Peers to pass the Reform Bill (motion: Lowe, amendment: Massie)

November 17: That Triennial Parliaments ought to be restored (motion: Massie)

November 24: That the recognition of the Birmingham Political Union by Lord Althorp and Lord John Russell was highly imprudent and unconstitutional (motion: Doyle who was fined by the President for not being present to open the debate, amendments: Knatchbull, Massie)

1832

Easter:

May 17: That an absolute monarchy is a more desirable form of government than the constitution proposed by the Reform Bill of Lord John Russell (motion: Ward, amendment: Cole)

May 31: That a creation of Peers for the purpose of carrying the Reform Bill would be an unconstitutional exercise of the Prerogative of the Crown (motion: Goldsmid, amendment: Hussey, which was withdrawn at the suggestion of the President)

June 7: That the political character of Mr. Pitt is entitled to the highest approbation (motion: Tait)

June 28: That the recent attempt of the Duke of Wellington to form an administration with the view of carrying a modified measure of reform was justifiable (motion: Hussey, amendment: Mayow)

Michaelmas:

November 8: That there being at present no hope of the establishment of any permanent Tory Ministry, the Conservative party will best consult the interest of the country by firmly supporting the present Government (motion: Ward, amendment: De Visme, Ward accepted De Visme's amendment, adjournment: Garnier, amendment to adjournment: Baynton, seconded by Tait)

November 15: That the conduct of the present ministry as regards the King of Holland has been unjustifiable (motion: De Visme, amendments: Brandreth, Lowe)

November 22: That the complete abolition of slavery should be immediately enforced (motion: Alston, amendments: Cox, Chapman)

1833

Lent:

February 27: That vote by ballot is an unnecessary expedient, unlikely to effect the objects which are professedly designed by its supporters (motion: Cother, amendment: Ward, Cother accepted the amendment)

March 14: That the Six Acts of Lord Castlereagh were highly conducive to the peace and tranquility of the country, without any too great infringement on the liberty of subject (motion: Mayow, amendment: Harding, Mayow accepted the amendment)

March 21: That a Cordial Union between Great Britain and France would be highly conducive to the welfare of both countries, as well as to the happiness and peace of Europe (motion: Barne, amendment: Allen)

Easter:

April 25: That an hereditary aristocracy is an evil (motion: Thomas)

May 9: That the conduct of the ministry, since the passing of the Reform Bill, has not been such as to deserve confidence of the country (motion: Tickell, amendment: Capes, amendment should not be admitted: Ward, adjournment: Pearson, amendment to adjournment: Ward)

May 11: (adjourned) same as above (rider: Palmer, who later amended his rider, adjournment: Ward)

May 23: That the general conduct pursued by Sir Robert Peel, since the passing of the Reform Measure, has been in the highest degree creditable to him and beneficial to the country (motion: Lyall, amendment: Ward, Lyall agreed to the amendment)

June 13: That the reign of George the Third up to the year 1811 is to be considered a disastrous period in English History (motion: Woollcombe, amendment: Cardwell)

Michaelmas:

October 31: That in the event of a general movement in Europe, the ascendancy of popular principles is to be ardently desired (motion: Pearson)

December 5: That the civilization of Europe is at present in its infancy (motion: Thomas, amendment: Fowler)

1834

Lent:

January 30: That the measures taken for the suppression of the rebellion in 1745 were disgraceful to the government of that period (motion: Lowe)

February 27: That the reign of Charles 2nd was a less disastrous period of English History than the Commonwealth (motion: Faber)

Easter:

April 24: That the conduct of the present ministry, during the agitation of the Reform question, as regards the Political Unions is in the highest degree reprehensible (motion: Campbell)

May 22: That Wordsworth is in every respect a superior poet to Lord Byron (motion: Faber)

June 6: That the late separation between the members of Earl Grey's administration is deeply to be deplored; and that no ministry can hope to carry on the government of the country, which is not formed as well upon a principle of extensive practical reform, as of preserving the established rights of property (motion: Cardwell, amendment: Trevor)

Michaelmas:

November 20: That the policy of Lord Grey's administration was opposed to the first principles of sound practical reform (motion: Trevor, amendment: Ward, who withdrew his amendment, new motion: Trevor)

December 4: That the conduct of the majority of the House of Lords during the last session of Parliament was highly noble and patriotic; and that the formation of a strong government by that party under the Duke of Wellington, is an event to be hailed with satisfaction by every well-wisher to the country (motion: Cornish)

1835

Lent:

February 7: That the hopelessness and absurdity of attempting to construct a Cabinet upon Tory principles have been satisfactorily demonstrated; and that no administration can hope to carry on the government of the country except upon the principles of extensive practical reform (motion: Hussey, amendments: Ward, Cornish)

March 12: That the conduct of the opposition to Sir Robert Peel's Ministry since the meeting of Parliament has been factious and unjustifiable in the extreme (motion: Hussey as proxy for Capes)

Easter:

May 21: That in the present state of Parties, it is the duty of the Conservatives in Parliament to give their disinterested support to Lord Melbourne's Administration, wherever they can do so without a sacrifice of principle (motion: Hussey)

Michaelmas:

November 5: That the safety and happiness of the United Kingdom demand the immediate introduction of a judicious Poor Law in Ireland (motion: Trevor, amendment: Cripps)

November 12: That the suppression of the Foreign Enlistment Act in favor of the Queen of Spain was injurious to the honor and true interests of this country (motion: Mellish)

December 3: That restrictions upon the freedom of commerce are indefensible in theory and injurious in practice (motion: Cardwell (the President), amendment: Highton)

1836

Lent:

February 4: That Lord Stanley as a Statesman is entitled to our respect and admiration (motion: Phinn, amendments: Ridley, Highton)

February 11: That an administration formed upon the principles of Earl Grey's cabinet, would be best calculated to meet the present exigencies of the country (motion: Cripps)

February 25: That in the present state of affairs, Sir R. Peel's speedy return to Office is absolutely necessary (motion: Ridley, amendment: Fowler)

Easter:

April 28: That the measure of the Duke of Wellington's administration for removing the Civil Disabilities of the Roman Catholics was in itself dangerous and unjustifiable, and has proved highly prejudicial to the welfare of the country (motion: Hodson, rider: Ridley)

April 30: (adjourned) same as above (amendment: Rogers, rider: Cornish)

June 9: That the present ministry are undeserving of the confidence of the country (motion: Fowler, rider: Hussey)

June 11: (adjourned) same as above (rider: Cornish)

Michaelmas:

October 27: That the evils of American Society are to be traced to the pernicious form of government existing in that country (motion: Fowler as proxy for Ridley, amendment: Cardwell)

November 24: That the disgraceful alliance which exists between the Government and the Radical Party, fully justifies their former supporters in separating from them (motion: Phillott)

1837

Lent:

February 9: That the recent political agitation by the Conservative Party throughout the country has been productive of the greatest evil, & cannot be justified on the principle of self defence (motion: Moncreiff, amendment: Poynder)

February 23: That the execution of King Charles the Martyr is to be esteemed an act of atrocious and sacrilegious murder (motion: Tate, amendment: Jackson)

March 9: That the conduct of the present government towards Ireland is contrary to the best interests of that country (motion: Anderson) **Easter:**

April 13: That it is the duty of the legislature to endeavour by the Political Education of the people to render the inevitable extension of the suffrage desirable and safe (motion: Brodie, amendment: Courtenay, Tate)

May 18: That those statesmen who refuse to make their principles conform to the spirit of the reform bill are unfit to be at present called to take a part in the government (motion: Fowler)

May 25: That that doctrine which represents the King merely as the Chief Magistrate of the people is in direct opposition to the spirit of the British Constitution (motion: Fagan)

Michaelmas:

November 2: That while national education if conducted on solid principles must be hailed as a valuable boon, it is to be feared that any scheme of that nature proposed by the present ministry would fail of producing a desirable effect (motion: Poynder)

November 9: That the Roman Catholic Relief Bill has been as ruinous in its effects as it is dangerous in principle and ought immediately to be repealed (motion: Tate)

December 7: That the Athenian Government, from the time of Pericles, was conducted on principles most injurious to Society, and affords a practical illustration of the evil influence of democracy (motion: Campbell)

1838

Lent:

February 1: That the proceedings of the convention on the retreat of James II were unjustifiable (motion: Tate, rider: Hodson)

March 29: That the present system of transportation is deserving of strong condemnation (motion: Highton)

Easter:

May 17: That the present facilities of acquiring knowledge through the medium of the press are on the whole productive of more harm than benefit (motion: Ridley)

May 31: That votes for Members of Parliament ought to be taken by ballot (motion: Moncreiff, adjournment: Brodie)

June 8: (adjourned) same as above

Michaelmas:

November 1: That the present ministry by the Conservative tone of their recent policy at home and in the Colonies have forfeited the confidence of the country (motion: Moncreiff, amendment: Tate)

November 22: That the circumstances of the present times demand more than ever the immediate repeal of the Catholic Emancipation Bill (motion: Highton, rider: Hodson)

1839

Easter:

April 18: That the present system of Corn Laws is based on sound principles of politics and justice (motion: Northcote, amendment: Paterson, adjournment: Gee)

April 25: (adjourned) same as above

May 9: That in the present state of the Empire, it is the duty of an enlightened Government to propose a free and liberal measure of National Education (motion: Blackett, amendment: Northcote)

May 16: (adjourned) same as above (amendments: Arnold, Rawlinson, Blackett agreed to Arnold's amendment, after which Northcote withdrew his amendment with the leave of the House)

May 22: That by the desertion of true Tory principles, the so-called Tory party fully merited and partly caused their precipitation from power in 1831 (motion: Rawlinson, amendments: Forster, Northcote)

June 6: That the return of Lord Melbourne to office was fully justified by the circumstances under which it took place (motion: Forster)

Michaelmas:

October 31: That from the renewal of the war with France in 1803 till its close in 1815 the direction of the resources of England was in the hands of men who were unequal to the task, & consequently that for the success of that war they deserve no credit (motion: Congreve, amendment: Townend)

1840 Lent:

February 27: That the recent proceedings of the House of Commons in professed vindication of their privileges, are utterly subversive of the true principle of the Constitution (motion: Rawlinson)

March 5: That an hereditary legislative body is an essential element of a good form of Government, and is well calculated to preserve the Constitution against the inroads of popular interference (motion: Lempriere, rider: Palmer) **Easter:**

May 7: That of the various parties which divide the country, the conservative is the least entitled to our respect and confidence (motion: Congreve, amendments: Seymour, Clements, adjournment: Hotham)

May 14: (adjourned) same as above (adjournment: Fox)

May 16: (adjourned) same as above (Seymour withdrew his amendment)

June 11: That bribery and intimidation at Parliamentary Elections are mainly attributable to the system of open voting; and that the opposite, or secret system, commonly called the vote by ballot, affords the only efficient remedy for the evils complained of (motion: Sanderson, amendment: Forster)

June 25: That the public life of Cicero is deserving of high admiration (motion: Powles)

Michaelmas:

November 19: That the rise of Chartism was natural, and that its increase is to be expected (motion: Coleridge, amendment: Forster, rider: Tate)

1841

Lent:

February 10: That the character of John Hampden entitles him to the veneration of Englishmen (motion: Tickell, amendments: Gregory, Bowen) **Easter:**

May 13: That the imperfections and anomalies in the Representative and Elective systems at present employed in the formation of the House of Com-

mons are such as to deserve the attentive consideration of every Statesman (motion: Parnell)

May 27: That our system of Colonization is defective in principle, and most injurious in tendency (motion: Frith)

June 3: That the present Corn Laws are alike impolitic and unjust, and that the best interests of the country, more especially with reference to commerce and manufactures, require an immediate alteration of them (motion: Townend, amendment: Plumptre)

Michaelmas:

October 21: That as the principles upon which the British Constitution is based are essentially opposed to the spirit of Romanism and since therefore Romanists are not fit persons to be put into offices of trust, it is necessary for the safety and welfare of the Country that the Roman Catholic Emancipation Act should be repealed (motion: Tate)

November 25: That the gratitude of the nation is due to the successive administrations of Lords Grey and Melbourne, for having, by timely concessions and vigorous course of policy, checked the course of revolutionary principles, and that tendency to organic changes, which was manifesting itself in the country on the retirement of the preceding administration (motion: James, question on point of order: Parnell, President decided that Parnell was out of order, amendment: Cazenove)

December 9: That the Political character of Themistocles is not deserving of our esteem and admiration (motion: Karslake)

1842

Lent:

February 10: That the character of John Hampden entitles him to the veneration of Englishmen (motion: Tickell, amendments: Gregory, Bowen, adjournment: Humbert)

March 10: That the British Government were justified in their treatment of Napoleon Buonaparte after the Battle of Waterloo (motion: Gladstone)

Easter:

May 19: That the income tax proposed by Sir Robert Peel is in principle a salutary measure (motion: Parnell, amendment: Lucas)

June 2: That the character of Algernon Sidney does not entitle him to the name of Patriot (motion: Pott, adjournment: Pott)

Michaelmas:

October 20: That while we condemn the Norman Invasion, as in principle unjust, with reference to its effects we must pronounce it highly beneficial (motion: Tickell)

November 3: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 24: That the genius of Buonaparte was not greater than that of Cromwell, & that his character & conduct were more reprehensible (motion: Bowen, amendment: Patterson)

December 1: That the Reform Bill of 1831 was in itself a just and salutary measure, and that the evils attendant on it are to be ascribed partly to the cir-

cumstances of the country and partly to the reprehensible conduct of a section of its supporters (motion: Chase, amendment: John E. Gladstone, adjournment: Cazenove)

December 8: (adjourned debate) same as above (moved that debate do proceed: Cazenove)

1843

Lent:

February 16: That no system of religious education however extensive can be really efficient till the social condition of the poorer classes be improved (motion: Arnold, amendment: Cazenove)

Easter:

May 18: That the present Government deserves the gratitude of the nation (motion: West, amendment: Cholmondeley, adjournment: Chase)

May 24: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Chase, Cholmondley's amendment declared irrelevant)

June 8: That the condition of France since the Revolution of 1789 has not been so favourable as it was before (motion: Bowen, adjournment: Pott)

June 22: (adjourned debate) same as above

Michaelmas:

October 26: That in a system of national education, the doctrine of the established Church ought to be taught as the foundation of all other knowledge (motion: West as proxy to Seymour, amendment: Chase)

November 23: That the study of oratory is too little valued and insufficiently cultivated at the present day, more particularly in this University (motion: J.C. Higgin, amendment: Edwards)

December 7: That the Roman Catholic Bill is just, expedient, and in strict accordance with the principles of the British Constitution (motion: Cumin, amendment: Sandford)

1844

Lent:

February 1: That the cultivation and encouragement of the language of Ireland are necessary for the enlightenment and conciliation of its people (motion: Alexander, amendment: Walford)

February 29: That a Barrister is not necessarily bound to regard the moral guilt of his client (motion: Cumin, adjournment: Chermside)

March 7: That a repeal of the present Corn Laws would be highly beneficial to all classes of society (motion: Banner, amendment: Tristram, adjournment: Lawson, Alexander)

Easter:

April 25: That Queen Elizabeth was by no means justified in putting to death Mary Queen of Scots (motion: Simpson)

May 2: That to require candidates for a seat in Parliament to pledge themselves before election to support or oppose particular measures is on the whole injurious to the interests of the State (motion: Chermside)

May 9: That the profession of an advocate as at present practised, impedes justice, and is injurious to public morality (motion: Chase)

June 6: That the practice of dueling is unjustifiable, and cannot be defended on any grounds (motion: Fripp)

June 13: That the conduct of those Members of Parliament who voted against the government in March, and with them in May, upon the Factory Bill, is perfectly justifiable (motion: Sandford) opposed by Cazenove, and was not carried by the division of votes

Michaelmas:

October 24: That the Secretary of State was justified in exercising the power given him by Act Parliament to open Mr. Mazzini's letters (motion: Pott)

1845

Lent:

January 23: That since the passing of the Reform Bill there has been the greatest falling off in the character of debates of the House of Commons (motion: Cholmondeley)

January 30: That the contemplated increase of the Parliamentary grant to Maynooth College is opposed both to right and expediency, and ought to be strenuously resisted (motion: Conington)

February 13: That the unprincipled tone of the Times newspaper, as shewn in its violent attempts to foment agitation, as well by inflammatory articles as by the artifices of correspondents, is a serious evil to the country (motion: Sandford)

February 20: That the system of transportation, in whatever light we view it, is fraught with the greatest evil (motion: Simpson, point of order: Chase) **Easter:**

April 10: That vote by ballot is eminently calculated to produce a beneficial effect on the present state of the country, and ought to be adopted (motion: Cumin as proxy for Harvey without speaking on the question)

April 17: That Sir Robert Peel's government has forfeited the confidence of the country (motion: Giffard, adjournment: Chermside)

April 24: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Pakington)

May 2: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Pott)

May 8: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 22: That the merits of Oliver Cromwell have not been sufficiently acknowledged (motion: Hon. P. Smythe, adjournment: Conington)

Michaelmas:

November 6: That the principles advocated in the later writings of Dickens are of a prejudicial tendency (motion: Sellar)

November 13: That Lord Ashley's uniform advocacy of a law to keep down the hours of labour, while supporting those laws whose object is to keep up the price of food, together with his recent letter to his constituents, entirely vitiates his claim to be considered a Statesman (motion: Fripp, Pakington declined voting)

1846

Lent:

February 6: That the present system of Union Workhouses is to be condemned (motion: Hunt, adjournment: Bere)

February 12: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Rev. A. Pott, Robbins)

February 19: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 26: That a dissolution of Parliament, in the present position of affairs, would be inexpedient (motion: Stanton)

March 20: That the generality of newspapers at the present time are conducted on principles which render them prejudicial to the best interests of the country (motion: Thornton)

Easter:

April 31: That the timely dispatch of assistance from England at the outbreak of the Vendean war might have materially checked the rise of Napoleon's power (motion: Browning)

May 22: That the present cry for the Repeal of the Union with Ireland has arisen from our neglect of that country (motion: Blackett, adjournment: Smith)

May 28: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Portal)

Michaelmas:

October 22: That Landlords are justified in influencing the votes of their tenants (motion: G.W. Hunt)

November 5: That the suspension of the Habeas Corpus Act in 1794 was a just and necessary measure (motion: Hulme)

November 12: That at the present juncture, England would not be justified in interfering with the affairs of Spain (motion: Morgan)

November 20: That the public career of Sir Robert Peel is deserving of our warmest admiration and sympathy (motion: Burrows, adjournment: Blackett)

November 26: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Hulme)

1847

Lent:

February 11: That the miseries of Ireland may be attributed rather to the faults of its own people than to any mismanagement of government (motion: Latham, adjournment: Richardson)

February 25: That the Occupation of Cracow, by the three absolute powers of Europe, renders a war on the part of England and France justifiable in principle, and not inexpedient in policy, when we consider the state of liberal principles throughout Europe (motion: Congreve, adjournment: Hunt, Portal (overruled because not half an hour had passed since the last motion for adj.))

March 11: That Mr. Carlyle's recent work confirms Oliver Cromwell's right to the title of the greatest of English Sovereigns (motion: W. Arnold, amendment: Portal, adjournment: Tristram)

Easter:

April 29: That in the present state of politics in England, the Protectionist party appears to have most claims on our confidence (motion: Bedford, amendment: Temple, adjournment: Blackstone)

May 4: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 13: That a more stringent and direct censorship of the public press than is at present exercised would be expedient (motion: Hardy)

May 20: That the proposed interference of the legislature in university matters is uncalled for, unconstitutional, and highly detrimental to the interests of this university (motion: Temple, adjournment: Blackstone, Congreve)

May 27: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Portal)

June 10: That the three gentlemen nominated as candidates for the representation of this university at the next election, Mr. Round, of Balliol, is the only one entitled to our confidence and support (motion: Latham, amendment: Tidman)

Michaelmas:

October 28: That the present condition of parts of Ireland requires the adoption of martial laws in those districts (motion: Portal)

November 11: That Mr. O'Connell's merits and services are not sufficiently appreciated in this country; and that however we may differ from him in some of his political opinions, the memory of so great a man is entitled to our respect (motion: Waters, amendment: Burgon, adjournment: Temple)

December 2: That an appointment of a bishop without a seat in the House of Peers involves the breach of a constitutional principle, and is a precedent tending to subvert the Union of Church and State (motion: Hayman)

1848

Lent:

February 3: That the admission of Jews and Dissenters into Parliament involves a separation of Church and State (motion: Portal, amendment: Milman, declined to vote: Waters)

March 2: That the political conduct of Lord Stafford merits the admiration of posterity (motion: Boyle)

March 9: That however we may rejoice in the abdication of the late King of the French, still we must anticipate the most serious evils both for France and Europe from the establishment of the Republic (motion: Latham, adjournment: Sclater, declined to vote: Earle, Hulme, amendment: Benson, additional note: Knatchbull)

March 23: That an hereditary peerage is not conducive to the best interests of a country (motion: Ward, adjournment: Blackett, Sandford)

March 30: That Ireland has a claim to the restoration of its national legislature, and that it is simply a question of expediency whether that claim should be allowed (motion: Waters, amendment: Blackstone, additional note: Milman) **Easter:**

May 18: That while the introduction of Universal or Household Suffrage is to be deprecated, a considerable extension of the franchise is imperatively called

for by the present circumstances of the country (motion: Shirley, amendment: Milman, additional note: Blackstone)

June 2: That the discouragement of dramatic representations must always be attended with loss to the moral and literary character of the nation (motion: Vance)

June 15: That the so-called Glorious Revolution of 1688 was not a popular but oligarchical measure, and has been the primary cause of the defects in the representation of this country (motion: Bedford, amendments: Portal, Knatchbull, adjournment: Austin)

June 29: (adjourned debate) same as above

Michaelmas:

October 26: That the amelioration of the social and moral conditions of the working classes is the only means of preserving the present constitution of this country (motion: Latham, adjournment: Milman)

November 2: (adjourned debate) same as above (rider: Portal)

November 9: That the present ministry is incompetent to carry on the government of the country, and that it is only from an union of the Conservative party that we can expect an administration which shall possess the confidence of the nation (motion: Knatchbull, adjournment: Waters)

November 16: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Boyle, amendment: Bayly)

December 7: That the state of our present electoral system calls for a speedy reform, and especially the disfranchisement of some of the smaller boroughs no longer entitled to the privilege of returning Members to the House of Commons (motion: Lomer as proxy for Money-Kyrle, amendment: Knatchbull)

1849

Lent:

February 15: That any endowment of the Romanist priesthood, or of any Romanist place of education, will prove an insuperable obstacle to the social or political improvement of Ireland (motion: Lord R. Cecil, adjournment: Hunt)

February 22: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Whately, rider: Temple)

March 1: That as Free trade has been recognized as a principle of legislation, it is the duty of Conservatives to unite in carrying it out, so that all classes may share equally its benefits and its disadvantages (motion: Whately, amendment: Knatchbull)

March 8: That whatever its partial defects, the new Poor Law has successfully remedied the evils with a view to which it was devised, and is as a whole deserving of our commendation (motion: Stowe, adjournment: Robins, Austin)

March 15: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter:

April 26: That this House, while it is of opinion that the re-establishment in all its strength of the Austrian Empire is to be hoped for as advantageous to Europe, nevertheless sympathizes with the revolted Hungarians (motion: Grant Duff)

May 10: That the dissolution of monasteries in the reign of Henry VIII was politically speaking a most injurious measure, and one which deserves our utmost condemnation (motion: Robins, adjournment: Whately)

May 18: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Whately)

May 24: That our present system of Colonial government is fundamentally bad (motion: Shirley, adjournment: Lomer

June 8: That the Jewish disabilities ought to be removed (motion: Whately, adjournment: Knatchbull)

June 14: (adjourned debate) same as above

Michaelmas:

October 25: That the present want of restraint on the liberty of the press is highly injurious to the interests of the country (motion: Mitchell, adjournment: Austin)

November 1: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 15: That the past policy of this country, as carried out towards the Church, renders it imperative on Churchmen to demand either a total and immediate severance of the connection between Church and State, or an entire change of the ecclesiastical policy of our governments (motion: Dimsdale)

November 22: That an extensive financial reform is highly necessary for the welfare of this country (motion: Blackett as proxy for Clements, adjournment: Lomer)

November 29: (adjourned debate) same as above

December 6: That with the exception of Lord Byron, Percy B. Shelley is the greatest English Poet of the last half century (motion: Austin, amendment: Girdlestone, fined 1 pound as not being present to open the debate: Austin)

1850

Lent:

February 7: That the dismissal of the Earl of Roden from the commission of the peace was an uncalled for and arbitrary act (motion: Ralph, adjournment: Fitzgerald)

February 14: That the state of the nation imperatively requires a return to the principles of protection (motion: Lygon, adjournment: Fitzgerald)

February 21: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Lord Ingestre)

February 28: (adjourned debate) same as above (a non-member spoke without President being aware of the fact)

March 7: That the recent behaviour of the Foreign Office towards Greece calls for grave censure (motion: Howard)

Easter:

May 2: That the State is bound to enforce on its members a system of education neither purely secular, nor exclusively inculcating the views of any one religious body (motion: Pearson, amendment: Lygon, adjournment: Whately)

May 10: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 16: That to sever, as has been suggested, the tie between England and her colonies, would be the first step towards her becoming a second rate empire (motion: Sotheby, adjournment: Lygon)

May 23: (adjourned debate) same as above (rider: Lygon)

October 24: That Eclecticism is the only sound philosophy (motion: Girdlestone, amendment: Lygon)

Michaelmas:

November 7: That any attempt to interfere by Act of Parliament with the management of university or collegiate property would be a perilous violation of the principles upon which all rights of property are based (motion: Lord R. Cecil)

November 21: That the conduct of Thomas à Becket in resisting the aggressions of the State on the Church is, especially at this time, deserving of our sympathy (motion: Lygon, amendment: Money-Kyrle)

November 28: That Debating societies are on the whole injurious to their members (motion: Ogle)

December 6: That the spirit of the age is wholesome, hearty, and vigorous (motion: Blackburne)

1851

Lent:

January 30: That the merits of Oliver Cromwell have not been sufficiently acknowledged (motion: Johnstone, amendment: Lygon)

February 6: That the conduct of Lord John Russell, towards the Church in general, and this University in particular, is unworthy the Prime Minister of England (motion: B.B. Rogers)

February 13: That the conduct of the promoters of the Revolution of 1688 deserves our disapprobation (motion: Lygon, amendment: Stowell)

February 27: That the recent appointment of a Papal hierarchy in this country, has produced an unnecessary excitement (motion: Harrison, amendment: Lathbury, adjournment: Stowell)

February 28: (adjourned debate) same as above (Hunt withdrew his amendment)

March 6: (adjourned debate) same as above (rider: Money-Kyrle, adjournments proposed by Baring and Fitzgerald which both were lost)

March 13: That a considerable and speedy extension of the Franchise is necessary for the securing the efficiency of the House of Commons and satisfying the demands of the country (motion: Stapley)

Easter:

May 8: That the present state of England imperatively calls for a remedy against the concentration of large masses of capital in the hands of a few individuals (motion: Pearson)

May 15: That the admission of the Jews into Parliament is demanded by the principles of political justice (motion: Oxenham, adjournment: Parry seconded by De Quetteville)

June 3: That the State endowment of the College of Maynooth is inconsistent and impolitic (motion: Stowell, adjournment: Wetherell)

June 12: That the writings of Thomas Carlyle have proved injurious to the literary tastes of the present day (motion: Shirley, adjournment: Oxenham)

June 26: That a National system of secular education, based upon liberal and comprehensive principles, is urgently required by the circumstances of the times and the present state of the country (motion: Coleman, amendments: Lygon, Johnston)

Michaelmas:

October 23: That France cannot hope to regain permanent prosperity and order without a return to the ancient principles of hereditary monarchy (motion: Lygon, amendment: Godson)

November 6: That the evils of Ireland are generally attributable to the unjust and unworthy policy pursued by England towards that country, not least to the Established Church having been placed in a position alike prejudicial to its own interests, and injurious to the welfare of the people as the Church of the minority (motion: Fitzgerald)

November 13: That the French Revolution of 1789 was justifiable, and has conferred the greatest benefits on mankind (motion: Göschen, amendment: Butler, adjournment: Collier)

November 20: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Nussey)

December 4: That any legislative moments toward Liberalism or Reform would, at the present time, rather aggravate than remedy our existing social evils (motion: Godson, amendment: Lygon, adjournment: Wetherell)

December 11: (adjourned debate) same as above

1852

Lent:

January 29: That the adoption of Universal suffrage is urgently needed, as alone realizing the ancient idea of our representative system (motion: Wetherell)

March 4: That the Coup-d-état of December 2nd was in itself justifiable, and is likely, in its results, to promote the best interests of France (motion: Collier, adjournment: Shirley, Fitzgerald)

March 18: That the accession of the Earl of Derby to power is an event to be hailed with unmingled satisfaction by the nation at large (motion: Griffith, adjournment: Collier)

March 12: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Griffith)

March 22: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter:

May 13: That association is the only principle by which the welfare of the people can be secured and the true ideal of a state attained (motion: Wetherell, adjournment: Oxenham)

May 20: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 27: (adjourned debate) same as above (Johnston asked whether mover would substitute word 'association' to that of 'socialism, to which Wetherell agreed)

June 10: (adjourned debate) same as above

June 17: That Mr. Gladstone is deserving of the confidence of the Church, the Country, and the University (motion: Oxenham)

Michaelmas:

October 21: That the principles of the Union between Church and State, demand the restoration of independent action to the former (motion: Rogers, adjournment: Lushington seconded by Fremantle)

October 28: That the increasing praise of the Peak Towns is opposed to the idea of the English Constitution, and [??].

November 4: That Shelley is the greatest poet that has appeared since accession of George III (motion: Byrth)

November 11: That the result of Pitt's policy with regard to France, is a warning against interference with foreign states (motion: Butler)

November 18: That any religious test whereby Englishmen are excluded from the university is an unnecessary evil (motion: Lushington, amendment: Oxenham, adjournment: Stapley)

November 25: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Butler)

December 2: That the conduct of Lord Derb[y]'s government since their accession to office entitles them fully to the support and confidence of the country (motion: Cazenove)

December 9: That the newspaper press of England has on the whole contributed beneficially to social and political progress (motion: Göschen)

1853

Lent:

February 10: That Mr. Gladstone's political conduct since the General Election has been dignified, consistent, and patriotic (motion: Wetherell, adjournment: Johnstone (seconded by Göschen))

February 17: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendments: Hunt, Rogers, Fowler, Fremantle, adjournment: Hon. F. Lygon, seconded by Watson)

February 24: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Pearson, adjournment by President because of disorder caused by Grant-Duff's speech)

February 28: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter:

April 14: That the institution of the ballot is demanded by the necessity of the times (motion: Lushington, adjournment: Watson)

May 7: That all religious communities have a right to participate in the advantages of a State endowment (motion: Lathbury, amendments: Ormerod, Daniell, adjournment: Fitzgerald)

May 13: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 27: That the existence of a Jesuit Society is incompatible with the due security of a Kingdom (motion: Bartrum, amendment: Oxenham, adjournment: Watson)

June 2: (adjourned debate) same as above

Michaelmas:

October 27: That in this age of Political Inconsistency Mr. D'Israeli's conduct is a fair example of statesmen (motion: Stopford, amendment: Wetherell)

November 3: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendments: Bartrum, Allen)

November 14: That the aggressive conduct of Russia is dangerous to the peace of Europe and the interests of England, and that the present ministry have not resisted it with sufficient firmness (motion: Montgomerie, amendment: Oxenham)

November 21: That Mr. Thackeray is superior to Mr. Dickens as a novelist (motion: Hon. F. Lygon)

November 28: That the present classical system is wholly unfit to be the general standard of education at the present day (motion: Watson, amendment: Fowler)

December 5: That no religious differences should be suffered to exclude any persons from the privilege of a National Secular Education (motion: Lushington, amendment: President (Göschen), adjournment: Beesly)

December 12: (adjourned debate) same as above

1854

Lent:

January 30: That John Bright is an enlightened and patriotic statesman (motion: Beesly, adjournment: Butler)

February 6: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Ormerod)

February 20: That it is just and expedient that the Jews should be admitted to Parliament (motion: Lushington)

March 6: That the recent strikes may be in a great measure attributed to the mismanagement of the masters (motion: Wilkinson)

March 13: That the principles on which the new Reform Bill is based are sound, wise, and practical (motion: Göschen)

March 20: That our foreign policy during the last 40 years has been one deeply disgraceful to a free people (motion: Harrison (brought forward by Bridges as Harrison was "suddenly called away"), amendment: Brown) **Easter:**

May 8: That the intention of government to re-constitute, reform, and extend the University of Oxford demands our sympathy and support (motion: G.C: Brodrick, adjournment: Turner)

May 15: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Turner, adjournment: Winstanley seconded by Bull)

May 22: (adjourned debate) same as above (rider: Pearson, adjournment: Lathbury)

May 29: (adjourned debate) same as above

June 19: That the Monitorial System, as at present existing in our Public Schools, is right in principle and beneficial in its results (motion: Bartlett)

Michaelmas:

October 30: That a complete system of popular education must ever form the basis of all national philanthrophy (motion: Turner, mover did not have to reply as there was no opposition to the motion)

November 13: That the existing influence of the newspaper press in this country shews that the taking off of the so-called "taxes on knowledge" is a very undesirable measure (motion: Wilberforce, adjournment: Bartlett)

November 20: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 27: That the Political Works of Thomas Carlyle are visionary and unpractical (motion: Dunlop)

December 11: That the conduct of Lord Aberdeen in retaining office at the present crisis is prejudicial to the country (motion: Montgomerie, rider: Johnston)

1855

Lent:

January 29: That our Foreign Policy as dictated by the Governing Classes is selfish, shortsighted, and unworthy of a Free People (motion: Beesly, adjournment: Bridges)

February 4: That the position and policy of Mr. D'Israeli have been, and continue to be, disgraceful to the Conservative Party (motion: Fowle, adjournment: Byrth seconded by Oakley)

February 6: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendments: Brodrick, Lathbury, rider: Byrth)

February 26: That the principle of Free Competition established in the East India Civil Service is in itself highly beneficial, and furnishes a salutary precedent to all other branches of the Public Service (motion: Turner, rider: Byrth)

March 5: That the proposed establishment of Halls for Dissenters in Oxford would be detrimental to the interests of the University and of the Dissenters themselves (motion: President (Bartlett), amendments: Grier, Knatchbull-Hugessen)

March 12: That the Whig party has done good service to its country, but is now come to a timely dissolution (motion: Lushington, amendments: Hon. F. Lygon, Dunlop, adjournment: Lathbury seconded by Wilberforce)

March 19: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Knatchbull-Hugessen)

Easter:

April 30: That Mr. Gladstone's political career has rendered him unfit to represent this University in Parliament (motion: Wilberforce, adjournment: Lathbury seconded by Grier)

May 14: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Lathbury)

May 28: That the Endowment of Maynooth is erroneous in principle and injurious to the interests of the country (motion: Thompson, adjournment: Oakley seconded by Byrth)

June 4: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Byrth, rider: Wild)

June 11: That the conduct of Lord Palmerston's government with reference to the present war has not been such as to deserve the confidence of the country (motion: Bayley, rider: King-Smith, adjournment: McHeane seconded by Morris)

Michaelmas:

October 22: That all continuance of the present war is inconsistent with the interests of Europe (motion: President (Bridges), adjournment: Bowen seconded by Thompson)

October 29: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Gardner, adjournment: Wickham seconded by Brodrick)

November 5: (adjourned debate) same as above (E. D. Wickham was fined 1 pound because he did not show up to open the adjourned debate)

November 12: That the "Times" has deserved well of its country (motion: Fowle, amendment: Knatchbull-Hugessen, adjournment: King Smith seconded by Dicey, Bennet seconded by Thompson)

December 10: That the Patriotism of the day is the bane of England (motion: Eliot, Knatchbull-Hugessen suggested to the mover that words "so called" be inserted before the word "Patriotism" which was accepted, amendments: Wilberforce, Byrth, President refused to put the first amendment to the House because it involved the "direct contrary of the motion")

1856

Lent:

February 11: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Thompson)

February 25: That the Revolution of 1688 was wrong in principle and has been pernicious in its results (motion: Wilberforce, adjournment: King-Smith seconded by Kett)

March 3: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter:

April 28: That it is not desirable that the Oaths on admission to Parliament should be altered or repealed (motion: Thompson)

May 15: That every Englishman ought to possess the Franchise (motion: Byrth, amendment: Fowle, adjournment: King-Smith seconded by Thompson)

May 19: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Scott)

May 26: (adjourned debate) same as above

Michaelmas:

October 20: That any system of national education must, to be acceptable to the Country, be secular and unsectarian (motion: C.E. Turner, amendment: Alabaster, adjournment: Wyld)

October 27: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Tyacke, adjournment: Wilberforce seconded by Dicey)

November 3: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Walford)

November 10: That the Austrian occupation of Lombardy is better adapted to its present condition than a State of Independence (motion: Daniel, amendment: Davey, adjournment: Green seconded by Thompson)

November 17: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 24: That the total suppression of the monasteries under Henry VIII was a wanton interference with the rights of property, from the evil consequences of which we are suffering at the present time (motion: Alabaster, amendment: Tyacke, amendment was accepted by the mover)

December 1: That the abolition of Local Restrictions, and of the claims of indigent men in respect to Scholarships, is a flagrant injustice, and brings with it no advantage to the cause of Learning (motion: Wilberforce, amendment: Wild, adjournment: Fowle)

December 8: (adjourned debate) same as above (mover accepted the amendment)

1857

Lent:

February 23: That the reformation of the criminal, rather than retribution for the crime, should be the aim of our penal laws, and that greater leniency of punishment would promote this end (motion: Lambert, amendments: Hill, Knatchbull-Hugessen, Majendie, adjournment: Baird)

March 9: That the establishment of colleges for working men would materially conduce to the social welfare of the community (motion: Messenger, amendment: Charley)

March 16: That Mr. Gladstone is a fit and proper person to represent the University of Oxford in the ensuing Parliament (motion: Fogg, adjournment: Talbot)

Easter:

May 4: That the Opium Trade carried on with China is a disgrace to the English Nation (motion: Fogg as proxy for Nihill, a non-member spoke at the debate without being detected by the president)

June 8: That a Second Reform Bill is called for by the circumstances of the times (motion: Le Poer Wynne, amendment: Arnold, adjournment: Bush)

June 15: That the proposed scheme for extending Academic examinations to the Working classes is undesirable (motion: Penny)

June 22: That the Irish branch of the Established Church merits our warmest sympathy under recent attacks (motion: Charley)

Michaelmas:

October 26: That a more general and equal distribution of wealth (though not to be attempted by any violent or artificial means) is of great importance to the social and commercial welfare of the country (motion: Green)

November 9: That the admission of Jews to Parliament ought to be no longer delayed (motion: Dickson)

November 16: That the recent Divorce Bill is in the main wise and just enactment (motion: Messenger, adjournment: Rev. C. Alabaster due to concerns that the discussion would involve theological questions, adjournment: Morley)

November 23: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Baird)

November 30: That Conservative principles are fallacious and Conservatism a failure (motion: Daniel, amendment: Ryder, adjournment: Ormerod seconded by Scott)

December 7: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Knatchbull-Hugessen)

1858

Lent:

February 1: That the evils arising from the present political position of Clergymen should be remedied by the revival of Convocation, and by special representation of the clergy in the House of Commons (motion: President (Fowle), amendment: Baird, adjournment: Wild)

February 8: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendments: Wild, Arnold, adjournment: Scott seconded by King Smith)

February 15: That the country is bound, under present circumstances, to protest against any alteration in the Laws relating to refugees on conspiracy (motion: Green, amendment: Gale, Wilberforce's amendment was ruled to be irrelevant by the president)

February 22: That the Political career of Sir R. Peel has exercised an unfavourable influence on the Statesmanship of the day (motion: King-Smith, adjournment: Neale)

March 1: That the general policy of Lord Palmerston's government has not deserved the confidence of the country (motion: Austen, amendment: Dickson) **Faster:**

May 17: That any change in the system of Indian government ought to tend to strengthen the power of that government (motion: Butler-Johnstone, amendment: Dicey, adjournment: Wace)

May 24: That the University Commission was greatly wanted, has conferred many benefits on Oxford, and may profitably extend its functions (motion: Hon. E.L. Stanley, adjournment: Arnold seconded by Knatchbull-Hugessen)

May 31: (adjourned debate) same as above

June 14: That Lord Macaulay, whether viewed as an Essayist or as a Historian, has conferred great benefits on the Country (motion: Tollemache, amendment: Baird, Wilberforce to the amendment which was overruled by the Chairman)

Michaelmas:

October 25: That it is just and expedient that vote by ballot should be employed in the election of Members of Parliament (motion: Dicey, adjournment: Beaumont)

November 1: That the political, social, and literary influence of Mr. Carlyle has been most important and beneficial (motion: Morley, amendment: Coldwell, adjournment: King-Smith which was opposed by Rutson)

November 8: (adjourned debate) same as above

November 15: That the principles of Foreign policy recently enunciated by Mr. Bright, demand the support of the nation (motion: Green, adjournment: Butler-Johnstone, amendments: Dicey, Jackson (latter was not allowed by the President), adjournment: Knatchbull-Hugessen)

November 22: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Hall)

December 6: That no Reform Bill can be accepted by the Country which does not provide for a liberal extension of the franchise and a further redistribution of representatives according to the ratio of population (motion: Fowle, amendment: Thompson, adjournment: Beaumont)

December 13: (adjourned debate) same as above

1859

Lent:

February 10: That French interference in Italy is not only objectionable in itself, but prejudicial to the cause of liberty in Italy (motion: Hon E. L. Stanley, rider: MacKay, adjournment: Arnold)

February 17: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Arnold)

March 3: That there is no urgent necessity for an Extension of the Franchise, and that the provisions of Mr. Bright's proposed Reform Bill are too sweeping (motion: Crawford, amendment: Beaumont, adjournment: Dickson)

March 10: (adjourned debate) same as above (rider for Beaumonts amendment: Dickson, adjournment: Jackson)

March 17: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter:

June 2: That John Graham of Claverhouse, Viscount Dundee, is worthy of our highest admiration, alike for his inviolable loyalty, his constancy, and consummate excellence as a leader, and that the cruelties laid to his charge were no more than acts which the necessity of the times and his duty to the Crown, fully justified and required of him (motion: Urquhart, amendment: Overton)

June 9: That the hasty execution of Tantia Topee [Indian freedom fighter] was impolitic and unnecessary (motion: Webb)

June 30: That Mr. Gladstone deserves the support of this University (motion: Puller, amendment: Urquhart)

Michaelmas:

October 27: That England being indebted for her present greatness to the excellence of her manufactures, all interests should be held subservient to the manufacturing interest (motion: Cutler, amendments: Hon. E. L. Stanley, King)

November 17: That Universal Suffrage is desirable, and that, while it may be questioned whether we are ripe for it at present, this House will never regard Reform as completed until it is carried (motion: Tollemache, amendment: Sir R. Blennerhassett, adjournment: Cutler seconded by Little)

November 24: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Burney, adjournment: Messenger which was opposed by Arnold, amendment: Messenger)

1860

Lent:

January 26: That the present government is unworthy of the confidence of the nation (motion: Robinson)

February 9: That a belief in supernatural appearances is not wholly inconsistent either with our natural instincts or an enlightened reason (motion: Smith, amendment: Coldwell, adjournment: Magrath)

February 16: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 23: That the Budget of the Chancellor of the Exchequer merits the cordial approbation of the House (motion: Farrell, amendment: MacKay, adjournment: Rutson seconded by Harrison)

March 1: (adjourned debate) same as above

March 8: That any extension of the franchise should tend to give increased influence to education and separate representations to the learned professions (motion: Cutler, amendment: Hon. R. C. E. Abbot)

Factor

April 26: That the dissolution of the Monasteries and other religious houses in the reign of King Henry VIII was as impolitic as it was unjust (motion: Jackson, amendment: Hon R. C. E. Abbot)

May 17: That in the opinion of this House the War with the French Republic in 1793 was wise, just, and necessary (motion: Hon. R. C. E. Abbot, adjournment: Urquhart seconded by Bullocke)

May 24: That Garibaldi's expedition deserves our warmest sympathy and support (motion: Mackay, adjournment: Urquhart, opposed by Mackay and Dicey, amendments: Oxenham, Hon. R.C.E. Abbot, adjournment: Lockhart)

May 31: (adjourned debate) same as above

June 14: That Mr. Disraeli has shewn himself unfit to lead the Conservative party (motion: Butler)

Michaelmas:

November 1: That the tendency of the stage is immoral (motion: Magrath as proxy for Robinson, amendments: Hon. R. C. E. Abbot, President (Beaumont))

November 8: That the general policy of England towards China has been unworthy of so great a nation; but that the present war was rendered necessary by the conduct of the Chinese themselves (motion: Bassett-Key, amendment: Burney)

November 22: That the Times newspaper exercises a world-wide influence for evil (motion: Robinson, amendment: Hon. R. C. E. Abbot)

1861

Lent:

January 24: That in elections to Fellowships, it is very undesirable that regard should be had solely to intellectual qualifications (motion: Robinson)

January 31: That Mazzini has been grossly maligned, and deserves our sympathy and respect (motion: Beesly)

February 7: That the final dismemberment of the United States of America is an event greatly to be desired (motion: Butler, amendments: Hon. E. L. Stanley, Hon. R. C. E. Abbot)

February 14: That the political antecedents of Lord Palmerston justify us in placing the greatest confidence in his administration of public affairs (motion: How)

February 21: That England is bound at all hazards to check the slave trade in America (motion: Blair, amendments: Brown, How)

February 28: That this House, considering the National Church should be an integral part of the British Constitution, is opposed to the abolition of Church Rates on grounds of principle as well as of expediency (motion: Hon. R. C. E. Abbot, amendment: Cuthbert, adjournment: Beaumont)

March 7: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendment: Gorman, but was not put as president ruled it not having anything new to offer; Gorman gave notice of appeal against president's decision, which was lost by a majority of 55 on April 21st)

Easter:

April 18: That the Poles, in the event of their endeavouring to regain their independence, will be entitled to the sympathy of this country, and that the reestablishment of the kingdom of Poland is greatly to be desired (motion: Vidal, adjournment: Farrell)

April 25: (adjourned debate) same as above

May 2: That this House, on account of the unsettled state of Europe, does not think the present a fitting time to remit taxes, and is of opinion that the Chancellor of the Exchequer in his budgets pays too much attention to beauty of language, and too little to the best interests of the country (motion: Curtis, adjournment: Oxenham, opposed by Mackay)

May 9: That the conduct of the Conservative party in Parliament for the last three years has not entitled it to the confidence of the country (motion: Urquhart, amendment: Gem)

May 30: That it is desirable that the qualification for the Franchise in towns should be education not property (motion: Webb, amendment: Lister) **Michaelmas:**

October 24: That the organization of the trade unions is necessary, and their policy on the whole justifiable (motion: Simcox, amendment: Bagwell)

November 7: That in their quarrel with the Austrian government the Hungarians have taken up a position which is deserving of our sympathy (motion: Bagwell)

November 21: That the so-called Conservative Reaction in England is a Conservative Delusion (motion: Beesly)

December 5: That this House approves of that part of the Constitution lately granted by the Emperor of Austria to his subjects which confers the Franchise on Women (motion: Lister)

1862

Lent:

February 13: That the opposition of Dissenters to the Church of England has been of late years malicious and unreasonable (motion: Moore, amendment: R. C. Crosthwaite)

February 20: That England's colonies and foreign dependencies are the main elements of England's strength and that to emancipate them or give them up would be most dangerous (motion: Gribble)

February 27: That the use of euphemisms, inasmuch as they tend to conceal the deformity of vice, is highly prejudicial to morality (motion: Bazely)

March 6: That the Saturday Review, though a paper of great ability, in its general tone is not to be commended (motion: Sandford)

March 20: That such reforms in the University are wanted, as will make it more accessible generally to the nation (motion: Hon. E. L. Stanley)

March 27: That Universal Suffrage, so graduated as to leave the Middle Classes supreme, should be the great aim of modern English Statesmen (motion: Reade, amendment: George)

Easter:

May 29: That this House views the attitude of the Conservative party towards Italy with great dislike (motion: O'Hanlon, adjournment: Fearon)

June 5: (adjourned debate) same as above

June 12: That the state of pauperism in London calls for interference on the part of the government (motion: Hon. A. E. W. M. Herbert)

June 19: That no scheme of parliamentary reform can be regarded as final which leaves the system of representation on an exclusively local basis (motion: Berkley)

June 26: That the present high character of the periodical press of England is principally due to the system of anonymous writing (motion: Tancock) **Michaelmas:**

October 30: That a public inquiry ought to be held to decide whether it be politic and just to retain Gibraltar (motion: O'Hanlon)

November 6: That a state of comparative barbarism is preferable to one of advanced civilization (motion: Babington, amendments: Berry, Hatch)

November 20: That the present ministry is a disgrace to the country (motion: Towgood, amendment: Hon. R. C. E. Abbot)

November 27: That Mr. Disraeli's political conduct fully deserves the confidence of the country (motion: Dombrain)

December 11: That in any Society or Body, a perception of its faults should lead members to endeavour to reform, and not to secede from that society (motion: Girdlestone)

1863

Lent:

February 5: That it is the duty of England to use every endeavour to prevent for the future the importation of slave-grown produce (motion: Rogers, amendments: Morris, Ilbert)

February 19: That the moral support accorded by England to the Southern Confederacy is a disgrace to the Country (motion: Berkley)

February 26: That a study of the Classics ought to form the basis of every Lady's education (motion: Black, amendment: Girdlestone)

March 19: That the Daily News and the "Advanced School" which it represents deserve the highest reprobation (motion: Jeune)

Easter:

April 30: That the abolition of religious tests in the University would be neither unjust nor prejudicial to the University (motion: Benett)

May 14: That Mr. Gladstone is unworthy to represent this University in Parliament (motion: Ll. Thomas, amendment: Langmead)

June 4: That the foreign policy of the present government in Europe has not deserved the approval of the Country (motion: Webster)

Michaelmas:

November 5: That party administrations are fatal to the best interests of the nation (motion: Hatch)

November 12: That it is expedient that the votes at parliamentary elections be taken by way of ballot (motion: Strachan-Davidson)

1864

Lent:

February 11: That in the opinion of this Society the Established Church of Ireland should be Roman Catholic and not Protestant (motion: Reade, opener: Slipper, amendment: Strachan-Davidson, adjournment: Mylne)

February 18: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Batson)

March 3: That this House wishes to express its full confidence in the present ministry (motion: Slipper, amendment: Crawley, adjournment: Phillimore, opposed by Morris and supported by Walker)

March 10: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter

April 14: That this House would view with regret any considerable changes in the systems of our Public Schools (motion: Acland, adjournment: Cobham supported by Mackinnon and opposed by Slipper, Morris, Black, adjournment: Tinné, opposed by Black and Morris, supported by Acland, Mackinnon, Batson and Slipper)

April 21: (adjourned debate) same as above

April 28: That the conduct and moral opinions of M. Mazzini and his party are deserving of the reprobation of Europe (motion: Phillimore, rider: Jackson (Fearon objected the rider as irrelevant but was overruled), adjournment: Nash opposed by Williams and Black, supported by Robinson (Higgins moved for division on the motion but was overruled))

May 19: England ought to go to war with Germany, should the latter persist, after the Conference, in occupying Jutland, or in demanding of Denmark payment of the German war-expenses (motion: Girdlestone, amendment: Browne)

May 26: That it would be unworthy of the dignity of the Legislature to defer a fair consideration of the question of Parliamentary reform (motion: Duggan, adjournment: Freeman, opposed by Slipper, Morris and Girdlestone, adjournment: Freeman, amendment: Phillimore)

Michaelmas:

October 27: That it is expedient that Mr. Gladstone should continue to represent this University (motion: Maurice, adjournment: Mylne opposed by Phillimore)

December 1: That the abolition of religious tests in the University ought to be no longer delayed (motion: Strachan-Davidson, amendment: Beavan (was not put because President ruled it to be "equivalent to the negative of the Motion"), adjournment: G.A. Simcox seconded by Duggan)

December 8: (adjourned debate) same as above

1865

Lent:

February 2: That the restoration of the Monastic Orders would be beneficial to Society (motion: Bromby, adjournment: Geldart, opposed by Black and supported by Robinson)

February 9: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Rev. E.W. Urquhart opposed by Nash, Girdlestone rose to order and was given a reply by the President, adjournment: Braithwaite seconded by Morris, amendment: Phillimore)

February 14: (adjourned debate) same as above

February 23: That this House entirely disapproves of the Political career of the Right Hon. B. Disraeli (motion: Duggan, adjournment: Butler)

March 9: That it is unjust that woman should be excluded from any political or social rights (motion: Tinné, amendment: Williams)

March 23: That the frequency of strikes is due to the superficial education of the working classes (motion: Girdlestone, amendment: Robinson)

Easter:

May 4: That this house deeply regrets the late successes of the Federal arms and believes the triumph of the government at Washington to be fatal to the freedom of America (motion: MacKinnon, adjournment: Beaven)

May 11: (adjourned debate) same as above (adjournment: Bousfield, opposed by Robinson, Freeman and Simcox, Bousfield withdrew his motion with the sanction of the President, adjournment: Nash, opposed by Russell, Phillimore and Clive, supported by Lawes, adjournment: Nash, opposed by Phillimore, Williams, Geldart and Robinson; at 11.30pm the House closed the debate "in accordance with the Rule XLIV as amended.")

May 18: That in the choice of a University Representative regard should be paid rather to character and attainments than to adhesion to a party creed (motion: Geldart, amendment: Wood)

May 25: That every man, not morally or intellectually disqualified, ought to have a voice in the representation of the country (motion: Russell)

June 15: That an ample justification of Liberalism in Politics is to be found in the history of the last half-century (motion: Duggan)

Michaelmas:

October 26: That this House sees no reason to regret the introduction of the Great Western Company's works into Oxford (motion: E.E. Morris, amendment: R. Robinson)

November 16: That the disgraceful way in which Parliamentary elections are conducted affords a main argument against any extension of the franchise (motion: S. Theodore Wood, amendments: C. MacKinnon, Beaven)

December 7: That the extension of the University by the removal of the qualification of college residence for a degree is highly desirable (motion: Cockin, amendments: Braithwaite, Geldart, Beaven)

1866

Lent:

February 8: That this House is of opinion that the severities lately practiced in Jamaica were unnecessary and unjustifiable (motion: Phillimore, amendment: Lord Warkworth)

March 8: That in the opinion of this House the present Government has not as yet proved itself worthy of the confidence of the nation (motion: Campbell MacKinnon, amendment: Robinson)

Easter:

April 19: That an extension of the franchise is highly undesirable (motion: Nash, amendment: Northcote, adjournment: Batson, opposed by Mackinnon, Oddis and Northcote, Russell pressed for adjournment, amendment: Wood)

April 26: That whenever all classes of the community are adequately represented in Parliament it will be the duty of government to propose a system of compulsory education (motion: Duggan, amendment: Simcox)

Michaelmas:

October 18: That the late change of government is highly beneficial to the English nation (motion: Hardy (?), amendment: Arbuthnot)

October 25: That the policy of Count Bismarck has been conducive to the best interests of Europe (motion: Hatch)

November 8: That in the opinion of this House Mr Bright is a reproach to the country that gave him birth (motion: Geldart, amendment: Treasurer, adjournment: Fyffe, adjournment: Beaven, amendment: Beaven)

November 22: That in the opinion of this house there is urgent need for a large measure of University Reform (motion: C.S.D. Acland)

December 6: That a more frequent discussion of literary and historical subjects would be advantageous to the public debates at the Union (motion: W.R. Anson)

1867

Lent:

February 14: That the establishment of a system of compulsory education in this country is both desirable and practicable (motion: Brown, amendment: R. Smith)

March 14: That a generous concession on the Reform question will be a real benefit to the Conservative Party (motion: J.E. Stocks)

Factor

May 2: That the government ought to be supported in their endeavours to carry a sound and Constitutional Reform Bill (motion: R. Smith, amendment: Richards)

May 20: That international morality demands from England the future relinquishment of India (motion: Cotton, proposal to enforce Rule 52: Nash, Pres-

ident did not enforce the rule, Nash enquired when he could make an appeal against President's decision)

June 13: That the events of the last 30 years render necessary the reconstruction of the Upper House of Parliament (motion: Stocks, adjournment: Coles supported by Treasurer and Jackson, opposed by Geldart, the mover corrected his statement, adjournment: Stocks, supported by Coles and opposed by Nash)

June 20: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendments: Nash, Browne) **Michaelmas:**

October 24: That the passing of the Reform Bill by Mr Disraeli has ruined the character of the Conservative Party for consistency and principle (motion: Cotton)

November 21: That Wordsworth is the greatest poet of the country (motion: Hollings)

November 28: That the abolition of capital punishment for crimes other than treason is demanded by expediency and morality (motion: Nicholson, amendment: Williams)

December 5: That this house dissents from the doctrine of culture taught by Mr Matthew Arnold (motion: Ward)

1868

Lent:

February 13: That in the opinion of this House Education ought to be made compulsory in this country (motion: Dale)

February 27: That all the present projects of University Reform are unadvisable (motion: Cornish)

March 12: That this House regrets that it should have been necessary to entrust the Post of Prime Minister to so dishonest a politician as Mr. Disraeli (motion: Doyle, amendment: Moore)

Easter:

April 23: That this House disapproves of the course taken by the Liberal Party in Parliament in the recent debate and division upon the Irish Church (motion: Pope as proxy for T.F. Dale, adjournment: Colley)

April 30: (adjourned) same as above (adjournment: Robertson)

May 7: (adjourned) same as above (amendment: W.W. Wood)

May 21: That this House desires to see Mr Gladstone speedily invested with the Premiership (motion: A. Bathe)

June 11: That an absolute monarchy in England would improve our foreign policy, our domestic legislation, our art, our literature, and our morality (motion: Morice, adjournment: Fyffe, who withdrew his motion)

Michaelmas:

October 29: That Sir Roundell Palmer is the fittest and worthiest Representative of this University (motion: Geldart, amendment: Lewis, adjournment: Morice, seconded by Lindon)

November 6: That the first duty of a Statesman is to preserve his own honour (motion: Morice)

November 12: That Mr. Bright is the greatest statesman of the age (motion: Bernays, amendment: Lewis, adjournment: Harrison)

November 19: (adjourned debate) same as above (amendments: Reith, Nicholson, adjournment: Pead, seconded by: Birkett, at 11.30 pm the President moved adjournment of debate)

December 10: That this House views with apprehension and regret the accession of the self-styled 'Liberal' party to power, and earnestly hopes that the exclusion of Mr. Disraeli and the Tory party from office will be of short duration (motion: Beaven, point of order: Figgins, amendment: Geldart)

1869

Lent:

January 28: That Mr. J. S. Null's exclusion from Parliament is a national loss (motion: Bernays)

February 4: That the time is now come for separation of Church and State (motion: Jeans, adjournment: Gregory, Duffan)

February 11: (adjourned debate) same as above (rider: Lewis, adjournment: MacClymont)

February 18: (adjourned debate) same as above

Easter:

April 22: That the establishment of a system of compulsory education for the lower classes would be beneficial to the social and political condition of England (motion: A.C. Garbett, amendment: Cotton

April 29: That the admission of women to the suffrage is desirable (motion: J. Cross, amendment: Tanner)

May 6: That Toryism in England is defunct and deservedly so (motion: S. Dawes, amendment: Smith)

Michaelmas:

October 28: That the House of Lords should cease to exist (motion: Richards, adjournment: Jeans)

November 18: That clubs open to working men should be established at the public expense (motion: Higgs)

1870

Lent:

February 10: That the candidature of Odger for Southwark deserves the approval of this House (motion: Cotton, rider: Richard Smith)

February 17: That vote by ballot violates the true principles of political freedom and ought to form no part of the programme of the Liberal government (motion: C.R. MacChymont, amendment: Robertson)

March 24: That any scheme for the promotion of female suffrage is absurd and impracticable (motion: Mowbray)

Easter:

April 28: That the increase of democratic principles in England is to be deeply regretted (motion: Ellis Ashmead Bartlett)

May 5: (adjourned debate) same as above

June 9: That extensive reforms in the system of university education at Oxford are desirable (motion: J.R. Sturgis)

Michaelmas:

November 3: That it is desirable that the Bishops should retain their seats in the House of Lords (motion: Forbes)

APPENDIX 3: A SUMMARY OF THE RULE CHANGES IN THE UNION SOCIETIES

Cambridge Union Society:

1815: Cambridge Union Society is established.

1817: The society is dissolved on the orders of the university authorities. It continues as a reading club.

1821: Debates are resumed.

1824: The aim of the society is written down as the 'discussion of any subjects, but those of a theological nature, and political questions of a date subsequent to the year 1800'.

1826: Oxford Union Society is first mentioned in its records.

1828: The rules of the society are named 'laws'.

10 November 1830: President Orde receives a letter from University Proctor regarding the fact that Cambridge Union Society has raised an issue relating to politics of the day in its meeting.

3 May 1831: Debates on political events of the past twenty years become prohibited.

8 November 1831: The law to restrict debates on political issues was demolished.

1834: For the first time, new members are admitted without balloting.

Any member of the University is accepted as a member of the Society for a payment.

16 May 1836: It is proposed for the first time that the Cambridge Union Society begins to put questions of debate in the form of resolutions.

13 December 1836: There is another proposition for putting questions in form of resolutions.

1841: The secretary is given the duty to keep in contact and send copies of the society's Laws to Oxford Union Society and Historical Society of Dublin.

The standing committee of the society is founded.

1842: The rooms the society occupies in Park Street are enlarged and renovated.

17 May 1842: Galton of Trinity College proposes that the Union Society adopts the form of making motions.

21 November 1842: Ogier of Trinity College suggests that the Union Society orders *Hansard's Parliamentary Debates* instead of the *Mirror of Parliament* which is no longer published.

1843: The Cambridge Union Society runs into financial difficulties caused by the costs of renovation as well as incorrect accounting conducted by its former Senior Clerk.

29 May 1843: Ogier of Trinity College proposes that the Cambridge Union Society sells its collections of the *Mirror of Parliament* to Hansards who had offered to buy them for $15\,\text{£}$.

1844: The standing committee revises the Laws of the Union Society.

1845: The aims of the society written in the laws are now the following: first, the promotion of debate, secondly, the maintenance of the library, thirdly, the supply of newspapers and other periodicals.

All the resolutions and laws of the society previous to those made after 11 February 1845 are repealed.

1848: Members of Oxford Union and Dublin College Historical Societies are made honorary members of the Society.

Appeals against president's decisions are subjected to a 'Committee of the whole House'.

For the first time laws concerning public and private business meetings of the society are separated.

The mover of adjournment of debate is named as the opener of the next debate in the following public business meeting.

It becomes the duty of the chairman to make sure that the number of members present is forty before any vote is taken.

The standing committee now includes also the president, treasurer, and secretary.

Any member is permitted to demand a poll on any motion in private business.

1849: Any member may announce his wish to speak in opposition of the motion chosen for debate before the next public business meeting.

1853: Members of London Union Society are permitted to participate in the debates of the society.

The office of vice-president is established as the head of 'executive department'.

The office of treasurer becomes annual.

The rule is added to the Laws of the society that no motion that has been put for debate can be withdrawn 'without leave of the House'.

In case no proposals for debate is offered for public business meeting it becomes the duty of the vice-president or secretary to provide one.

Members are allowed to record their vote in a book in case they want to leave the debate before the division.

Motions and amendments are only put in case they are proposed and seconded.

1855: Adjournment of discussion of a motion *sine die* requires a simple majority.

1858: Rule concerning amendments is changed that votes on them are conducted only after the reply of the opener of the debate.

President is given the discretionary power to refuse a vote on a motion or an amendment, unless it is proposed by a member who has taken part in the debate on them.

The building fund of the society is established.

1863: 'Strangers' are permitted to attend the public business meetings of the society with an endorsement of a member.

1866: Inauguration of the new buildings of the society.

1867: The procedure of voting is written down in the laws.

1868: A rule is added that a proposer of a motion for adjournment should only speak to that motion.

Members of the Society are given the right to publish the subject of debate, the result, and the names of the speakers.

1870: Any member may ask questions from the vice-president on anything that affects the Society at the beginning of private business meetings after giving a notice.

Oxford Union Society:

1823: The Oxford Union Debating Society is founded.

1824: Adopts the form of making motions instead of questions in its debates.

1825: The society is dissolved and re-established as Oxford Union Society.

1837: The aim of the society is declared to be the 'discussion of any subject not immediately involving Theological questions'.

In the rules it is stated that the questions for debate shall be put in the form of a motion.

Members of Cambridge Union and Dublin Historical Societies are named as honorary members.

'Strangers' are admitted to the public business meetings.

1842: The society appointed a committee to revise the rules concerning the role of president.

1848: All the rules of the society were revised by an appointed select committee.

1849: Standing committee of the society was constituted. It became in charge of the revision of rules.

1851: Members of London Union Society and all Masters of Arts are permitted to take part in the public debates of the society.

Roundell Palmer, MP for Plymouth, was "reinstated" as a member of the society.

1852: The suggested amendments to the rules were submitted to the society.

1853: Members of Cambridge Union and Dublin Historical Societies are allowed to participate in the public debates of the society.

Any member who has proposed a motion or adjourned a debate on one and fails to open a new debate is fined.

Standing Orders of the society are written down in the rules of the society for the first time.

1856: Members of Durham Union Society are made honorary members of the society.

The rule that the president decides every question of order is amended so that it is explicitly stated that president cannot decide against the established rules or interpret a rule in contradiction to another.

Members of the society were permitted to pose questions to standing committee before the commencement of public debates.

Public and private business meetings are more clearly kept apart. Also the rules regarding the proceedings of the two types of meetings are separated.

Motions of 'private' members and standing committee are distinguished in the rules.

Polls were mentioned in the rules for the first time.

1858: A Standing Order prohibits publication of speeches delivered at society's meetings.

1859: H. R. H. The Prince of Wales was elected honourary member of the society.

1863: The society moved to a new building.

1864: All new members of the university, by payment of a fee for one term, were allowed to attend the debates and enjoy privileges of the society, except taking part in private business meetings.

1867: A rule was added that no speech should be permitted to last more than half an hour.

- 1 Kyöstiö, O. K., Oppilaiden terveydentilan riippuvuus koulutyypistä. Health status of pupils according to type of school. 78 р. Summary 6 р. 1962.
- Heinonen, Veikko, Differentiation of primary mental abilities. 136 p. 1963.
- 3 ELONEN, ANNA S., TAKALA, MARTTI & RUOPPILA ISTO, A study of intellectual functions in children by means of the KTK performance scales. 181 p. 1963
- 4 Juurmaa, Jyrki, On the ability structure of the deaf. 114 p. 1963.
- 5 HEINONEN, VEIKKO, Lyhennetty faktori-analyysi. A short method for factor analysis. 76 p. Summary 5 p. 1963.
- 6 PITKÄNEN, PENTTI, Fyysisen kunnon rakenne ja kehittyminen. The structure and development of physical fitness. 163 p. Summary 10 p. 1964.
- 7 Nurmi, Vell, Maamme seminaarien varsinaisen opettajakoulutuksen synty ja kehittyminen viime vuosisadalla I. Die Entehung und Entwicklung der praktischen Lehrer-bildung unserer Lehrerseminare im vorigen Jahrhundert I. 270 p. Zusammenfassung 15 p. 1964.
- 8 Nurmi, Vell, Maamme seminaarien varsinaisen opettajakoulutuksen synty ja kehittyminen viime vuosisadalla II. Die Entstehung und Entwicklung der praktischen Lehrer-bildung unserer Lehrerseminare im vorigen Jahrhundert II. 123 p. Zusammenfassung 10 p. 1964.
- 9 Nummenmaa, Tapio, The language of the face. 66 p. 1964.
- 10 Isosaari, Jussi, Bruno Boxström ja Sortavalan seminaarin kasvatusaineiden opetus 1882-1917. – Bruno Boxström und der Unterricht in den pädagogischen Fächern am Seminar von Sortavala 1882-1917. 167 p. Zusammen-fassung II p. 1964.
- 11 Nummenmaa, Tapio & Takala, Martti, Parental behavior and sources of information in different social groups. 53 p. 1965.
- 12 WECKROTH, JOHAN, Studies in brain pathology and human performance I. – On the relationship between severity of brain injury and the level and structure of intellectual performance. 105 p. 1965.
- 13 PITKÄNEN, PENTTI, Ärsyke- ja reaktioanalyyttisten faktorointitulosten vastaavuudesta. On the congruence and coincidence between stimulus analytical and response analytical factor results. 223 p. Summary 14 p. 1967.
- 14 TENKKU, JUSSI, Are singlé moral rules absolute in Kant's ethics? 31 p. 1967.
- 15 Ruoppila, Isto, Nuorten ja varttuneiden opiskelijoiden väliset asenne-erot eräissä ylioppilaspohjaisissa oppilaitoksissa. – Attitude differences between young and advanced university and college students. 182 p. Summary 14 p. 1967.
- 16 Karvonen, Juhani, The structure, arousal and change of the attitudes of teacher education students. 118 p. 1967.
- 17 ELONEN, ANNAS., Performance scale patterns in various diagnostic groups. 53 p. 1968.

- TUOMOLA, UUNO, Kansakouluntarkastajaan kohdistuvista rooliodotuksista. – On roleexpectations applied to school inspectors. 173 p. Summary 8 p. 1968.
- 19 Pitkänen, Lea, A descriptive model of aggression and nonaggression with applications to childrens behaviour. 208 p. 1969.
- 20 Koskiaho, Briitta, Level of living and industrialisation. 102 p. 1970.
- 21 Kuusinen, Jorma, The meaning of another person's personality. 28 p. 1970.
- VILJANEN, ERKKI, Pohjakoulutustaso ja kansakoulunopettajan kehitysympäristöjen muodostuminen. – The level of basic education in relation to the formation of the development milieus of primary school teachers. 280 s. Summary 13 p. 1970.
- 23 HAGFORS, CARL, The galvanic skin response and its application to the group registration of psychophysiological processes. 128 p. 1970.
- 24 KARVONEN, JUHANI, The enrichment of vocabulary and the basic skills of verbal communication. 47 p. 1971.
- 25 Seppo, Simo, Abiturienttien asenteet uskonnonopetukseen. – The attitudes of students toward religious education in secondary school. 137 p. Summary 5 p. 1971.
- 26 Renko Manu, Opettajan tehokkuus oppilaiden koulusaavutusten ja persoonallisuuden kehittämisessä. – Teacher's effectiveness in improving pupils' school achievements and developing their personality. 144 p. Summary 4 p. 1971.
- 27 VAHERVA, TAPIO, Koulutustulokset peruskoulun ala-asteella yhteisömuuttujien selittäminä. Educational outcomes at the lower level of the comprehensive school in the light of ecological variables. 158 p. Summary 3 p. 1974.
- OLKINUORA, ERKKI, Norm socialization. The formation of personal norms. 186 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 1974.
- 29 LIKANEN, PIRKKO, Increasing creativity through art education among pre-school children. 44 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 1975.
- 30 ELONEN, ANNAS., & GUYER, MELVIN, Comparison of qualitative characteristics of human figure drawings of Finnish children in various diagnostic categories. 46 p. Tiivistelmä 3 p. 1975.
- 31 KÄÄRIÄINEN, RISTO, Physical, intellectual, and personal characteristics of Down's syndrome. 114 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 1975.
- 32 Määttä, Paula, Images of a young drug user. 112 p. Tiivistelmä 11 p. 1976.
- 33 ALANEN, PENTTI, Tieto ja demokratia. Epistemology and democracy. 140 p. Summary 4 p. 1976.
- 34 Nupponen, Riitta, Vahvistajaroolit aikuisten ja lapsen vuorovaikutuksessa. The experimental roles of reinforcing agent in adult-child interaction. 209 p. Summary 11 p. 1977.

- 35 Teikari, Veikko, Vigilanssi-ilmiön mittaamisesta ja selitysmahdollisuuksista. On measuring and explanation of vigilance. 163 p. Summary 2 p. 1977.
- 36 Volanen, Risto, On conditions of decision making. A study of the conceptual foundations of administration. – Päätöksenteon edellytyksistä. Tutkimus hallinnon käsitteellisistä perusteista. 171 p. Tiivistelmä 7 p. 1977.
- 37 LYYTINEN, PAULA, The acquisition of Finnish morphology in early childhood. – Suomen kielen morfologisten säännönmukaisuuksien omaksuminen varhaislapsuudessa. 143 p. Tiivistelmä 6 p. 1978.
- 38 Hakamäki, Simo, Maaseudulle muutto muuttoliikkeen osana. Migration on rural areas as one element of migration as a whole. 175 p. Summary 5 p. 1978.
- 39 Moberg, Śakari, Leimautuminen erityispedagogiikassa. Nimikkeisiin apukoululainen ja tarkkailuluokkalainen liittyvät käsitykset ja niiden vaikutus hypoteettista oppilasta koskeviin havaintoihin. Labelling in special education. 177 p. Summary 10 p. 1979.
- 40 Ahvenainen, Ossi, Lukemis- ja kirjoittamishäiriöinen erityisopetuksessa. – The child with reading and writing disabilities in special education. 246 p. Summary 14 p. 1980.
- 41 Hurme, Helena, Life changes during childhood. – Lasten elämänmuutokset. 229 p. Tiivistelmä 3 p. 1981.
- 42 Tutkimus yhteiskuntapolitiikan viitoittajana. Professori Leo Paukkuselle omistettu juhlakirja. 175 p. 1981.
- 43 Hirsjärvi, Sirkka, Aspects of consciousness in child rearing. – Tietoisuuden ongelma kotikasvatuksessa. 259 p. 1981.
- 44 LASONEN, KARI, Siirtolaisoppilas Ruotsin kouluyhteisössä. Sosiometrinen tutkimus. – A sosio-metric study of immigrant pupils in the Swedish comprehensive school. 269 p. Summary 7 p. 1981.
- 45 AJATUKSEN JA TOIMINNAN TIET. Matti Juntusen muistokirja. 274 p. 1982.
- 46 Mäkinen, Řaimo, Ťeachers' work, wellbeing, and health. – Opettajan työ, hyvinvointi ja terveys. 232 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 1982.
- 47 Kankainen, Mikko, Suomalaisen peruskoulun eriyttämisratkaisun yhteiskunnallisen taustan ja siirtymävaiheen toteutuksen arviointi. 257 p. Summary 11 p. 1982.
- WALLS, GEORG, Health care and social welfare in, cooperation. 99 p. Tiivistelmä 9 p. 1982.
- 49 Koivukari, Mirjami, Rote learning comprehension and participation by the learnes in Zairian classrooms. Mekaaninen oppiminen, ymmärtäminen ja oppilaiden osallistuminen opetukseen zairelaisissa koululuokissa. 286 p. Tiivistelmä 11p. 1982.
- 50 KOPONEN, RITVA, An item analysis of tests in mathematics applying logistic test models. – Matematiikan kokeiden osioanalyysi logistisia testimalleja käyttäen. 187 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 1983.

- 51 Pekonen, Kyösti, Byrokratia politiikan näkökulmasta. Politiikan ja byrokratian keskinäinen yhteys valtio- ja yhteiskuntaprosessin kehityksen valossa. – Bureaucracy from the viewpoint of politics. 253 p. 1983.
- 52 LYYTINEN, HEIKKI, Psychophysiology of anticipation and arousal. – Antisipaation ja viriämisen psykofysiologia. 190 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 1984
- 53 KORKIAKANGAS, MIKKO, Lastenneuvolan terveydenhoitajan arvioinnit viisivuotiaiden lasten psyykkisestä kehityksestä. – The psychological assessment of five-year-old children by public health centres. 227 p. Summary 14 p. 1984.
- 54 Human action and personality. Essays in honour of Martti Takala. 272 p. 1984.
- MATILAINEN, JOUKO, Maanpuolustus ja eduskunta. Eduskuntaryhmien kannanotot ja koheesio maanpuolustuskysymyksissä Paasikiven-Kekkosen kaudella 1945-1978. Defence and Parliament. 264 p. Summary 7 p. 1984
- 56 Puolue, valtio ja edustuksellinen demokratia. Pekka Nyholmille omistettu juhlakirja. – Party, state and representational democracy. 145 p. Summary 2 p. 1986.
- 57 Siisiäinen, Martti, Intressit, yhdistyslaitos ja poliittisen järjestelmän vakaisuus. – Interests, voluntary assiociations and the stability of the political system. 367 p. Summary 6 p. 1986.
- 58 Mattlar, Carl-Erik, Finnish Rorschach responses in cross-cultural context: A normative study. 166 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 1986.
- 59 Äystö, Seija, Neuropsychological aspects of simultaneous and successive cognitive processes. Rinnakkaisen ja peräkkäisen informaation prosessoinnin neuropsykologiasta. 205 p. Tiivistelmä 10 p. 1987.
- 60 Lindh, Raimo, Suggestiiviset mielikuvamallit käyttäytymisen muokkaajina tarkkailuluokkalaisilla. Suggestive covert modeling as a method with disturbed pupils. 194 p. Summary 8 p. 1987.
- 61 Korhonen, Tapani, Behavioral and neural short-lateney and long-latency conditioned responses in the cat. Välittömät ja viivästetyt hermostol-liset ja käyttäytymisvasteet klassisen ehdollista-misen aikana kissalla. 198 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 1987.
- 62 Pahkinen, Tuula, Psykoterapian vaikutus minäkäsitykseen. Psykoterapian käynnistämän muutosprosessin vaikutus korkeakouluopiskelijoiden minäkäsitykseen. Change in self-concept as a result of psychotherapy. 172 p. Summary 6 p. 1987.
- 63 KANGAS, ANITA, Keski-Suomen kulttuuritoimintakokeilu tutkimuksena ja politiikkana. The action research on cultural- activities in the Province of Central Finland. 301 p. Summary 8 p. 1988.
- 64 Hurme, Helena, Child, mother and grandmother. Interegenerational interaction in

- Finnish families. 187 p. 1988.
- 65 RASKU-PUTTONEN, HELENA, Communication between parents and children in experimental situations. Vanhempien ja lasten kommunikointi strukturoiduissa tilanteissa. 71 p. Tiivistelmä 5 p. 1988.
- 66 Toskala, Antero, Kahvikuppineurootikkojen ja paniikkiagorafoobikkojen minäkuvat minäsysteemin rakenteina ja kognitiivisen oppimis-terapian perustana. – The self-images of coffee cup neurotics and panic agoraphobics as structures of a selfsystem and a basis for learning therapy. 261 p. Summary 6 p. 1988.
- 67 HAKKARAINEN, LIISA, Kuurojen yläasteen oppilaiden kirjoitetun kielen hallinta. Mastery of written language by deaf pupils at the upper level of Comprehensive school. 281 p. Summary 11 p. 1988.
- 68 Nätti, Jouko, Työmarkkinoiden lohkoutuminen. Segmentaatioteoriat, Suomen työmarkkinat ja yritysten työvoimastrategiat. Segmentation theories, Finnish labour markets and the use of labour in retail trade. 189 p. Summary 10 p. 1989.
- 69 Aaltola, Juhani, Merkitys opettamisen ja oppimisen näkökulmasta Wittgensteinin myöhäisfilo-sofian ja pragmatismin valossa. Meaning from the point of view of teaching and learning in the light of Wittgenstein's later philosophy and pragmatism. 249 p. Summary 6 p. 1989.
- 70 KINNUNEN, ULLA, Teacher stress over a school year. - Opettajan työstressi lukuvuoden aikana. 61 p. Tiivistelmä 3 p. 1989.
- 71 Breuer, Helmut & Ruoho, Karı (Hrsg.), Pädagogisch-psychologische Prophylaxe bei 4-8 jährigen Kindern. - Pedagogis-psykologinen ennaltaehkäisy neljästä kahdeksaan vuoden iässä. 185 S. Tiivistelmä 1 S. 1989.
- 72 Lummelahtti, Leena, Kuusivuotiaiden sopeutuminen päiväkotiin. Yksilöllistetty mallioppimis-ohjelma päiväkotiin heikosti sopeutuvien kuusivuotiaiden ohjauksessa sekä vanhempien kasvatuskäytännön yhtey-det lapsen sopeutumiseen ja minäkäsitykseen. The adjustment of six-year-old children to daycare-centres. 224 p. Summary 9 p. 1990.
- 73 SALOVIITA, TIMO, Adaptive behaviour of institutionalized mentally retarded persons. Laitoksessa asuvien kehitysvammaisten adaptiivinen käyttäytyminen. 167 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 1990.
- 74 PALONEN, KARI et SUBRA, LEENA (Eds.), Jean-Paul Sartre - un philosophe du politique. - Jean-Paul Sartre - poliittisuuden filosofi. 107 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 1990.
- 75 Sinivuo, Juhani, Kuormitus ja voimavarat upseerin uralla. - Work load and resources in the career of officers. 373 p. Summary 4 p. 1990.
- 76 PÖLKKI, PIRJO, Self-concept and social skills of school beginners. Summary and discussion. -

- Koulutulokkaiden minäkäsitys ja sosiaaliset taidot. 100 p. Tiivistelmä 6 p. 1990.
- 77 Huttunen, Jouko, Isän merkitys pojan sosiaaliselle sukupuolelle. - Father's impact on son's gender role identity. 246 p. Summary 9 p.1990.
- 78 Ahonen, Timo, Lasten motoriset koordinaatiohäiriöt. Kehitysneuropsykologinen seurantatutkimus. - Developmental coordination disorders in children. A developmental neuropsychological follow-up study. 188 p. Summary 9 p. 1990.
- 79 Murto, Kari, Towards the well functioning community. The development of Anton Makarenko and Maxwell Jones' communities. Kohti toimivaa yhteisöä. Anton Makarenkon ja Maxwell Jonesin yhteisöjen kehitys. 270 p. Tiivistelmä 5 p. Cp2`<, 5 c. 1991.</p>
- 80 Seikkula, Jaakko, Perheen ja sairaalan rajasysteemi potilaan sosiaalisessa verkostossa. The family-hospital boundary system in the social network. 285 p. Summary 6 p. 1991.
- 81 Alanen, Ilkka, Miten teoretisoida maa-talouden pientuotantoa. On the conceptualization of petty production in agriculture. 360 p. Summary 9 p. 1991.
- 82 NIEMELÄ, EINO, Harjaantumisoppilas peruskoulun liikuntakasvatuksessa. - The trainable mentally retarded pupil in comprehensive school physical education. 210 p. Summary 7 p. 1991.
- 83 KARILA, IRMA, Lapsivuodeajan psyykkisten vaikeuksien ennakointi. Kognitiivinen malli. -Prediction of mental distress during puerperium. A cognitive model. 248 p. Summary 8 p. 1991.
- HAAPASALO, JAANA, Psychopathy as a descriptive construct of personality among offenders. Psykopatia rikoksentekijöiden personallisuutta kuvaavana konstruktiona.
 73 p. Tiivistelmä 3 p. 1992.
- 85 Arnkil, Erik, Sosiaalityön rajasysteemit ja kehitysvyöhyke. - The systems of boundary and the developmental zone of social work. 65 p. Summary 4 p. 1992.
- 86 Nikki, Maija-Liisa, Suomalaisen koulutusjärjestelmän kielikoulutus ja sen relevanssi. Osa II. Foreign language education in the Finnish educational system and its relevance. Part 2. 204 p. Summary 5 p. 1992
- 204 p. Summary 5 p. 1992.

 87 Nikki, Maija-Liisa, The implementation of the Finnish national plan for foreign language teaching. Valtakunnallisen kielenopetuksen yleissuunnitelman toimeenpano. 52 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 1992.
- 88 Vaskilampi, Tuula, Vaihtoehtoinen terveydenhuolto hyvinvointivaltion terveysmarkkinoilla. Alternative medicine on the health market of welfare state. 120 p. Summary 8 p. 1992.
- 89 Laakso, Kirsti, Kouluvaikeuksien ennustaminen. Käyttäytymishäiriöt ja kielelliset vaikeudet peruskoulun alku- ja päättövaiheessa. -

- Prediction of difficulties in school. 145 p. Summary 4 p. 1992.
- 90 SUUTARINEN, ŠAKARI, Herbartilainen pedagoginen uudistus Suomen kansakoulussa vuosisadan alussa (1900-1935). Die Herbart'sche pädagogische Reform in den finnischen Volksschulen zu Beginn dieses Jahrhunderts (1900-1935). 273 p. Zusammenfassung 5 S. 1992.
- 91 AITTOLA, TAPIO, Üuden opiskelijatyypin synty. Opiskelijoiden elämänvaiheet ja tieteenalaspesifien habitusten muovautuminen 1980luvun yliopistossa. - Origins of the new student type. 162 p. Summary 4 p. 1992
- 92 KORHONEN, PEKKA, The origin of the idea of the Pacific free trade area. Tyynenmeren vapaa-kauppa-alueen idean muotoutuminen. Taiheiyoo jiyuu booeki chi-iki koosoo no seisei. 220 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. Yooyaku 2 p. 1992.
- 93 Keränen, Jyrki, Avoĥoitoon ja sairaalahoitoon valikoituminen perhekeskeisessä psykiatrisessa hoitojärjestelmässä. The choice between outpatient and inpatient treatment in a family centred psychiatric treatment system. 194 p. Summary 6 p. 1992.
- 94 Wahlström, Jarl, Merkitysten muodostuminen ja muuttuminen perheterapeuttisessa keskustelussa. Diskurssianalyyttinen tutkimus. Semantic change in family therapy. 195 p. Summary 5 p. 1992.
- 95 Raheem, Kolawole, Problems of social security and development in a developing country. A study of the indigenous systems and the colonial influence on the conventional schemes in Nigeria. Sosiaaliturvan ja kehityksen ongelmia kehitysmaassa. 272 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1993.
- 96 LAINE, TIMO, Aistisuus, kehollisuus ja dialogisuus. Ludwig Feuerbachin filosofian lähtökohtia ja niiden kehitysnäkymiä 1900-luvun antropologisesti suuntautuneessa fenomenologiassa. Sensuousnes, bodiliness and dialogue. Basic principles in Ludwig Feuerbach's philosophy and their development in the anthropologically oriented phenomenology of the 1900's. 151 p. Zusammenfassung 5 S. 1993.
- 97 PENTTONEN, MARKKU, Classically conditioned lateralized head movements and bilaterally recorded cingulate cortex responses in cats. -Klassisesti ehdollistetut sivuttaiset päänliikkeet ja molemminpuoliset aivojen pihtipoimun vasteet kissalla. 74 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1993.
- 98 Koro, Jukka, Aikuinen oman oppimisensa ohjaajana. Itseohjautuvuus, sen kehittyminen ja yhteys opetustuloksiin kasvatustieteen avoimen korkeakouluopetuksen monimuotokokeilussa. Adults as managers of their own learning. Self-directiveness, its development and connection with the gognitive learning results of an experiment on distance education for the teaching of educational science. 238 p. Summary 7 p. 1993.
- 99 Laihiala-Kankainen, Sirkka, Formaalinen ja funktionaalinen traditio kieltenopetuksessa.

- Kieltenopetuksen oppihistoriallinen tausta antiikista valistukseen. Formal and functional traditions in language teaching. The theory -historical background of language teaching from the classical period to the age of reason. 288 p. Summary 6 p. 1993.
- 100 Mäkinen, Terttu, Yksilön varhaiskehitys koulunkäynnin perustana. - Early development as a foundation for school achievement. 273 p. Summary 16 p. 1993.
- 101 Kotkavirta, Jussi, Practical philosophy and modernity. A study on the formation of Hegel's thought. - Käytännöllinen filosofia ja modernisuus. Tutkielma Hegelin ajattelun muotoutumisesta. 238 p. Zusammenfassung 3 S. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1993.
- 102 EISENHARDT, PETER L., PALONEN, KARI, SUBRA, LEENA, ZIMMERMANN RAINER E. (Eds.), Modern concepts of existentialism. Essays on Sartrean problems in philosophy, political theory and aesthetics. 168 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 1993.
- 103 KERÄNEN, MARJA, Modern political science and gender. A debate between the deaf and the mute. - Moderni valtio-oppi ja nainen. Mykkien ja kuurojen välinen keskustelu. 252 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 1993.
- 104 Matikainen, Tuulla, Työtaitojenkehittyminen erityisammattikouluvaiheen aikana. -Development of working skills in special vocational school. 205 p. Summary 4 p. 1994.
- 105 PIHLAJARINNE, MARJA-LEENA, Nuoren sairastuminen skitsofreeniseen häiriöön. Perheterapeuttinen tarkastelutapa. The onset of schizophrenic disorder at young age. Family therapeutic study. 174 p. Summary 5 p. 1994.
- 106 Kuusinen, Kirsti-Liisa, Psyykkinen itsesäätely itsehoidon perustana. Itsehoito I-tyypin diabetesta sairastavilla aikuisilla. - Self-care based on self-regulation. Self-care in adult type I diabetics. 260 p. Summary 17 p. 1994.
- 107 MENGISTU, LEGESSE GEBRESELLASSIE,
 Psychological classification of students with
 and without handicaps. A tests of Holland's
 theory in Ethiopia. 209 p. 1994.
- 108 Leskinen, Markku (Ed.), Family in focus. New perspectives on early childhood special education. 158 p. 1994.
- 109 Leskinen, Markku, Parents' causal attributions and adjustment to their child's disability. -Vanhempien syytulkinnat ja sopeutuminen lapsensa vammaisuuteen. 104 p. Tiivistelmä 1 p. 1994.
- 110 Matthies, Aila-Leena, Epävirallisen sektorin ja hyvinvointivaltion suhteiden modernisoituminen. - The informal sector and the welfare state. Contemporary relationships. 63 p. Summary 12 p. 1994.
- 111 Aittola, Helena, Tutkimustyön ohjaus ja ohjaussuhteet tieteellisessä jatkokoulutuksessa. - Mentoring in postgraduate education. 285 p. Summary 5 p. 1995.
- 112 Lindén, Mirja, Muuttuva syövän kuva ja kokeminen. Potilaiden ja ammattilaisten tulkintoja. - The changing image and experience

- of cancer. Accounts given by patients and
- professionals. 234 p. Summary 5 p. 1995. 113 Välimaa, Jussi, Higher education cultural approach. - Korkeakoulututkimuksen kulttuurinäkökulma. 94 p. Yhteenveto 5 p.
- 114 Kaipio, Kalevi, Yhteisöllisyys kasvatuksessa. yhteisökasvatuksen teoreettinen analyysi ja käytäntöön soveltaminen. - The community as an educator. Theoretical analysis and practice of community education. 250 p. Summary 3 p.
- 115 Hännikäinen, Maritta, Nukesta vauvaksi ja lapsesta lääkäriksi. Roolileikkiin siirtymisen tarkastelua piagetilaisesta ja kulttuurihistoriallisen toiminnan teorian näkökulmasta. 73 p. Summary 6 p. 1995.
- 116 IKONEN, OIVA. Adaptiivinen opetus. Oppimistutkimus harjaantumiskoulun opetussuunnitelma- ja seurantajärjestelmän kehittämisen tukena. - The adaptive teaching. 90 p. Summary 5 p. 1995.
- 117 Suutama, Timo, Coping with life events in old age. - Elämän muutos- ja ongelmatilanteiden käsittely iäkkäillä ihmisillä. 110 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1995.
- 118 Derseh, Tibebu Bogale, Meanings Attached to Disability, Attitudes towards Disabled People, and Attitudes towards Integration. 150 p.
- 119 Sahlberg, Pasi, Kuka auttaisi opettajaa. Postmoderni näkökulma opetuksen muu-tokseen yhden kehittämisprojektin valossa. - Who would help a teacher. A post-modern perspective on change in teaching in light of a school improvement project. 255 p. Summary 4 p. 1996.
- 120 UHINKI, AILO, Distress of unemployed jobseekers described by the Zulliger Test using the Comprehensive System. - Tvöttömien työntekijöiden ahdinko kuvattuna Comprehensive Systemin mukaisesti käytetyillä Zulligerin testillä. 61 p. Yhteenveto 3p. 1996.
- 121 Antikainen, Risto, Clinical course, outcome and follow-up of inpatients with borderline level disorders. - Rajatilapotilaiden osastohoidon tuloksellisuus kolmen vuoden seurantatutkimuksessa Kys:n psykiatrian klinikassa. 102 p. Yhteenveto 4 p. 1996.
- 122 Ruusuvirta, Timo, Brain responses to pitch changes in an acoustic environment in cats and rabbits. - Aivovasteet kuuloärsykemuutoksiin kissoilla ja kaneilla. 45 p. Yhteenveto 2
- 123 VISTI, ANNALIISA, Työyhteisön ja työn tuottavuuden kehitys organisaation transformaatiossa. - Dovelopment of the work communi-ty and changes in the productivity of work during an organizational transformation process. 201 p. Summary 12 p. 1996.
- 124 SALLINEN, MIKAEL, Event-ralated brain potentials to changes in the acustic environment buring sleep and sleepiness. - Aivojen herätevasteet muutoksiin kuuloärsykesar-

- jassa unen ja uneliaisuuden aikana. 104 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1997
- Lamminmäki, Tuija, Efficasy of a multi-faceted treatment for children with learning difficulties. - Oppimisvaikeuksien neurokognitiivisen ryhmäkuntoutuksen tuloksellisuus ja siihen vaikuttavia tekijöitä. 56 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 1997.
- LUTTINEN, JAANA, Fragmentoituva kulttuuripolitiikka. Paikallisen kulttuuripolitiikan tulkintakehykset Ylä-Savossa. - Fragmenting-cultural policy. The interpretative frames of local cultural politics in Ylä-Savo. 178 p. Summary 9 p. 1997.
- 127 Marttunen, Miika, Studying argumentation in higher education by electronic mail. -Argumentointia yliopisto-opinnoissa sähköpostilla. 60 p. (164 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 1997
- JAAKKOLA, HANNA, Kielitieto kielitaitoon pyrittäessä. Vieraiden kielten opettajien käsityksiä kieliopin oppimisesta ja opetta-misesta. Language knowledge and language ability. Teachers' conceptions of the role of grammar in foreign language learning and teaching. 227 p. Summary 7 p. 1997.
- Subra, Leena, A portrait of the political agent in Jean-Paul Sartre. Views on playing, acting, temporality and subjectivity. - Poliittisen toimijan muotokuva Jean-Paul Sartrella. Näkymiä pelaamiseen, toimintaan, ajallisuuteen ja subjektiivisuuteen. 248 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 1997.
- Haarakangas, Kauko, Hoitokokouksen äänet. Dialoginen analyysi perhekeskeisen psykiatrisen hoitoprosessin hoitokokous-keskusteluista työryhmän toiminnan näkökulmasta. - The voices in treatment meeting. A dialogical analysis of the treatment meeting conversations in family-centred psychiatric treatment process in regard to the team activity. 136 p. Summary 8 p. 1997.
- 131 Matinheikki-Kokko, Kaija, Challenges of working in a cross-cultural environment. Principles and practice of refugee settlement in Finland. - Kulttuurienvälisen työn haasteet. Periaatteet ja käytäntö maahanmuuttajien hyvinvoinnin turvaamiseksi Suomessa. 130 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1997
- 132 KIVINIEMI, KARI, Opettajuuden oppimisesta harjoittelun harhautuksiin. Aikuisopiskelijoiden kokemuksia opetusharjoittelusta ja sen ohjauksesta luokanopettajakoulutuksessa. From the learning of teacherhood to the fabrications of practice. Adult students' experiences of teaching practice and its supervision in class teacher education. 267 p. Summary 8 p. 1997.
- 133 Kantola, Jouko, Cygnaeuksen jäljillä käsityönopetuksesta teknologiseen kasvatukseen. - In the footsteps of Cygnaeus. From handicraft teaching to technological education. 211 p. Summary 7 p. 1997.
- 134 KAARTINEN, JUKKA, Nocturnal body movements

- and sleep quality. Yölliset kehon liikkeet ja unen laatu. 85 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1997.
- 135 Mustonen, Anu, Media violence and its audience. Mediaväkivalta ja sen yleisö. 44 p. (131 p.). Yhteenveto 2 p. 1997.
- 136 Perttula, Juha, The experienced life-fabrics of young men. - Nuorten miesten koettu elämänkudelma. 218 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1998.
- 137 Tikkanen, Tarja, Learning and education of older workers. Lifelong learning at the margin. - Ikääntyvän työväestön oppiminen ja koulutus. Elinikäisen oppimisen marginaalissa. 83 p. (154 p.). Yhteenveto 6 p. 1998.
- 138 LENONEN, MARKKU, Johannes Gezelius vanhempi luonnonmukaisen pedagogiikan soveltajana. Comeniuslainen tulkinta. Johannes Gezelius the elder as implementer of natural padagogy. A Comenian interpretation. 237 p. Summary 7 p. 1998.
- 139 Kallio, Eeva, Training of students' scientific reasoning skills. Korkeakouluopiskelijoiden tieteellisen ajattelun kehittäminen. 90 p. Yhteenveto 1 p. 1998.
- 140 Niemi-Väkeväinen, Leena, Koulutusjaksot ja elämänpolitiikka. Kouluttautuminen yksilöllistymisen ja yhteisöllisyyden risteysasemana. - Sequences of vocational education as life politics. Perspectives of invidualization and communality. 210 p. Summary 6 p. 1998.
- 141 Parikka, Matti, Teknologiakompetenssi. Teknologiakasvatuksen uudistamishaasteita peruskoulussa ja lukiossa. - Technological competence. Challenges of reforming technology education in the Finnish comprehensive and upper secondary school. 207 p. Summary 13 p. 1998.
- 142 TA OPETTAJAN APUNA EDUCATIONAL TA FOR TEACHER. Professori Pirkko Liikaselle omistettu juhlakirja. 207 p. Tiivistelmä Abstract 14 p. 1998.
- 143 YLÖNEN, HILKKA, Taikahattu ja hopeakengät sadun maailmaa. Lapsi päiväkodissa sadun kuulijana, näkijänä ja kokijana. The world of the colden cap and silver shoes. How kinder garten children listen to, view, and experience fairy tales. 189 p. Summary 8 p. 1998.
- 144 Moilanen, Pentit, Opettajan toiminnan perusteiden tulkinta ja tulkinnan totuudellisuuden arviointi. Interpreting reasons for teachers' action and the verifying the interpretations. 226 p. Summary 3p. 1998.
- 145 Vaurio, Leena, Lexical inferencing in reading in english on the secondary level. Sanapäättely englanninkielistä tekstiä luettaessa lukioasteella. 147 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1998.
- 146 ETELÄPELTO, ANNELI, The development of expertise in information systems design. Asiantuntijuuden kehittyminen tietojärjestelmien suunnittelussa. 132 p. (221p.). Yhteenveto 12 p. 1998.
- 147 Pirhonen, Antil, Redundancy as a criterion for multimodal user-interfaces. Käsitteistö luo

- näkökulman käyttöliittymäanalyysiin. 141 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1998.
- 148 Rönkä, Anna, The accumulation of problems of social functioning: outer, inner, and behavioral strands. Sosiaalinen selviytyminen lapsuudesta aikuisuuteen: ongelmien kasautumisen kolme väylää. 44 p. (129 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 1999.
- 149 Naukkarinen, Aimo, Tasapainoilua kurinalaisuuden ja tarkoituksenmukaisuuden välillä. Oppilaiden ei-toivottuun käyttäytymiseen liittyvän ongelmanratkaisun kehittäminen yhden peruskoulun yläasteen tarkastelun pohjalta. Balancing rigor and relevance. Developing problem-solving associated with students' challenging behavior in the light of a study of an upper comprehensive school. 296 p. Summary 5 p. 1999.
- 150 Holma, Juha, The search for a narrative. Investigating acute psychosis and the need-adapted treatment model from the narrative viewpoint. Narratiivinen lähestymistapa akuuttiin psykoosiin ja tarpeenmukaisen hoidon malliin. 52 p. (105 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 1999.
- 151 Leppänen, Paavo H.T., Brain responses to changes in tone and speech stimuli in infants with and without a risk for familial dyslexia. Aivovasteet ääni- ja puheärsykkeiden muutoksiin vauvoilla, joilla on riski suvussa esiintyvään dysleksiaan ja vauvoilla ilman tätä riskiä. 100 p. (197 p.) Yhteenveto 4 p. 1999.
- 152 SUOMALA, JYRKI, Students' problem solving in the LEGO/Logo learning environment. -Oppilaiden ongelmanratkaisu LEGO/Logo oppimisympäristössä. 146 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 1999
- 153 Huttunen, Rauno, Opettamisen filosofia ja kritiikki. - Philosophy, teaching, and critique. Towards a critical theory of the philosophy of education. 201 p. Summary 3p. 1999.
- 154 Karekivi, Leena, Ehkä en kokeilisikaan, jos
 Tutkimus ylivieskalaisten nuorten tupakoinnista ja päihteidenkäytöstä ja niihin liittyvästä terveyskasvatuksesta vuosina 1989-1998. Maybe I wouldn't even experiment if A study on youth smoking and use of intoxicants in Ylivieska and related health education in 1989-1998. 256 p. Summary 4 p. 1999.
- 155 Laakso, Marja-Leena, Prelinguistic skills and early interactional context as predictors of children's language development. Esi-kielellinen kommunikaatio ja sen vuorovaikutuksellinen konteksti lapsen kielen kehityksen ennustajana. 127 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 1999.
- 156 Mauno, Saija, Job insecurity as a psycho-social job stressor in the context of the work-family interface. Työn epävarmuus työn psykososiaalisena stressitekijänä työn ja perheen vuorovaikutuksen kontekstissa. 59 p. (147 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 1999.
- 157 Mäensivu Kirsti, Opettaja määrittelijänä, oppilas määriteltävänä. Sanallisen oppilaan arvioinnin sisällön analyysi. The teacher as a determiner the pupil to be determined -

- content analysis of the written school reports. 215 p. Summary 5 p. 1999.
- 158 FELDT, TARU, Sense of coherence. Structure, stability and health promoting role in working life. - Koherenssin rakenne, pysyvyys ja terveyttä edistävä merkitys työelämässä. 60 p. (150 p.) Yhteenveto 5 p. 2000.
- 159 Mänty, Tarja, Ammatillisista erityisoppilaitoksista elämään. Life after vocational special education. 235 p. Summary 3 p. 2000.
- 160 SARJA, ANNELI, Dialogioppiminen pienryhmässä. Opettajaksi opiskelevien harjoitteluprosessi terveydenhuollon opettajankoulutuksessa. Dialogic learning in a small group. The process of student teachers' teaching practice during health care education. 165 p. Summary 7 p. 2000.
- 161 JÄRVINEN, ANITTA, Taitajat iänikuiset. Kotkan ammattilukiosta valmiuksia elämään, työelämään ja jatko-opintoihin. - Age-old craftmasters -Kotka vocational senior secondary school - giving skills for life, work and further studies. 224 p. Summary 2 p. 2000.
- 162 Kontio, Marja-Liisa, Laitoksessa asuvan kehitysvammaisen vanhuksen haastava käyttäytyminen ja hoitajan käyttämiä vaikutuskeinoja. Challenging behaviour of institutionalized mentally retarded elderly people and measures taken by nurses to control it. 175 p. Summary 3 p. 2000.
- 163 Kilpeläinen, Arja, Naiset paikkaansa etsimässä. Aikuiskoulutus naisen elämänkulun rakentajana. Adult education as determinant of woman's life-course. 155 p. Summary 6 p. 2000
- 164 RIITESUO, ANNIKKI, A preterm child grows. Focus on speech and language during the first two years. - Keskonen kasvaa: puheen ja kielen kehitys kahtena ensimmäisenä elinvuotena. 119 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2000.
- 165 Tauriainen, Leena, Kohti yhteistä laatua. -Henkilökunnan, vanhempien ja lasten laatukäsitykset päiväkodin integroidussa erityisryhmässä. - Towards common quality: staff's, parents' and children's conseptions of quality in an integration group at a daycare center. 256 p. Summary 6 p. 2000.
- 166 RAUDASKOSKI, LEENA, Ammattikorkeakoulun toimintaperustaa etsimässä. Toimilupahakemusten sisällönanalyyttinen tarkastelu. In search for the founding principles of the Finnishpolytechnic institutes. A content analysis of the licence applications. 193 p. Summary 4 p. 2000.
- 167 Takkinen, Sanna, Meaning in life and its relation to functioning in old age. Elämän tarkoituksellisuus ja sen yhteydet toimintakykyyn vanhuudessa. 51 p. (130 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2000.
- 168 LAUNONEN, LEEVI, Eettinen kasvatusajattelu suomalaisen koulun pedagogisissa teksteissä 1860-luvulta 1990-luvulle. - Ethical thinking

- in Finnish school's pedagogical texts from the 1860s to the 1990s. 366 p. Summary 3 p. 2000.
- 169 Kuorelahti, Matti, Sopeutumattomien luokkamuotoisen erityisopetuksen tuloksellisuus. The educational outcomes of special classes for emotionally / behaviorally disordered children and youth. 176 p. Summary 2p. 2000.
- 170 Kurunmäki, Jussi, Representation, nation and time. The political rhetoric of the 1866 parliamentary reform in Sweden. Edustus, kansakunta ja aika. Poliittinen retoriikka Ruotsin vuoden 1866 valtiopäiväreformissa. 253 p. Tiivistelmä 4 p. 2000.
- 171 RASINEN, AKI, Developing technology education. In search of curriculum elements for Finnish general education schools. 158 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 2000.
- 172 Sundholm, Lars, Itseohjautuvuus organisaatiomuutoksessa. Self-determination in organisational change. 180 p. Summary 15 p. 2000.
- 173 Ahonniska-Assa, Jaana, Analyzing change in repeated neuropsychological assessment. 68 p. (124 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2000.
- 174 Hoffrén, Jari, Demokraattinen eetos rajoista mahdollisuuksiin. - The democratic ethos. From limits to possibilities? 217 p. Summary 2 p. 2000.
- 175 HEIKKINEN, HANNU L. T., Toimintatutkimus, tarinat ja opettajaksi tulemisen taito. Narratiivisen identiteettityön kehittäminen opettajankoulutuksessa toimintatutkimuksen avulla. Action research, narratives and the art of becoming a teacher. Developing narrative identity work in teacher education through action research. 237 p. Summary 4 p. 2001.
- 176 VUORENMAA, MARITTA, Ikkunoita arvioin- nin tuolle puolen. Uusia avauksia suomalaiseen koulutusta koskevaan evaluaatiokeskusteluun. - Views across assessment: New openings into the evaluation discussion on Finnish education. 266 p. Summary 4 p. 2001.
- 177 LITMANEN, TAPIO, The struggle over risk. The spatial, temporal, and cultural dimensions of protest against nuclear technology. Kamppailu riskistä. Ydinteknologian vastaisen protestin tilalliset, ajalliset ja kulttuuriset ulottuvuudet. 72 p. (153 p.) Yhteenveto 9 p. 2001.
- 178 Aunola, Kaisa, Children's and adolescents' achievement strategies, school adjustment, and family environment. Lasten ja nuorten suoritusstrategiat koulu- ja perheympäristöissä. 51 p. (153 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2001.
- 179 Oksanen, Elina, Arvioinnin kehittäminen erityisopetuksessa. Diagnosoinnista oppimisen ohjaukseen laadullisena tapaustutkimuksena. Developing assessment practices in special education. From a static approach to

- dynamic approach applying qualitative case. 182 p. Summary 5 p. 2001.
- 182 p. Summary 5 p. 2001.

 180 VIITTALA, KAISU, "Kyllä se tommosellaki lapsella on kovempi urakka". Sikiöaikana alkoholille altistuneiden huostaanotettujen lasten elämäntilanne, riskiprosessit ja suojaavat prosessit. "It's harder for that kind of child to get along". The life situation of the children exposed to alcohol in utero and taken care of by society, their risk and protective processes. 316 p. Summary 4 p. 2001.
- 181 Hansson, Leeni, Networks matter. The role of informal social networks in the period of socioeconomic reforms of the 1990s in Estonia. Verkostoilla on merkitystä: infor-maalisten sosiaalisten verkostojen asema Virossa 1990-luvun sosio-ekonomisten muutosten aikana. 194 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 2001.
- 182 Böök, Marja Leena, Vanhemmuus ja vanhemmuuden diskurssit työttömyystilanteessa. Parenthood and parenting discourses in a situation of unemployment. 157 p. Summary 5 p. 2001.
- 183 Kokko, Katja, Antecedents and consequences of long-term unemployment.
 Pitkäaikaistyöttömyyden ennakoijia ja seurauksia. 53 p. (115 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2001.
- 184 Kokkonen, Marja, Émotion regulation and physical health in adulthood: A longitudinal, personality-oriented approach. Aikuisiän tunteiden säätely ja fyysinen terveys: pitkittäistutkimuksellinen ja persoonallisuuskeskeinen lähestymistapa. 52 p. (137 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2001.
- 185 MÄNNIKKÖ, KAISA, Adult attachment styles: A Person-oriented approach. - Aikuisten kiintymystyylit. 142 p. Yhteenveto 5 p. 2001.
- 186 Katvala, Satu, Missä äiti on? Äitejä ja äitiyden uskomuksia sukupolvien saatossa. Where's mother? Mothers and maternal beliefs over generations. 126 p. Summary 3 p. 2001.
- 187 KIISKINEN, ANNA-LIISA, Ympäristöhallinto vastuullisen elämäntavan edistäjänä.
 Environmental administration as promoter of responsible living. 229 p. Summary 8 p. 2001.
- 188 Simola, Ähti, Työterveyshuolto-organisaation toiminta, sen henkilöstön henkinen hyvinvointi ja toiminnan tuloksellisuus.-Functioning of an occupational health service organization and its relationship to the mental well-being of its personnel, client satisfaction, and economic profitability. 192 p. Summary 12 p. 2001.
- 189 Vesterinen, Pirkko, Projektiopiskelu- ja oppiminen ammattikorkeakoulussa. Project based studying and learning in the polytechnic. 257 p. Summary 5 p. 2001.
- 190 Kemppainen, Jaana, Kotikasvatus kolmessa sukupolvessa. - Childrearing in three generations. 183 p. Summary 3 p. 2001.
- 191 HOHENTHAL-ANTIN LEONIE, Luvan ottaminen Ikäihmiset teatterin tekijöinä. - Taking

- permission– Elderly people as theatre makers. 183 p. Summary 5 p. 2001.
- KAKKORI, LEENA, Heideggerin aukeama.
 Tutkimuksia totuudesta ja taiteesta Martin Heideggerin avaamassa horisontissa.
 Heidegger's clearing. Studies on truth and art in the horizon opened by Martin Heidegger. 156 p. Summary 2 p. 2001.
- 193 Närhi, Vesa, The use of clinical neuropsychological data in learning disability research. - Asiakastyön yhteydessä kerätyn neuropsykologisen aineiston käyttö oppimisvaikeustutkimuksessa. 103 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 2002.
- 194 Suomi, Asta, Ammattia etsimässä.
 Aikuisopiskelijat kertovat sosiaaliohjaajakoulutuksesta ja narratiivisen pätevyyden kehittymisestä. Searching for professional identity. Adult students' narratives on the education of a social welfare supervisor and the development of narrative competence.

 183 p. Summary 2 p. 2002.
- 195 PERKKILÄ, PÄIVI, Opettajien matematiikkauskomukset ja matematiikan oppikirjan merkitys alkuopetuksessa. 212 p.

 Teacher's mathematics beliefs and meaning of mathematics textbooks in the first and the second grade in primary school. Summary 2 p. 2002.
- 196 Vesterinen, Marja-Liisa, Ammatillinen harjoittelu osana asiantuntijuuden kehittymistä ammattikorkeakoulussa. Promoting professional expertise by developing practical learning at the polytechnic. 261 p. Summary 5 p. 2002.
- 197 POHJANEN, JORMA, Mitä kello on? Kello modernissa yhteiskunnassa ja sen sosiologisessa teoriassa. What's the time. Clock on modern society and in it's sociological theory. 226 p. Summary 3 p. 2002.
- 198 Rantala, Anja, Perhekeskeisyys puhetta vai todellisuutta? Työntekijöiden käsitykset yhteistyöstä erityistä tukea tarvitsevan lapsen perheen kanssa. - Family-centeredness rhetoric or reality? Summary 3 p. 2002.
- 199 Valanne, Eija, "Meidän lapsi on arvokas" Henkilökohtainen opetuksen järjestämistä koskeva suunnitelma (HOJKS) kunnallisessa erityiskoulussa. - "Our child is precious" - The individual educational plan in the context of the special school. 219 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 2002.
- 200 Holopainen, Leena, Development in reading and reading related skills; a follow-up study from pre-school to the fourth grade.
 57 p. (138 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2002.
 201 Heikkinen, Hannu, Draaman maailmat
- 201 Heikkinen, Hannu, Draaman maailmat oppimisalueina. Draamakasvatuksen vakava leikillisyys. Drama worlds as learning areas the serious playfulness os drama education. 164 p. Summary 5 p. 2002.
- 202 Hytönen, Tuija, Exploring the practice of human resource development as a field of professional expertise. Henkilöstön

- kehittämistyön asiantuntijuuden rakentuminen. 137 p. (300 p.) Yhteenveto 10 p. 2002.
- 203 RIPATTI, MIKKO, Arvid Järnefeldt kasvatusajattelijana. 246 p. Summary 4 p. 2002.
- 204 Virmasalo, Ilkka, Perhe, työttömyys ja lama. - Families, unemployment and the economic depression. 121 p. Summary 2 p. 2002.
- 205 Wikgren, Jan, Diffuse and discrete associations in aversive classical conditioning. Täsmälliset ja laaja-alaiset ehdollistumat klassisessa aversiivisessa ehdollistumisessa. 40 p. (81 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2002.
- 206 Jokivuori, Pertti, Sitoutuminen työorganisaatioon ja ammattijärjestöön. Kilpailevia vai täydentäviä?- Commitment to organisation and trade union. Competing or complementary? 132 p. Summary 8 p. 2002.
- 207 GONZÁLEZ VEGA, NARCISO, Factors affecting simulator-training effectiveness. 162 p. Yhteenveto 1 p. 2002.
- 208 Salo, Kari, Teacher Stress as a Longitudinal Process - Opettajien stressiprosessi. 67 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 2002.
- 209 VAUHKONEN, JOUNI, A rhetoric of reduction. Bertrand de Jouvenel's pure theory of politics as persuasion. 156 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2002.
- as persuasion. 156 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2002. 210 Kontoniemi, Marita, "Milloin sinä otat itseäsi niskasta kiinni?" Opettajien kokemuksia alisuoriutujista. - "When will you pull your socks up?" Teachers´ experiences of underachievers. 218 p. Summary 3 p. 2003.
- SAUKKONEN, SAKARI, Koulu ja yksilöllisyys;
 Jännitteitä, haasteita ja mahdollisuuksia.
 School and individuality: Tensions,
 challenges and possibilities. 125 p. Summary
 3 p. 2003.
- 212 VILJAMAA, MARJA-LEENA, Neuvola tänään ja huomenna. Vanhemmuuden tukeminen, perhekeskeisyys ja vertaistuki. - Child and maternity welfare clinics today and tomorrow. Supporting parenthood, family-centered sevices and peer groups. 141 p. Summary 4 p. 2003
- 213 Remes, Liisa, Yrittäjyyskasvatuksen kolme diskurssia. Three discourses in entrepreneurial learning. 204 p. Summary 2 p. 2003.
- 214 Karjala, Kalle, Neulanreiästä panoraamaksi. Ruotsin kulttuurikuvan ainekset eräissä keskikoulun ja B-ruotsin vuosina 1961–2002 painetuissa oppikirjoissa. - From pinhole to panorama – The culture of Sweden presented in some middle and comprehensive school textbooks printed between 1961 and 2002. 308 p. Summary 2 p. 2003.
- 215 Lallukka, Kirsi, Lapsuusikä ja ikä lapsuudessa. Tutkimus 6–12 -vuotiaiden sosiokulttuurisesta ikätiedosta. Childhood age and age in childhood. A study on the sociocultural knowledge of age. 234 p. Summary 2 p. 2003.
- 216 PUUKARI, ŠAULI, Video Programmes as Learning Tools. Teaching the Gas Laws and Behaviour of Gases in Finnish and Canadian Senior High Schools. 361 p. Yhteenveto 6 p. 2003.

- 217 Loisa, Raija-Leena, The polysemous contemporary concept. The rhetoric of the cultural industry. Monimerkityksinen nykykäsite. Kulttuuriteollisuuden retoriikka. 244 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 2003.
- 218 Holopainen, Esko, Kuullun ja luetun tekstin ymmärtämisstrategiat ja -vaikeudet peruskoulun kolmannella ja yhdeksännellä luokalla. Strategies for listening and reading comprehension and problematic listening and reading comprehension of the text during the third and ninth grades of primary school. 135 p. Summary 3 p. 2003.
- 219 Penttinen, Seppo, Lähtökohdat liikuntaa opettavaksi luokanopettajaksi. Nuoruuden kasvuympäristöt ja opettajankoulutus opettajuuden kehitystekijöinä.- Starting points for a primary school physical education teacher. The growth environment of adolescence and teacher education as developmental factors of teachership.

 201 p. Summary 10 p. 2003.
- 220 IKÄHEIMO, HEIKKI, Tunnustus, subjektiviteetti ja inhimillinen elämänmuoto: Tutkimuksia Hegelistä ja persoonien välisistä tunnustussuhteista. Recognition, subjectivity and the human life form: studies on Hegel and interpersonal recognition. 191 p. Summary 3 p. 2003.
- 221 ASUNTA, TUULA, Knowledge of environmental issues. Where pupils acquire information and how it affects their attitudes, opinions, and laboratory behaviour Ympäristöasioita koskeva tieto. Mistä oppilaat saavat informaatiota ja miten se vaikuttaa heidän asenteisiinsa, mielipiteisiinsä ja laboratoriokäyttäytymiseensä. 159 p. Yhteenveto 4 p. 2003.
- 222 KUJALA, ERKKI, Sodan pojat. Sodanaikaisten pikkupoikien lapsuuskokemuksia isyyden näkökulmasta - The sons of war. 229 p. Summary 2 p. 2003.
- 223 Jussi Kurunmäki & Kari Paloinen (Hg./eds.) Zeit, Geschicte und Politik. Time, history and politics. Zum achtzigsten Geburtstag von Reinhart Koselleck. 310 p. 2003.
- LAITINEN, ARTO, Strong evaluation without sources. On Charles Taylor's philosophical anthropology and cultural moral realism.
 Vahvoja arvostuksia ilman lähteitä.
 Charles Taylorin filosofisesta antropologiasta ja kulturalistisesta moraalirealismista. 358 p. Yhteenveto 4 p. 2003.
- 225 Guttorm, Tomi K. Newborn brain responses measuring feature and change detection and predicting later language development in children with and without familial risk for dyslexia. Vastasyntyneiden aivovasteet puheäänteiden ja niiden muutosten havaitsemisessa sekä myöhemmän kielen kehityksen ennustamisessa dysleksia-riskilapsilla. 81 p. (161 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2003.

- 226 Nakarı, Maija-Liisa, Työilmapiiri, työntekijöiden hyvinvointi ja muutoksen mahdollisuus - Work climate, employees' wellbeing and the possibility of change. 255 p. Summary 3 p. 2003.
- 227 Metsäpelto, Riitta-Leena, Individual differences in parenting: The five-factor model of personality as an explanatory framework Lastenkasvatus ja sen yhteys vanhemman persoonallisuuden piirteisiin. 53 p. (119 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2003.
- 228 PULKKINEN, OILI, The labyrinth of politics A conceptual approach to the modes of the political in the scottish enlightenment. 144 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 2003.
- 229 Juujärvi, Petri, A three-level analysis of reactive aggression among children. Lasten aggressiivisiin puolustusreaktioihin vaikuttavien tekijöiden kolmitasoinen analyysi. 39 p. (115 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2003.
- 230 Poikonen, Pirjo-Liisa, "Opetussuunnitelma on sitä elämää". Päiväkoti-kouluyhteisö opetussuunnitelman kehittäjänä. "The curriculum is part of our life". The day-cara cum primary school community as a curriculum developer. 154 p. Summary 3 p. 2003
- 231 Soininen, Suvi, From a 'Necessary Evil' to an art of contingency: Michael Oakeshott's conception of political activity in British postwar political thought. 174 p. Summary 2p. 2003.
- Alaraudanjoki, Esa, Nepalese child labourers' life-contexts, cognitive skills and well-being.
 Työssäkäyvien nepalilaislasten elämänkonteksti, kognitiiviset taidot ja hyvinvointi.
 p. (131 p.) Yhteenveto 4 p. 2003.
- 233 Lerkkanen, Marja-Kristiina, Learning to read. Reciprocal processes and individual pathways. Lukemaan oppiminen: vastavuoroiset prosessit ja yksilölliset oppimispolut. 70 p. (155 p.) Yhteenveto 5 p. 2003.
- FRIMAN, MERVI, Ammatillisen asiantuntijan etiikka ammattikorkeakoulutuksessa.
 The ethics of a professional expert in the context of polytechnics. 199 p. 2004.
- 235 Meronen, Äull, Viittomakielen omaksumisen yksilölliset tekijät. Individual differences in sign language abilities. 110 p. Summary 5 p. 2004.
- 236 TIILIKKALA, LIISA, Mestarista tuutoriksi. Suomalaisen ammatillisen opettajuuden muutos ja jatkuvuus. - From master to tutor. Change and continuity in Finnish vocational teacherhood. 281 p. Summary 3 p. 2004.
- 237 Aro, Мікко, Learning to read. The effect of orthography. Kirjoitusjärjestelmän vaikutus lukemaan oppimiseen. 44 p. (122 p.)
 Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2004.
- 238 LAAKSO, ERKKI, Draamakokemusten äärellä. Prosessidraaman oppimispotentiaali

- opettajaksi opiskelevien kokemusten valossa. Encountering drama experiences. The learning potential of process drama in the light of student teachers' experiences. 230 p. Summary 7 p. 2004.
- 239 Perälä-Littunen, Satu, Cultural images of a good mother and a good father in three generations. - Kulttuuriset mielikuvat hyvästä äidistä ja hyvästä isästä kolmessa sukupolvessa. 234 p. Yhteenveto 7 p. 2004.
- 240 RINNE-KOISTINEN, EVA-MARITA, Perceptions of health: Water and sanitation problems in rural and urban communities in Nigeria. 129 p. (198 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2004.
- 241 PALMROTH, AINO, Käännösten kautta kollektiiviin. Tuuliosuuskunnat toimijaverkkoina. - From translation to collective. Wind turbine cooperatives as actor networks. 177 p. Summary 7 p. 2004.
- 242 VIERIKKO, ELINA, Genetic and environmental effects on aggression. Geneettiset ja ympäristötekijät aggressiivisuudessa. 46 p. (108 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2004.
- 243 Närhi, Kati, The eco-social approach in social work and the challenges to the expertise of social work. - Ekososiaalinen viitekehys ja haasteet sosiaalityön asiantuntijuudelle. 106 p. (236 p.) Yhteenveto 7 p. 2004.
- 244 Ursin, Jani, Characteristics of Finnish medical and engineering research group work.
 Tutkimusryhmätyöskentelyn piirteet lääkeja teknisissä tieteissä. 202 p. Yhteenveto 9 p. 2004
- TREUTHARDT, LEENA, Tulosohjauksen yhteiskunnalliuus Jyväskylän yliopistossa.
 Tarkastelunäkökulmina muoti ja seurustelu.
 The management by results a fashion and social interaction at the University of Jyväskylä. 228 p. Summary 3 p. 2004.
- 246 Matthies, Jürgen, Umweltpädagogik in der Postmoderne. Eine philosophische Studie über die Krise des Subjekts im umweltpädagogischen Diskurs.

 Ympäristökasvatus postmodernissa. Filosofinen tutkimus subjektin kriisistä ympäristökasvatuksen diskurssissa. 400 p.
- 247 Laitila, Aarno, Dimensions of expertise in family therapeutic process. Asiantuntijuuden ulottuvuuksia perheterapeuttisessa prosessissa. 54 p. (106 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2004.

Yhteenveto 7 p. 2004.

- 248 Laamanen (Astikainen), Piia, Pre-attentive detection of changes in serially presented stimuli in rabbits and humans. Muutoksen esitietoinen havaitseminen sarjallisesti esitetyissä ärsykkeissä kaneilla ja ihmisillä. 35 p. (54 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2004.
- JUUSENAHO, RIITTA, Peruskoulun rehtoreiden johtamisen eroja. Sukupuolinen näkökulma.
 Differences in comprehensive school leadership and management. A gender-based approach. 176p. Summary 3 p. 2004.

- 250 Vaarakallio, Tuula, "Rotten to the Core". Variations of French nationalist anti-system rhetoric. – "Systeemi on mätä". Ranskalaisten nationalistien järjestelmän vastainen retoriikka. 194 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 2004.
- 251 Kuusinen, Patrik, Pitkäaikainen kipu ja depressio. Yhteyttä säätelevät tekijät.
 Chronic pain and depression: psychosocial determinants regulating the relationship.
 139 p. Summary 8 p. 2004.
- 252 Hännikäinen-Uutela, Anna-Liisa, Uudelleen juurtuneet. Yhteisökasvatus vaikeasti päihderiippuvaisten narkomaanien kuntoutuksessa. Rooted again. Community education in the rehabilitation of substance addicts. 286 p. Summary 3 p. 2004.
- 253 Paloniemi, Susanna, İkä, kokemus ja osaaminen työelämässä. Työntekijöiden käsityksiä iän ja kokemuksen merkityksestä ammatillisessa osaamisessa ja sen kehittämisessä. Age, experience and competence in working life. Employees' conceptions of the the meaning and experience in professional competence and its development. 184 p. Summary 5 p. 2004.
- 254 Ruiz Cerezo, Montse, Anger and Optimal Performance in Karate. An Application of the IZOF Model. 55 p. (130 p.) Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2004.
- LADONLAHTI, TARJA, Haasteita palvelujärjestelmälle. Kehitysvammaiseksi luokiteltu henkilö psykiatrisessa sairaalassa.
 Challenges for the human service system. Living in a psychiatric hospital under the label of mental retardation. 176 p. Summary 3 p. 2004.
- 256 KOVANEN PÄIVI, Oppiminen ja asiantuntijuus varhaiskasvatuksessa. Varhaisen oppimaan ohjaamisen suunnitelma erityistä tukea tarvitsevien lasten ohjauksessa. Learning and expertice in early childhood education. A pilot work in using VARSU with children with special needs. 175 p. Summary 2 p. 2004.
- 257 VILMI, VEIKKO, Turvallinen koulu. Suomalaisten näkemyksiä koulutuspalvelujen kansallisesta ja kunnallisesta priorisoinnista. Secure education. Finnish views on the national and municipal priorities of Finland's education services. 134 p. Summary 5 p. 2005.
- 258 Anttila, Timo, Reduced working hours. Reshaping the duration, timing and tempo of work. 168 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2005.
- 259 UGASTE, AINO, The child's play world at home and the mother's role in the play. 207 p. Tiivistelmä 5 p. 2005.
- 260 Kurri, Katja, The invisible moral order: Agency, accountability and responsibility in therapy talk. 38 p. (103 p.). Tiivistelmä 1 p. 2005.

- 261 Collin, Kaija, Experience and shared practice Design engineers' learning at work. Suunnitteluinsinöörien työssä oppiminen kokemuksellisuutta ja jaettuja käytäntöjä. 124 p. (211 p.). Yhteenveto 6 p. 2005.
- 262 Kurki, Èija, Näkyvä ja näkymätön. Nainen Suomen helluntailiikkeen kentällä. Visible and invisible. Women in the Finnish pentecostal movement. 180 p. Summary 2 p. 2005.
- 263 Heimonen, Sirkkaliisa, Työikäisenä Alzheimerin tautiin sairastuneiden ja heidän puolisoidensa kokemukset sairauden alkuvaiheessa. Experiences of persons with early onset Alzheimer's disease and their spouses in the early stage of the disease. 138 p. Summary 3 p. 2005.
- 264 PIIROINEN, HANNU, Epävarmuus, muutos ja ammatilliset jännitteet. Suomalainen sosiaalityö 1990-luvulla sosiaalityöntekijöiden tulkinnoissa. – Uncertainty, change and professional tensions. The Finnish social work in the 1990s in the light of social workers' representations. 207 p. Summary 2 p. 2005.
- 265 MÄKINEN, JARMO, Säätiö ja maakunta. Maakuntarahastojärjestelmän kentät ja verkostot. – Foundation and region: Fields and networks of the system of the regional funds. 235 p. Summary 3 p. 2005.
- 266 Petrelius, Pāivi, Sukupuoli ja subjektius sosiaalityössä. Tulkintoja naistyöntekijöiden muistoista. Gender and subjectivity in social work interpreting women workers' memories. 67 p. (175 p.) 2005.
- 267 HOKKANEN, TIÑA, Äitinä ja isänä eron jälkeen. Yhteishuoltajavanhemmuus arjen kokemuksena. – As a mother and a father after divoce. Joint custody parenthood as an everyday life experience. 201 p. Summary 8 p. 2005.
- HANNU SIRKKILÄ, Elättäjyyttä vai erotiikkaa.
 Miten suomalaiset miehet legitimoivat parisuhteensa thaimaalaisen naisen kanssa?
 Breadwinner or eroticism. How Finnish men legitimatize their partnerships with Thai women. 252 p. Summary 4 p. 2005.
- 269 Penttinen, Leena, Gradupuhetta tutkielmaseminaarissa. – Thesis discourse in an undergraduate research seminar. 176 p. Summary 8 p. 2005.
- 270 Karvonen, Pirkko, Päiväkotilasten lukuleikit. Lukutaidon ja lukemistietoisuuden kehittyminen interventiotutkimuksessa– Reading Games for Children in Daycare Centers. The Development of Reading Ability and Reading Awareness in an Intervention Study . 179 p. Summary 3 p. 2005.
- 271 KOSONEN, PEKKA A., Sosiaalialan ja hoitotyön asiantuntijuuden kehitysehdot ja opiskelijavalinta. – Conditions of expertise development in nursing and and social care, and criteria for student selection. 276 p. Summary 3 p. 2005.

- 272 Niiranen-Linkama, Päivi, Sosiaalisen transformaatio sosiaalialan asiantuntuntijuuden diskurssissa. Transformation of the social in the discourse of social work expertise. 200 p. Summary 3 p. 2005.
- 273 Kalla, Outi, Characteristics, course and outcome in first-episode psychosis. A cross-cultural comparison of Finnish and Spanish patient groups. Ensikertalaisten psykoosipotilaiden psyykkissosiaaliset ominaisuudet, sairaudenkulku ja ennuste. Suomalaisten ja espanjalaisten potilasryhmien vertailu. 75 p. (147 p.) Tiivistelmä 4 p. 2005.
- 274 Lehtomäki, Elina, Pois oppimisyhteiskunnan marginaalista? Koulutuksen merkitys vuosina 1960–1990 opiskelleiden lapsuudestaan kuurojen ja huonokuuloisten aikuisten elämänkulussa. Out from the margins of the learning society? The meaning of education in the life course of adults who studied during the years 1960–1990 and were deaf or hard-of-hearing from childhood. 151 p. Summary 5 p. 2005.
- 275 Kinnunen, Marja-Liisa, Allostatic load in relation to psychosocial stressors and health. - Allostaattinen kuorma ja sen suhde psykososiaalisiin stressitekijöihin ja terveyteen. 59 p. (102 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2005.
- 276 UOTINEN, VIRPI, I'm as old as I feel. Subjective age in Finnish adults. Olen sen ikäinen kuin tunnen olevani. Suomalaisten aikuisten subjektiivinen ikä. 64 p. (124 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2005.
- 277 SALOKOSKI, TARJA, Tietokonepelit ja niiden pelaaminen. Electronic games: content and playing activity. 116 p. Summary 5 p. 2005.
- 278 HIFINALA, KAUKO, Laskutehtävien suorittamisesta käsitteiden ymmärtämiseen.Peruskoululaisen matemaattisen ajattelun kehittyminen aritmetiikasta algebraan siirryttäessä. Transition from the performing of arithmetic tasks to the understanding of concepts. The development of pupils' mathematical thinking when shifting from arithmetic to algebra in comprehensive school. 169 p. Summary 3 p. 2005.
- 279 Wallin, Risto, Yhdistyneet kansakunnat organisaationa. Tutkimus käsitteellisestä muutoksesta maailmanjärjestön organisoinnin periaatteissa From the league to UN. The move to an organizational vocabulary of international relations. 172 p. Summary 2 p. 2005.
- 280 VALLEALA, ULLA MAIJA, Yhteinen ymmärtäminen koulutuksessa ja työssä. Kontekstin merkitys ymmärtämisessä opiskelijaryhmän ja työtiimin keskusteluissa. Shared understanding in education and work.

- Context of understanding in student group and work team discussions. 236 p. Summary 7 p. 2006.
- 281 RASINEN, Tuija, Näkökulmia vieraskieliseen perusopetukseen. Koulun kehittämishankkeesta koulun toimintakulttuuriksi.

 Perspectives on content and language integrated learning. The impact of a development project on a school's activities. 204. Summary 6 p. 2006.
- 282 VIHOLAINEN, HELENA, Suvussa esiintyvän lukemisvaikeusriskin yhteys motoriseen ja kielelliseen kehitykseen. Tallaako lapsi kielensä päälle? Early motor and language development in children at risk for familial dyslexia. 50 p. (94 p.) Summary 2 p. 2006.
- 283 KIILI, JOHANNA, Lasten osallistumisen voimavarat. Tutkimus Ipanoiden osallistumisesta. - Resources for children's participation. 226 p. Summary 3 p. 2006.
- 284 Leppämäki, Laura, Tekijänoikeuden oikeutaminen. The justification of copyright. 125 p. Summary 2 p. 2006.
- 285 Sanaksenaho, Sanna, Eriarvoisuus ja luottamus 2000-luvun taitteen Suomessa. Bourdieulainen näkökulma. Inequality and trust in Finland at the turn of the 21st century: Bourdieuan approach. 150 p. Summary 3 p. 2006.
- 286 VALKONEN, LEENA, Millainen on hyvä äiti tai isä? Viides- ja kuudesluokkalaisten lasten vanhemmuuskäsitykset. What is a good father or good mother like? Fifth and sixth graders' conceptions of parenthood. 126 p. Summary 5 p. 2006.
- 287 MARTIKAINEN, LIISA, Suomalaisten nuorten aikuisten elämään tyytyväisyyden monet kasvot. The many faces of life satisfaction among Finnish young adult's. 141 p. Summary 3 p. 2006.
- 288 HAMARUS, PÄIVI, Koulukiusaaminen ilmiönä. Yläkoulun oppilaiden kokemuksia kiusaamisesta. School bullying as a phenomenon. Some experiences of Finnish lower secondary school pupils. 265 p. Summary 6 p. 2006.
- 289 Leppänen, Ulla, Development of literacy in kindergarten and primary school. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 49 p. (145 p.) 2006.
- 290 Korvela, Paul-Erik, The Machiavellian reformation. An essay in political theory. 171 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2006.
 291 Metsomäki, Marjo, "Suu on syömistä
- 291 Metsomäki, Marjo, "Suu on syömistä varten". Lasten ja aikuisten kohtaamisia ryhmäperhepäiväkodin ruokailutilanteissa. Encounters between children and adults in group family day care dining situations. 251 p. Summary 3 p. 2006.
- LATVALA, JUHA-MATTI, Digitaalisen kommunikaatiosovelluksen kehittäminen kodin ja koulun vuorovaikutuksen edistämiseksi.
 Development of a digital communication system to facilitate interaction between home and school. 158 p. Summary 7 p. 2006.

- 293 PITKÄNEN, TUULI, Alcohol drinking behavior and its developmental antecedents. Alkoholin juomiskäyttäytyminen ja sen ennusta minen. 103 p. (169 p.) Tiivistelmä 6 p. 2006.
- 294 Linnila, Maija-liisa, Kouluvalmiudesta koulun valmiuteen. Poikkeuksellinen koulunaloitus koulumenestyksen, viranomaislausuntojen ja perheiden kokemusten valossa. From school readiness to readiness of school Exceptional school starting in the light of school attainment, official report and family experience. 321 p. Summary 3 p. 2006.
- Leinonen, Anu, Vanhusneuvoston funktioita jäljittämässä. Tutkimus maaseutumaisten kuntien vanhusneuvostoista. Tracing functions of older people's councils. A study on older people's councils in rural municipalities. 245 p. Summary 3 p. 2006.
 Kauppinen, Marko, Canon vs. charisma.
- 296 KAUPPINEN, MARKO, Canon vs. charisma.
 "Maoism" as an ideological construction.
 Kaanon vs. karisma. "Maoismi" ideologisena konstruktiona. 119 p. Yhteenveto 2 p. 2006.
- 297 Vehkakoski, Tanja, Leimattu lapsuus? Vammaisuuden rakentuminen ammatti-ihmisten puheessa ja teksteissä. Stigmatized childhood? Constructing disability in professional talk and texts. 83 p. (185 p.) Summary 4 p. 2006.
- 298 LEPPÄAHO, HENRY, Matemaattisen ongelman ratkaisutaidon opettaminen peruskoulussa. Ongelmanratkaisukurssin kehittäminen ja arviointi. – Teaching mathematical problem solving skill in the Finnish comprehensive school. Designing and assessment of a problem solving course. 343 p. Summary 4 p. 2007.
- 299 Kuvaja, Kristiina, Living the Urban Challenge. Sustainable development and social sustainability in two southern megacities. 130 p. (241 p.) Yhteenveto 4 p. 2007.
- 300 Ронјога, Раѕі, Technical artefacts. An ontological investigation of technology. 150 р. Yhteenveto 3 р. 2007.
- 301 Kaukua, Jari, Avicenna on subjectivity. A philosophical study. 161 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 2007.
- 302 Kupila, Päivi, "Minäkö asiantuntija?". Varhaiskasvatuksen asiantuntijan merkitysperspektiivin ja identiteetin rakentuminen. –"Me, an expert?" Constructing the meaning perspective and identity of an expert in the field of early childhood education. 190 p. Summary 4 p. 2007.
- 303 SILVENNOINEN, PIIA, Ikä, identiteetti ja ohjaava koulutus. Ikääntyvät pitkäaikaistyöttömät oppimisyhteiskunnan haasteena. Age, identity and career counselling. The ageing, long-term unemployed as a challenge to learning society. 229 p. Summary 4 p. 2007.
- 304 REINIKAINEN, MARJO-RIITTA, Vammaisuuden sukupuolittuneet ja sortavat diskurssit:
 Yhteiskunnallis-diskursiivinen näkökulma

- vammaisuuteen. Gendered and oppressive discourses of disability: Social-discursive perspective on disability. 81 p. (148 p.) Summary 4 p. 2007.
- 305 Määttä, Jukka, Asepalvelus nuorten naisten ja miesten opinto- ja työuralla. The impact of military service on the career and study paths of young women and men. 141 p. Summary 4 p. 2007.
- 306 PYYKKÖNEN, MIIKKA, Järjestäytyvät diasporat. Etnisyys, kansalaisuus, integraatio ja hallinta maahanmuuttajien yhdistystoiminnassa.
 - Organizing diasporas. Ethnicity, citizenship, integration, and government in immigrant associations. 140 p. (279 p.)
 Summary 2 p. 2007.
- 307 RASKU, MINNA, On the border of east and west. Greek geopolitical narratives. – Idän ja lännen rajalla. Narratiiveja kreikkalaisesta geopolitiikasta. 169 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 2007.
- 308 Lapiolahiti, Raimo, Koulutuksen arviointi kunnallisen koulutuksen järjestäjän tehtävänä. Paikallisen arvioinnin toteutumisedellytysten arviointia erään kuntaorganisaation näkökulmasta. The evaluation of schooling as a task of the communal maintainer of schooling what are the presuppositions of the execution of evaluation in one specific communal organization. 190 p. Summary 7 p. 2007.
- 309 Natale, Katja, Parents' Causal Attributions Concerning Their Children's Academic Achievement. - Vanhempien lastensa koulumenestystä koskevat kausaaliattribuutiot. 54 p. (154 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2007.
- 310 Vahtera, Sirpa, Optimistit opintiellä. Opinnoissaan menestyvien nuorten hyvinvointi lukiosta jatko-opintoihin. The well-being of optimistic, well-performing high school students from high school to university. 111 p. Summary 2 p. 2007.
- Summary 2 p. 2007.
 311 Koivisto, Päivi, "Yksilöllistä huomiota arkisissa tilanteissa". Päiväkodin toimintakulttuurin kehittäminen lasten itsetuntoa vahvistavaksi.

 "Individual attention in everyday situations". Developing the operational culture of a day-care centre to strengthen children's self-esteem. 202 p. Summary 4 p.
- 312 Lahikainen, Johanna, "You look delicious"
 Food, eating, and hunger in Margaret
 Atwood's novels. 277 p. Yhteenveto 2 p.
 2007.
- 313 Linnavuori, Hannariikka, Lasten kokemuksia vuoroasumisesta. Children's experiences of dual residence. 202 p. Summary 8 p. 2007.
- 314 Parviainen, Tiina, Cortical correlates of language perception. Neuromagnetic studies in adults and children. Kielen käsittely aivoissa. Neuromagneettisia tutkimuksia aikuisilla ja lapsilla. 128 p. (206 p.) Yhteenveto 5 p. 2007.

- 315 Kara, Hannele, Ermutige mich Deutsch zu sprechen. Portfolio als evaluationsform von mündlichen leistungen. "Rohkaise minua puhumaan saksaa" kielisalkku suullisen kielitaidon arviointivälineenä. 108 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 2007.
- 316 Mäkelä, Aarne, Mitä rehtorit todella tekevät. Etnografinen tapaustutkimus johtamisesta ja rehtorin tehtävistä peruskoulussa. What principals really do. An ethnographic case study on leadership and on principal's tasks in comprehensive school. 266 p. Summary 5 p. 2007.
- PUOLAKANAHO, ANNE, Early prediction of reading Phonological awareness and related language and cognitive skills in children with a familial risk for dyslexia.
 Lukemistaitojen varhainen ennustaminen. Fonologinen tietoisuus, kielelliset ja kognitiiviset taidot lapsilla joiden suvussa esiintyy dysleksiaa. 61 p. (155 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2007
- 318 Hoffman, David M., The career potential of migrant scholars in Finnish higher education. Emerging perspectives and dynamics. Akateemisten siirtolaisten uramahdollisuudet suomalaisessa korkeakoulujärjestelmässä: dynamiikkaa ja uusia näkökulmia. 153 p. (282 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2007.
- 319 FADJUKOFF, PÄIVI, Identity formation in adulthood. Identiteetin muotoutuminen aikuisiässä. 71 p. (168 p.) Yhteenveto 5 p. 2007.
- 320 Mäkikangas, Anne, Personality, well-being and job resources: From negative paradigm towards positive psychology. Persoonallisuus, hyvinvointi ja työn voimavarat: Kohti positiivista psykologiaa. 66 p. (148 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2007.
- 321 Jokisaari, Markku, Attainment and reflection: The role of social capital and regrets in developmental regulation. Sosiaalisen pääoman ja toteutumattomien tavoitteiden merkitys kehityksen säätelyssä. 61 p. (102 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2007.
- 322 Hämäläinen, Jarmo, Processing of sound rise time in children and adults with and without reading problems. Äänten nousuaikojen prosessointi lapsilla ja aikuisilla, joilla on dysleksia ja lapsilla ja aikuisilla, joilla ei ole dysleksiaa. 48 p. (95 p.) Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2007.
- 323 KANERVIO, PEKKA, Crisis and renewal in one Finnish private school. Kriisi ja uudistuminen yhdessä suomalaisessa yksityiskoulussa. 217 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2007.
- 324 Määttä, Sami, Achievement strategies in adolescence and young adulthood. Nuorten ajattelu- ja toimintastrategia. 45 p. (120 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2007.
- 325 Torppa Minna, Pathways to reading acquisition: Effects of early skills, learning environment and familial risk for dyslexia.

- Yksilöllisiä kehityspolkuja kohti lukemisen taitoa: Varhaisten taitojen, oppimisympäristön ja sukuriskin vaikutukset. 53 p. (135 p.) 2007.
- 326 Kankainen, Tomi, Yhdistykset, instituutiot ja luottamus. Voluntary associations, institutions and trust.158 p. Summary 7 p. 2007
- 327 Pirnes, Esa, Merkityksellinen kulttuuri ja kulttuuripolitiikka. Laaja kulttuurin käsite kulttuuripolitiikan perusteluna. Meaningful culture and cultural policy. A broad concept of culture as a basis for cultural policy. 294 p. Summary 2 p. 2008.
- 328 NIEMI, PETTERI, Mieli, maailma ja referenssi. John McDowellin mielenfilosofian ja semantiikan kriittinen tarkastelu ja ontologinen täydennys. Mind, world and reference: A critical examination and ontological supplement of John McDowell's philosophy of mind and semantics. 283 p. Summary 4 p. 2008.
- 329 Granbom-Herranen, Liisa, Sananlaskut kasvatuspuheessa perinnettä, kasvatusta, indoktrinaatiota? Proverbs in pedagogical discourse tradition, upbringing, indoctrination? 324 p. Summary 8 p. 2008.
- 330 Kykyri, Virpi-Liisa, Helping clients to help themselves. A discursive perspective to process consulting practices in multi-party settings. - Autetaan asiakasta auttamaan itse itseään. Diskursiivinen näkökulma prosessikonsultoinnin käytäntöihin ryhmätilanteissa. 75 p. (153 p.) Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2008.
- 331 Kiuru, Noona, The role of adolescents' peergroups in the school context. Nuortentoveriryhmien rooli kouluympäristössä. 77 p. (192 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2008.
- 332 PARTANEN, TERHI, Interaction and therapeutic interventions in treatment groups for intimately violent men. 46 p. (104 p) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2008.
- 333 RAITTILA, RAIJA, Retkellä. Lasten ja kaupunkiympäristön kohtaaminen. – Making a visit. Encounters between children and an urban environment. 179 p. Summary 3 p. 2008.
- 334 Sume, Helena, Perheen pyörteinen arki. Sisäkorvaistutetta käyttävän lapsen matka kouluun. – Turbulent life of the family. Way to school of a child with cochlear implant. 208 p. Summary 6 p. 2008.
- 335 KOTIRANTA, Tuija, Aktivoinnin paradoksit.
 The paradoxes of activation. 217 p.
 Summary 3 p. 2008.
- Ruoppila, Isto, Huuhtanen, Pekka, Seitsamo, Jorma and Ilmarinen, Juhani, Age-related changes of the work ability construct and its relation to cognitive functioning in the older worker: A 16-year follow-up study. 97 p. 2008.
 Tikkanen, Pirjo, "Helpompaa ja hauskempaa
- 337 Tikkanen, Pirjo, "Helpompaa ja hauskempaa kuin luulin". Matematiikka suomalaisten ja unkarilaisten perusopetuksen neljäsluokkalaisten kokemana.- "Easier and more fun that

- I thought". Mathematics experienced by fourth-graders in Finnish and Hungarian comprehensive schools. 309 p. Summary 3 p. 2008.
- 338 KAUPPINEN, ILKKA, Tiedon *omistaminen* on valtaa
 Globalisoituvan patenttijärjestelmän poliittinen moraalitalous ja globaali kapitalismi.
 Owning knowledge is power. Political moral economy of the globalizing patent system and global capitalism. 269 p. Summary 5 p. 2008.
- 339 Kujala, Maria, Muukalaisena omassa maassa.
 Miten kasvaa vuorovaikutuskonflikteissa?
 A stranger in one's own land. How to grow in interaction conflicts? 174 p. Summary 7 p. 2008
- 340 Koponen, Tuire, Calculation and Language: Diagnostic and intervention studies. -Laskutaito ja kieli: Diagnostinen ja kuntoutustutkimus. 49 p. (120 p.) Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2008
- 341 Hautala, Päivi-Maria, Lupa tulla näkyväksi. Kuvataideterapeuttinen toiminta kouluissa. - Permission to be seen. Art therapeutic activities in schools. 202 p. 2008.
- 342 SIPARI, SALLA, Kuntouttava arki lapsen tueksi. Kasvatuksen ja kuntoutuksen yhteistoiminnan rakentuminen asiantuntijoiden keskusteluissa. Habilitative everyday life to support the child. Construction of the collaboration of education and rehabilitation in experts discussions. 177 p. Summary 4 p. 2008.
- 343 LEHTONEN, PÄIVI HANNELE, Voimauttava video. Asiakaslähtöisyyden, myönteisyyden ja videokuvan muodostama työorientaatio perhetyön menetelmänä. Empowering video. A work orientation formed by client-focus, positivity and video image as a method for family work. 257 p. Summary 3 p. 2008.
- family work. 257 p. Summary 3 p. 2008. 344 Ruohomäki, Jyrki, "Could Do Better". Academic Interventions in Northern Ireland Unionism. - "Could Do Better" Akateemiset interventiot Pohjois-Irlannin unionismiin. 238 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2008.
- 345 Salmi, Paula, Nimeäminen ja lukemisvaikeus. Kehityksen ja kuntoutuksen näkökulma. -Naming and dyslexia: Developmental and training perspectives. 169 p. Summary 2 p. 2008.
- 346 RANTANEN, JOHANNA, Work-family interface and psychological well-being: A personality and longitudinal perspective. Työn ja perheen vuorovaikutuksen yhteys psyykkiseen hyvinvointiin sekä persoonallisuuteen pitkittäistutkimuksen näkökulmasta 86 p. (146 p.) Yhteenveto 6 p. 2008.
- 347 PIIPPO, JUKKA, Trust, Autonomy and Safety at Integrated Network- and Family-oriented mode for co-operation. A Qualitative Study. 70 p. (100 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2008.
- 348 HÄTINEN, MARJA, Treating job burnout in employee rehabilitation: Changes in symptoms, antecedents, and consequences. -

- Työuupumuksen hoito työikäisten kuntoutuksessa: muutokset työuupumuksen oireissa, ennakoijissa ja seurauksissa. 85 p. (152 p.) Tiivistelmä 4 p. 2008.
- PRICE, GAVIN, Numerical magnitude representation in developmental dyscalculia:
 Behavioural and brain imaging studies.
 139 p. 2008.
- 350 RAUTIAINEN, MATTI, Keiden koulu? Aineenopettajaksi opiskelevien käsityksiä koulukulttuurin yhteisöllisyydestä. Who does school belong to? Subject teacher students' conceptions of community in school culture. 180 p. Summary 4 p. 2008.
- 351 UOTINEN, SANNA, Vanhempien ja lasten toimijuuteen konduktiivisessa kasvatuksessa.
 Into the agency of a parent and a child in conductive education. 192 p. Summary 3 p. 2008
- 352 Ahonen, Helena, Rehtoreiden kertoma johtajuus ja johtajaidentiteetti. - Leadership and leader identity as narrated by headmasters. 193 p. 2008.
- 353 Moisio, Olli-Pekka, Essays on radical educational philosophy. 151 p. Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2009.
- 354 LINDQVIST, RAIJA, Parisuhdeväkivallan kohtaaminen maaseudun sosiaalityössä. Encountering partner violence with rural social work. 256 p. 2009.
- 355 Tammelin, Mia, Working time and family time. Experiences of the work and family interface among dual-earning couples in Finland. Työaika ja perheen aika: kokemuksia työn ja perheen yhteensovittamisesta Suomessa. 159 p. Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2009.
- 356 RINNE, PÄIVI, Matkalla muutokseen. Sosiaalialan projektitoiminnan perustelut, tavoitteet ja toimintatavat Sosiaaliturva-lehden kirjoituksissa 1990-luvulla. On the way to the change. 221 p. Summary 2 p. 2009.
- 357 VALTONEN, RIITTA, Kehityksen ja oppimisen ongelmien varhainen tunnistaminen Lenearvioinnin avulla. Kehityksen ongelmien päällekkäisyys ja jatkuvuus 4–6-vuotiailla sekä ongelmien yhteys koulusuoriutumiseen. Lene-assessment and early identification of developmental and learning problems. Cooccurrence and continuity of developmental problems from age 4 to age 6 and relation to school performance. 73 p. (107 p.) Summary 2 p. 2009.
- 358 SUHONEN, KATRI, Mitä hiljainen tieto on hengellisessä työssä? Kokemuksellinen näkökulma hiljaisen tiedon ilmenemiseen, siirrettävyyteen ja siirrettävyyden merkitykseen ikääntyneiden diakoniatyöntekijöiden ja pappien työssä.

 What is tacit knowledge in spiritual work? An experiential approach to the manifestation, significance and distribution of tacit knowledge in the work of aged church deacons and ministers. 181 p. Summary 6 p. 2009.

- 359 JUMPPANEN, AAPO, United with the United States - George Bush's foreign policy towards Europe 1989–1993. 177 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 2009.
- 360 Huemer, Sini, Training reading skills. Towards fluency. - Lukemistaitojen harjoittaminen. Tavoitteena sujuvuus. 85 p. (188 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2009.
- 361 ESKELINEN, TEPPO, Putting global poverty in context. A philosophical essay on power, justice and economy. 221 p. Yhtenveto 1 p. 2009.
- 362 Taipale, Sakari, Transformative technologies, spatial changes: Essays on mobile phones and the internet. 97 p. (184 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2009
- 363 Korkalainen, Paula, Riittämättömyyden tunteesta osaamisen oivallukseen. Ammatillisen asiantuntijuuden kehittäminen varhaiserityiskasvatuksen toimintaympäristöissä. From a feeling of insuffiency to a new sense of expertise. Developing professional knowledge and skills in the operational environments for special needs childhood education and care. 303 p. Summary 4 p. 2009
- 364 Seppälä-Pänkäläinen, Tarja, Oppijoiden moninaisuuden kohtaaminen suomalaisessa lähikoulussa. Etnografia kouluyhteisön aikuisten yhdessä oppimisen haasteista ja mahdollisuuksista. Confronting the Diversity of Learners in a Finnish Neighbourhood School. An Ethnographic Study of the Challenges and Opportunities of Adults Learning Together in a School community. 256 p. Summary 4 p. 2009.
- 365 Sevón, Eija, Maternal Responsibility and Changing Relationality at the Beginning of Motherhood. Äidin vastuu ja muuttuvat perhesuhteet äitiyden alussa. 117 p. (200 p.) Yhteenveto 5 p. 2009.
- 366 Huttunen-Scott, Tiina, Auditory duration discrimination in children with reading disorder, attention deficit or both. Kuulonvarainen keston erottelu lapsilla, joilla on lukemisvaikeus, tarkkaavaisuuden ongelma tai molemmat . 68 p. (112 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2009.
- 367 Neuvonen-Rauhala, Marja-Liisa, Työelämälähtöisyyden määrittäminen ja käyttäminen ammattikorkeakoulun jatkotutkintokokeilussa. - Defining and applying workinglife orientation in the polytechnic postgraduate experiment. 163 p. Summary 7 p. 2009.
- 368 Nyman, Tarja, Nuoren vieraan kielen opettajan pedagogisen ajattelun ja ammatillisen asiantuntijuuden kehittyminen. The development of pedagogical thinking and professional expertise of newly qualified language teachers. 121 p. (201 p.) Summary 4 p. 2009.

- 369 Puutio, Risto, Hidden agendas. Situational tasks, discursive strategies and institutional practices in process consultation. 83 p. (147 p.) Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2009.
- 370 TOIVANEN, JUHANA, Animal consciousness. Peter Olivi on cognitive functions of the sensitive soul. 369 p. Yhteenveto 4 p. 2009.
- 371 Nokia, Miriam, The role of the hippocampal theta activity in classical eyeblink conditioning in rabbits. Hippokampuksen theta-aktiivisuuden rooli klassisessa silmäniskuehdollistamisessa kaneilla. 41 p. (80 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2009.
- 372 Lähttenmäki, Vill, Essays on early modern conceptions of consciousness: Descartes, Cudworth, and Locke. 160 p. 2009.
- 373 BJÖRK, KAJ, What explains development. Development strategy for low human development index countries. 212 p. Yhteenveto 1 p. 2009.
- 374 PUUPPONEN, ANTII, Maaseutuyrittäjyys, verkostot ja paikallisuus. Tapaustutkimus pienimuotoisen elintarviketuotannon kestävyydestä Keski-Suomessa. Rural entrepreneurship, networks and locality. A case study of the sustainability of small-scale food production in Central Finland. 100 p. (191 p.) Summary 3 p. 2009.
- 375 Halttunen, Leena, Päivähoitotyö ja johtajuus hajautetussa organisaatiossa. Day care work and leadership in a distributed organization. 181 p. Summary 4 p. 2009.
- 376 Kaidesoja, Tuukka, Studies on ontological and methodological foundations of critical realism in the social sciences. 65 p. (187 p.) Yhteenveto 9 p. 2009.
- 377 SIPPOLA, MARKKU, A low road to investment and labour management? The labour process at Nordic subsidiaries in the Baltic States. 272 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2009.
- 378 Santala, Olli-Pekka, Expertise in using the Rorschach comprehensive system in personality assessment. 150 p. Tiivistelmä 1 p. 2009.
- 379 HARJUNEN, HANNELE, Women and fat:
 Approaches to the social study of fatness.
 Naiset ja lihavuus: näkökulmia lihavuuden yhteiskuntatieteelliseen tutkimukseen 87 p.
 (419 p.) Tiivistelmä 4 p. 2009.
- 380 Kettunen, Liisa, Kyllä vai ei. Peruskoulun sukupuolikasvatuksen oppimateriaalin kehittämistyö ja arviointi. Yes or no? The development and evaluation of teaching material for sex education in the Finnish comprehensive school. 266 p. Summary 3 p. 2010.
- 381 FROM, KRISTINE, "Että sais olla lapsena toisten lasten joukossa". Substantiivinen teoria erityistä tukea tarvitsevan lapsen toiminnallisesta osallistumisesta toimintaympäristöissään. To be a child just as the others in the peer group. A substantive theory of activity-

- based participation of the child with special educational needs. 174 p. Summary 4 p. 2010.
- 382 Mykkänen, Johanna, Isäksi tulon tarinat, tunteet ja toimijuus. - Becoming a father – types of narrative, emotions and agency. 166 p. Summary 5 p. 2010.
- 383 Raasumaa, Vesa, Perusopetuksen rehtori opettajien osaamisen johtajana. Knowledge management functions of a principal in basic education. 349 p. Summary 5 p. 2010.
- 384 Siisiäinen, Lauri, Foucault's voices: Toward the political genealogy of the auditory-sonorous. Foucault'n äänet. Kohti auditoris-sonoorista poliittista genealogiaa. 207 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2010.
- 385 Pulli, Tuula, Totta ja unta. Draama puhe- ja kehitysvammaisten ihmisten yhteisöllisenä kuntoutuksena ja kokemuksena. The Real and the Illusory. Drama as a means of community-based rehabilitation and experience for persons with severe learning and speech disabilities. 281 p. Summary 7 p. 2010.
- 386 SIISKONEN, TIINA, Kielelliset erityisvaikeudet ja lukemaan oppiminen. - Specific language impairments and learning to read. 205 p. Summary 3 p. 2010.
- 387 Lyyra, Pessi, Higher-order theories of consciousness: An appraisal and application.
 Korkeamman kertaluvun tietoisuusteoriat: arvio ja käyttöehdotus. 163 p. Yhteenveto 5 p. 2010
- 388 Karjalainen, Merja, Ammattilaisten käsityksiä mentoroinnista työpaikalla. Professionals' conceptions of mentoring at work. 175 p. Summary 7 p. 2010.
- 389 Gemechu, dereje terefe, The implementation of a multilingual education policy in Ethiopia: The case of Afaan Oromoo in primary schools of Oromia Regional State. 266 p. 2010.
- 390 Koivula, Merja, Lasten yhteisöllisyys ja yhteisöllinen oppiminen päiväkodissa. -Children's sense of community and collaborative learning in a day care centre. 189 p. Summary 3 p. 2010.
- 391 NIEMI, MINNA, Moraalijärjestystä tuottamassa. Tutkimus poliisityöstä lasten parissa. -Producing moral order. A Study on police work with children. 190 p. Summary 3 p. 2010.
- 392 Alemayehu Teklemariam Haye, Effects of intervention on psychosocial functioning of hearing and hard of hearing children in selected primary schools of Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. 195 p. Executive summary 4 p. 2010.
- 393 Kaskiharju, Eija, Koteja ja kodinomaisuutta. Tutkimus vanhenemisen paikoista valtiopäiväpuheissa 1950 - 2005. - Homes and homelikeness. A study on places for ageing in parliamentary speeches from 1950 to 2005. 244 p. Summary 5 p. 2010.

- MAHLAKAARTO, SALME, Subjektiksi työssä Identiteettiä rakentamassa voimaantumisen kehitysohjelmassa. Becoming a subject at work Constructing identity within a program of empowerment. 95 p. (198 p.) Yhteenveto 1 p. 2010.
 Tapio, Tarja, "Meilä on kaikila samanlaiset
- 395 Tapio, Tarja, "Meilä on kaikila samanlaiset tarinat". Tarinankerrontatutkimus tornionlaaksolaisuudesta vanhimpien aapualaisten arjessa ja tulevaisuudessa. "We all have the same stories". A storytelling case study of Torne Valley -ness in the everyday life and future of elderly Aapua residents. 261 p. Summary 6 p. 2010.
- 396 RAUTIAINÉN, ÉIJA-LIISA, Co-construction and collaboration in couple therapy for depression. Yhteistoiminnallisuus masennuksen pariterapiassa. 56 p. (122 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2010.
- 397 AALTONEN, TERHI, "Taiteilija ei vanhene". Haastattelututkimus kuvataiteilijoiden ikääntymiskokemuksista taidemaailmassa. -"An artist doesn't get old". An interviewbased study of painters' experiences of ageing in the world. 216 p. Summary 5 p. 2010.
- 398 Savolainen, Kaisa, Education as a means to world peace: The case of the 1974 UNESCO recommendation. Kasvatus maailmanrauhan välineenä: Tapaustutkimus UNESCON 1974 hyväksymästä suosituksesta. 262 p. Yhteenveto 12 p. 2010.
- 399 Hemminki, Arja, Kertomuksia avioerosta ja parisuhteen päättymisestä. Suomalainen eropuhe pohjalaisten kirjoituksissa ja naistenlehdissä. - Narratives on divorce and ending of a relationship. 158 p. Summary 2 p. 2010.
- 400 Saine, Nina, On the rocky road of reading: Effects of computer-assisted intervention for at-risk children. Lukemaan oppimisen kivisellä tiellä Verkkopohjaisen Ekapeli ohjelman kuntouttavat vaikutukset riskilasten lukemaan oppimisessa. 95 p. (208 p.) Yhteenveto 5 p. 2010.
- 401 VILJARANTA, JAANA, The development and role of task motivation and task values during different phases of the school career. Oppiainekohtaisen koulumotivaation kehitys ja rooli koulutaipaleen eri vaiheissa. 53 p. (115 p.) Yhteenveto 1 p. 2010.
- 402 Oinas, Tomi, Sukupuolten välinen kotityönjako kahden ansaitsijan perheissä. - Domestic division of labour in dual-earner households. 188 p. 2010.
- 403 Mammon, Reet, Kolmen etnisen ryhmän kotoutumisprosessi Suomessa. The integration process of three ethnic groups in Finland. 142 p. Summary 5 p. 2010.
- 404 Ketonen, Ritva, Dysleksiariski oppimisen haasteena. Fonologisen tietoisuuden interventio ja lukemaan oppiminen. Risk for dyslexia as a challenge of learning. Phonological intervention and learning to read. 139 p. Summary 3 p. 2010.

- 405 Lahtero, Tapio, Yhtenäiskoulun johtamiskulttuuri. Symbolis-tulkinnallinen näkökulma. - Leadership culture in unified comprehensive school, symbolic-interpretative approach. 238 p. Summary 2 p. 2011.
- NOTKO, MARIANNE, Väkivalta, vallankäyttö ja vahingoittuminen naisten perhesuhteissa.
 Violence, power using and being hurt in women's family relations. 254 p. Summary 5 p. 2011.
- 407 PÜLKKINEN, SEPPO, Valmentajataustan merkitys rehtorin työssä. The significance of coaching background in principal's work. 211 p. Summary 7 p. 2011.
- 408 SÖDOR, UÜVE, Community resilience and wellbeing in northwest Russian forestry settlements. 195 p. Summary 2 p. 2011.
- 409 Hyvönen, Katriina, Personal work goals put into context: Associations with work environment and occupational well-being. -Henkilökohtaisten työtavoitteiden puitteet: yhteydet työoloihin ja työhyvinvointiin 82 p. (133 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2011.
- 410 Ruohotte-Lyhty, Maria, Opettajuuden alkutaival. Vastavalmistuneen vieraan kielen opettajan toimijuus ja ammatillinen kehittyminen. First steps on the path of teacherhood. Newly qualified foreign language teachers' agency and professional development. 98 p. (190 p.) Summary 2 p. 2011.
- 411 Halonen, Katri, Kulttuurituottajat taiteen ja talouden risteyskohdassa. Cultural intermediaries at the junction between art and business. 101 p. (175 p.) Summary 6 p. 2011.
- 412 Mikola, Marjatta, Pedagogista rajankäyntiä koulussa. Inkluusioreitit ja yhdessä oppimisen edellytykset. Defining pedagogical boundaries at school the routes to inclusion and conditions for collaborative learning. 304 p. Summary 8 p. 2011.
- 413 SOANJÄRVI, KATARIINA, Mitä on ammatillinen nuorisotyö? Nuorisotyön villiä kenttää kesyttämässä. What is professional youth work? Taming of wild youth work sector. 152 p. Summary 3 p. 2011.
- 414 Lehto-Salo, Pirkko, Koulukotisijoitus nuoren toinen mahdollisuus? Mielenterveyden häiriöiden, oppimisvaikeuksien ja perheongelmien kirjo kehittämishaasteena. The placement on a reform school The second change for an adolescent? Psychiatric disorders, learning disabilities and problems in the family as a challenge of treatment. 74 p. (125 p.) 2011.
- 415 MÄGI, KATRIN, Achievement goals, achievement behaviours, and skill development in the school and home context: Their antecedents and correlates. 54 p. (134 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2011.

- 416 Heinonen, Veikko U.J., Suomalaisen turvallisuuspolitiikan tila. Suomalaisen 2000-luvun alun turvallisuuspoliittisen debatin käsiteanalyyttinen tarkastelu. The state of Finnish security policy. A conceptual analysis of the Finnish debate on security policy in the early 2000s. 266 p. Yhteenveto 1 p. 2011.
- PURO, ERIKA, Peruskoulun erityisopetuksen laatu oppilaiden, huoltajien, koulunkäyntiavustajien, opettajien ja rehtorien arvioimana.
 The quality of special education in Finnish comprehensive schools from the viewpoint of pupils, parents, educational assistants, teachers and principals. 165 p. Summary 2 p.
- 418 Pietikäinen, Maija, Laulu ja amor mundi. Tutkimus laulusta eräänä maailmasta huolehtimisen perusaktiviteettina. - Singing and amor mundi. 193 p. Summary 2 p. 2011.
- 419 SALO, SIRPA, Parisuhdeongelmat ja lasten psyykkinen hyvinvointi: kaksi tutkimusnäkökulmaa. Couples conflicts and children's mental wellbeing: two research approaches. 156 p. Summary 2 p. 2011.
 420 HANNONEN, RIITTA, Verbal and academic skills
- 420 HANNONEN, RIITTA, Verbal and academic skills in children with type 1 diabetes. - Tyypin 1 diabetesta sairastavien lasten kielelliset ja oppimiseen liittyvät perustaidot. 49 p. (79 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2011.
- 421 Selin, Jani, Hallinnan näkökulmia huumeriippuvuuden hoitoon Suomessa vuosina 1965-2005. Governmental perspectives on the treatment of drug addiction in Finland between 1965 and 2005. 55 p. (118 p.) Summary 2 p. 2011.
- 422 Nikkola, Tiina, Oppimisen esteet ja mahdollisuudet ryhmässä. Syyllisyyden kehittyminen syntipukki-ilmiöksi opiskeluryhmässä ohjaajan tulkitsemana. Learning in a group: obstacles and opportunities. A supervisor's interpretation of how guilt becomes scapegoating in a study group. 244 p. Summary 6 p. 2011.
- 423 Lassenius, Yvonne, Utvecklingen av vårdlärarnas kulturkompetens. En kvalitativ studie som fokuserar på lärarna i mångkulturella lärandemiljöer i Finland. The development of nurse teachers' cultural competence. A qualitative study focusing on teachers in multicultural learning environments in Finland. 74 p. (101 p.) Summary 2 p. 2011.
- 424 YLÖNEN, MARJA, Saastumisen kontrollin ideologia. Vesien saastumisen ja vesirikosten kontrolli Suomessa vuosina 1960–2000. Ideology of pollution control. Social control of water pollution and pollution crimes in Finland from the 1960s until the year 2000. 232 p. Summary 2 p. 2011.
- 425 PYLKKÄ, OUTI, Duuri- ja mollisointuja musiikkialan kentällä. Organisaatiomuutoksen heijastuksia ammattikorkeakoulun musiikinopettajien työhön. - Ideology of pollution control. Major and minor

- chords in the field of music profession reflections of organizational changes in the music teachers' work at the University of Applied Sciences. 190 p. Summary 4 p. 2011.
- 426 Malinen, Kaisa, Parisuhde pikkulapsiperheessä. - Spousal relationship in families with young children. 79 p. (147 p.) Summary 4 p. 2011.
- MURTORINNE-LAHTINEN, MINNA, Äitipuolen identiteetin rakentaminen uusperheessä.
 Identity construction of stepmothers in a stepfamily. 222 p. Summary 6 p. 2011.
- 428 Ruokolainen, Mervi, Do organizational and job-related factors relate to organizational commitment? A mixed method study of the associations. Ovatko organisaation ja työn piirteet yhteydessä organisaatioon sitoutumiseen? Monimenetelmällinen tutkimus ilmiöiden välisistä yhteyksistä. 135 p. Yhteenveto 3 p. 2011.
- 429 JARVILEHTO, LAURI, Pragmatic a priori knowledge: A pragmatic approach to the nature and object of what can be known independently of experience. 153 p. 2011.
- 430 Ruoppila, Isto & Iivanainen, Matti (eds.), Life Course of Finnish Persons with Intellectual Disabilities Born 1898–1960. A 35-Year Follow-up Study. 119 p. Yhteenveto 9 p. 2011.
- 431 BJÖRK, ANNA, The politics of citizenship tests: time, integration and the contingent polity.123 p. Yhteenveto 1 p. 2011.
- 432 SAARINEN, MINNA, Sosiaalisen elämän kehykset. Kampus-ohjelman opiskelijoiden sosiaalinen asema tuetussa aikuisopiskelussa ja vapaa-ajalla. Framework of social life. The social life of Campus-program students in their supported adult learning and leisure. 276 p. 2012.
- HÖKKÄ, PÄIVI, Teacher educators amid conflicting demands: tensions between individual and organizational development.
 Opettajankouluttajat ristiriitaisten vaateiden keskellä: yksilön ja organisaation välisiä jännitteitä. 127p. (197 p.) 2012.
- jännitteitä. 127p. (197 p.) 2012. 434 Salminen, Vell-Matti, Verkostot, paikallisuus ja eriarvoisuus. - Networks, locality and inequality. 160 p. Summary 6 p. 2012.
- 435 HAUTALA, JARKKO, Visual word recognition in fluent and dysfluent readers in the transparent Finnish orthography. Visuaalinen sanantunnistus sujuvilla ja hitailla lukijoilla kirjain-äänne vastaavuudeltaan läpinäkyvässä suomen kielessä. 54 p. (132 p.) Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2012.
- 436 Silinskas, Gintautas, Parental involvement and children's academic skills. 70 p. (153 p.) Tiivistelmä 1 p. 2012.
- 437 Ronimus, Miia, Digitaalisen oppimispelin motivoivuus. Havaintoja Ekapeliä pelanneista lapsista. - The motivational appeal of a digital learning game. Observations of children using Graphogame. 163 p. Summary 5 p. 2012.

- 438 Kautto-Knape, Erja, Oppilasta lamaannuttava kouluvuorovaikutus: aineistoperustainen teoria. The paralysing school interaction: A grounded theory study of the students' view. 151 p. Summary 2 p. 2012.
- 439 Knif, Pirjo, Keski-ikäiset ikääntyvien omaistensa auttajina? Tutkimus sukupolvien välisestä informaalista hoivasta. The middleaged as caregivers for the elderly relatives? A study of informal care between generations. 200 p. Summary 3 p. Sammanfattning 2 p. 2012.
- 440 Kulovaara, Kari, Euroopan ammatillinen yhteisjärjestö EAY ja strategiset valinnat: identiteetit, ideologiat ja diskurssit. - European Trade Union Confederation ETUC and strategic choices. Identities, ideologies and discourses. 249 p. Summary 2 p. 2012.
- 441 Kiili, Carita, Online reading as an individual and social practice. 72 p. (163 p.) Summary 4 p. 2012.
- 442 SAMA, THOMAS BABILA, NGOs and the implementation of active labour market policies: the case of Finland and Sweden. 104 p. (206 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2012.
- OKSANEN, ANNAMAIJA, Auditiivisen ja kielellisen harjoittelun vaikutus kolmannella luokalla olevien heikkojen lukijoiden lukutaitoon.
 Speech and non-speech training of reading impaired at 3rd grade and the assessment of training effects. 149 p. Summary 3 p. 2012.
- 444 KOTONEN, TOMMI, To write a republic American political poetry from Whitman to 9/11.121 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2012.
- 445 Vasalampi, Kati, Appraisals of educationrelated goals during educational transitions in late adolescence: Consequences for academic well-being and goal attainment. 65 p. (99 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2012.
- 446 Hannula, Marja, Dialogia etsimässä pienryhmäkeskusteluja luokassa. Seeking dialogue classroom discussions in small groups.
 121 p. Summary 3 p. 2012.
- 447 PAKARINEN, EIJA, Relations between teacher-child interactions and children's learning and motivation in Finnish kindergartens. 96 p. (175 p.) Yhteenveto 3 p. 2012.
- 448 RÄIKKÖNEN, EIJA, Is timing everything? A longitudinal perspective on adult transitions, their antecedents, and psychological implications Riippuuko kaikki ajoittumisesta? Aikuisuuden siirtymät, niiden ennakoijat ja yhteys psykologiseen toimintakykyyn pitkitäistutkimuksen näkökulmasta. 88 p. (159 p.) Tiivistelmä 5 p. 2012.
- 449 Tilli, Jouni, The Continuation War as a metanoic moment. A Burkean reading of lutheran hierocratic rhetoric. 200 p. Tiivistelmä 3 p. 2012
- 450 LAUTAMO, TIINA, Play Assessment for Group Settings (PAGS): Validating a measurement tool for assessment of children's play performance in the day-care context. 69 p. (114 p). Yhteenveto 2 p. 2012.

- 451 Turtiainen, Kati, Possibilities of trust and recognition between refugees and authorities. Resettlement as a part of durable solutions of forced migration. 116 p. (197 p). Yhteenveto 3 p. 2012.
- 452 SÖKKA, SAKARIAS, "Kansamme kykyyn itse arvostella ei voi luottaa!". Taidelautakunnat valtiollisina asiantuntijaeliminä ennen toista maailmansotaa. "You can't trust our citizens' judgement!" Art boards as expert bodies of the state prior to WWII. 74 p. (269 p). Summary 2 p. 2012.
- 453 Rytivaara, Anna, Towards inclusion teacher learning in co-teaching . Inkluusiota kohti luokanopettajien ammatillinen oppiminen yhteisopetuksessa. 70 p. (124 p). Yhteenveto 3 p. 2012.
- 454 Kīvelā, Pāivi, Oman paikan taju. Keski-ikäiset perheenäidit paikallisilla kentillä. A sense of one's own place. Middle-aged mothers in local fields. 168 p. Summary 4 p. 2012.
- Honkaniemi, Laura, Applicants in a real-life selection context: Their personality types, reactions to the process, and faking. Hakijoiden persoonallisuustyypit, heidän reaktionsa arviointiprosessiin sekä vastausten kaunistelu henkilöarviointitilanteessa. 56 p. (105 p.) Yhteenveto 2 p. 2012.
 Haapala, Taru, "That in the opinion of this
- 456 HAAPALA, TARU, "That in the opinion of this House": The parliamentary culture of debate in the nineteenth-century Cambridge and Oxford Union Societies. 238 p. Tiivistelmä 2 p. 2012